**Contributions to Management Science** 

# Nezameddin Faghih Mohammad Reza Zali *Editors*

Entrepreneurship Education and Research in the Middle East and North Africa (MENA)

Perspectives on Trends, Policy and Educational Environment



**Contributions to Management Science** 

More information about this series at http://www.springer.com/series/1505

Nezameddin Faghih • Mohammad Reza Zali Editors

# Entrepreneurship Education and Research in the Middle East and North Africa (MENA)

Perspectives on Trends, Policy and Educational Environment



*Editors* Nezameddin Faghih Chairholder UNESCO Chair in Entrepreneurship Paris, France

Mohammad Reza Zali Faculty of Entrepreneurship University of Tehran Tehran, Iran

 ISSN 1431-1941
 ISSN 2197-716X
 (electronic)

 Contributions to Management Science
 ISBN 978-3-319-90393-4
 ISBN 978-3-319-90394-1
 (eBook)

 https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-90394-1
 ISBN 978-3-319-90394-1
 ISBN 978-3-319-90394-1
 ISBN 978-3-319-90394-1

Library of Congress Control Number: 2018946642

© Springer International Publishing AG, part of Springer Nature 2018

This work is subject to copyright. All rights are reserved by the Publisher, whether the whole or part of the material is concerned, specifically the rights of translation, reprinting, reuse of illustrations, recitation, broadcasting, reproduction on microfilms or in any other physical way, and transmission or information storage and retrieval, electronic adaptation, computer software, or by similar or dissimilar methodology now known or hereafter developed.

The use of general descriptive names, registered names, trademarks, service marks, etc. in this publication does not imply, even in the absence of a specific statement, that such names are exempt from the relevant protective laws and regulations and therefore free for general use.

The publisher, the authors and the editors are safe to assume that the advice and information in this book are believed to be true and accurate at the date of publication. Neither the publisher nor the authors or the editors give a warranty, express or implied, with respect to the material contained herein or for any errors or omissions that may have been made. The publisher remains neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliations.

Printed on acid-free paper

This Springer imprint is published by the registered company Springer Nature Switzerland AG The registered company address is: Gewerbestrasse 11, 6330 Cham, Switzerland



This book is dedicated to the loving memory of Rokneddin Faghih (1926–2000), a cherished philanthropist and agricultural entrepreneur who believed in education and research; founded the first high school in his agricultural lands in a corner of the MENA Region, namely Roniz (Estahban, Fars, Iran); and initiated domestic research on saffron cultivation issues in his hometown, Estahban.

### Disclaimers

Facts, information, opinions, views, findings, conclusions, comments, positions and strategies expressed by the contributors and chapter authors are theirs alone and do not necessarily reflect the views, opinions, positions or strategies of the editors of this contributed volume and do not constitute endorsement or approval by the editors. Authors and contributors are responsible for their citing of sources and the accuracy of their references and bibliographies. The editors of this book cannot be held responsible for any errors or for any consequences arising from the use of the information contained in the chapters or any lack or possible violations of third parties' rights. Although every effort is made by the editors to see that no inaccurate or misleading data, opinion or statements appear in this contributed volume, the data, their use and interpretations and opinions appearing in the chapters are the sole responsibility of the authors and contributors concerned. The editors accept no liability whatsoever for the consequences of any such inaccurate or misleading data, information, opinion or statements.

### Acknowledgements

Sincere gratitude and special thanks are due to Dr. Mohammad Naghavi for his wonderful efforts and fantastic diligence in the process of English language editing of most chapters of the book.

The editors are very grateful to all chapter authors as without their efforts, support and generous contributions, this contributed volume would not have been possible. We would also like to express our gratitude to Ms. Maryam Karimzadeh, for handling administrative assistance and correspondence, and those who have devoted their time, effort, support and generosity in the chapter review process: Dr. Zahra Arasti, Dr. Afsaneh Bagheri, Dr. Victoria Hill, Dr. Mojtaba Sajadi, Dr. Kamal Sakhdari and Dr. Babak Ziyae.

### Contents

Introduction	1
Part I Global Entrepreneurship Monitor (GEM) in the MENA Region	
Background to the MENA Region	19
Entrepreneurial Activity in the MENA Region	33
Characteristics and Motives of Early-Stage Entrepreneurs in the MENA Region	53
The MENA Region National Entrepreneurial Framework Conditions Ayman Ismail, Thomas Schøtt, Abbas Bazargan, Basheer Salaytah, Hamad Al Kubaisi, Majdi Hassen, Ignacio de la Vega, Nihel Chabrak, Abier Annan, Mike Herrington, and Penny Kew	73
Policy Implications and Recommendations	03

Part II	Entrepreneurship	<b>Education</b> a	and Training in MENA
---------	------------------	--------------------	----------------------

Entrepreneurship Education and Research in Iran: The Faculty of Entrepreneurship of University of Tehran Mohammad Reza Zali, Mahshid Tootoonchy, Jahangir Yadollahi Farsi, and Nezameddin Faghih	109
University Students' Entrepreneurial Intentions: Does Education Make a Difference?	131
Integrated Approach as a Way of Overcoming Entrepreneurship Education Challenges in Elementary Schools in MENA Countries: Evidence from Iran	155
Spiritual Intelligence and Social Entrepreneurial Intentions Among Students: The Mediating Role of Entrepreneurial Passion Morteza Hendijani Fard, Nader Seyyed Amiri, Mostafa Oboudi, and Saeid Ramezani	169
Entrepreneurship Education and Training in Saudi Arabia Mohammad Tahlil Azim and Abdulrahman Hariri	193
Perceptions Towards Entrepreneurship and Intention to Become Entrepreneurs: The Case of Sultan Qaboos University Female Undergraduate Students	215
A Journey Towards Entrepreneurial Support in Pakistan: IBA's Center for Entrepreneurial Development (CED) Shahid Qureshi and Sarfraz Mian	239
Part III Entrepreneurship Research in MENA	
A Taxonomic Study of Innovation in the MENA Region Economies: Reflections on Entrepreneurism in Egypt and Qatar	255
Entrepreneurship in the Middle East and North Africa: A Bibliometric Analysis	273
Entrepreneurship Research in Iran: Current Trends and Future Agendas	291

Contents

A Review of the Status of Social Entrepreneurship Research	
and Education in Iran	325
Zahra Arasti and Aidin Salamzadeh	
Challenges of Entrepreneurial Finance: A Systematic Analysis	
of Empirical Researches	347
Afsaneh Bagheri and Hasti Chitsazan	

### **List of Contributors**

Morteza Akbari Faculty of Entrepreneurship, University of Tehran, Tehran, Iran

Hamad Al Kubaisi GEM Consortium, London, UK

**Inés Alegre** Department of Managerial Decision Sciences, IESE Business School – Universidad de Navarra, Barcelona, Spain

**Saeed Al-Muharrami** College of Economics and Political Science, Sultan Qaboos University, Muscat, Oman

**Nader Seyyed Amiri** Faculty of Entrepreneurship, Department of Corporate Entrepreneurship, University of Tehran, Tehran, Iran

Abier Annan GEM Consortium, London, UK

Zahra Arasti Faculty of Entrepreneurship, University of Tehran, Tehran, Iran

**Mohammad Tahlil Azim** Faculty of Economics and Administration, Department of Business Administration, King Abdulaziz University, Jeddah, Saudi Arabia

Mohammad Azizi Entrepreneurship Faculty, University of Tehran, Tehran, Iran

Afsaneh Bagheri Faculty of Entrepreneurship, University of Tehran, Tehran, Iran

Abbas Bazargan GEM Consortium, London, UK

**Jasmina Berbegal-Mirabent** Faculty of Economy and Social Sciences, Universitat Internacional de Catalunya, Barcelona, Spain

Nihel Chabrak GEM Consortium, London, UK

Hasti Chitsazan Faculty of Entrepreneurship, University of Tehran, Tehran, Iran

Ignacio de la Vega GEM Consortium, London, UK

**Nezameddin Faghih** The Faculty of Entrepreneurship, University of Tehran, Tehran, Iran

**Morteza Hendijani Fard** Faculty of Entrepreneurship, Department of Corporate Entrepreneurship, University of Tehran, Tehran, Iran

Jahangir Yadollahi Farsi The Faculty of Entrepreneurship, University of Tehran, Tehran, Iran

Amir Forouharfar University of Sistan and Baluchestan, Zahedan, Iran

Abdulrahman Hariri Faculty of Economics and Administration, Department of Business Administration, King Abdulaziz University, Jeddah, Saudi Arabia

Majdi Hassen GEM Consortium, London, UK

Mike Herrington GEM Consortium, London, UK

Victoria Hill Faculty of Arts and Sciences, Department of Languages and Continuous Training, Moulay Ismail University, Meknes, Morocco

Ayman Ismail GEM Consortium, London, UK

Penny Kew GEM Consortium, London, UK

Sarfraz Mian State University of New York, New York, NY, USA

Neghar Mokhtari M.A. Entrepreneurship Management, University of Tehran, Tehran, Iran

**Topoyame Moremong-Nganunu** College of Economics and Political Science, Sultan Qaboos University, Muscat, Oman

Mostafa Oboudi Faculty of Management and Accounting, Department of Entrepreneurship, Shahid Beheshti University, Tehran, Iran

Shahid Qureshi CED, Washington, DC, USA

Nthati Rametse RMIT University, Melbourne, Australia

Saeid Ramezani Faculty of Management, Department of Business Management, University of Tehran, Tehran, Iran

Samira Razi Faculty of Entrepreneurship, University of Tehran, Tehran, Iran

Aidin Salamzadeh Faculty of Entrepreneurship, University of Tehran, Tehran, Iran

Basheer Salaytah GEM Consortium, London, UK

Mahshid Sazegar Fars Engineering Association, Shiraz, Iran

Thomas Schøtt GEM Consortium, London, UK

Sujeet Kumar Sharma College of Economics and Political Science, Sultan Qaboos University, Muscat, Oman

Domingo Ribeiro Soriano IUDESCOOP, University of Valencia, Valencia, Spain

Mahshid Tootoonchy The Faculty of Entrepreneurship, University of Tehran, Tehran, Iran

Mohammad Reza Zali The Faculty of Entrepreneurship, University of Tehran, Tehran, Iran

Atefeh Zolfaghari Accounting and Management Faculty, Entrepreneurship Department, Qazvin Azad Islamic University, Qazvin, Iran

ITBM Research Group of ICT Institute of ACECR, Tehran, Iran

### **List of Figures**

#### Introduction

2
3
3
•

#### Background to the MENA Region

Fig. 1	MENA region's macroeconomic situation. Source: MENA Economic	
	Monitor Report (2017)	22
Fig. 2	Middle East and North Africa (developing only)-GDP per capita	
	growth (annual %). Source: Trading Economics (2014)	23
Fig. 3	Unemployment rates in the MENA region by gender	24
Fig. 4	Quality of education in the MENA countries, relative to international	
	standards. Source: World Bank 2013a. Jobs for Shared Prosperity:	
	Time for Action in the Middle East and North Africa. Washington,	
	DC: MNSHD, World Bank, page 172	25

#### Entrepreneurial Activity in the MENA Region

Fig. 1	Entrepreneurial intentions in the MENA countries, with global	
	comparisons	38
Fig. 2	Total early-stage entrepreneurial activity in the MENA countries,	
	with global comparisons	40
Fig. 3	Established business ownership rate in the MENA countries,	
	with global comparisons	42
Fig. 4	Entrepreneurial employee activity rate in the MENA countries,	
	with global comparisons	43
Fig. 5	Business discontinuation rate in the MENA countries, with global	
	comparisons	44

## Characteristics and Motives of Early-Stage Entrepreneurs in the MENA Region

Fig. 1 Fig. 2	Geographical region averages for TEA by industry sector Innovation levels among early-stage entrepreneurs in the MENA countries, with global comparisons	60 64
The M	ENA Region National Entrepreneurial Framework Conditions	
Fig. 1	Key elements of the Iranian entrepreneurship ecosystem	80

## Entrepreneurship Education and Research in Iran: The Faculty of Entrepreneurship of University of Tehran

Fig. 1	The five Cs framework adopted from Morris and Kuratko (2014)	111
Fig. 2	Approaches to entrepreneurship education	116
Fig. 3	Four waves of entrepreneurship research of GEM based data	120
Fig. 4	Models of entrepreneurship education programs	124

## University Students' Entrepreneurial Intentions: Does Education Make a Difference?

Fig. 1	Hypothesized model for the impact of entrepreneurship education on students' entrepreneurial self-efficacy, attitudes and intentions	138
Fig. 2	Results on the impact of entrepreneurship education on students' entrepreneurial self-efficacy, attitudes and intentions	146
Spiritu Studer	al Intelligence and Social Entrepreneurial Intentions Among ats: The Mediating Role of Entrepreneurial Passion	
Fig. 1 Fig. 2	Hypothesized model Final model	180 185
Entrep	preneurship Education and Training in Saudi Arabia	
Fig. 1 Fig. 2	Research stages of the study Entrepreneurship education and training model by Azim and Al-Kahtani's EET model (2015)	203 204
Percep Entrep Under	tions Towards Entrepreneurship and Intention to Become oreneurs: The Case of Sultan Qaboos University Female graduate Students	
Fig. 1 Fig. 2 Fig. 3	Main factors influencing career aspirations Artificial neural network model Normalized importance	225 233 234
A Jour IBA's	rney Towards Entrepreneurial Support in Pakistan: Center for Entrepreneurial Development (CED)	
Fig 1	Various activities being carried out at IBA CED	248

#### A Taxonomic Study of Innovation in the MENA Region Economies: Reflections on Entrepreneurism in Egypt and Qatar

Fig. 1	g. 1 Application of innovation from R&D labs to development	
	of products and/or services. Source: Authors' own work	257
Fig. 2	Flowchart of methodological steps. Source: Authors' own work	259
Fig. 3	The line graph of taxonomic distances between study countries.	
•	Source: Authors' own work based on the taxonomic study results	269

#### Entrepreneurship in the Middle East and North Africa: A Bibliometric Analysis

Fig. 1	Number of articles per publication year	278
Fig. 2	Number of papers and total citations received by country	279
Fig. 3	Countries' collaboration network	279
Fig. 4	Bibliographic coupling of the top 20 authors	284

## Entrepreneurship Research in Iran: Current Trends and Future Agendas

### A Review of the Status of Social Entrepreneurship Research and Education in Iran

Fig. 1	Total number of published works (2003–2016)	339
Fig. 2	Number of Persian manuscripts published in Persian journals	340
Fig. 3	Number of published Persian theses	340
Fig. 4	An overview of social entrepreneurship research in Iran	341

### List of Tables

#### Introduction

Table 1	The relation between the entrepreneurial intention, total early stage entrepreneurial activity (TEA) and entrepreneurship education in some MENA countries	4
Backgro	und to the MENA Region	
Table 1	Middle East and North Africa estimated forecasts (annual % change unless otherwise indicated)	21
Table 2	Poverty and inequality in the Middle East and North Africa	23
Entrepre	eneurial Activity in the MENA Region	
Table 1	MENA economies by economic development level	34
Table 2	Societal values about entrepreneurship in the MENA countries,	
	with global comparisons	35
Table 3	Entrepreneurial perceptions and competencies in the MENA	27
Table 4	Early stage entrepreneurial activity (% of population)	37
Table 4	in the MENA countries, with global comparisons	41
Table 5	Reason for business exit in MENA countries	46
Characte	eristics and Motives of Early-Stage Entrepreneurs in the	
MENA F	Region	
Table 1	Entrepreneurial motives for TEA in the MENA countries, with	
	global comparisons	55
Table 2	TEA rates by gender in MENA countries, with global	
	comparisons	57
Table 3	Entrepreneurial motives in the MENA countries, by gender,	50
	with global comparisons	58

Table 4	TEA rates by age group in the MENA countries, with global comparisons, (% of adult population in each age category	
	involved in TEA)	59
Table 5	Distribution of TEA by industry sector in the MENA	
	countries	61
Table 6	Job growth expectations for early-stage entrepreneurs in MENA countries, with global comparisons	63
Table 7	Use of new technology by early-stage entrepreneurs in MENA	
	countries, with global comparisons	66
The MEN	A Region National Entrepreneurial Framework Conditions	

Table 1	The GEM entrepreneurial framework conditions (EFCs)				
Table 2	Entrepreneurial framework conditions for MENA region	75			

#### Entrepreneurship Education and Research in Iran: The Faculty of Entrepreneurship of University of Tehran

Table 1	Iran's development plans	
Table 2	Time line of University of Tehran	
Table 3	The theses using the GEM data	
Table 4	List of papers published in the special issue of IJBG	
Table 5	Comparison of entrepreneurial engineering modules in	
	three case studies	123
Table 6	Techno-preneurship courses in University of Tehran	125
Table 7	The main units of the proposed techno-preneurship minor	125
Table 8	Comparison of Academic and Professional master program	126

## University Students' Entrepreneurial Intentions: Does Education Make a Difference?

Table 1	Sample demographics $(n = 348)$	139
Table 2	Validity and reliability statistics for the constructs in the scale	143
Table 3	Means, standard deviations and correlations among the study	
	variables	144
Table 4	Standardized coefficients for the impact of entrepreneurship	
	education on entrepreneurial intentions and self-efficacy	145
Table 5	Standardized coefficients for the impact of entrepreneurship	
	education on entrepreneurial intentions and attitude	145

#### Integrated Approach as a Way of Overcoming Entrepreneurship Education Challenges in Elementary Schools in MENA Countries: Evidence from Iran

Table 1	Integrated entrepreneurship content and teaching methods at	
	elementary schools	163

#### Spiritual Intelligence and Social Entrepreneurial Intentions Among Students: The Mediating Role of Entrepreneurial Passion

Table 1	Demographics of samples of the research	
Table 2	Factor analysis, Cronbach's alpha, composite reliability	
	and AVE values	183
Table 3	Model fitting indexes	183
Table 4	Descriptive statistics and correlations	184
Table 5	Hypotheses test	184
Table 6	Results of Preacher and Hayes Mediation Analysis	186

#### Entrepreneurship Education and Training in Saudi Arabia

Table 1	Objectives of the EET program	
Table 2	Facilitator's characteristics of EET programs	
Table 3	Teaching approaches	206
Table 4	Content of the EET program: knowledge segment	206
Table 5	Content of the EET program: trait segment	207
Table 6	Content of the EET program: skill segment	208
Table 7	Wrap-around services provided by training organizations	209

#### Perceptions Towards Entrepreneurship and Intention to Become Entrepreneurs: The Case of Sultan Qaboos University Female Undergraduate Students

Table 1	Two main perspectives of entrepreneurship research	
Table 2	Profile of respondents	
Table 3	Type of business interest	
Table 4	Parents' employment status and their level of education	228
Table 5	Distribution of family involvements in business	229
Table 6	Distribution of participant's employment preference after the	
	graduation	230
Table 7	Factors influencing to choose the preference of employment	230
Table 8	Perception towards business ownership	
Table 9	Distribution of the family members influences while starting	
	the business	231
Table 10	Predictor importance	234
A Journey Towards Entrepreneurial Support in Pakistan: IBA's Center for Entrepreneurial Development (CED)		

Table 1	Comparison of two	strategies	243
---------	-------------------	------------	-----

#### A Taxonomic Study of Innovation in the MENA Region Economies: Reflections on Entrepreneurism in Egypt and Qatar

Table 1	GII's indices for Egypt, Qatar and Switzerland in 2008	260
Table 2	GII's indices for Egypt, Qatar and Switzerland in 2009	260
Table 3	GII's indices for Egypt, Qatar and Switzerland in 2010	260

Table 4	GII's indices for Egypt, Qatar and Switzerland in 2011	261
Table 5	GII's indices for Egypt, Qatar and Switzerland in 2012	261
Table 6	GII's indices for Egypt, Qatar and Switzerland in 2013	261
Table 7	GII's indices for Egypt, Qatar and Switzerland in 2014	262
Table 8	GII's indices for Egypt, Qatar and Switzerland in 2015	262
Table 9	GII's indices for Egypt, Qatar and Switzerland in 2016	262
Table 10	Standard matrix of 2008	263
Table 11	Standard matrix of 2009	263
Table 12	Standard matrix of 2010	263
Table 13	Standard matrix of 2011	264
Table 14	Standard matrix of 2012	264
Table 15	Standard matrix of 2013	264
Table 16	Standard matrix of 2014	265
Table 17	Standard matrix of 2015	265
Table 18	Standard matrix of 2016	265
Table 19	Compound distances for Egypt, Qatar and Switzerland in 2008	266
Table 20	Compound distances for Egypt, Qatar and Switzerland in 2009	266
Table 21	Compound distances for Egypt, Qatar and Switzerland in 2010	266
Table 22	Compound distances for Egypt, Qatar and Switzerland in 2011	266
Table 23	Compound distances for Egypt, Qatar and Switzerland in 2012	266
Table 24	Compound distances for Egypt, Qatar and Switzerland in 2013	266
Table 25	Compound distances for Egypt, Qatar and Switzerland in 2014	267
Table 26	Compound distances for Egypt, Qatar and Switzerland in 2015	267
Table 27	Compound distances for Egypt, Qatar and Switzerland in 2016	267

#### Entrepreneurship in the Middle East and North Africa: A Bibliometric Analysis

Table 1	Summary of the database	277
Table 2	Most productive authors and affiliation	280
Table 3	Top manuscripts by citations	282
Table 4	Top ten journals	282

## Entrepreneurship Research in Iran: Current Trends and Future Agendas

Table 1	Entrepreneurship articles by categories	295
Table 2	Themes and sub-themes of the articles on entrepreneurship	
	education	298
Table 3	Themes and sub-themes of the articles on entrepreneurship	
	training	299
Table 4	Themes and sub-themes of the articles on SMEs	300
Table 5	Themes and sub-themes of the articles on entrepreneur and	
	entrepreneurship process	302
Table 6	Themes and sub-themes of the articles on organizational and	
	corporate entrepreneurship	304

Table 7	Themes and sub-themes of the articles on social entrepreneurship	
	and family businesses	306
Table 8	Themes and sub-themes of the articles on entrepreneurship	
	development at rural, national and international levels	307

## A Review of the Status of Social Entrepreneurship Research and Education in Iran

Table 1	Manuscripts published in Persian journals	330
Table 2	Persian theses	335
Table 3	English manuscripts/theses	338
Table 4	An overview of social entrepreneurship research in Iran	341
Table 5	Directions for future research	344

## **Challenges of Entrepreneurial Finance: A Systematic Analysis of Empirical Researches**

Table 1	List of journals and published articles	351
Table 2	Themes and sub-themes of entrepreneurial finance challenges	352

### Introduction



#### Nezameddin Faghih and Mohammad Reza Zali

Nowadays, entrepreneurship, as an important economic and social phenomenon and as a contemporary discipline, has been studied and researched in both developed and developing countries, among policymakers and academic researchers (Fayolle and Gailly 2008). Peter Drucker, a well-known Entrepreneurship and Management guru, has said, "Entrepreneurship is not magic, it is not mysterious, and it has nothing to do with genes. It is a discipline and like any discipline, it can be learned" (Drucker 1985; Valerio et al. 2014).

In an annual survey of American college freshmen, 41% of respondents said that "becoming successful in a business of my own" is an aim they considered "essential" or "very important". Further, according to a recent American Society for Engineering Education (ASEE) survey, about 50% of faculties and administrators reported that access to entrepreneurship programs is important for their engineering undergraduates (Byers et al. 2013). As shown in Fig. 1, entrepreneurship education programs can be divided into two categories of education and training.

Training programs are suitable for business owners or potential entrepreneurs who are likely to start their business as a result of receiving training packages. In Iran, a 52-hour program in entrepreneurship training has been offered by the Social Security and Labor Institute (affiliated with the Ministry of Co-operation, Labor and Social Welfare, Iran); from 2007 to 2013, the program mainly focused on young people as potential entrepreneurs and even on novice entrepreneurs who were seeking to develop their business. Another entrepreneurship training program in Iran is the "Know About Business" (KAB) training course, developed by the

N. Faghih (🖂)

UNESCO Chair in Entrepreneurship, Paris, France e-mail: faghihnezam@ut.ac.ir; nfaghih@rose.shirazu.ac.ir

M. R. Zali Faculty of Entrepreneurship, University of Tehran, Tehran, Iran e-mail: mrzali@ut.ac.ir

<sup>©</sup> Springer International Publishing AG, part of Springer Nature 2018 N. Faghih, M. R. Zali (eds.), *Entrepreneurship Education and Research in the Middle East and North Africa (MENA)*, Contributions to Management Science, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-90394-1\_1



Fig. 1 Classifying entrepreneurship education and training programs

International Labor Organization (ILO). KAB is a training methodology to create awareness about entrepreneurship among youth and includes entrepreneurship education programs that seek to introduce young people to business and entrepreneurship. KAB can also strengthen business education at the primary and secondary levels and address the increasing demand for developing knowledge and skills in the area of business start-up (ILO Website 2017).

Nonetheless, entrepreneurship education programs can be offered both in high schools and in higher education (such as universities). Both types of entrepreneurship education and training programs are offered in high schools and universities, e.g., at the University of Tehran (Faculty of Entrepreneurship) as the pioneer and more than 15 other universities in Iran. The entrepreneurship education and training indicator is measured in the Global Entrepreneurship Monitor (GEM) program at both levels of high school and university. As shown in Fig. 2, the entrepreneurship education at high school level in UAE is higher than MENA countries like Egypt, Iran and Saudi Arabia. In Iran, entrepreneurship education at high school level is underway in the form of various programs. For instance, the Faculty of Entrepreneurship at the University of Tehran, with the implementation of the National "KASHEF" Plan, and surveying over 2 million high school students (and their parents), seeks to develop a culture of entrepreneurship among students as future entrepreneurs.

Figure 3 also reveals that post-secondary entrepreneurship education and training is at the same level in Iran and Egypt, while in Turkey, it is above the other three countries, i.e., Egypt, Iran and Saudi Arabia.

However, the goal of entrepreneurship education is to create entrepreneurship attitude, and provide entrepreneurship knowledge and skills to potential entrepreneurs to create and reinforce their entrepreneurial intention. According to the

#### Introduction



Fig. 2 Entrepreneurship education in high schools in the MENA countries (GEM Website 2017)



Fig. 3 Entrepreneurship education in universities in MENA countries (GEM website 2017)

Global Entrepreneurship Monitor (GEM) 2008 report, 31.7% of those who received volunteering entrepreneurship education and 44.4% of those who received compulsory entrepreneurship education in Egypt can recognize entrepreneurial opportunities, while the data also reveals that 30% of people without any entrepreneurship trainings in Egypt have the ability to recognize entrepreneurial opportunities. This situation has been more or less the same in Iran and Turkey.

Nevertheless, entrepreneurship is not only based on attitude but also on intention and involves the practical and experimental activities of starting new businesses. According to GEM Report in 2008 (shown in Table 1) about 73% of those who received voluntary entrepreneurship education and 60% of those who received compulsory entrepreneurship education in Egypt intended to launch a new business in the following 3 years (Bosma et al. 2008).

				Total early stage entrepreneurial activity			
	Entrepreneu	irial intention		(TEA)			
	Education and training			Education and training			
Country	Voluntary	Compulsory	No training	Voluntary	Compulsory	No training	
Iran	50.8	46	32.9	18.1	7.3	7.5	
Egypt	73.5	60.5	35.1	25.5	22	12.2	
Turkey	41.5	42.5	22.6	10.5	21.2	5.3	

 Table 1
 The relation between the entrepreneurial intention, total early stage entrepreneurial activity (TEA) and entrepreneurship education in some MENA countries

The important point to be noted is that voluntary (as opposed to compulsory) entrepreneurship education is more effective in increasing the entrepreneurship intention and entrepreneurial activities in Iran and Egypt. Overall, it can be concluded that entrepreneurship education in the MENA region has led to development of entrepreneurship in practice. This can also be observed in a chapter in this book devoted to outlining entrepreneurship education and research at the Faculty of Entrepreneurship of the University of Tehran.

Aligned with entrepreneurship education, entrepreneurship research also had to be enhanced at the Faculty of Entrepreneurship. Investigating entrepreneurship research publications points us to the fact that the establishment of the Faculty of Entrepreneurship at the University of Tehran in 2007 positively impacted the depth of entrepreneurship research in Iran, and even in the MENA Region too. For instance, prior to the establishment of the Faculty of Entrepreneurship at the University of Tehran, research and publications on entrepreneurship were very limited in Iran, and mainly focused on general issues of entrepreneurship, e.g., some topics on entrepreneurs' personality traits. In fact, after Iran joined the Global Entrepreneurship Monitor (GEM) Research Consortium, in 2007, represented by the University of Tehran (Faculty of Entrepreneurship), the number of countries in the region joining GEM increased from three countries (Jordan, the United Arab Emirates and Kazakhstan) to 14 countries in 2016; thus, an opportunity for comparative studies of entrepreneurship in the MENA Region was created (Zali et al. 2014; GEM Website 2017).

In addition, along with comparative entrepreneurial studies, new research has been undertaken in the field of entrepreneurship knowledge in the Middle East and North Africa (MENA), some of which are presented in this book. This book is an attempt by a number of researchers and scholars involved in entrepreneurship training, education, and research in scholarly communities to address and discuss the most recent issues and developments in entrepreneurship education and research in the MENA Region.

The book contents have been divided into 3 parts with 18 chapters. **Part I** includes five chapters and deals with the research undertaken by the Global Entrepreneurship Monitor (GEM) in the MENA Region. GEM is a research consortium of universities for global study of entrepreneurship, and this part of the book contains the GEM Middle East and North Africa Regional Report 2017. The report gives some background information on the MENA Region, describes the general characteristics of MENA, presents an evaluation of the regional socio-economic situation, and narrates some Entrepreneur's stories.

The GEM model recognizes entrepreneurial attitudes, activity, and aspiration as dynamic interactive components of national entrepreneurial environments, and entrepreneurial activity as a continuous process rather than as individual events. An account of entrepreneurial activity in MENA is given, comprising societal attitudes and perceptions, entrepreneurial propensity, entrepreneurial intentions, early-stage entrepreneurial activity, established business activity, entrepreneurial employee activity, and business discontinuance.

GEM's focus on individual-level participation enables its research to reveal a range of demographic and other characteristics about entrepreneurs. The research also makes possible an assessment of the level of inclusiveness in an economy—in other words, the extent to which various groups (for example, age, gender, or education level) engage in entrepreneurial activity. This information can assist policy makers in targeting effective interventions aimed at increasing participation as well as productivity in the economy. Thus, a chapter is devoted to the description of characteristics and motives of early-stage entrepreneurs in the MENA Region.

The GEM model explicitly acknowledges that particular environmental factors (social, cultural, political, and economic) are influential in creating unique business and entrepreneurial contexts. Annually, each economy participating in the GEM cycle surveys at least 36 key experts or informants. Based on this National Experts Survey (NES), this chapter considers the MENA Region national entrepreneurial framework conditions, and the country-level insights into the MENA entrepreneurial framework conditions.

The last chapter in this part of the book is devoted to policy implications and recommendations for the MENA Region countries; though given the challenges that the region faces, it is difficult to propose a 'one solution for all' approach.

**Part II** is divided into seven chapters related to entrepreneurship education and training in the MENA Region. The growth of entrepreneurship education in a MENA country, and specifically in the main university of that country, is reviewed. Their current educational programs are explained and the new directions for entrepreneurship education such as techno-preneurship, professional master of entrepreneurship at the faculty of entrepreneurship at that university are explored.

The impact of entrepreneurship education on development of students' entrepreneurial intentions and qualities, and on entrepreneurship education and research, are explored and discussed. Additionally, perceptions towards entrepreneurship and intention to become entrepreneurs among female undergraduate students, and the relationship between spiritual intelligence and social entrepreneurial intentions among students (according to the mediating role of entrepreneurial passion) are also considered.

Moreover, entrepreneurship education in the MENA Region is studied by examining the nature of entrepreneurship education, the extent of its provision in the MENA region, the need for higher education reform, and what needs to be done if MENA universities are to address the enterprise agenda. An integrated approach is also considered as a way of overcoming entrepreneurship education challenges in elementary schools in the MENA countries. It is observed that in order to promote entrepreneurial knowledge, skills and attitude in elementary school students, entrepreneurship concepts can be integrated in courses like mathematics, sciences, social sciences, linguistics, work, and technology.

A chapter is devoted to trace the present status of entrepreneurship education and training (EET) in a MENA country and to assess the design of the entrepreneurship training programs offered by public and private institutes and universities. A number of initiatives are observed from the public and private sectors in the form of training, counseling, funding, incubation, and other advisory and material supports to potential as well as nascent entrepreneurs, leading to a number of recommendations regarding overall improvement of EET.

Furthermore, in this part of the book, a journey towards entrepreneurial support in Pakistan (a factor-driven economy) is also presented, where the Centre for Entrepreneurial Development (CED) at the Institute of Business Administration (IBA) was established in 2010 to play a key role in promoting entrepreneurship in the country. The objective was to train the urban and rural youth to pursue agriculture, technology, and other low-cost business opportunities in their own villages, towns and cities to spur innovation and growth. Starting from a single room, CED now has a dedicated three-story building and has helped hundreds of youth to develop an entrepreneurial mindset and start their businesses. The case describes the emergence of CED as a premier center and discusses various challenges and issues that arose during the journey. It provides valuable lessons and has implications for policy makers and university administrators confronted with similar situations.

**Part III** contains five chapters focusing on entrepreneurship research in the MENA Region. A chapter is devoted to bibliometric analysis of entrepreneurship research in the Middle East and North Africa.

Research contributes to the innovation process, and research and innovation play a direct role in prosperity of a society and the well-being of people. It is basically an investment in technology and capabilities which can be transformed into new processes, products, and services. Research and development, as a component of innovation at the front end of the innovation life cycle, turns investments into knowledge. Thus, innovation builds on research and development, includes commercialization phases, and is the creation of business out of this knowledge (The Europe Union 2018; Lindegaard 2016). In this part of the book, a taxonomic study of innovation in the MENA Region economies and its reflections on entrepreneurism in two MENA countries is presented. To narrow the focus of the study, two countries are selected: one has an efficiency-driven economy and is the most populated country in MENA, mainly in North Africa but partially in West Asia; while the other one has an innovation-driven economy with the smallest populations and is in the easternmost portion of the Arabian Peninsula.

A chapter also investigates the current trends and future research agendas for entrepreneurship in a MENA country. Additionally, another chapter reviews the status of social entrepreneurship research and education in the same country, and attempts to shed light on social entrepreneurship research and education in this MENA country.

Understanding the challenges facing financing ventures is an important issue especially in the MENA Region. Raising the capital has long been highlighted as the key factor that not only influences venture creation and survival, but also affects its success and growth. Hence, challenges of entrepreneurial finance are studied through a systematic analysis of empirical research focused on entrepreneurial finance.

Throughout the book the emphasis is principally on entrepreneurship education and research in the MENA Region, and the research papers presented in this book can also provide new insights for the individuals who are interested in comparative studies.

#### References

- Bosma N, Acs ZJ, Autio E, Coduras A, Levie J (2008) Global entrepreneurship monitor 2008 executive report. http://www.gemconsortium.org/report/47107
- Byers T, Seelig T, Sheppard S, Weilerstein P (2013) Entrepreneurship; its role in engineering education. The BRIDGE, National Academy of Engineering, Undergraduate Engineering Education, Washington, DC
- Drucker P (1985) Innovation and entrepreneurship. Harper & Row, New York
- Fayolle A, Gailly B (2008) From craft to science: teaching models and learning processes in entrepreneurship education. J Eur Ind Train 32(7):569–593. https://doi.org/10.1108/ 03090590810899838
- Lindegaard S (2016) What is the difference between R&D and innovation? https://www.linkedin. com/pulse/what-difference-between-rd-innovation-stefan-lindegaard
- The Europe Union (2018) Research and innovation: pushing boundaries and improving the quality of life. https://europa.eu/european-union/sites/europaeu/files/research\_en.pdf
- The Global Entrepreneurship Monitor (GEM) Website (2017) http://www.gemconsortium.org
- The International Labor Organization (ILO) Website (2017) www.ilo.org and http://www.ilo.org/ suva/publications/WCMS\_359276/lang--en/index.htm
- Valerio A, Parton B, Robb A (2014) Entrepreneurship education and training programs around the world. The World Bank, Washington, DC. www.worldbank.org
- Zali MR, Bastian BL, Mirzaee M (2014) Institutional framework conditions and entrepreneurial attitudes and motivations. Asers Publishing, Craiova

### Part I Global Entrepreneurship Monitor (GEM) in the MENA Region

(GEM: A Research Consortium of Universities for Global Study of Entrepreneurship)

### GEM Middle East and North Africa Regional Report 2017

Ayman Ismail, Thomas Schøtt, Abbas Bazargan, Basheer Salaytah, Hamad Al Kubaisi, Majdi Hassen, Ignacio de la Vega, Nihel Chabrak, Abier Annan, Mike Herrington, and Penny Kew

#### Founding and Sponsoring Institutions

London Business School, London, United Kingdom Founding Institution Babson College, Babson Park, MA, United States Lead Sponsoring Institution and Founding Institution Universidad del Desarrollo, Santiago, Chile Sponsoring Institution Universiti Tun Abdul Razak, Malaysia Sponsoring Institution Korea Enterprise Foundation, Korea Sponsoring Institution

#### Disclaimers

Although GEM data were used in the preparation of this report, their interpretation and use are the sole responsibility of the authors. The usual disclaimer applies.

Suggested citation: Ayman Ismail, Thomas Schøtt, Abbas Bazargon, Basheer Salaytah, Hamad Al Kubaisi, Majdi Hassen, Ignacio de la Vega, Nihel Chabrak, Abier Annan, Mike Herrington and Penny Kew. *GEM Middle East and North Africa* 

A. Ismail · T. Schøtt · A. Bazargan · B. Salaytah · H. Al Kubaisi · M. Hassen · I. de la Vega · N. Chahrah. A. Annan, M. Harrington (17), B. Karri

N. Chabrak  $\cdot$  A. Annan  $\cdot$  M. Herrington ( $\boxtimes$ )  $\cdot$  P. Kew

GEM Consortium, London, UK

e-mail: mherrington@gemconsortium.org

<sup>©</sup> Springer International Publishing AG, part of Springer Nature 2018

N. Faghih, M. R. Zali (eds.), *Entrepreneurship Education and Research in the Middle East and North Africa (MENA)*, Contributions to Management Science, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-90394-1

*Regional Report 2017.* Global Entrepreneurship Research Association, 2017. www. gemconsortium.org

#### Acknowledgements

The authors would like to express their gratitude to all participating GEM national teams for their crucial role in conducting the GEM survey in their respective economies, and to the organisations that sponsored this work.

Special thanks go to the GEM team leaders and team members of the MENA countries, for their pertinent insights into their countries' entrepreneurship frame-works and ecosystems.

The authors would like to extend their thanks to the GERA data team for their contribution to the data collection and analysis procedures.

Thanks go to Rothko International for the design and layout of this report.

#### **Executive Summary**

Since the 2011 Arab Spring, political and economic crises have occurred in large segments of the MENA region. The MENA region has experienced significant economic and social losses from poor economic management and conflicts. There is an urgent need to deploy its substantial human, natural, and financial assets more efficiently through adopting economic and social policies that create long-term sustainable and inclusive economic growth for the region. A critical aspect of this is for policy-makers in the region to focus on establishing an enabling environment in which entrepreneurs can emerge, compete and innovate.

Eight countries in the MENA region—namely Egypt, Iran, Jordan, Lebanon, Morocco, Qatar, Saudi Arabia and the United Arab Emirates—participated in the 2016 GEM survey. We also included Tunisia data from the 2015 GEM survey. This report focuses on these countries, providing macro-level insights across the region as well as country-level insights into the people who participate in different phases of entrepreneurial activity.

## Participation in Entrepreneurship Across Multiple Phases of Activity

Overall, people in the MENA region have strongly positive attitudes towards entrepreneurship. On average, almost three-quarters of people in the region see entrepreneurship as a good career choice—substantially higher than the averages for all the other regions, with the exception of sub-Saharan Africa. Egyptians have the most positive perceptions of entrepreneurship as a career choice as well as the highest regard for entrepreneurs. In Iran, on the other hand, only half the population see entrepreneurship as a good career choice—the lowest rate in MENA.

Despite the highly positive attitudes towards entrepreneurship, the MENA region report average scores in terms of perceived opportunities and capabilities. An encouraging finding, though, is that on average, close to half of people in the MENA region know a start-up entrepreneur—only Africa reports a (marginally) higher score for this indicator. At the individual country level, the MENA countries show divergent results. Saudi Arabia displays the highest level of perceived opportunities, by a significant margin, as well as the highest level of confidence in their entrepreneurial perceptions and competencies across all parameters. On the other hand, despite strongly positive attitudes towards entrepreneurship in the United Arab Emirates, only a quarter of the population perceived good opportunities in their area (the lowest rate of opportunity perception in MENA). Less than half of Egyptians believe they have the skills to pursue entrepreneurial opportunities; Egyptians are also least likely to know a start-up entrepreneur (19%, which is less than half the MENA average).

The percentage of intending entrepreneurs in the MENA region is, along with Africa, higher than the average for the other geographical regions—more than a third of working-age individuals in the MENA countries express entrepreneurial intentions. This is in line with the strongly positive social as well as self-perceptions regarding entrepreneurship in the region as a whole. Egypt tops the rankings with respect to entrepreneurial intention, with almost two-thirds of adults expressing an intention to start a business within the next 3 years. The lowest level of entrepreneurial intention is in Jordan—at 16% less than half the regional average. Jordan also reported among the lowest levels of both opportunity and capability perception in the region.

An area of concern is that there is a marked drop off between intending and active entrepreneurs in the MENA region as a whole. In terms of entrepreneurial intention, the MENA region as a whole reported amongst the highest levels when compared to the other geographical regions. The average for the MENA region was on a par with the averages for Africa and Latin America & the Caribbean—however, both these regions report early-stage entrepreneurial rates that are double those for the MENA region. Although the MENA region has, on the whole, positive attitudes towards entrepreneurship, the proportion of early-stage entrepreneurs is 70% lower than the number with entrepreneurial intentions. The drop off between intending and active entrepreneurs is of greatest concern in Egypt and the United Arab Emirates. Both these countries have highly positive attitudes towards entrepreneurship, and healthy pools of intending entrepreneurs. The level of early-stage activity, however, is less than a fifth the number with entrepreneurial intentions.

From an individual country perspective, Lebanon has the highest rate of early-stage entrepreneurial activity (TEA) by a substantial margin. A fifth of Lebanese adults are engaged in early-stage entrepreneurial activity—double the regional average. This is in line with Lebanon's encouragingly positive levels of entrepreneurial perceptions and competencies across all parameters. Morocco and the United Arab Emirates have the lowest TEA rates (half the MENA average).

The MENA region has among the lowest proportions of established business owners, compared to the other geographic groups—a discouraging finding. From an individual country perspective, Lebanon reports the highest rate of established business ownership. A fifth of the adult population are established business owners—three times the regional average. What is particularly encouraging is that the TEA rate and established business rate in Lebanon are the same. Iran also reports a robust established business ownership rate and good firm sustainability. The United Arab Emirates and Saudi Arabia have the lowest rates of established business ownership in the MENA region. This is of particular concern in Saudi Arabia, whose TEA rate is five times higher than the established business rate, suggesting a poor level of new firm sustainability in this country.

Qatar reports an Employee Entrepreneurial Activity (EEA) rate that is the highest in the region by a substantial margin (almost three times the regional average) and very similar to its TEA rate of 7.8%. In the United Arab Emirates, on the other hand, the low TEA rate is not offset by high employee entrepreneurial activity.

From a regional perspective, the MENA region has a high rate of business discontinuance. Although Africa has a higher rate of discontinuance, it also has a substantially higher TEA rate. The MENA countries also have a ratio of TEA to business discontinuance that is of concern. Across all the other geographic groups, for every person exiting a business in 2016 approximately three were engaged in early-stage entrepreneurial activity. For the MENA region, however, for every person exiting a business there were only 1.7 people engaged in early-stage entrepreneurial activity. Lebanon is the exception, with three people engaged in TEA for every individual discontinuing a business.

The most common reason for business discontinuance in the MENA region as a whole is lack of profitability. Personal reasons and problems accessing finance are also fairly common reasons for business exits in the MENA region. From an individual country perspective, financial issues are a particularly pernicious problem in Jordan and Morocco, with lack of profitability or problems getting finance together accounting for over 70% of business exits in these countries. Business exits because of an opportunity to sell are relatively common in the UAE and Saudi Arabia, with a quarter of businesses discontinued for this reason. Saudi Arabians are most likely to exit their businesses as part of a planned exit/retirement.

#### Motives for Starting a Business

There are relatively high levels of necessity-driven entrepreneurial activity among the MENA countries—in six of the nine countries, the proportion of necessity-driven entrepreneurs is over 25%. Lebanon, Iran and Egypt have the highest proportion of necessity-driven entrepreneurs. Although Lebanon has the highest TEA rate in the MENA region, almost 40% of this activity is necessity-motivated. In Iran, a third of entrepreneurs are motivated by necessity.

Saudi Arabia, Qatar and Tunisia report encouragingly high levels of opportunitymotivated TEA. Tunisia and Qatar also stand out in terms of their proportion of improvement-driven opportunity (IDO) entrepreneurs—close to two-thirds of earlystage entrepreneurs in these two countries fall into this category. In Qatar and Saudi Arabia, entrepreneurs are around six times as likely to be improvement-driven opportunity entrepreneurs rather than necessity-driven entrepreneurs. Egypt has the lowest proportion of IDO entrepreneurs—in this country, early-stage entrepreneurs are as likely to be motivated by necessity as they are to IDO entrepreneurs.

#### Influence of Gender and Age on Entrepreneurial Activity

The MENA region as a whole exhibits the widest gender gap (compared to other geographical regions) in terms of early-stage entrepreneurial activity—in 2016, women in this region were only half as likely to be engaged in TEA as their male counterparts. In Africa and Latin America & the Caribbean, by contrast, eight women were engaged in TEA for every ten male entrepreneurs. At the country level, the MENA region shows divergent results. Gender parity is positive in Qatar and Saudi Arabia—in these two countries, there are around eight women entrepreneurs for every ten male entrepreneurs. Jordan reports the widest gender gap, with fewer than three women engaged in entrepreneurial activity for every ten men. Gender gaps are also significant in Tunisia and Egypt.

In terms of reason for starting a business, an encouraging finding is that on average, men and women in the MENA region are equally likely to be motivated by opportunity. Male entrepreneurs in the MENA region and Africa report the highest levels of necessity motivation—a quarter of men in these two regions are pushed into entrepreneurship because of no better options to earn a livelihood. Female entrepreneurs in the MENA region, on the other hand, paint a more positive picture—they are more likely to be motivated by opportunity than are their counterparts in Africa and Latin America & the Caribbean, and are on a par with female entrepreneurs in Europe. Women are more likely to be opportunity-motivated than their male counterparts in six of the nine MENA countries. Jordan is a significant outlier in the region in this respect, exhibiting a wide gender gap in opportunity motivation. In Saudi Arabia and Qatar opportunity motivation is particularly high in both genders. Male necessity motivation is highest in Lebanon (at 41% of overall TEA by males), while the United Arab Emirates, Lebanon and Jordan all report female necessity entrepreneurship levels of just under 40%.

The influence of age on entrepreneurial activity tends to be very similar throughout the world, with the highest prevalence of entrepreneurial activity among the 25– 34 and 35–44 year olds across all three development phases. Most of the countries in the MENA region follow the general global pattern with respect to the influence of age on entrepreneurial behavior. Egypt and the United Arab Emirates are exceptions: Egyptians display almost identical levels of entrepreneurial participation in the first three age cohorts, while in the UAE peak entrepreneurial activity—by a substantial margin—is in the 45–54 year age cohort. Entrepreneurial activity among 18–24 year olds is highest in Lebanon (double the regional average) and Egypt; the UAE and Morocco report very low TEA activity (3% or less) in this age group. The relatively low levels of entrepreneurial activity among the youth in the MENA region is of concern in the context of the high level of un- and underemployment among this age group. Senior entrepreneurship (55 years and older) is low in the majority of the MENA countries. Lebanon has the highest TEA rate in this age cohort (double the regional average). In Jordan, seniors are more likely to be involved in entrepreneurship than are the 18–24 year olds; Qatar also shows a positive level of entrepreneurial activity by seniors.

#### Entrepreneurship Impact Characteristics

On average, just over half of all early-stage entrepreneurs in the MENA region are active in the wholesale/ retail sector. Saudi Arabia, the United Arab Emirates and Lebanon have the highest proportion of TEA activity in this sector-two-thirds of early-stage entrepreneurs in these countries are in wholesale/ retail. Tunisia and Iran have the lowest proportion of TEA activity in the wholesale/retail sector. Iran has a particularly balanced industry profile, with robust participation in manufacturing & transportation, as well as the professional and other services sector. Iran also reports the second highest proportion of early-stage entrepreneurs in the ICT & finance sector. Morocco and Iran have the highest involvement in manufacturing and transportation-double the regional average-while mining accounts for a quarter of Tunisia's early-stage entrepreneurial activity (almost four times the regional average). Saudi Arabia has a particularly unbalanced industry profile, with more than 90% of entrepreneurs concentrated in wholesale/retail and professional/other services. Saudi Arabia has the highest proportion of entrepreneurs in the health/ education/government and social services (22%). The most resilient sectors tend to be communication, financial services and information technology (IT). Jobs in these sectors comprise the type of high-level skills that countries need to compete in the global economy. Qatar is the only country in the region with more than 10% of earlystage entrepreneurs in ICT and finance.

The MENA region as a whole has a relatively high proportion of entrepreneurs who do not expect to create any new jobs in the next 5 years. Just over half of entrepreneurs in the MENA region expect to add at least one new job. An encouraging finding is that the MENA region has one of the highest proportions of medium-to-high growth entrepreneurs (i.e. those projecting to employ six or more people in the next 5 years). In both North America and the MENA region, a quarter of entrepreneurs exhibit these higher-growth aspirations.

At the country level, the MENA region shows divergent results in terms of job creation aspirations. Over 80% of entrepreneurs in Saudi Arabia have no future hiring expectations; in Tunisia and Qatar, on the other hand, only a fifth of entrepreneurs anticipate creating no new jobs in the next 5 years. Qatar has the highest
high-growth expectations, with half of the entrepreneurs in this country expecting to create six or more new jobs in the next 5 years. Tunisia and the United Arab Emirates also have robust high-growth expectations. These job-creation aspirations must, however, be seen in the context of the MENA region's low established business rate—which needs be addressed if these economic benefits are to be realized.

The MENA region exhibits a relatively positive level of innovation, with a quarter of early-stage entrepreneurs in the region offering products that are new to all/some customers AND offered by few/no other businesses. This level of innovation is on a par with Latin America & the Caribbean, higher than for Africa and Asia & Oceania, and only marginally lower than for Europe. At the individual country level, Lebanon reports the highest innovation levels by a substantial margin (more than double the regional average). At the other end of the scale, Saudi Arabia reports the lowest levels of innovation—only half the regional average.

Innovation in entrepreneurial businesses can also be assessed by determining the use of new technologies by the business. An encouraging finding is that the MENA region has a high technology orientation. Compared to the other geographical groups, the MENA region tops the ranks, by a substantial margin, in terms of the use of both latest and new technology. Only a third of entrepreneurs in the region, on average, use no new technology. At the individual country level, Morocco stands out with respect to use of the latest technology—almost three-quarters of entrepreneurs in this country use technology that has only been available since the previous year. A mere 5% of Moroccans use no new technology. Tunisia and Lebanon also exhibit a high technology orientation, with over 60% of entrepreneurs in these two countries having access to latest technology. Iran, on the other hand, lags conspicuously with only 4.5% of entrepreneurs using latest technology, while a substantial majority of entrepreneurs (79%) use no new technology.

#### The Entrepreneurial Framework Conditions

The National Expert Survey (NES) helps to identify key weaknesses in national entrepreneurial environments, in order to provide policy makers and business leaders with information that enables them to put into place precise, practical and targeted recommendations. On average, the experts in the MENA region rated school-level entrepreneurship education and R&D transfer as the two main areas constraining entrepreneurship in the region. The MENA experts also report average ratings (below 4.0) for government policy (taxes and bureaucracy), government entrepreneurship programs, and market burdens/entry regulations. In ten of the twelve entrepreneurship areas assessed, the MENA experts report scores below the GEM average.

Physical infrastructure is the entrepreneurial framework condition (EFC) which is ranked most positively, overall, among the MENA countries. With the exception of Lebanon (with a mean score of 3.7) the rest of the countries all rate physical infrastructure as good, with the United Arab Emirates rating it as very good.

The country which the experts assessed as the weakest entrepreneurial framework is Iran. Experts in Iran gave only two EFCs mean scores of above 4.0—access to physical infrastructure, and market dynamics. Five EFCs were judged as very weak, receiving mean scores of below 3.0. Iran is the only country in the region with mean scores below 3.0 for government programs and access to finance. Saudi Arabia's experts also regard the country's entrepreneurial framework conditions as generally insufficient—seven EFCs were given ratings below 4.0. The countries with the most enabling entrepreneurial frameworks are the United Arab Emirates and Qatar—the two innovation-driven economies in the region. In both these countries, all the EFCs receive mean scores above 4.0—in the case of the UAE, seven of the EFCs receive ratings of 5.0 or higher.

In order to facilitate a deeper understanding of entrepreneurship development within the MENA countries, GEM National Teams were asked to provide information about the status of entrepreneurial conditions in their countries. This could include the way in which people who want to be entrepreneurial would perceive the national framework, in terms of limitations and opportunities; critical focus areas; as well as best policy practices or strategies that the government, NGOs and private sector have introduced to encourage entrepreneurship. Their insights are provided in chapter "The MENA Region Entrepreneurial Framework Conditions".

# **Background to the MENA Region**



Ayman Ismail, Thomas Schøtt, Abbas Bazargan, Basheer Salaytah, Hamad Al Kubaisi, Majdi Hassen, Ignacio de la Vega, Nihel Chabrak, Abier Annan, Mike Herrington, and Penny Kew

## 1 General Characteristics of the MENA region

The term MENA refers to the Middle East and North Africa. The MENA region includes the area from Morocco in northwest Africa to Iran in southwest Asia and down to Sudan in Africa. It comprises 22 countries, and accounts for approximately 6% of the world's population. The following countries are typically included in MENA: Algeria, Bahrain, Djibouti, Egypt, Iran, Iraq, Israel, Jordan, Kuwait, Lebanon, Libya, Malta, Morocco, Oman, Qatar, Saudi Arabia, Syria, Tunisia, United Arab Emirates, West Bank and Gaza, and Yemen. Ethiopia and Sudan are sometimes included. The population of the MENA region is about 436 million people, the vast majority living in middle-income economies with a GDP in the region of US\$3.111 Trillion. The region accounts for 60% of the world oil reserves and 45% of the world's natural gas reserves. Due to the region's substantial petroleum natural gas reserves, MENA is an important source of global economic stability.

There are two important characteristics among MENA countries: the availability of oil resources and the size of their native populations. Based on these two factors, MENA countries can be classified into three main groups (O'Sullivan et al. 2011).

1. Resource-rich, labour-abundant: these countries are producers and exporters of oil and gas and have large native populations, which represent almost the totality of their residents. This group of countries includes Algeria, Iraq, Syria, and Yemen.

A. Ismail  $\cdot$  T. Schøtt  $\cdot$  A. Bazargan  $\cdot$  B. Salaytah  $\cdot$  H. Al Kubaisi  $\cdot$  M. Hassen  $\cdot$  I. de la Vega  $\cdot$ 

N. Chabrak  $\cdot$  A. Annan  $\cdot$  M. Herrington ( $\boxtimes$ )  $\cdot$  P. Kew

GEM Consortium, London, UK

e-mail: mherrington@gemconsortium.org

<sup>©</sup> Springer International Publishing AG, part of Springer Nature 2018

N. Faghih, M. R. Zali (eds.), *Entrepreneurship Education and Research in the Middle East and North Africa (MENA)*, Contributions to Management Science, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-90394-1\_2

- 2. Resource-rich, labour-importing: these countries are producers and exporters of oil and gas and have large shares of foreign or expatriate residents, who represent a significant percentage of the total population, even the majority in some cases. This group of countries comprises the Gulf Cooperation Council (GCC) members (Bahrain, Kuwait, Oman, Qatar, Saudi Arabia, and the United Arab Emirates) and Libya.
- 3. Resource-poor: these countries are small producers or importers of oil and gas, and include Djibouti, Egypt, Jordan, Lebanon, Mauritania, Morocco, Tunisia, and the Palestinian Authority.

#### 2 The Economic Situation in the MENA region

Since the 2011 Arab Spring, political and economic crises have overwhelmed large segments of the MENA region, with disastrous human and economic consequences. According to Fardoust (2016), the region has witnessed huge economic and social losses from poor economic management and conflicts requiring massive military outlays. There is an urgent need to deploy its substantial human, natural, and financial assets more efficiently through adopting economic and social policies that lead to more rapid and inclusive economic growth for the region. Saudi Arabia, Egypt, Iran, and Turkey are the most influential countries in the region.

The growth in MENA region slowed to 2.7% in 2016, reflecting fiscal consolidation in some countries and oil production constraints in others (MENA Economic Monitor 2017). Growth is expected to reach a rate of 3.1% this year, with oil importers registering the strongest gains. Due to ongoing reforms, growth could exceed 3% in 2018 and 2019 in the region (World Bank 2017a, b). Table 1 presents the projected forecasts for the MENA countries.

However, there are some risks associated with oil price volatility, such as spillovers from existing conflicts in several countries as well as terrorism, which are risks to regional economic activity. Consequently, economic uncertainty will increase and investment will slow.

Figure 1 shows the forecast macroeconomic situation in the region. Though still below potential, the improvement in growth offers hope. MENA countries are expected to grow; the main driver of regional growth is quadrupled in 2016—reaching 4.9% from its 2015 level of 1.1%—and is projected to remain around 4% by 2019.

According to Rouis and Tabor (2013), oil and gas are the primary commodities in the region (76% in 2008–2010). On the other hand, manufactured goods account for just over 11% with other sectors accounting for the remaining 13%. The exports are highly concentrated in spite of recent efforts, with Egypt, Jordan, Lebanon, Morocco, and Tunisia faring better than the rest. Medium or high-technology products exports in these five countries represent only 21%, compared to 37% in other middle-income economies.

	2014	2015	2016	2017	2018	2019
GDP at market prices (2010 US\$)						
Algeria	3.8	3.9	3.6	2.9	2.6	2.8
Bahrain	4.4	2.9	2.0	1.8	2.1	2.4
Djibouti	6.0	6.5	6.5	7.0	7.0	7.0
Egypt, Arab Rep.	3.7	4.4	4.2	4.4	5.1	5.4
Iran, Islamic Rep.	4.3	1.7	4.6	5.2	4.8	4.5
Iraq	0.1	2.9	10.2	1.1	0.7	1.1
Jordan	3.1	2.4	2.3	2.6	3.1	3.4
Kuwait	0.5	1.8	2.0	2.4	2.6	2.8
Lebanon	1.8	1.3	1.8	2.2	2.3	2.5
Morocco	2.6	4.5	1.5	4.0	3.5	3.6
Oman	2.5	5.7	2.5	2.9	3.4	3.6
Qatar	4.0	3.6	1.8	3.6	2.1	1.3
Saudi Arabia	3.6	3.5	1.0	1.6	2.5	2.6
Tunisia	2.3	0.8	2.0	3.0	3.7	4.0
United Arab Emirates	3.1	3.8	2.3	2.5	3.0	3.3
West Bank and Gaza	-0.2	3.5	3.3	3.5	3.5	3.6

Table 1 Middle East and North Africa estimated forecasts (annual % change unless otherwise indicated)

Source: World Bank (2017a, b)

World Bank forecasts are frequently updated based on new information and changing (global) circumstances. Consequently, projections presented here may differ from those contained in other Bank documents, even if basic assessments of countries' prospects do not significantly differ at any given moment in time

## **3** The Social Situation in the MENA region

Over the past two decades, the poverty rate in MENA has been declining. However, the number of people in poverty has not declined since 1990 due to rapid population growth, and in 2005 still remained around 50 million at under \$2 a day (Table 2) (Najat 2010). Five percent of the MENA population are below the lowest (\$1.25 a day) poverty line and suffer from many forms of social and economic deprivation, including malnutrition. Moreover, 17% of Egyptians, 15% of Yemenis and 10% of Moroccans consume less than 50 cents per day above \$2 a day. The events of 2011 resulted in the poverty of 2.6 million people. GDP per capita growth (annual %) in Middle East and North Africa (developing only) was reported at 1.0482% in 2014, according to the World Bank collection of development indicators, compiled from officially recognized sources (Fig. 2).

According to Moghadam and Decker (2010), income inequalities in the region are very obvious. Those from the upper middle classes live very comfortable lives while the lower-income groups struggle to survive and earn a livelihood. Youth can't afford the high costs of living, especially with the current unemployment levels, and



Fig. 1 MENA region's macroeconomic situation. Source: MENA Economic Monitor Report (2017)

may engage in social protest either for jobs, housing, and income or for cultural change and freedom.

The MENA region has a rich historical, cultural and religious heritage (Jawad 2015). It is blessed with human, natural, and financial resources, has valuable biodiversity, and exhibits a high level of infrastructure development. However, there are a number of social development challenges in the MENA region such as issues relating to youth, women, and vulnerable groups); social cohesion in urban and rural areas; and greater accountability of governments and other service providers to citizens (World Bank 2008).

The Millennium Development Goals (MDGs) have made a noticeable contribution of social protection policies in the region in the 2000s (MDGs) and the post-2015 UN development agenda (UN/LAS 2013). Additionally, there is a wider global development policy shift (Silva et al. 2012). These developments contribute to the cash transfer programs and the exploration of the concept of shared prosperity. There has also significant progress in the MENA countries when it comes to social development such as: (i) the inclusion of youth, women and other vulnerable groups;

Country	Population living below the national poverty line, 2000–2006 (%)	Income share held by poorest 20% of population (%)	Population living on less than US\$2 per day 2000–2007 (%)	Gini index 2000– 2006
Egypt	40.93	9	18.4	32.1
Iran	-	6.4	8	38.3
Israel	-	5.7	-	39.2
Jordan	11.33	7.2	3.5	37.7
Lebanon	28.6	-	-	-
Morocco	39.65	6.5	14	40.9
Saudi Arabia	-	7.8	-	33
Syria	30.1	-	-	-
Tunisia	23.67	6	12.8	39.8
Turkey	-	5.2	9	43.2
Yemen	59.9	7.2	46.6	37.7

 Table 2
 Poverty and inequality in the Middle East and North Africa

Source: Data for percentage of population living below national poverty line: Arab Human Development Report 2009 (New York: United Nations Development Program, 2009), Table 5-6; data for percentage of population living on less than US\$2 per day: Human Development Report United Nations Development Program, various years, http://hdr.undp.org/en/statistics/data/; all other data from "Key Development Data and Statistics," World Bank, 2000–2006

Note: Data for Algeria, Bahrain, Iraq, Kuwait, Libya, Oman, Qatar, United Arab Emirates, and the West Bank and Gaza are not available



Fig. 2 Middle East and North Africa (developing only)—GDP per capita growth (annual %). Source: Trading Economics (2014)

(ii) the reinvigoration and empowerment of local communities; and (iii) improving citizen and private sector access to information on government-related opportunities and benefits.



Fig. 3 Unemployment rates in the MENA region by gender

Employment and job creation is a primary issue for the MENA countries. Some countries experience high unemployment rates among youth (15–24 years of age)— these include Egypt, Iran, Jordan, Lebanon, Libya, Tunisia and Yemen. Women have the highest unemployment rate of 39% compared to 22% of males. Tunisia has an unemployment rate of 40% while Iran is the lowest with 25%. Lebanon recorded the highest gender gap in unemployment compared to the other countries in the region. Figure 3 indicates the youth unemployment rates for the MENA region. The female youth unemployment rate is almost three times the male unemployment in Egypt and double in Iran, Jordan and Yemen. In Egypt, female unemployment is 65%, Jordan and Yemen 55%, and 40% in Iran.

Education remains of central concern to MENA region. The regional challenges affect education; conversely, education can contribute to the solution of these challenges. Although the current problems and weaknesses in the educational system represent a huge challenge, educational progress in the region has also taken place.

A concern is that 4.5 million children are not enrolled in schools while 2.9 million youth don't have access to secondary schools. Syrian children face the greatest education crisis as 2.8 million of them do not have access to education in their home or in neighboring countries. Many children in other countries such as Sudan, Iraq, Libya, the Palestinian Territories, Egypt and Yemen face similar educational challenges. According to Hoel, school systems in the MENA region are generally of low quality. Students do not even learn basic skills, a fact clearly highlighted by



**Fig. 4** Quality of education in the MENA countries, relative to international standards. Source: World Bank 2013a. Jobs for Shared Prosperity: Time for Action in the Middle East and North Africa. Washington, DC: MNSHD, World Bank, page 172

international standardized tests whose results reveal that the region is still below the level expected, given MENA countries' per capita income (Fig. 4).

Social and political instability represent negative impacts in the MENA countries. However, they also represent a unique opportunity for political and economic change and progress. The Arab Spring has put the weaknesses of MENA countries into the spotlight. Although high unemployment rates, corruption, lack of government transparency, education, and lack of political representation have been critical problems in the region, there is now an urgency in addressing those issues.

This social and economic situation in MENA is the background for entrepreneurship. The following chapters offers an account of:

- people's involvement in entrepreneurship (Chap. 3);
- entrepreneurs' motives and contribution to society (Chap. 4);
- the national eco-systems of institutions supporting entrepreneurship; and
- some options for policies for promoting entrepreneurship.

Issues of inclusion of women, youth, and unemployed, and policies for inclusion are elaborated in a new article by GEM scholars in MENA.

#### 4 Entrepreneurs' Stories

### 4.1 Nadia Gamal El Din (Egypt)

Nadia Gamal El Din is a remarkable example of an entrepreneur who had to hustle her way through and juggle a huge number of responsibilities at the same time.



Nadia graduated from The American University in Cairo with a BA in Finance [Business Administration] and a minor in Economics. She graduated with highest honors, at the top of her class. Her entrepreneurial journey only began, though, when she gave birth to Yassin.

"I don't have siblings and none of my friends have kids yet," she says. "I was looking for a place that could answer my many questions and offer me some much needed new-mom support. I was surprised to find that there wasn't a single trusted support platform for new moms." And that was the trigger—Rahet Bally was born.

Nadia did not want any woman to go through her difficult experience of feeling lost as a new mom. With her baby just a few days old, she single-handedly built her entrepreneurial venture. "I had to have a lot of self-belief," she says. "I guess you could call my vision of giving moms all across Egypt some well-deserved peace of mind the muse that kept me going." She started off by visiting countless doctors and experts to bring them on board. As part of Rahet Bally, they would offer moms on the spot answers to all their questions, free of charge, through social media. "I chose social media to start with as it is definitely the easiest and fastest way for moms to communicate with the doctors, and with one another," she notes. Within 1 month, she managed to recruit over a hundred doctors and experts.

Her vision of what Rahet Bally could offer did not end there, though. Her next initiative was to come up with a number of pillars to support moms—mentally, physically, spiritually and emotionally. "My baby boy was with me every step of the journey," she smiles. "I took him to meetings, working on my laptop with one hand and hugging him with the other." Her passion and willpower motivated her to provide every mom the peace of mind that she deserved.

The mental support pillar took the form of crisp, short reads (including tips, articles, and guides) for moms to prepare them for motherhood, coupled with Rahet Bally's 24/7 access to doctors and expert support. Nadia then realized that moms' spending patterns increased rapidly due to all the baby necessities: doctors, care products, nurseries and so on. This triggered the birth of Rahet Bally's financial support pillar: The Rahet Bally Card.

The Rahet Bally Card is Egypt's first and biggest premium benefit card, giving moms access to discounts at a variety of stores and on numerous services related to a mother and her child. These include Egypt's best hospitals, pharmacies, children's stores, nurseries, schools, bookstores, spas, educational workshops, support groups, groceries, party planning, and catering. "The aim of the card was not just on the spot discounts, but also to encourage moms to explore stores/services that they never knew existed and that could make their lives so much easier, healthier and happier," Nadia adds.

Only a year and a half after its launch, Rahet Bally already has 34,000 active mothers on the platform. Continuously responding to her customers' needs, Nadia noticed that a significant number of moms lose their physique and gain weight after giving birth. In response, she launched Egypt's first fitness and nutrition program for mothers where they can work out, enjoy babysitting services for all ages, eat healthily and socialize. This program now operates across Egypt, and is a life-changer for all the moms who join.

Nadia relies on bootstrapping to fund her business and support its growth. She has been approached by numerous investors and has been interviewed on international channels, but she still believes that the essence of what she does is in her genuine approach to things and intends to keep it that way for the time being. What is the secret of her success? "I am a mother who decided to be the change I wanted to see, to change lives and rely on my own strength and hard work to do so," she says.

## 4.2 Saif al Saudi (Jordan)

Returning to Jordan after a stint of living abroad, Saif Al Saudi was disturbed by the amount of deforestation that had devastated the Gila'ad area. "Being a vocal

advocate of environmental causes, I decided to take action and purchased a large plot of land in the area," he says. The land, which later became the Mountain Breeze Country Club, was planted with more than 4300 trees and returned to its former green glory.



Located 32 km north-west of Amman, the Mountain Breeze Country Club first opened its doors in 2007. To be able to secure the cash flow to maintain it, Saif decided he would use part of the land to build and rent out a paintball arena. In a short space of time, the Club became very popular, which helped Saif to further develop the Club.

With the increasing number of visitors, it became obvious that a restaurant needed to be established to cater to their needs. Saif established his restaurant in a lush part of the property, followed closely by a small inn for overnight stays. After careful consideration, Saif decided to build log cabins to accommodate more visitors. His search for funding took him to the European Union (EU) and Jordan Enterprise Development Corporation (JEDCO).

With the grant he was awarded by JEDCO and the EU, Saif built nine log cabins complete with kitchenettes, bathroom utilities and electricity, and laid the foundation for a tenth. He also created paths between the cabins and landscaped the area to amplify its aesthetic appeal. "A real bonus was that JEDCO and the EU provided the project with a promotional website that has since helped increase the number of Mountain Breeze Country Club's visitors and helped make it into a tourist landmark in the area," notes Saif.

The Club has successfully created work opportunities for the locals, revived Gila'ad by increasing tourist traffic, and attracted students, outdoor enthusiasts and employees participating in team building exercises. Driven by his passion for nature and environmental sustainability, Saif is currently working on using green energy, like solar paneling, to power his cabins, as well as recycling used water from the cabins.

## 4.3 Saideh Ghods (Iran)

Mrs. Saideh Ghods was born at Shemiran, Tehran, in 1951. From her early childhood, she was raised in a family characterized by a blend of integrity, kindness and grace in general, and a core of charity, culture, and dedication in particular. Her father, a teacher and a philanthropist, founded a school for boys from underprivileged families. His students often credit their success to the disciplined education they received at this school. "The milieu of my upbringing immersed me in the works of renowned Iranian poets like Saadi, Moulavi, Ferdowsi, and Hafiz, encouraged and supported by my mother," she remembers.

Saideh matriculated at the University of Tehran in Geography in 1969. A year later, her father passed away suddenly. Only 19 years old, she took on the heavy responsibility of caring for her younger siblings. Despite this early tragedy, the family thrived in the coming years and each member has achieved a great level of success in their own right.

In 1975, Saideh married an Iranian diplomat and spent a few years in Germany during her husband's diplomatic mission there. During her time in Germany, a number of chemically wounded victims of the Iran-Iraq war were dispatched to this country for treatment. Saideh was involved in caring for these victims on humanitarian grounds. After returning to Iran, she faced the most trying experience of her life. Her young daughter, Kiana, was diagnosed with cancer.

While Kiana was undergoing treatment, Saideh met many underprivileged families in the hospitals of Tehran whose children were also suffering from cancer. "These families often came from remote provinces of Iran and did not have sufficient funds or proper lodging in the capital," she recalls. "They struggled with the cost and complications of the treatment and lost their children, sometimes to entirely preventable causes."

In response to this need, Saideh founded Mahak in 1991 with the vision of providing full cost of treatment and rehabilitation for children with cancer. From the initial handful of volunteers, the charity has grown to one of the largest NGOs in Iran with a 120-bed pediatric oncology hospital. Since its inception a quarter of a century ago, Mahak has helped over 25,000 Iranian children as well as hundreds of

Iraqi and Afghan refugee children. Today in Iran, no child dies of cancer due to lack of funds or access to treatment.

Saideh also co-founded other non-profit organizations including ISCC, BCSI, and the GFI to advance Iran's cancer treatment and promote environmental causes important to prevention. She has been recognized by IDB, CCI, *Wall Street Journal*, and other international bodies for spearheading the expansion of NGOs in Iran as well as her contributions to the civil society in the region. She has become a role model and a mentor for young Iranian women who want to take an active role in society. In addition to her philanthropic endeavors, Saideh is the best-selling author of the award-winning novel *Kimia Khatoon* which has been republished 30 times in Iran and translated into four languages.



## References

- Fardoust S (2016) Economic integration in the Middle East: prospects for development and stability. Middle East Institute policy paper 2016-5. The Middle East Institute, Washington, DC. www.mei.edu
- Jawad R (2015) Social protection and social policy systems in the MENA region: emerging trends. UNDESA, New York
- MENA Economic Monitor (2017) The economics of post-conflict reconstruction in MENA. http:// www.worldbank.org/en/region/mena/publication/mena-economic-monitor-april-2017-economicspost-conflict-reconstruction

- Moghadam VM, Decker T (2010) Social change in the Middle East. In: The Middle East. CQ Press/ Sage, Washington, DC, pp 65–98
- Najat Y (2010) Poverty in the Middle East and North Africa. World Bank, Washington, DC
- O'Sullivan A, Rey ME, Mendez JG (2011) Opportunities and challenges in the MENA region. Arab world competitiveness report, 2012, pp. 42–67
- Rouis M, Tabor S (2013) Regional economic integration in the Middle East and North Africa. World Bank, Washington, DC
- Silva J et al (2012) The way forward for social safety nets in the Middle East and North Africa. World Bank, Washington, DC
- Trading Economics (2014) Middle East & North Africa (developing only) GDP per capita growth (annual %). https://tradingeconomics.com/middle-east-and-north-africa/gdp-per-capita-growth-annual-percent-wb-data.html
- UN/League of the MENA States (2013) The MENA millennium development goals report facing challenges and looking beyond 2015. ESCWA, Beirut
- World Bank (2008) Middle East and North Africa social development. http://web.worldbank.org/ archive/website01418/WEB/0\_CO-49.HTM
- World Bank (2017a) MENA overview: the World Bank group. http://www.worldbank.org/en/ region/mena/overview
- World Bank (2017b) Global economic prospects 2017: Middle East & North Africa. http://www. worldbank.org/en/region/mena/publication/gep-mena-weak-investment-in-uncertain-times

# Entrepreneurial Activity in the MENA Region



Ayman Ismail, Thomas Schøtt, Abbas Bazargan, Basheer Salaytah, Hamad Al Kubaisi, Majdi Hassen, Ignacio de la Vega, Nihel Chabrak, Abier Annan, Mike Herrington, and Penny Kew

In the current economic climate, it is becoming increasingly important for policy makers, business and civil society leaders to work together, in order to identify and strengthen the forces that drive future economic growth. In particular, it is imperative that governments focus on reforms that help to create enabling environments that foster innovation, facilitate more productive economies and, critically, open up new and better job opportunities for all segments of the population.

Academics and policy makers agree that entrepreneurs, and the new businesses they establish, play a critical role in the development and well-being of their societies. As such, there is increased appreciation for and acknowledgement of the role played by new and small businesses in an economy. GEM contributes to this recognition with longitudinal studies and comprehensive analyses of entrepreneurial attitudes and activity across the globe. Since its inception in 1997 by scholars at Babson College and London Business School, GEM has developed into one of the world's leading research consortia concerned with improving our understanding of the relationships between entrepreneurship and national development.

Eight countries in the MENA region—namely Egypt, Iran, Jordan, Lebanon, Morocco, Qatar, Saudi Arabia and the United Arab Emirates—participated in the 2016 GEM survey. Although Tunisia did not participate in the 2016 GEM survey, it did participate in 2015. Tunisia's data from the 2015 GEM survey has therefore been included in the analysis. The remainder of this report will focus on these countries, providing macro-level insights across the region as well as country-level insights into the people who participate in different phases of entrepreneurial activity. Although these nine countries fall within the same geographic region, they are diverse in terms of social and economic development, as indicated in Table 1.

A. Ismail  $\cdot$  T. Schøtt  $\cdot$  A. Bazargan  $\cdot$  B. Salaytah  $\cdot$  H. Al Kubaisi  $\cdot$  M. Hassen  $\cdot$  I. de la Vega  $\cdot$ 

N. Chabrak · A. Annan · M. Herrington (🖂) · P. Kew

GEM Consortium, London, UK

e-mail: mherrington@gemconsortium.org

<sup>©</sup> Springer International Publishing AG, part of Springer Nature 2018

N. Faghih, M. R. Zali (eds.), *Entrepreneurship Education and Research in the Middle East and North Africa (MENA)*, Contributions to Management Science, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-90394-1\_3

Factor-driven economies	Efficiency-driven economies	Innovation-driven economies
Iran	Egypt, Jordan, Lebanon, Morocco, Tunisia, Saudi Arabia	Qatar, United Arab Emirates (UAE)

Table 1 MENA economies by economic development level<sup>a</sup>

<sup>a</sup>Classification of economies by economic development level is adapted from the World Economic Forum (WEF). According to WEF's classification, the factor-driven phase is dominated by subsistence agriculture and extraction businesses, with a heavy reliance on (unskilled) labour and natural resources. In the efficiency-driven phase, an economy has become more competitive with more-efficient production processes and increased product quality. As development advances into the innovation-driven phase, businesses are more knowledge-intensive, and the service sector expands (http://weforum.org). Economies in transition from factor- to efficiency-driven have been grouped with the factor-driven economies, while those in transition from efficiency- to innovation-driven have been included in the efficiency-driven category

#### Participation in Entrepreneurship Across Multiple Phases of Activity

The GEM model recognises entrepreneurial attitudes, activity and aspiration as dynamic interactive components of national entrepreneurial environments. Entrepreneurial activity does not take place in a vacuum, and entrepreneurial attitudes and perceptions (both societal and individual) play an important part in creating an entrepreneurial culture.

GEM sees entrepreneurial activity as a continuous process rather than as individual events. As such, the Adult Population Survey (APS) is designed to allow for the measurement and assessment of individual participation across the range of phases comprising entrepreneurial activity: potential entrepreneurship, entrepreneurial intentions, nascent and new business activity, progression into established business ownership, and the reasons for business discontinuance. This process can be viewed as a pipeline, where people participating in each phase are the source of those potentially advancing to the next phase.

## 1 Societal Attitudes and Perceptions<sup>1</sup>

Although not a direct step in the entrepreneurial process, societal attitudes and perceptions play an important part in creating an entrepreneurial culture. Entrepreneurial activities are carried out by people living in specific cultural and social conditions, and the positive or negative perceptions that society has about entrepreneurship can have a strong influence on the entrepreneurial ambitions of potential and existing entrepreneurs, as well as the extent to which this activity will be supported. GEM assesses what people think about entrepreneurship as a good career choice, whether entrepreneurs are considered to have high status, and whether entrepreneurs garner significant levels of positive media attention.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>The questions in this section were optional and were not answered by Lebanon.

	Entrepreneurship as a good career choice (% of adult population)	High status to successful entrepreneurs (% of adult population)	Media attention for entrepreneurship (% of adult population)
Egypt	83.4 <sup>a</sup>	87.1	62.1
Iran	52.4	80.5	57.9
Jordan	73.5	82.3	74.7
Morocco	79.3	58.7	60.7
Qatar	71.2	80.4	66.7
Saudi Arabia	81.3	78.7	75.9
Tunisia (2015)	71.1	72.1	48.3
UAE	75.1	82.3	83.8
Average (MENA)	73.4	77.8	66.3
Regional ave	erages		
Africa	70.2	79.3	67.2
Asia & Oceania	62.5	68.5	66.2
Latin America & Caribbean	65.3	64.6	62.7
Europe	57.5	66.7	54.8
North America	64.6	74.0	72.5

 Table 2
 Societal values about entrepreneurship in the MENA countries, with global comparisons

<sup>a</sup>Read as: 83.4% of Egyptian adults between the ages of 16 and 64 years in 2016 regarded entrepreneurship as a good career choice

Table 2 indicates that overall, people in the MENA region have strongly positive societal attitudes towards entrepreneurship. On average, almost three-quarters of people in the region see entrepreneurship as a good career choice—substantially higher than the averages for all the other regions, with the exception of Africa. In terms of status for successful entrepreneurs, only Africa scores marginally higher.

At the individual country level, the United Arab Emirates, Saudi Arabia and Jordan show consistently high levels of societal attitudes across all three measures. Despite relatively low levels of media attention for entrepreneurs, Egyptians have the most positive perceptions of entrepreneurship as a career choice as well as the highest regard for entrepreneurs. In Iran, on the other hand, only half the population see entrepreneurship as a good career choice—the lowest regional score and perhaps surprising for the only factor-driven economy in the sample. Iran also has the second lowest regional score for media visibility for entrepreneurs.

#### 2 Entrepreneurial Propensity

GEM research has confirmed the importance of individuals' perceptions of their entrepreneurial ability, their recognition of start-up opportunities, how risk-averse they are, and the extent to which their social networks include entrepreneurs as being instrumental in whether or not they become involved in starting new businesses.

GEM considers those who perceive good opportunities for starting a business, as well as believe they have the required skills, the potential entrepreneurs in a society. Opportunities (or the perception of good opportunities) play an important role in determining whether an individual will even consider starting a business. The quantity and quality of the opportunities that people perceive and their belief about their own capabilities may well be influenced by various factors in their environment, such as economic growth, culture and education. While opportunity perceptions demonstrate people's views of the environment around them, beliefs about capabilities are more reflective of self-perceptions.

Another factor taken into account is the fear of failure, assessed as the percentage of the adult population (aged 18–64 years) perceiving good opportunities, who indicate that fear of failure would prevent them from setting up a business. Fear of failure can be influenced by intrinsic personality traits, as well as by societal norms and regulations. For the risk-averse person, the downside risk of failure often outweighs the most promising opportunities, while in some countries the legal and social ramifications of business failure may act as a strong deterrent, reducing the pool of potential entrepreneurs.

Table 3 shows that, from a regional perspective, the MENA countries report average scores in terms of perceived opportunities and capabilities (despite the highly positive societal attitudes towards entrepreneurship shown in Table 2). North America and Africa report higher averages in terms of perceived opportunities, while individuals in Africa and Latin America & Caribbean (LAC) have more confidence in their own ability to start a business. An encouraging finding is that on average, close to half of people in the MENA region know a start-up entrepreneur only Africa reports a (marginally) higher score for this indicator.

At the individual country level, the MENA countries show divergent results. Table 2 indicates that entrepreneurship is particularly highly regarded in Saudi Arabia, and the trend continues here with Saudi Arabia displaying the highest level of perceived opportunities, by a significant margin, as well as the highest level of confidence in their entrepreneurial capabilities. Seventy percent of Saudi Arabians have access to entrepreneurial role models in their social networks—1.5 times the regional average. Lebanon reports encouragingly positive levels of entrepreneurial perceptions and competencies across all parameters—60% of individuals perceive good entrepreneurial opportunities, while two-thirds believe they have the skills to run a business and a similar proportion have access to entrepreneurial role models.

	Perceived opportunities	Perceived capabilities	Know a start-up entrepreneur <sup>a</sup>	Fear of failure
Egypt	53.5 <sup>b</sup>	46.4	18.9	27.6
Iran	34.4	59.3	50.6	43.8
Jordan	30.5	48.4	30.6	44.3
Lebanon	59.6	68.0	66.8	22.5
Morocco	45.0	56.1	43.6	32.9
Qatar	48.4	50.6	30.2	35.4
Saudi Arabia	81.5	70.7	71.7	39.4
Tunisia (2015)	48.8	59.9	48.9	40.3
UAE	25.8	55.2	61.7	54.4
Average (MENA)	47.5	57.2	47.0	37.8
Regional averages				
Africa	53.6	63.5	51.9	24.0
Asia & Oceania	40.1	40.7	41.7	40.1
Latin America &	46.8	64.3	40.9	27.5
Caribbean				
Europe	36.7	44.0	33.7	39.4
North America	58.1	54.6	33.5	36.2

Table 3 Entrepreneurial perceptions and competencies in the MENA countries, with global comparisons

<sup>a</sup>The extent to which individuals' social networks include entrepreneurial role models is assessed through the question: Do you know someone personally who started a business in the past 2 years? <sup>b</sup>Read as: 53.3% of Egyptian adults in 2016 perceived good entrepreneurial opportunities in their area

On the other hand, despite strongly positive societal attitudes towards entrepreneurship in the United Arab Emirates, only a quarter of the population perceive good opportunities in their area (the lowest regional rate of opportunity perception). This is substantially below the regional average, as well as the average for all innovation-driven economies that participated in the 2016 GEM survey (41%). The UAE also has the highest fear of failure rate for the region, with more than half of adults indicating that this factor would constrain them from pursuing entrepreneurial opportunities. However, it must be noted that fear of failure tends to be more common in developed economies, where the greater prevalence of alternative career options can create the impression that people have more to lose by forgoing these other opportunities. Less than half of Egyptians believe they have the skills to pursue entrepreneurial opportunities; Egyptians are also least likely to know a startup entrepreneur (19%, which is less than half the regional average).

#### **3** Entrepreneurial Intentions

Potential entrepreneurs see good opportunities for starting a business and believe that they have the necessary skills, knowledge and experience to start a business. However, perceiving a good opportunity and having the skills to pursue it will not necessarily lead to the intent to start a business. Individuals will assess the opportunity costs, and risks and rewards, of starting a business versus other employment preferences and options, if these are available. In addition, the environment in which potential, intentional and active entrepreneurs exist needs to be sufficiently enabling and supportive. A variety of national characteristics could act as deterrents for potential entrepreneurs, for example, "red tape" which could present unfavorable administrative burdens or high costs to those thinking about starting a business; access to resources and technical assistance; the attractiveness of the market; and the competitive environment.

GEM defines entrepreneurial intention as the percentage of the 18–64 year old population (individuals already engaged in any stage of entrepreneurial activity excluded) who are latent entrepreneurs and who intend to start a business within the next 3 years.

The percentage of intentional entrepreneurs in the MENA region is, along with Africa, higher than the average for the other geographical groups—more than a third of working-age individuals in the MENA countries express entrepreneurial intentions (Fig. 1). This is in line with the strongly positive societal as well as self-perceptions regarding entrepreneurship in the region as a whole.

From an individual country perspective, the MENA countries again report widely divergent results. Egypt tops the rankings, with almost two-thirds of adults expressing an intention to start a business within the next 3 years.



Entrepreneurial intentions (% of adult population)

Fig. 1 Entrepreneurial intentions in the MENA countries, with global comparisons

This is in line with Egypt's highly positive societal attitudes towards entrepreneurship—as indicated in Table 2, more than 80% of Egyptians feel that entrepreneurs are well-regarded and that it is a good career choice. Adults in the United Arab Emirates show the second highest levels of entrepreneurial intention—despite being least likely to report that they perceive opportunities in the areas in which they live.

The lowest level of entrepreneurial intention is in Jordan—at 16% less than half the regional average. Jordan also reported among the lowest levels of both opportunity and capability perception in the region. In Saudi Arabia, despite reporting among the most positive levels of both societal and self-perceptions regarding entrepreneurship, only a quarter of adults intend to start an entrepreneurial venture in the next 3 years.

#### 4 Entrepreneurial Activity

#### 4.1 Early-Stage Entrepreneurial Activity

Entrepreneurial activities are presented by using the organisational life-cycle approach (nascent and new businesses, established businesses and business discontinuation). The central indicator of GEM is the Total Early-stage Entrepreneurial Activity (TEA) rate, which measures the percentage of the population that are in the process of starting or who have just started a business. This indicator measures individuals who are participating in either of the two initial processes of the entrepreneurial process:

- Nascent entrepreneurs—those who have committed resources to starting a business, but have not paid salaries or wages for more than 3 months, and
- New business owners—those who have moved beyond the nascent stage and have paid salaries and wages for more than 3 months but less than 42 months.

Measuring these two types of entrepreneurs is important as it provides the level of early-stage activity that will hopefully be transformed into established businesses i.e. mature businesses, in operation for more than 42 months.

Even when individuals have favorable perceptions of entrepreneurship and exhibit entrepreneurial intentions, it is by no means certain that this will be translated into actually starting businesses. It is useful for policy makers to determine the factors that contribute to the fall off between intentional and active entrepreneurs, as this has a strong influence on the next stage of the entrepreneurial pipeline—actually starting a business. The entrepreneurship process is a complex endeavour carried out by people living in specific cultural and social conditions. A variety of entrepreneurship factors could contribute to individuals' willingness to engage in entrepreneurial activity, for example, "red tape" which could present unfavorable administrative burdens or high costs to those thinking about starting a business; access to resources and technical assistance; the openness of the market; and cultural values with regard to entrepreneurial behaviour.



Fig. 2 Total early-stage entrepreneurial activity in the MENA countries, with global comparisons

Figure 2 shows that there is a marked fall off between intentional and active entrepreneurs in the MENA region as a whole. In terms of entrepreneurial intention, the MENA region as a whole reported amongst the highest levels when compared to the other geographical regions. The average for the MENA region was on a par with the averages for Africa and Latin America & the Caribbean—however, both these regions report early-stage entrepreneurial rates that are double those for the MENA region. Although the MENA region has, on the whole, positive societal attitudes towards entrepreneurship, the proportion of early-stage entrepreneurs is 70% lower than the number with entrepreneurial intentions.

For the majority of MENA countries, there is a fall off between intentional and active entrepreneurs. This is of greatest concern in Egypt and the United Arab Emirates. Both these countries have highly positive attitudes towards entrepreneurship, and healthy pools of intentional entrepreneurs. The level of early-stage activity, however, is less than a fifth the number with entrepreneurial intentions. Egypt reported the lowest score for capabilities perceptions. Capabilities perceptions may reveal not only people's skills, but also confidence in their ability to start a business—as such, they are likely to play a significant role in the transition from potential to intentional entrepreneur. Low TEA rates in the United Arab Emirates are likely to be influenced by the low opportunity perceptions and high fear of failure rates in this country.

From an individual country perspective, Lebanon has the highest TEA rate by a substantial margin. A fifth of Lebanese adults are engaged in early-stage entrepreneurial activity—double the regional average. This is in line with Lebanon's encouragingly positive levels of entrepreneurial perceptions and competencies across all parameters (Table 2). Morocco and the United Arab Emirates have the lowest TEA rates (half the regional average).

	Nascent		
	entrepreneurship	New business	Total early-stage
	rate	ownership rate	entrepreneurial activity (TEA)
Egypt	8.2 <sup>a</sup>	6.6	14.3
Iran	6.9	6.2	12.8
Jordan	4.1	4.6	8.2
Lebanon	9.5	12.1	21.2
Morocco	1.3	4.3	5.6
Qatar	4.3	3.6	7.8
Saudi Arabia	3.7	7.7	11.4
Tunisia (2015)	5.4	4.9	10.1
UAE	1.3	4.4	5.7
Average (MENA)	5.0	6.0	10.8
Regional averages			
Africa	14.3	9.2	22.7
Asia & Oceania	5.1	5.8	10.7
Latin America &	12.3	7.7	19.5
Caribbean			
Europe	5.2	3.4	8.5
North America	9.5	5.4	14.7

 $\begin{tabular}{ll} \begin{tabular}{ll} Table 4 & Early-stage entrepreneurial activity (\% of population) in the MENA countries, with global comparisons \end{tabular}$ 

<sup>a</sup>Read as: 8.2% of entrepreneurs in Egypt in 2016 were engaged in nascent entrepreneurial activity

A discouraging finding is that the MENA region has among the lowest proportions of nascent entrepreneurs, compared to the other geographic groups (Table 4). Africa, which was on a par with the MENA region in terms of entrepreneurial intention, has three times as many nascent entrepreneurs. Although the nascent entrepreneurship rate for the MENA region is disappointingly low, this is offset to some extent by a more robust new business rate.

From an individual country perspective, the three countries with the lowest nascent entrepreneurship rates all have new business rates that are substantially higher than the nascent rates—more than three times higher for Morocco and the United Arab Emirates, and twice as high for Saudi Arabia. Lebanon also reports a positive ratio of new to nascent businesses.

## 4.2 Established Business Activity

The established business rate is the percentage of the adult population that are owners/managers of businesses that have been in operation for more than 42 months. Information on the level of established businesses is important as it provides some



Fig. 3 Established business ownership rate in the MENA countries, with global comparisons

indication of the sustainability of entrepreneurship in an economy. These businesses have moved beyond the nascent and new business phases, and are able to contribute to a country's economy through the ongoing introduction of new products and processes and a more stable base of employment.

The GEM survey is a point-in-time snapshot of entrepreneurial and business activity around the world. It does not follow individual entrepreneurs over time, to see how many of them progress to the established business phase. However, the GEM survey does provide a means through which the level of mature business activity relative to start-up activity can be examined.

Figure 3 indicates that the MENA region has among the lowest proportions of established business owners, compared to the other geographic groups—a discouraging finding. The poor sustainability of start-ups and new firms in this region therefore highlights the need for policy interventions aimed at supporting and mentoring entrepreneurs through the difficult process of firm growth.

From an individual country perspective, Lebanon reports the highest rate of established business ownership. A fifth of the adult population are established business owners—three times the regional average. What is particularly encouraging is that the TEA rate and established business rate in Lebanon are the same—this suggests that support structures for start-ups/new firms in Lebanon are effective, or that the quality of early-stage entrepreneurs is good. Iran also reports a robust established business ownership rate and good firm sustainability.

The United Arab Emirates and Saudi Arabia have the lowest rates of established business ownership in the MENA region. This is of particular concern in Saudi Arabia, whose TEA rate is five times higher than the established business rate, suggesting a poor level of new firm sustainability in this country.

#### 4.3 Entrepreneurial Employee Activity (EEA)

The Entrepreneurial Employee Activity (EEA) indicator includes the development of new activities for an individual's main employer, such as developing or launching new goods or services, or setting up a new business unit, a new establishment or subsidiary.

Entrepreneurial Employee Activity (EEA) tends to be negligible in both the factor- and efficiency driven economies; however, it accounts for a substantial portion of entrepreneurial activity in the innovation-driven group. It is clear that although the presence of formal job options may decrease start-up activity in these developed economies, entrepreneurial behaviour finds a place within existing organisations. From the employee's perspective, conducting entrepreneurial activities from within the safety of a larger organisation may present a more viable option than risking a start-up, particularly where the organisational leadership, culture and systems foster these efforts.

Figure 4 shows that the above holds true for one of the innovation-driven economies in the MENA region. Qatar reports an EEA rate that is the highest in the region by a substantial margin (almost three times the regional average) and very similar to its TEA rate of 7.8%. In the United Arab Emirates, on the other hand, the low TEA rate is not offset by high employee entrepreneurial activity. The United Arab Emirates EEA rate is lower than the regional average, as well as less than half the average EEA rate for all innovation-driven economies in the GEM sample (5.1%). Saudi Arabia shows a robust level of Employee Entrepreneurial Activity—double the average for the efficiency-driven economies.



Entrepreneurial employee activity (% of population)

Fig. 4 Entrepreneurial employee activity rate in the MENA countries, with global comparisons

## 4.4 Business Discontinuance

Figure 5 shows the business discontinuance rates, defined as the percentage of adults who for any reason (personal, sale, financial, market, health, business failure, death, etc.) in the last 12 months decided to exit one or more entrepreneurial activities in which he/she was involved. Information on the rate of business discontinuance is another potential indicator of the sustainability of entrepreneurship in an economy. Entrepreneurship is inherently risky, and a certain level of business closure is inevitable when there are numerous start-ups. However, an excessively high business closure rate could mean that few entrepreneurs are starting viable businesses, or that they are unable to sustain these businesses. In addition, the entrepreneurship environment may not be sufficiently supportive or enabling. However, it must be remembered that closure does not necessarily equate to failure.

From a regional perspective, the MENA region has a high rate of business discontinuance. Although Africa has a higher rate of discontinuance, it also has a substantially higher TEA rate. The MENA countries also have a ratio of TEA to business discontinuance that is of concern. Across all the other geographic groups, for every person exiting a business in 2016 approximately three were engaged in early-stage entrepreneurial activity. For the MENA region, however, for every person exiting a business there were only 1.7 people engaged in early-stage entrepreneurial activity. Lebanon is the exception, with three people engaged in TEA for every individual discontinuing a business.



Fig. 5 Business discontinuation rate in the MENA countries, with global comparisons

It must be noted that the interpretation of the business discontinuation rate is often highly contextualised. A high rate could indicate low levels of preparations for venturing (capabilities, wrong perceptions about an opportunity, low level of motivation, etc.). A low rate, on the other hand, is not necessarily a positive indicator as entrepreneurs may be stuck in "dead" ventures because of complicated exit regulations, taxation policy, etc. The reasons for business discontinuance are many and varied. Some reasons could be seen as positive, such as the opportunity to sell, pursuing another opportunity or planned retirement. On the other hand, discontinuation may be due to lack of business profitability, problems with accessing finance and running out of working capital. Table 5 shows some of the reasons given for discontinuing businesses, for the MENA countries.

The most common reason for business discontinuance in the MENA region as a whole is lack of profitability. A lack of business profitability is consistently cited as the major reason for business discontinuance across the GEM sample, with a third of business exits in 2016 due to this reason, on average, across all three development phases. Personal reasons and problems accessing finance are also fairly common reasons for business exits in the MENA region. In terms of reason for business exit, therefore, the MENA countries are no different to all other GEM countries, irrespective of geographic location or economic development level.

From an individual country perspective, financial issues are a particularly pernicious problem in Jordan and Morocco, with lack of profitability or problems getting finance together accounting for over 70% of business exits in these countries. Access to finance, specifically, is a significant problem in Tunisia, with a quarter of respondents citing this reason. Bureaucracy is an issue in Jordan, Egypt and Morocco, while incidents account for 10% of business exits in Lebanon.

Business exits because of an opportunity to sell are relatively common in the UAE and Saudi Arabia, with a quarter of businesses discontinued for this reason. Saudi Arabians are most likely to exit their businesses as part of a planned exit/ retirement.

#### 5 Entrepreneurs' Stories

## 5.1 Eve Tamraz Najjar (Lebanon)

A graduate of the Ecole Normale Supérieure de Paris, Dr. Eve Tamraz Najjar has a scientific background in toxicology, health and environment. Opting to specialize in synthetic biology, Eve found herself exploring an emerging research area that fused chemistry and biology with computer science and engineering.

Table 5 Re	ason for business	exit in MENA (	countries						
	Opportunity		Problem getting	Another	Exit		Personal		
Country	to sell	Unprofitable	finance	job/opportunity	planned	Retirement	reason	Incident	Bureaucracy
Egypt	$0.3^{a}$	47.7	11.7	7.6	1.3	0.9	20.5	2.4	6.7
Iran	2.4	44.6	12.4	6.1	2.4	1.2	20.6	2.3	2.2
Jordan	3.4	55.4	16.1	8.2	1.7	0.0	7.8	0.0	7.2
Lebanon	2.5	43.7	6.4	11.1	3.5	2.1	18.6	10.3	1.8
Morocco	0.0	51.7	19.0	1.4	0.0	0.0	21.3	0.0	6.6
Qatar	8.6	28.6	16.3	11.4	1.1	3.0	26.2	1.8	3.0
Saudi	24.7	25.5	18.2	11.5	7.9	6.1	6.0	0.0	0.0
Arabia									
Tunisia	2.3	24.2	25.6	13.3	0.0	1.5	27.1	2.9	2.3
UAE	28.7	39.9	8.4	10.6	1.0	4.6	6.9	0.0	0.0
Average	8.1	40.1	14.9	9.0	2.1	2.2	17.2	2.2	3.3
<sup>a</sup> Read as: 0.2	3% of Egyptian e	arly-stage entrep	reneurs in 2016 exited	l their business becaus	e of an oppoi	tunity to sell			

countries	
MENA	
exit in	
r business	
Reason fo	
ble 5	



Now an ambassador for Allergy UK, Eve works alongside architect and industrial designer Cyrille Najjar to promote allergy and asthma prevention. "Having both suffered from respiratory conditions for the majority of our lives, we decided to utilize our skills and experience and found White Lab—a healthcare analytics startup that develops cutting-edge technology for air quality monitoring and allergen identification," says Eve. The co-founders and their team work together to provide similar individuals with the means to predict, prevent and manage their symptoms.

The start-up went on to unveil Sensio AIR—a mobile application that enables users to log their respiratory symptoms, monitor their health over days, weeks or months and view real-time air quality statistics. Sensio AIR has already caught the attention of international organizations and won an array of awards from Harvard MIT, Mass Challenge UK and more.

More recently, the start-up partnered with Lebanon's Ministry of Environment in order to provide air quality information to the public. This collaboration means White Lab will play a major role in raising awareness when it comes to air quality issues and respiratory diseases. In addition to working with the ministry, White Lab's clientele include the United Nations, Renault and other car manufacturers.

#### 5.2 Mohammad Reza Ansari (Iran)

Mohammad Reza Ansari is the founder and board chairperson of Kayson International Company. His success in life he attributes to two key factors: first, a love of work in civil and structural engineering that dates from his childhood and second, his love of mankind in a caring and humane society.

Mohammad Reza was the last sibling in a ten-member family. He was born in Arak but moved to Tehran at the age of 70. He notes that in his childhood, he was restless and difficult and often a recalcitrant boy in the school. Despite this, he was often was a top student during his secondary school days. "I certainly had an athletic spirit as a child, and was involved in swimming, horse-racing, track and field, waterskiing and more," he recalls. "I believe that this can help a person control his excitement and stresses." He experienced earning his first income at the age of 12 during which he started to work as a shop assistant. In 1968, he graduated from the Engineering Faculty of University of Tehran in the field of civil engineering.



During his college education, Mohammad Reza worked with National Construction Company. This paved the way for him to get involved in the design and execution of large civil construction projects, including projects such as the Prime Minister's palace; Ghazvin Industrial Township; three bridges on the Dez and Maroon Rivers; and the Fooman Plain Drainage and irrigation projects.

Engineer Mohammad Reza created the Kayson Company in 1975 with a number of foreign engineers and skilled manpower among his staff members. He employed an innovative construction method which helped to accelerate the success of a reinforced concrete method. For this innovative system, he conducted studies on the concrete construction method in Germany, France, United Kingdom, Switzerland, Italy and the U.S.A.

Kayson Company recently executed the design and construction of tens of thousands of dwellings. In addition, Kayson has carried out numerous projects building schools, clinics and centers for disabled people in disadvantaged areas in Iran, as well as participated in construction projects in other countries such as Venezuela. "I believe that it is important for us all to take our social responsibilities seriously," he says.

Engineer Mohammad Reza is now considered a successful Iranian entrepreneur leader and forerunner of the Fourth Festival of Entrepreneurial Leaders. He has a deep belief in the interconnectedness of lofty human values and success in a business. Promotion of this life style among entrepreneurs, in his view, could result in sustainable development in a country.

#### 5.3 Abeer Daoudiyeh (Jordan)

After the passing of her husband, Abeer Daoudiyeh chose to dedicate her life to caring for orphaned children. Her passion spurred her to create Fenan Kindergarten, an institution that serves children residing in Tafileh and nearby areas. "I turned to Sameeha Al Mahasneh, a colleague who had longstanding experience in the fields of teaching and management, and presented my project idea to her," says Abeer. "Together, we began the complex journey of securing funding."

During their search, it was brought to Abeer and Sameeha's attention that the European Union (EU) and Jordan Enterprise Development Corporation (JEDCO) were conducting field visits to various governorates in order to educate residents across the Kingdom about the types of grants they offer. After learning of this, both women decided to attend a meeting hosted by JEDCO, in hopes of obtaining the support they needed. And so it was that after several studies and a grant application, the project was approved and was given the required funding from JEDCO and the EU in May 2013.

Abeer and Sameeha began by looking for a suitable location that would serve the largest number of residents possible, and finally found a plot of land that was ideally situated to serve four remote areas. These consisted of Bseria District, Gharandal Village, Om Sarab Village and Al Maqam area, all of which direly lacked the most basic of services.



"We allocated a portion of the grant to marketing the kindergarten by handing out flyers and brochures, as well as launching an official website," recalls Abeer. The newly established kindergarten, which features four classrooms that can accommodate up to 70 students, was a resounding success and parents were rushing to enroll their children. The kindergarten provided an array of services that were previously unavailable in the area such as daycare and academic education for students between 4 and 5 years of age. It also catered for children suffering from learning disabilities, after appointing a qualified teacher specialized in this field. Furthermore, the kindergarten organized multiple activities geared towards benefiting the children and broadening their horizons. These included visits to the Civil Defense Directorate, Public Security Directorate and Tafileh Women's Centre, in addition to various entertainment and cultural functions. The kindergarten also carries out humanitarian and volunteer activities such as hosting and providing meals to underprivileged children, and distributing goodwill parcels among youngsters from the area at its own expense.

The kindergarten has also created jobs for the area's residents, offering employment to four teachers, two drivers and a janitor. Abeer and Sameeha dream of expanding the kindergarten's operations by increasing the number of classrooms and employees, and establishing a specialized department that is dedicated to caring for children with learning disabilities.

# Characteristics and Motives of Early-Stage Entrepreneurs in the MENA Region



Ayman Ismail, Thomas Schøtt, Abbas Bazargan, Basheer Salaytah, Hamad Al Kubaisi, Majdi Hassen, Ignacio de la Vega, Nihel Chabrak, Abier Annan, Mike Herrington, and Penny Kew

GEM's focus on individual-level participation enables this research to reveal a range of demographic and other characteristics about entrepreneurs. The research also makes possible an assessment of the level of inclusiveness in an economy—in other words, the extent to which various groups (for example age, gender or education level) engage in entrepreneurial activity. This information can assist policy makers in targeting effective interventions aimed at increasing participation as well as productivity in the economy.

## 1 Motives for Starting a Business

The relative prevalence of opportunity-motivated versus necessity-motivated entrepreneurial activity provides useful insights into the quality of early-stage entrepreneurial activity in a given country. The motives that drives entrepreneurs to start businesses is as important as the level of entrepreneurial activity in countries. GEM has shown that businesses started by opportunity-driven entrepreneurs are much more likely to survive and employ people than those started by necessitydriven entrepreneurs.

Necessity Based Early-Stage Entrepreneurial Activity This is defined as the percentage of those involved in early-stage entrepreneurial activity that claim to be

A. Ismail  $\cdot$  T. Schøtt  $\cdot$  A. Bazargan  $\cdot$  B. Salaytah  $\cdot$  H. Al Kubaisi  $\cdot$  M. Hassen  $\cdot$  I. de la Vega  $\cdot$ 

N. Chabrak · A. Annan · M. Herrington (🖂) · P. Kew

GEM Consortium, London, UK

e-mail: mherrington@gemconsortium.org

<sup>©</sup> Springer International Publishing AG, part of Springer Nature 2018

N. Faghih, M. R. Zali (eds.), *Entrepreneurship Education and Research in the Middle East and North Africa (MENA)*, Contributions to Management Science, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-90394-1\_4

driven by necessity (having no better choice for work) as opposed to opportunity. This is also described as survivalist-driven motivation.

**Opportunity Based Early-Stage Entrepreneurial Activity** This is the percentage of those involved in early-stage entrepreneurial activity driven purely or partly by opportunity, as opposed to finding no other option for work. This includes taking advantage of a business opportunity or having a job but seeking a better opportunity.

The *GEM Global Report 2016/17* notes that most entrepreneurs around the world are opportunity-motivated. On average, three-quarters of respondents in the 2016 survey stated they chose to pursue an opportunity as a basis for their entrepreneurial motivations. Two-thirds of entrepreneurs in the factor-driven economies were opportunity-motivated rather than starting out of necessity, because they had no better options for work. In efficiency-driven economies the figure was 71% while the innovation-driven economies show the highest proportion of opportunity-motivated entrepreneurs, at 79%.

Among entrepreneurs with opportunity-driven motives, a portion of these seek to improve their situation, either through increased independence or through increased income (versus maintaining their income). GEM calls these individuals improvement-driven opportunity (IDO) entrepreneurs. To assess the relative prevalence of improvement-driven opportunity entrepreneurs versus those motivated by necessity, GEM has created the Motivational Index.

Table 1 summarises the motives for starting a business for the MENA region. There are relatively high levels of necessity-driven entrepreneurial activity among the MENA countries—in six of the nine countries, the proportion of necessity-driven entrepreneurs is over 25%. Lebanon, Iran and Egypt have the highest proportion of necessity-driven entrepreneurs. Although Lebanon has the highest TEA rate in the MENA region, almost 40% of this activity is necessity-motivated. In Iran, a third of entrepreneurs are motivated by necessity. Iran is a factor-driven economy—these economies tend to have lower GDP per capita, indicating that a large percentage of the population is either unemployed or underemployed (i.e. they earn very low wages). Individuals therefore start businesses because they are unable to find employment, or to supplement low wages. On the other hand, the United Arab Emirates is an innovation-driven economy—its third lowest proportion of opportunity-motivated TEA in the region is therefore a concern.

Saudi Arabia, Qatar and Tunisia report encouragingly high levels of opportunitymotivated TEA. Tunisia and Qatar also stand out in terms of their proportion of improvement-driven opportunity (IDO) entrepreneurs—close to two-thirds of earlystage entrepreneurs in these two countries fall into this category. Qatar and Saudi Arabia's Motivational Index scores are particularly positive—in these two countries, entrepreneurs are around six times as likely to be improvement-driven opportunity rather than necessity-driven entrepreneurs. Egypt has the lowest proportion of IDO entrepreneurs—in this country, early-stage entrepreneurs are as likely to be motivated by necessity as they are to IDO entrepreneurs.
	1	1	1	-
	Necessity-driven	Opportunity-driven	Improvement-driven opportunity (as % of	Motivational
	(as % of TEA)	(as % of TEA)	TEA)	Index
Egypt	31.3 <sup>a</sup>	61.2	30.8	1.0
Iran	33.9	63.5	49.3	1.5
Jordan	26.4	68.8	49.0	1.9
Lebanon	39.4	57.3	43.6	1.1
Morocco	27.4	72.6	50.3	1.8
Qatar	10.5	82.7	62.8	6.0
Saudi Arabia	7.5	92.3	40.8	5.4
Tunisia (2015)	18.0	79.3	64.1	3.6
UAE	29.2	61.8	40.8	1.4
Average (MENA)	24.8	71.1	47.9	2.6
Regional avera	ages	·		·
Africa	28.6	67.9	38.7	1.4
Asia & Oceania	21.6	75.3	49.4	2.5
Latin America & Caribbean	27.0	70.2	48.6	2.5
Europe	21.7	75.1	50.9	3.4
North America	12.9	83.7	61.0	4.9

Table 1 Entrepreneurial motives for TEA in the MENA countries, with global comparisons

<sup>a</sup>Read as: 31.1% of TEA activity in Egypt in 2016 was necessity-driven

## 2 Profile of the MENA Region Entrepreneurs

## 2.1 Gender

Many studies maintain that women face greater difficulties in becoming entrepreneurial. These obstacles include: higher levels of domestic responsibility; lower levels of education (particularly in developing countries); lack of female role models in the business sector; fewer business-orientated networks in their communities; lack of capital and assets; lower status in society and a culturally-induced lack of assertiveness and confidence in their ability to succeed in business. These factors may prevent women from perceiving as well as acting on entrepreneurial opportunities.

The International Labor Organization notes in its *World Employment and Social Outlook—Trends 2017* that despite improvements in educational attainment, women in North Africa remain twice as likely to be unemployed as their male counterparts. The gender gap in unemployment currently stands at just over 10 percentage points, meaning Northern Africa has the second highest gap worldwide, after the Arab States. The unemployment rate for women in the Arab States remained almost 13 percentage points higher than that for men in 2016 and the female labour market participation rate remained the lowest globally, at 21.2% in 2016, against a world average of 49.5%. The male participation rate, on the other hand, was slightly above the world average (76.5% in 2016, against a global rate of 76.1%). Such large gender disparities in labour market performance undoubtedly highlight the fact that although women have achieved high levels of education, this has not translated into their inclusion in the world of work.<sup>1</sup>

The 2016 GEM Global Report shows that although the ratio of male to female participation in early-stage entrepreneurial activity varies considerably across the total sample of GEM countries, reflecting differences in culture and customs regarding female participation in the economy, a consistent finding is that men are more likely to be involved in entrepreneurial activity, regardless of level of economic development. Table 2 shows that the MENA countries follow this pattern: in all nine countries the propensity toward entrepreneurship, measured by TEA, is higher in males than in females. The MENA region as a whole exhibits the widest gender gap in terms of early-stage entrepreneurial activity—in 2016, women in this region were only half as likely to be engaged in TEA as their male counterparts. In Africa and Latin America & the Caribbean, by contrast, eight women were engaged in TEA for every ten male entrepreneurs.

At the individual country level, the MENA region shows divergent results. Gender parity is positive in Qatar and Saudi Arabia—in these two countries, there are around eight women entrepreneurs for every ten male entrepreneurs. Jordan reports the widest gender gap, with fewer than three women engaged in entrepreneurial activity for every ten men. Gender gaps are also significant in Tunisia and Egypt.

In terms of reason for starting a business, an encouraging finding is that on average, men and women in the MENA region are equally likely to be motivated by opportunity (Table 3). In terms of regional comparisons, male entrepreneurs in the MENA region and Africa report the highest levels of necessity motivation—a quarter of men in these two regions are pushed into entrepreneurship because of no better options to earn a livelihood. Female entrepreneurs in the MENA region, on the other hand, paint a more positive picture—they are more likely to be motivated by opportunity than are their counterparts in Africa and Latin America & the Caribbean, and are on a par with female entrepreneurs in Europe.

At the individual country level, women are more likely to be opportunitymotivated than their male counterparts in six of the nine countries. Jordan is a significant outlier in the region in this respect, exhibiting a wide gender gap in opportunity motivation. In Saudi Arabia and Qatar opportunity motivation is

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>http://www.ilo.org/global/research/global-reports/weso/2017/WCMS\_541211/lang--en/index.htm

	Male TEA rate (as % of adult male population)	Female TEA rate (as % of adult female population)	Female to male ratio
Egypt	20.9 <sup>a</sup>	7.5	0.36
Iran	16.6	8.9	0.54
Jordan	12.8	3.3	0.26
Lebanon	26.2	16.1	0.61
Morocco	6.7	4.5	0.67
Qatar	8.1	6.8	0.84
Saudi Arabia	12.9	9.7	0.75
Tunisia (2015)	15.0	5.3	0.35
UAE	6.6	3.7	0.56
Average (MENA)	14.0	7.3	0.52
Regional averages	5	· ·	
Africa	24.8	20.9	0.84
Asia & Oceania	12.7	8.8	0.69
Latin America & Caribbean	21.6	17.5	0.81
Europe	10.9	6.1	0.56
North America	17.5	11.9	0.68

 Table 2
 TEA rates by gender in MENA countries, with global comparisons

<sup>a</sup>Read as: 20.9% of the adult male population in Egypt in 2016 were engaged in TEA activity

particularly high in both genders; in Lebanon, on the other hand, opportunity motivation is below 60% for both genders. Male necessity motivation is highest in Lebanon (at 41%), while the United Arab Emirates, Lebanon and Jordan all report female necessity entrepreneurship levels of just under 40%. Narrowing the gender gap in terms of entrepreneurial activity must become a priority focus for policy makers in these countries.

#### 2.2 Age Distribution

The influence of age on entrepreneurial activity tends to be very similar throughout GEM, with the highest prevalence of entrepreneurial activity among the 25–34 and 35–44 year olds across all three development phases. Higher participation rates among those in their early to mid-careers could be attributed to the fact that these individuals have had time to develop their skills and knowledge through education as well as through work experience, building their confidence in their own abilities. A critical factor is that they may have accumulated other resources such as networks, personal savings and access to other financial resources.

	Male opportunity	Female opportunity	Male necessity	Female necessity	
	(as % of male	(as % of female	(as % of male	(as % of female	
	TEA)	TEA)	TEA)	TEA)	
Egypt	60.5 <sup>a</sup>	63.1	32.9	26.7	
Iran	61.7	66.8	36.6	29.0	
Jordan	71.7	56.2	24.0	36.8	
Lebanon	55.7	59.8	40.7	37.2	
Morocco	71.3	74.6	28.7	25.4	
Qatar	80.4	94.4	11.5	5.6	
Saudi Arabia	91.2	94.1	8.5	5.9	
Tunisia (2015)	80.8	75.1	16.9	21.1	
UAE	62.4	59.4	26.8	38.5	
Average (MENA)	70.6	71.5	25.2	25.1	
Regional aver	ages			·	
Africa	71.6	64.0	24.6	32.8	
Asia & Oceania	75.2	75.4	21.7	21.4	
Latin Amer- ica & Caribbean	73.9	66.0	23.2	31.6	
Europe	76.9	72.2	20.0	24.8	
North America	83.3	84.2	12.7	13.1	

Table 3 Entrepreneurial motives in the MENA countries, by gender, with global comparisons

<sup>a</sup>Read as: 60.5% of male early-stage entrepreneurs in Egypt in 2016 were opportunity-motivated

Table 4 indicates that the MENA region follows the general GEM pattern with respect to the influence of age on entrepreneurial behavior. Egypt and the United Arab Emirates are exceptions: Egyptians display almost identical levels of entrepreneurial participation in the first three age cohorts, while in the UAE peak entrepreneurial activity—by a substantial margin—is in the 45–54 year age cohort.

Entrepreneurial activity among 18–24 year olds is highest in Lebanon (double the regional average) and Egypt; the UAE and Morocco report very low TEA activity (3% or less) in this age group. The relatively low prevalence of entrepreneurial activity in the 18–24 age cohort in the MENA region as a whole is in line with general GEM trends—however, the low levels of entrepreneurial activity among the youth is of concern in the context of the high level of un- and underemployment among this age group. The International Labor Organization notes in its *World Employment and Social Outlook—Trends 2017* that tackling joblessness among youth in the MENA region will remain a particular challenge. Active youth remain almost five times more likely to be unemployed than their adult counterparts, experiencing an unemployment rate of above 31% in 2016, against 6.8% among adults. In North Africa, youth unemployment is more than three times higher than

	18-24 years	25-34 years	35-44 years	45-54 years	55-64 years
Egypt	16.2 <sup>a</sup>	17.7	15.4	9.3	5.5
Iran	11.3	18.3	13.0	7.8	6.1
Jordan	6.0	9.0	10.3	8.4	7.0
Lebanon	18.7	27.6	28.2	14.8	12.0
Morocco	3.2	8.4	7.1	4.5	3.5
Qatar	6.3	8.3	8.8	6.0	7.4
Saudi Arabia	11.7	14.3	10.0	9.7	4.9
Tunisia (2015)	6.5	14.9	10.1	10.6	4.4
UAE	2.6	4.6	6.3	11.4	5.5
Average (MENA)	9.2	13.7	12.1	9.2	6.3
Regional averages					
Africa	20.6	26.0	24.0	21.4	16.0
Asia & Oceania	8.0	13.5	12.3	10.4	7.3
Latin America &	16.3	23.2	22.9	18.4	13.3
Caribbean					
Europe	8.1	11.4	9.7	7.8	5.0
North America	12.6	19.0	18.1	14.0	9.0

**Table 4** TEA rates by age group in the MENA countries, with global comparisons (% of adultpopulation in each age category involved in TEA)

 $^{a}$ Read as: 16.2% of 18–24 year olds in Egypt in 2016 were engaged in early-stage entrepreneurial activity

adult unemployment, with a gap of almost 20 percentage points.<sup>2</sup> There is no simple solution to the youth un- and underemployment challenge, but it is critical to identify and explore factors which to contribute to strategies that enable economies to benefit from the talents, energy and ideas that young people bring to the labour market. Important elements of such strategies include education and skills development as well as entrepreneurship development.

Senior entrepreneurship (55 years and older) is low in the majority of the MENA countries. Lebanon has the highest TEA rate in this age cohort (double the regional average). In Jordan, seniors are more likely to be involved in entrepreneurship than are the 18–24 year olds; Qatar also shows a positive level of entrepreneurial activity by seniors. Higher levels of entrepreneurial activity in this age category may be as a result of older workers who are made redundant, and are aware that they are likely to face insufficient prospects on the job market. Such individuals will start a business because it is their best chance of finding employment and overcoming age discrimination in hiring practices. An additional driver for unemployed individuals in this age group may be the need to supplement their retirement savings or because their pension is not sufficient to maintain their current standard of living. On the other hand, these may also be mature individuals who have had to put personal goals and dreams on hold when younger because of family obligations. They may now have

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>http://www.ilo.org/global/research/global-reports/weso/2017/WCMS\_541211/lang--en/index.htm

the necessary resources as well as freedom to pursue their passions and work on their own terms.

#### **3** Entrepreneurship Impact Characteristics

In studying the impact of entrepreneurs, GEM recognizes that while all entrepreneurs are important, they have differing impacts on their societies. Key to economic development and growth are job creation, mix of industries and level of innovation. This section focuses on these factors with respect to the MENA countries.

## 3.1 Industry Sector Participation

Figure 1 shows the distribution of early-stage entrepreneurial activity, according to industry sector participation, for the geographic regions. The extractive sector is based on natural resources and includes agriculture, forestry, fishing and mining; the transforming sector involves the manufacturing of goods and is generally capitalintensive, but it may also be labour-intensive, including construction, manufacturing, transportation, communication, utilities and wholesale distribution; business services target the business customer and generally rely on greater knowledge intensity, which includes finance, insurance and real estate; and the consumer sector serves customers directly through products and services that include retail, motor



Fig. 1 Geographical region averages for TEA by industry sector

			-				
			Manufacturing &	Wholesale/	ICT &	Professional &	
	Agriculture	Mining	transportation	retail	finance	other services	
Egypt	13.0 <sup>a</sup>	3.8	18.6	50.3	1.8	12.5	
Iran	7.5	4.4	21.2	33.0	8.3	25.7	
Jordan	5.2	3.3	13.7	63.0	1.6	13.2	
Lebanon	3.0	2.4	6.7	64.9	1.9	21.3	
Morocco	2.1	0.7	22.5	58.2	0.9	15.7	
Qatar	0.2	8.6	4.9	51.8	11.4	23.1	
Saudi	0.2	1.7	2.9	68.3	2.2	24.7	
Arabia							
Tunisia	9.6	25.5	11.0	28.0	3.0	23.0	
(2015)							
UAE	0.0	9.8	6.1	66.9	5.3	11.9	
Average	4.5	6.7	11.9	53.8	4.1	18.9	
(MENA)							

Table 5 Distribution of TEA by industry sector in the MENA countries

<sup>a</sup>Read as: 13.0% of TEA activity in Egypt in 2016 was in the agriculture sector

vehicles, lodging and restaurants, personal services, education and recreational services.

The MENA region as a whole has a relatively balanced profile in terms of industry sector participation: just over half of the early-stage business activity in the region is in the consumer services sector, while the transforming sector shows the highest activity of all the geographical regions (28%). The proportion of business services oriented entrepreneurs is on a par with Asia & Oceania and the LAC region.

Table 5 shows a more detailed distribution of early-stage entrepreneurial activity in the MENA region according to industry sector. On average, just over half of all early-stage entrepreneurs in the region are active in the wholesale/retail sector. Saudi Arabia, the United Arab Emirates and Lebanon have the highest proportion of TEA activity in this sector—two-thirds of early-stage entrepreneurs in these countries are in wholesale/retail. Barriers to entry in this sector, in terms of both skills and capital required, are low. As a result, however, this is often an over-traded sector populated by low profit margin businesses. The high level of competition for limited markets can threaten the sustainability of these businesses. Another factor to bear in mind is that the consumer services sector tends to be particularly vulnerable in periods of economic slowdown. Saudi Arabia and the UAE have the lowest rates of established business ownership in the region (Fig. 3, in Chap. 3). The fact that a high proportion of TEA entities are concentrated in such a vulnerable sector is likely to exacerbate the poor sustainability of start-ups in these countries.

Tunisia and Iran have the lowest proportion of TEA activity in the wholesale/ retail sector. Iran has a particularly balanced industry profile, with robust participation in manufacturing & transportation, as well as the professional and other services sector. Iran also reports the second highest proportion of early-stage entrepreneurs in the ICT & finance sector. Morocco and Iran have the highest involvement in manufacturing and transportation—double the regional average—while mining accounts for a quarter of Tunisia's early-stage entrepreneurial activity (almost four times the regional average). Saudi Arabia has a particularly unbalanced industry profile, with more than 90% of entrepreneurs concentrated in wholesale/retail and professional/other services. Saudi Arabia has the highest proportion of entrepreneurs in the health/education/government and social services (22%).

The most resilient sectors tend to be communication, financial services and information technology (IT). Jobs in these sectors comprise the type of high-level skills that countries need to compete in the global economy. Qatar is the only country in the region with more than 10% of early-stage entrepreneurs in ICT and finance, and this is the industry sector with the lowest average for the region. Further development of the services sector—especially sophisticated, high-productivity modern services such as finance, ICT and business services—is thus important, particularly in enabling the MENA region to participate in global value chains.

#### 3.2 Job Creation

A key focus in most countries' development strategies is to facilitate growth that is sustainable and inclusive in order to generate widespread employment and to reduce poverty. The potential of the SME sector to create job opportunities is thus a crucial factor.

GEM asks early-stage entrepreneurs how many employees (other than the owners) they currently have and expect to have in the next 5 years. The difference between current and expected employees indicates growth expectations. It is important to note that the expressed growth potential has, as yet, not been tested—however, businesses that do not aspire to grow are significantly less likely to do so successfully.

Table 6 indicates the growth expectations, over the next 5 years, among the MENA region's entrepreneurs. Growth expectations represent a future assessment of the expansion prospects for a business, as well as an entrepreneur's ambitions to grow the enterprise.

The MENA region as a whole has a relatively high proportion of entrepreneurs who do not expect to create any new jobs in the next 5 years. The 2016/17 GEM Global Report notes that this is a global phenomenon—there is very little difference, across the three phases of economic development, in terms of the proportion of entrepreneurs who do not anticipate creating any jobs in the next 5 years. The efficiency-driven economies have, on average, slightly more non-employer entrepreneurs (46%) while the factor- and innovation-driven economies are on a par at 44%.

The *GEM Global Report* argues that the relatively high levels of entrepreneurs across all development phases with no future hiring expectations indicates that there are a number of factors which have an impact on entrepreneurs' growth ambitions.

	0 jobs in 5 years	1-5 jobs in 5 years	6 or more jobs in 5 years
Egypt	55.3 <sup>a</sup>	19.3	25.4
Iran	44.4	26.9	28.7
Jordan	39.1	50.9	10.0
Lebanon	52.4	39.9	7.7
Morocco	41.5	40.8	17.7
Qatar	22.8	25.7	51.5
Saudi Arabia	85.8	8.9	5.3
Tunisia (2015)	19.0	40.9	40.1
UAE	52.9	16.4	30.7
Average (MENA)	45.9	30.0	24.1
Regional averages			
Africa	26.4	53.9	19.7
Asia & Oceania	45.1	32.0	22.8
Latin America & Caribbean	41.9	40.3	17.8
Europe	47.4	30.6	21.9
North America	41.0	34.0	25.0

 Table 6
 Job growth expectations for early-stage entrepreneurs in MENA countries, with global comparisons

<sup>a</sup>Read as: 55.3% of early-stage entrepreneurs in Egypt in 2016 expect to create no new jobs within the next 5 years

Sophisticated technology and communications may enable entrepreneurs, particularly in developed economies, to operate on their own, perhaps as part of a broader value network. Other factors such as types of businesses started, rigid labor regulations, poor availability of skilled/educated labor and limited access to entrepreneurial finance may deter entrepreneurs from attempting to grow their ventures. In addition, in some legal contexts business owners may choose to remain small as they are then better able to avoid the complexities (such as taxes and other legal requirements) of formalization.

Just over half of entrepreneurs in the MENA region expect to add at least one new job. An encouraging finding is that the MENA region has one of the highest proportions of medium-to-high growth entrepreneurs (i.e. those projecting to employ six or more people in the next 5 years). In both North America and the MENA region, a quarter of entrepreneurs exhibit these higher-growth aspirations.

At the individual country level, the MENA region shows divergent results in terms of job creation aspirations. Over 80% of entrepreneurs in Saudi Arabia have no future hiring expectations; in Tunisia and Qatar, on the other hand, only a fifth of entrepreneurs anticipate creating no new jobs in the next 5 years. Qatar has the highest high-growth expectations, with half of the entrepreneurs in this country expecting to create six or more new jobs in the next 5 years. Tunisia and the United Arab Emirates also have robust high-growth expectations—which may be linked to the high levels of opportunity-motivated entrepreneurship in these three countries. These job-creation aspirations must, however, be seen in the context of the MENA

region's low established business rate—which needs be addressed if these economic benefits are to be realized.

## 3.3 Innovation

Innovation and entrepreneurship are closely connected concepts. It is argued that entrepreneurs disrupt market equilibrium by introducing new product-market combinations into a market, teaching customers to want new things and driving out less productive firms as their innovations advance the production frontier. Innovation goes beyond just creating novel products and services. To commercialize their innovations, entrepreneurs need to identify new market niches and develop creative ways to offer, deliver and promote their products. All of this requires an awareness of competitive offerings, and the ability to incorporate this knowledge into distinct products and services. Innovation capabilities are thus important to economies' ability to become competitive, particularly in higher-productivity sectors.

Innovation represents newness to a market and within an industry. GEM thus assesses the extent entrepreneurs are introducing products or services that are new to some or all customers, and that are offered by few or no competitors.

The MENA region exhibits a relatively positive level of innovation, with a quarter of early-stage entrepreneurs in the region offering products that are new to all/some customers AND offered by few/no other businesses (Fig. 2). This level of innovation is on a par with Latin America & the Caribbean, higher than for Africa and Asia & Oceania, and only marginally lower than for Europe.



Innovation levels (product is new to all or some customers AND few/ no businesses offer the same product)

Fig. 2 Innovation levels among early-stage entrepreneurs in the MENA countries, with global comparisons

At the individual country level, Lebanon reports the highest innovation levels by a substantial margin (more than double the regional average). Lebanon has the highest TEA and established business rates in the region (double and triple the regional average, respectively)—the high levels of innovation are therefore particularly encouraging. However, the high proportion of Lebanon's TEA activity in the wholesale/retail sector, as well as the high levels of necessity-driven entrepreneurship (for both genders), must be taken into account when assessing these innovation levels.

At the other end of the scale, Saudi Arabia reports the lowest levels of innovation—only half the regional average. As already discussed under the section on industry sector, TEA activity in Saudi Arabia is heavily concentrated in the consumer services sector, particularly in wholesale/retail. Although crowded competitive spaces may stimulate entrepreneurs to come up with novel options in order to compete successfully, and potentially lead to increased efficiency in the markets, they also increase the pressure on profit margins and lead to problems with business sustainability.

Innovation in entrepreneurial businesses can also be assessed by determining the use of new technologies by the business. For businesses to become competitive, develop relationships with customers and suppliers and have easier access to business-related information, it is important that they have access to technology as well as have the capacity to use it effectively. Table 7 depicts the degree to which businesses in the MENA region incorporate new technology into their products and services.

An encouraging finding is that the MENA region has a high technology orientation. Compared to the other geographical groups, the MENA region tops the ranks, by a substantial margin, in terms of the use of both latest and new technology. Only a third of entrepreneurs in the region, on average, use no new technology.

At the individual country level, Morocco stands out with respect to use of the latest technology—almost three-quarters of entrepreneurs in this country use technology that has only been available since the previous year. A mere 5% of Moroccans use no new technology. Tunisia and Lebanon also exhibit a high technology orientation, with over 60% of entrepreneurs in these two countries having access to latest technology. Lebanon and Tunisia also report the highest innovation levels among the MENA countries (Fig. 2). Iran, on the other hand, lags conspicuously with only 4.5% of entrepreneurs using latest technology, while a substantial majority of entrepreneurs (79%) use no new technology. The lack of up to date technology negatively affects the capacity for countries to develop globally competitive networks of entrepreneurs, which in turn limits access to individuals with a broader knowledge of key market information, new technology, improved inputs and production practices.

	Uses latest technology (only available since last year)	Uses new technology (1–5 years old)	Uses no new technology
Egypt	22.1 <sup>a</sup>	30.9	47.0
Iran	4.5	16.6	78.8
Jordan	40.8	29.5	29.6
Lebanon	60.4	30.8	8.8
Morocco	72.0	23.0	5.0
Qatar	33.2	28.4	38.4
Saudi Arabia	15.5	40.2	44.3
Tunisia (2015)	64.0	20.4	15.6
UAE	23.4	28.4	48.2
Average (MENA)	37.3	27.6	35.1
Regional averages			
Africa	12.2	14.4	73.4
Asia & Oceania	17.5	24.2	58.3
Latin America & Caribbean	9.7	17.1	73.2
Europe	15.1	20.0	65.0
North America	13.4	21.5	65.2

 Table 7 Use of new technology by early-stage entrepreneurs in MENA countries, with global comparisons

 $^{\mathrm{a}}\text{Read}$  as: 22.1% of early-stage entrepreneurs in Egypt in 2016 used latest technology in their businesses

## 4 Entrepreneurs' Stories

### 4.1 Noora Bu-Helaiqua (Qatar)

Noora Bu-Helaiqa was a Qatari communications manager in one of the leading organizations in Qatar when she noticed the lack of local PR agencies. After studying the market, she concluded that there was a gap in this service. "Despite a number of pessimistic comments, I decided to take the chance and quit my job to start the agency," Noora recalls.

She founded Qommunication in 2015 in the Qatar Business Incubation Centre (QBIC). The agency's main target was to serve the large SME sector with public relations, marketing and social media solutions. Qommunication sought to provide the highest level of PR standards to companies whose annual turnover was between 10 and 20 million. The agency's main services were to act as a communication department for SMEs, and to manage long/medium length campaigns to boost brand awareness, positioning and sales.



Initially, the agency remained selective of its clients, using word of mouth as its marketing tool. They quickly acquired a stake in market share due to positive recommendations and the bundle packages they offered.

Within the first months of operations Noora noticed another trend—namely social media influencers (SMI)—and quickly adopted it into the agency. "We identified and recruited a number of social media influencers in various sectors (food, travel, fashion, and technology) and helped them grow in popularity, before signing them up with endorsement deals with brands," says Noora.

Qommunication benefited as the first mover in the market as a SMI management agency and created a unique model which served the influencer, the brands and the agency itself. It has become the preferred choice for social media influencers: its clients include Starwood hotels, Ooredoo, Vocheron Constantine, and Samsung, among others.

One of the factors which contributed greatly to the agency's success was its quick adaptation to market needs. Noora has been shortlisted in the MEPRA awards (Middle East Public Relations Awards).

Qommunication is now in the scale-up phase, expanding outside Qatar and focusing on social media management with the goal of becoming the leading agency in that field. Noora also acts as a consultant for Qatar Development Bank, consulting SMEs on marketing needs. Qatar Development Bank has, in fact, recognized the importance of marketing for SMEs and has subsequently launched "Es teshara" marketing.

### 4.2 Arab Excellence and Bezeo (United Arab Emirates)

Arab Excellence is a non-profit organization that offers youth in the MENA region inspirational empowering programs that take into consideration the unique daily challenges they face, and provide them with opportunities to realize their full potential and excel in their respective professional fields. To do so, Arab Excellence aligns with industry leaders and role models from across the Arab world and enables them to share their personal success stories, lessons learned, and best industry practices with the region's youth. This encounter with role models from the region to whom they can relate culturally provides a tremendous amount of inspiration and empowerment to the youth, and inspires them to pursue their dream. Arab Excellence empowers youth by helping them set a concrete vision for themselves and build a concrete roadmap to achieve it. Arab Excellence also provides the region's youth with on-going mentorship and a professional network to utilize as they identify and implement their professional vision, roadmap and action-plan.



Alongside the UAEU-SIP, Arab Excellence partners with reputable companies and foundations from around the world including the J.P. Morgan Foundation and the Abraaj Group. As well as launching several of its own successful programs in the UAE, Saudi Arabia and Morocco, Arab Excellence's youth-focused training programs have also been delivered through institutions in MENA and globally including INSEAD, Stanford University, the UAEU-SIP and the Moroccan Stock Exchange (for underprivileged Moroccan students). The organization has also successfully developed and delivered programs for young Saudis at Effat University, Al Faisal University, and at the Al Ghad and Al Birr Foundation.

Hamza Chraibi, the organization's Founder and General Manager, left a career in investment banking to build Arab Excellence. He continues to grow the organization and the reach of its programming across the region, and has addressed the topic of youth empowerment at a number of regional and international events, including the United Nations Forum in China, the Bosphorus Summit in Istanbul, The OECD Annual Committee in Paris, HEC Paris, and the American University of Beirut, among others. Today, Arab Excellence and its partner the UAEU-SIP are delighted to showcase many youth and female empowerment success stories. An inspiring example is Bezeo (http://bezeo.ae), a start-up co-founded by four UAE women engineers originally enrolled in the UAEU-SIP incubation program and subsequently mentored by Arab Excellence. Bezeo has developed an environmental friendly carpet, which harvests electrical energy from different movements. Excitingly, Bezeo was a finalist in a start-up movement pitch competition at GITEX 2017, and was also invited to apply to the Emirates Energy Award in 2017. Recently, Bezeo won the MENA Global Impact Challenge of Singularity University and was selected to their transformational Global Solutions Program, a 9-week immersive residential experience at their campus at NASA Research Park, California.



## 4.3 Mai Medhat (Egypt)

Mai Medhat is a young woman whose story went viral, and is now recognized as a role model for entrepreneurs in the Middle East and North African as well as for bringing global attention to Egypt's growing technology and entrepreneurship ecosystems. Mai is a proof that Egypt has young and talented entrepreneurs who are eager to etch their names in history.

CEO Mai Medhat and CPO Nihal Fares caught the entrepreneurial bug while studying computer engineering as undergraduates. They bonded while working

together on their graduation project, a mobile solution for traffic congestion. This enterprise did not take off, but the two decided to continue working together on other ventures. After the Revolution, they attended the first Start-up Weekend Cairo to join the movement of entrepreneurs eager to transform activism into innovation. They were reinvigorated by the event, but it did have several roadblocks—the event's organizers struggled with logistics and planning. In 2011, the two women launched Eventtus as the first platform to ease pain points for both event organizers and attendees. Eventtus developed an instant social network platform for events, aiming to mobilize events and maximize networking opportunities for attendees by providing a single app for all the events, that would keep attendees informed about agendas, speakers and live announcements as well as increasing interactions and social buzz around events. "The idea came to my mind when I found that there was a gap between organizers of events and people attending the event. A lot of information, businesses and networking might be missed because there was no one platform that connected the two sides with each other," says Mai.



Mai's company has grown in the past 4 years and has succeeded in targeting big event organizers like those of the Harvard Arab Weekend in the USA, DMG events, the ArabNet and RiseUp Summit. She is was currently working with Dubai Expo 2020. In no time after it launched in Egypt, Eventtus took the first steps towards expansion and opened its first office in Dubai. Since then, Eventtus has become a partner to entrepreneurship events in the Middle East. More than 800 organizers have used the application to manage more than 7500 events.

In Silicon Valley, Mai joined a panel discussion on stage at the Global Entrepreneurship Summit. The panel was moderated by Barack Obama, and the panelists were Mai, Mark Zuckerberg, and two entrepreneurs from Tanzania and Peru. "IT was an amazing experience," says Mai. "Obama spoke directly to me about the difficulties that are part of starting your own business, especially for women, young people and minorities. He said to me, 'You deserve the same chance to succeed as everybody else.'"

## Reference

ILO (2017) World employment and social outlook: trends 2017/International Labour Office. ILO, Geneva

# The MENA Region National Entrepreneurial Framework Conditions



Ayman Ismail, Thomas Schøtt, Abbas Bazargan, Basheer Salaytah, Hamad Al Kubaisi, Majdi Hassen, Ignacio de la Vega, Nihel Chabrak, Abier Annan, Mike Herrington, and Penny Kew

## 1 The National Experts Survey

The GEM model explicitly acknowledges that particular environmental factors (social, cultural, political and economic) are influential in creating unique business and entrepreneurial contexts. Annually, each economy participating in the GEM cycle surveys at least 36 key experts or informants. The National Experts Survey (NES) is similar to other surveys that capture expert judgments to evaluate specific national conditions. For example, the World Economic Forum's Global Competitiveness Report and the World Bank's Ease of Doing Business Report use similar surveys to build their indices. However, the NES focuses only on the environmental features that are expected to have a significant impact on the entrepreneurial sector, captured in the nine Entrepreneurial Framework Conditions (EFCs) rather than on general economic factors. The nine EFCs are described in Table 1. Although the EFCs can be addressed at any stage of development, these conditions function best in economies with an underlying foundation of basic requirements and efficiency enhancers. For example, it is unlikely that government entrepreneurship programmes will be effective if the country provides inadequate health care and primary education to its population.

The NES questionnaire is standardized for all countries and was carefully designed and refined to capture informed judgments of national key informants in each country, who are specially selected on the basis of reputation and experience. Experts are asked to express their views about the most important conditions which can either foster or constrain entrepreneurial activity and development in their

A. Ismail · T. Schøtt · A. Bazargan · B. Salaytah · H. Al Kubaisi · M. Hassen · I. de la Vega ·

N. Chabrak · A. Annan · M. Herrington (🖂) · P. Kew

GEM Consortium, London, UK

e-mail: mherrington@gemconsortium.org

<sup>©</sup> Springer International Publishing AG, part of Springer Nature 2018

N. Faghih, M. R. Zali (eds.), *Entrepreneurship Education and Research in the Middle East and North Africa (MENA)*, Contributions to Management Science, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-90394-1\_5

Framework condition	Description
EFC1: Financial support	The availability of financial resources, equity, and debt, for new and growing firms, including grants and subsidies.
EFC2: Government policies	The extent to which government policies (such as taxes or regulations) are either size- neutral or encourage new and growing firms. There are two sub-divisions: 2a: the extent to which new and growing firms are priori- tized in government policy generally; and 2b: the regulation of new and growing firms (taxes and bureaucracy).
EFC3: Government programs	The presence and quality of direct programs to assist new and growing firms, at all levels of government (national, regional, municipal).
EFC4: Education and training	The extent to which each level of the education and training system incorporates training in creating/ managing new, small or growing business entities. There are two sub-divisions: 4a: primary and secondary school entrepreneurship educa- tion and training; and 4b: post-school entrepreneurship education and training.
EFC5: Research and develop- ment transfer	The extent to which national research and development will lead to new commercial opportunities, and whether or not these are available for new, small and growing firms.
EFC6: Commercial and profes- sional infrastructure	The presence of commercial, accounting and other legal ser- vices and institutions that allow or promote the emergence of small, new and growing business entities.
EFC7: Internal market openness	The extent to which commercial arrangements undergo con- stant change and redeployment as new and growing firms compete with and replace existing suppliers, subcontractors and consultants. There are two sub-divisions: 7a: market dynamics, i.e. the extent to which markets change dramatically from year to year; and 7b: market openness, i.e. market burdens and the extent to which new firms are free to enter existing markets.
EFC8: Access to physical infrastructure	Ease of access to available physical resources—communica- tion, utilities, transportation, land or space—at a price that does not discriminate against new, small or growing firms.
EFC9: Cultural and social norms	The extent to which existing social and cultural norms encourage, or do not discourage, individual actions that might lead to new ways of conducting business or economic activ- ities which might, in turn, lead to greater dispersion in per- sonal wealth and income.

 Table 1
 The GEM entrepreneurial framework conditions (EFCs)

country. The experts are interviewed using both a semi-structured and structured questionnaire. The closed questionnaire consists of several statements relating to aspects of the nine Entrepreneurial Framework Conditions, and the responses are measured using a Likert scale of 1 (highly insufficient) to 9 (highly sufficient). The NES therefore provides insights into the ways in which the EFCs shape the national entrepreneurial climate. The data obtained from the respondents from each of the

	1	2a	2b	3	4a	4b	5	6	7a	7b	8	9
Egypt	3.9	3.6	3.1	3.3	1.7	3.1	2.8	3.9	5.1	4.0	6.5	4.1
Iran	2.9	3.4	2.6	2.2	2.5	3.2	3.1	3.2	5.0	2.8	6.3	3.6
Jordan	4.1	3.6	3.4	3.7	2.2	3.0	3.8	4.8	5.3	3.8	6.3	4.2
Lebanon	5.0	3.6	3.8	3.9	4.3	5.1	3.9	5.4	4.4	3.8	3.7	6.2
Morocco	3.6	4.2	4.1	3.7	1.9	4.0	2.8	4.7	4.5	3.4	6.6	4.1
Qatar	4.5	5.5	4.7	5.4	4.6	5.8	4.3	5.2	4.5	4.0	6.6	5.4
Saudi Arabia	3.9	3.9	4.0	3.4	2.1	3.7	3.0	3.9	4.8	4.0	6.8	4.6
Tunisia (2015)	4.2	4.1	2.7	3.6	1.7	3.4	2.8	5.8	6.9	2.9	6.7	4.1
UAE	4.4	5.8	5.5	5.6	4.5	4.7	4.2	5.6	5.6	5.0	7.3	6.2
Average (MENA)	4.0	4.2	3.8	3.9	2.8	4.0	3.4	4.7	5.1	3.7	6.3	4.7
Average (GEM)	4.2	4.2	4.0	4.3	3.1	4.6	3.8	4.9	5.0	4.3	6.5	4.8

 Table 2
 Entrepreneurial framework conditions for MENA region

Weighted average: 1 =highly insufficient; 9 =highly sufficient

1—Entrepreneurial finance; 2a—Government policies: support and relevance; 2b—Government policies: taxes and bureaucracy; 3—Government entrepreneurship programs; 4a—Entrepreneurial education at school stage; 4b—Entrepreneurial education at post school stage; 5—R&D Transfer; 6—Commercial and legal infrastructure; 7a—Internal market dynamics; 7b—Internal market burdens or entry regulation; 8—Physical infrastructures; 9—Cultural and social norms

MENA countries was analyzed in order to determine the mean score for each category of questions (Table 2).

Entrepreneurial activity is an output of the interaction of an individual's perception of an opportunity and capacity (motivation and skills) to act upon this AND the distinct conditions of the respective environment in which the individual is located. An economy cannot increase the quantity and quality of entrepreneurs without creating an enabling environment in which entrepreneurship can flourish. Informed policy decisions which help to create a nourishing entrepreneurial environment will be of benefit to entrepreneurs in all phases of their businesses, be it young start-ups, established or repeat entrepreneurs. An important focus of the NES, therefore, is helping to identify key weaknesses in the entrepreneurial environment, in order to provide policy makers and business leaders with information that enables them to put into place precise, practical and targeted recommendations.

Table 2 indicates that on average, the experts in the MENA region rated schoollevel entrepreneurship education and R&D transfer as the two main areas constraining entrepreneurship in the region. The 2016/17 GEM Global Report notes that globally, the weakest entrepreneurial framework condition (with an average value below 4) was school-level entrepreneurship education. The MENA region's low score for entrepreneurship education and training in primary and secondary schools is therefore not unusual but is part of a broader problem that transcends geography as well as stage of economic development. The MENA experts also report average ratings (below 4.0) for government policy (taxes and bureaucracy), government entrepreneurship areas assessed, the MENA experts report scores below the GEM average. Physical infrastructure is the EFC which is ranked most positively, overall, among the MENA countries. With the exception of Lebanon (with a mean score of 3.7) the rest of the countries all rate physical infrastructure as good, with the United Arab Emirates rating it as very good (mean score above 7.0).

The country with the weakest entrepreneurial framework is Iran. Experts in Iran gave only two EFCs mean scores of above 4.0—access to physical infrastructure, and market dynamics. Five EFCs were judged as very weak, receiving mean scores of below 3.0. Iran is the only country in the region with mean scores below 3.0 for government programs and access to finance. Saudi Arabia's experts also regard the country's entrepreneurial framework conditions as generally insufficient—seven EFCs were given ratings below 4.0.

The countries with the most enabling entrepreneurial frameworks are the United Arab Emirates and Qatar—the two innovation-driven economies in the region. In both these countries, all the EFCs receive mean scores above 4.0—in the case of the UAE, seven of the EFCs receive ratings of 5.0 or higher. The United Arab Emirates and Qatar diverge strongly from the regional norm with regard to government entrepreneurship programs, with mean scores above 5.0 (all the other countries have mean scores below 4.0). Another area where a few countries diverge from the regional norm is school-level entrepreneurship education. The majority of the countries rank this EFC as very weak, with mean scores below 3.0; however, the United Arab Emirates, Qatar and Lebanon all have mean scores above 4.0. Qatar and Lebanon also rate their post-school entrepreneurship education positively, with mean scores above 5.0 for this EFC. Cultural & social norms are regarded as a factor fostering entrepreneurship in the United Arab Emirates and Lebanon, with a mean score of 6.2 in both these countries.

## 2 Country-Level Insights into the MENA Entrepreneurial Framework Conditions

In order to facilitate a deeper understanding of entrepreneurship development within the MENA countries, GEM National Teams were asked to provide information about the entrepreneurial framework in their countries. This could include the way in which people who want to be entrepreneurial would perceive the national framework, in terms of limitations and opportunities; critical focus areas; as well as best policy practices or strategies that the government, NGOs and private sector have introduced to encourage entrepreneurship. Their insights are provided below.

## 2.1 Egypt

Egypt has a long history of entrepreneurship, dating back decades ago, with entrepreneurs leading a movement of modernization for the economy in sectors such as finance, agri-business, arts and cultural products, tourism, manufacturing, and trade. The modern technology-driven entrepreneurship ecosystem in Egypt started around a decade ago, with different local and international actors expanding outreach, creating support programs, advocating for reform policies, and establishing a culture for entrepreneurship and innovation. Since then, Egypt's entrepreneurship ecosystem has been growing and improving, with numerous programs and policy interventions addressing some of the major challenges and providing better entry points for entrepreneurs.

*Policy Reforms* Government bureaucracy and red tape have always been criticized as a major impediment for the growth of entrepreneurship. Over the past 2 years, several government agencies have been targeting entrepreneurship as a priority, which resulted in encouraging recent reforms. A new government agency was established to support micro, small and medium enterprises and entrepreneurs, with a mandate of providing training, easing registration, and providing support programs. The Central Bank of Egypt (CBE) mandated banks to dedicate a percentage of their loan portfolio to lending to SMEs, based on a clearly defined scale. A new licensing law was recently approved, reducing the licensing burden on MSMEs and accelerating the process. In general, reform initiatives are focusing on: access to finance, licensing and registration, education, and support programs. The effect of these new programs is not clear yet, but is likely to create a boost for entrepreneurship over the next years.

*Support Organizations* Over the past 5 years, a small number of support organizations providing outreach, awareness, acceleration and incubation services for startups has emerged. While their reach and focus were limited (mostly to early-stage technology start-ups in Cairo), these organizations and programs had a positive demonstration effect for other stakeholders, triggering a wave of support for building many other similar programs. Last year, several similar programs were initiated, driven by government, international donor organizations, universities and NGOs. These programs promise to provide a broader reach to other locations beyond Cairo, as well as other industries and stages of entrepreneurial development.

Access to Finance Start-ups and MSMEs have often identified the limited access to finance, both in the form of equity or debt, as a key constraint for their launch and growth. The top source of funding has consistently been personal funds of the entrepreneurs, or funds from family and friends. Banks have rigorous requirements for debt financing that makes them often inaccessible, especially with rampant informality within a large section of the economy. Venture funding is not traditionally known in Egypt, although is now starting to grow rapidly.

Over the past 3 years, a number of initiatives by government, donors, and financial services firms have started to target reforms in this area. As the CBE mandated an increased portfolio of lending to MSMEs, banks are developing new tools for credit rating, and building new subsidiaries specialized in venture capital and microfinance. Government and international funders are supporting a number of these initiatives to establish these sectors and create track records, new tools, and local know-how.

*Education* Entrepreneurship education (and business education in general) has been lacking, and often identified as the top priority in GEM surveys. Basic, vocational and university education provide little content on business and entrepreneurship; and teaching pedagogy does not encourage entrepreneurial behaviors through experimentation and self-learning. Improvements in entrepreneurship education are coming from two paths. First, a number of civil society-driven programs targeting entrepreneurship awareness and education have been emerging, providing energy and awareness of the sector among youth, especially within universities. Second, the Ministry of Education is starting several programs to introduce entrepreneurship and business education into the national curricula, in high schools, universities and vocational training. This process will take several years until entrepreneurship is fully embedded in the curricula, and even more until the impact of these initiatives is realized; however, it provides energy and optimism among youth, and in the market in general, with positive spillover effects into society at large.

*Infrastructure* Different sectors have basic infrastructure requirements that are considered a necessary minimum to enable this sector. Egypt has a reasonably competitive infrastructure, whether in terms of physical infrastructure (roads, ports, electricity) or digital infrastructure (telephony and Internet connectivity, access and speed). During the period 2013–2015, political turbulence caused a rapid deterioration in the infrastructure; however, significant government investments through an emergency plan managed to restore the basic infrastructure availability over the past 2 years. Today, Egypt is making significant investments in modernizing its road network and other physical facilities; however, Internet speed is always criticized as lagging, despite broad access across most geographies.

*Culture* An open culture that encourages innovation, risk-taking and experimentation is a key ingredient for an entrepreneurial culture. Traditionally, employment culture in Egypt has been highly conservative, valuing safe jobs in government or large corporations as opposed to risk taking in an entrepreneurial venture. This has recently started to change, albeit slowly, with a more connected, urbanized and internationalized youth generation that is learning and experimenting. With the decline of the government as the employer of choice, private sector employment and entrepreneurship are emerging, with media and education playing a major role in changing this conservative culture.

### 2.2 Iran

The business environment in Iran illustrates diverse facets of the complexities and, at the same time, uncertainties faced by start-ups, early-stage businesses and even established enterprises. The Iranian economy, being in transition from a factorbased economy to an efficiency-driven economy, also comprises a wide spectrum of start-ups, knowledge-based firms and technology-based entrepreneurship, which all need institutional support. *Access to Finance* In order to provide the necessary institutional support, the Iranian government plans to pursue specific policies to financially support entrepreneurial activities and development of knowledge-based enterprises. The Innovation and Development Fund is an outstanding example of such governmental sponsorship. This fund, which is headed by the Vice-President for Science and Technology, was created under the provisions of the 2011 Law and Executive Regulations thereof, entitled the Law Supporting the Companies and Knowledge-Based Firms and Commercialization of Innovations and Inventions. The main objective of this fund is to provide capital for the launch of knowledge-based firms. In 2015, the Innovation and Development Fund financed 877 projects for an amount totaling \$170,176,625 (circa 5,445,652,000,000 rials) with low interest rate bank loans.

A second fund, the Omid Entrepreneurship Fund, supports SME enterprises including home-based and rural business. It provides loan facilities (at the interest rate of 4%) with the aim of creating jobs for home-based economies, self-employment and employer firms where it is critical for people to engage in their own employment. The main strategy of this second fund is to bolster micro-business through the microfinance structures. Upon consideration of the borrowers' applications, this Fund will finance each micro-business plan up to a maximum of 300 thousand dollars (Rls 1,000,000,000). The Omid Entrepreneurship Fund's policy to financially support entrepreneurs involved in micro business can be summarized as follows:

- 1. to support market-oriented products, with a focus on marketing orientation and funding schemes;
- to support charity institutions with a leaning towards entrepreneurial activity and job creation;
- to develop the micro-financial institutions, specifically with regard to the value chain, by creating local micro and product funds.

It is noteworthy that the Omid Fund has provided over 43,000,000,000 rials in loan facilities across various sectors during the past three and half years. The growth rates in sectors such as services, industry and agriculture have reached 56%, 22.7% and 34.8% respectively. Additionally, the Omid Fund has provided over RLs. 50,143 billion, which represents a 78% increase, in loans for rural entrepreneurship. These initiatives have contributed meaningfully to the business growth rate in Iran.

*Support Initiatives* In parallel with these two funds, start-up accelerators are rapidly springing up in Iran. Currently, there are roughly 58 accelerators throughout the country. A number of them, such as Avatech Accelerator and Diamond Accelerator, are based at the University of Tehran. Encouragingly, the conventional business centers and science and technology parks are also operating as supportive infrastructures for the launch of early-stage businesses or newly-established firms. By the end of 2016, about 177 incubators were operating across the country, compared to only 33 incubators in 2014. Most of these incubators are based in and affiliated to the science and technology parks in the country-wide universities (Fig. 1).



Fig. 1 Key elements of the Iranian entrepreneurship ecosystem

*Education and Youth Entrepreneurship* In order to promote individuals' entrepreneurial behavior, it is necessary to establish tracing centers for the general public and, in particular, for the young potential entrepreneurs from among students and alumni. In Iran, the Faculty of Entrepreneurship was established as the first educational entity in the Middle East and North Africa (MENA Region) in 2008. This Faculty has since offered entrepreneurship education and training for over 1000 graduates at master level. The prevalence rate of entrepreneurial activities by the students and alumni has been about 22.5%.

Additionally, the Faculty of Entrepreneurship has conducted and developed extra-curricular activities in the form of lectures by successful entrepreneurs and a launch of start-ups at the University of Tehran and other universities across the country titled UT Let's Start. Through this initiative, entrepreneurship graduates are encouraged to launch new businesses as e-business; the top national entrepreneurs,

entrepreneurial leaders and Omid Entrepreneurship Fund are also persuaded to financially support the graduates with low interest rate loans to facilitate their attempts at launching start-ups.

In another initiative to stimulate youth entrepreneurship, the Faculty of Entrepreneurship has initiated and implemented a practical project named Kashef Program, in cooperation with the Ministry of Education. The main objective of the Kashef Program is to identify, measure and evaluate the talents and capabilities of high school students who will very likely become future entrepreneurs in the country. The statistical records indicate that so far, over two million high school students have received entrepreneurship training under the Kashef Program.

## 2.3 Jordan

In terms of the national labor force, SMEs in the public sector account for up to 4137 workers. The largest proportion are in medium-sized enterprises and account for about 82% of the total national labour force in the public sector. The largest percentage of the Jordanian labour force is concentrated in micro enterprises, which account for 55% of the total Jordanian labor in the private sector. About a quarter of the total Jordanian labor force is in the private sector, comprising small establishments concentrated in the wholesale and retail trade, manufacturing and education sectors (29%, 18% and 12% respectively).

*Women in Entrepreneurship* A key focus area in Jordan is the development and facilitation of entrepreneurship among women. Over the period 2009–2016, female entrepreneurial intention as a percent of total adult population has been decreasing, as have self-employment and business ownership among women. The established business ownership rate has dropped to 2.7% (compared to 5.3% in 2009). The Jordanian female TEA rate is the lowest compared to the Arabian countries, as only 3.3% of the female population aged 18–64 are engaged in starting a business or have recently started one. In 2016, the average female for Arabian countries was 7.4%.

The high rate of unemployment among educated women is a particular concern. 76% of unemployed women are educated, many of them possessing a university degree. These educated women report that there are no appropriate jobs or opportunities for them. They are seeking jobs in the educational sector, human health and social work activities, and public administration. Most of the job opportunities in the mentioned activities are located in the capital, Amman, with an average income between 200 and 500 JOD. These jobs are favoured by women because they provide employment benefits such as maternity leave, social insurance, and medical insurance. Employment benefits such as health care, family leave, pensions, and job protection have a significant impact on the Jordanian TEA, which will consequently reduce preferences for entrepreneurship. Educated women in governorates have fewer opportunities than those who are living in Amman. Research shows that women's choice of employment is heavily influenced by having a job in the same area of residency. With an average income of between 200 and 500 JOD and a bad

public transportation system, it is not feasible for these women to obtain a job in the capital.

Women entrepreneurs in Jordan face a number of challenges. They struggle to sustain their businesses due to four main reasons: business being non-profitable, family obligations, access to finance and government policies. Most women cannot provide collateral, and therefore are financing their businesses through personal sources such as savings, friends and family and reinvesting their earnings. Most of the women early-stage entrepreneurs are operating in consumer-oriented services and are providing no new products. In addition their exporting is limited which leads to high competition between local firms. Most businesses, therefore, close because they are non-profitable.

Networking rate for female entrepreneurs in Jordan stood at 18.3% in 2016, which is below the average rate for the Arabian countries by 15.6 percentage points. The perceived capabilities rate for women entrepreneurs is below the average of Arabian countries by 3.7 percentage points, while 42.3% of the female population aged 18–64 years old reported that fear of failure would prevent them from starting a business. It is clear that a low level of self-perception is one of the main barriers that affects starting a business for Jordanian women.

#### Recommendations

- Increase employment benefits for SMEs and entrepreneurs.
- Promote an entrepreneurship culture among educated unemployed females.
- Implement programs which improve the entrepreneurial perceptions of aspiring women entrepreneurs.
- Provide cash support for working mothers (up to two children) to facilitate their access to childcare services up to the kindergarten level, as article 72 of the Labour Law does not apply to small and medium-sized entrepreneurs.
- Increase micro-financing and loan guarantee programs for women entrepreneurs.
- Allocate more financing for manufacturing projects (especially in both Irbid and Zarqa) in addition to enhancing female skills in related projects.
- Supporting early-stage entrepreneurs for the first three and a half years should be considered.
- Polices should be put in place in order to encourage senior entrepreneurship among women. This age group have the highest capability and ability to start their own businesses. Seniors often have the highest share of steady income among all age groups—this will improve their access to finance in addition to them having the required experience and skills.

## 2.4 Lebanon

It is well-known that the Lebanese economy is dominated by small, family run businesses, where family loyalty transcends all forms of business imperatives. They are, after all, descendants of the Phoenicians, the greatest traders of their time and the fathers of modern alphabet. The Phoenician entrepreneurial spirit remained strong through scores of past generations and became firmly rooted in the Lebanese minds. Currently, there is strong social and financial support for entrepreneurial endeavors, including a very effective central bank scheme that provides funding for early-stage entrepreneurs and a growing support ecosystem of incubators and accelerators.

*Culture* Enterprise is held in high esteem in social and cultural norms. As has been previously mentioned in GEM reports, 2016 was a really difficult year to do business in Lebanon, with deepening political stagnation interacting with the continuing fallout from the war in Syria creates an ominous atmosphere which undermines the business confidence that is strongly needed for early-stage entrepreneurs. However, these daunting climates do not seem to have hindered the Lebanese entrepreneurial spirit, for in the same year Lebanon ranked as the top Middle Eastern country in terms of early stage entrepreneurship (TEA), surpassing the likes of UAE, Qatar and Saudi Arabia. It is also worth noting that six out of ten people interviewed for the adult population survey saw a good opportunity to start a business. Lebanese adults already have a strong work preference for owning a business. 40% of those interviewed expected to start a business within the next 3 years, while nearly one in eight were already running a new business and had been paying wages for more than 3 months.

There are numerous Lebanese role models of successful entrepreneurs, including an increasing number of women, and a sizeable diaspora of rich Lebanese entrepreneurs abroad, many of whom are prepared to invest their time and money in Lebanon. The important role that the diaspora plays in the economic development of Lebanon is undisputed. In a report published by the World Bank, remittances from Lebanese expatriates amounted to US\$7.7 billion in 2014, accounting for 17% of total GDP.<sup>1</sup> This figure ranks Lebanon as the 16th largest recipient of remittances globally and the second highest among Arab countries.

Access to Finance The cornerstone for the Lebanese entrepreneurial scene was first set in 1998 when the Central Bank of Lebanon (BDL) introduced the subsidized loan program that aims at promoting entrepreneurship. By 2000 Kafalat SAL had been initiated: a financial company that assists small and medium sized enterprises (SMEs) to access commercial bank funding. By early 2013, the government of Lebanon established a funding facility through a loan by the World Bank and managed by Kafalat SAL under the name Innovation in SMEs (iSME). Kafalat's aim with iSME was to encourage the equity investment market to increase the supply of early-stage investment finance for financially viable, new and existing innovative firms. Kafalat's subsidized loans were intended to reduce the burden of financial risk on the individual and therefore promote and support the entrepreneurial spirit.

In the summer of 2013, and after seeing the potential of the knowledge economy and the impact of IT on GDP (6 billion by 2019<sup>2</sup>), the Lebanese Central bank

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>World Bank—Migration and Development Brief 23.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>IDAL—Sectors in Focus.

(BDL) decided to take matters into its own hands and inject \$450 million into the Lebanese knowledge economy, through Circular 331. Circular 331 is a form of equity investment that allows the conservative commercial banks to invest in startups directly, or in Venture Capital funds, accelerators and incubators which then invest in the start-ups on their behalf. The Central Bank guarantees 75% of the commercial bank's investment, de-risking it by mitigating the potential losses and reducing them to a mere 25%. In order to benefit from Circular 331, Lebanese entrepreneurs must register their start-up as a joint-stock company (Société Anonyme Libanaise "SAL"). This entails a minimum capital amount of LBP 30 million, or its equivalent of US\$20,000, as well as a minimum of three shareholders. By law, an SAL is obliged is to have a head office and operate out of Lebanese territories. This was another mechanism deployed by BDL to increase growth and job opportunities in Lebanon.

To further bolster the ecosystem, and within the framework circular 331, BDL fully guarantees bank investments that fund support initiatives such as incubators and accelerator programs. One such program is the UK Lebanon Tech Hub (UKLTH). Inaugurated in the spring of 2015, this is an international initiative between BDL and the British Government. UKLTH aims to support the entrepreneurship and SME landscape in Lebanon, seeking to increase GDP and create new jobs and sustainable wealth. 77 different companies have passed through the Tech Hub's two previous accelerator cycles, and the currently underway venture-building program, which has contributed to the direct and indirect creation of 800 jobs. With the support of the Tech Hub, the start-ups have managed to secure \$16.5 million in funding and as of 2017, they are valued at \$206 million. In parallel with its venture building program, the UKLTH recently launched the International Research Center (IRC), a program that funds and manages applied research projects with Lebanon based universities and international partners. The projects are fully funded for a period of 3 years via British Government and circular 331 financing.

A recent report published by ArabNet collects and highlights, in numbers, the amount of capital that VCs have invested into the knowledge economy in the MENA region. Mainly due to Circular 331, Lebanon boasts a 0.2% ratio of VC investments as a percentage of GDP. This percentage is higher than that of the UK, China, Canada, UAE and Saudi Arabia. One such example is the Berytech Fund II, a \$50 million Beirut-based venture capital fund to invest in SMEs with high growth potential. The United States Agency for International Development (USAID) and Berytech also announced in April 2015 the official launch of "Insure & Match Capital" (IM Capital), a new \$15 million Investment Fund under MENA Investment Initiative. In January of 2017 Berytech launched Agrytech in collaboration with the Kingdom of Netherlands. Agrytech aims to source top start-ups in the Agri-Food sector and provide them with the adequate resources, be it technical, business or communal support.

Support Initiatives The Central Bank's efforts do not stop at just financing—it has also been involved in organizing BDL Accelerate for three consecutive years now. BDL Accelerate is the biggest innovation and entrepreneurship conference in the

MENA region. In 2016, BDL Accelerate gathered Steve Wozniak, co-founder of Apple; Tony Fadell, creator of the iPod, iPhone and founder of Nest; and a collation of other all-star entrepreneurs and experts under one roof with 23,300 attendees for a 3 day conference with keynotes speakers, panel discussions, start-up exhibitions as well as multiple hackathons. Another such conference taking place in Lebanon is ArabNet Beirut. Even though this event has now branched out to other MENA countries, it originated in Lebanon. ArabNet Beirut 2016 highlighted digital creativity, entrepreneurship and business, attracted more than 1000 attendees and featured more than 80 speakers from across the MENA region and abroad.

It is also worth noting that the Lebanese entrepreneurial ecosystem has been exponentially growing over the past several years and now offers different business development centers that offer incubation, mentoring, infrastructure support and training for start-ups and entrepreneurs. The majority are privately operated but on some occasions funding can come from BDL or other banks.

*R&D Transfer* Lebanon is also at the forefront of the region's R&D production. Since 2011, Lebanon has been increasing its knowledge production and has recently become on par with Jordan. What is worth noting, however, is that Jordan has twice as many researchers as Lebanon. Lebanon's research is especially impactful in the fields of medical sciences and engineering-related disciplines such as computer science and telecommunications. Another notable figure is the growth in Lebanon's share in global production. There has been a 30% increase between the years 2000 and 2010, and this augments its representation to 0.347 per 1000, a remarkable number considering Lebanon's small size and limited number of researchers (1200 full-time equivalent researchers<sup>3</sup>).

*Education and Youth Entrepreneurship* Much of the workforce in Lebanon is welleducated and well-qualified, with a regular influx of fresh graduates across most disciplines. The strength of the workforce is a result of the strength and diversity of the Lebanese education system. Besides being fluent in Arabic, 54.1% of students learn French as a second language and 45.1% learn English as a second language.<sup>4</sup> Lebanon also boasts three universities that rank in the top 20 of the Arab region.<sup>5</sup>

What is worth noting is that the level of entrepreneurship is highest for the 35–44 age segments (28.2%) and is significantly much less for the 18–24 age segment (18.7%). To ensure the growth of entrepreneurship in Lebanon, policy makers must capitalize on the high rates of intent to start a business and promote entrepreneurship as an option to students. The Lebanese American University is highly aware of the importance of entrepreneurial education and has agreed to be a partner in issuing the GEM 2017 National Report. Other initiatives that bridge the gap between academia

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>Hanafi, Knowledge Production in the Arab World, 175.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>IDAL—Lebanon at a Glance.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup>Futao Huang, Martin Finkelstein, *The Internationalization of the Academy* (New York: Springer 2014), p. 126.

and industry have been implemented across several universities, such as Antonine University and the American University of Beirut.

Lebanon is at the center of Europe and Asia, enabling it to be a gateway to foreign markets. We must encourage entrepreneurs to look beyond just Lebanon, and help new small businesses to develop and grow in new markets. One major drawback that Lebanon faces is the quality of the internet, and policy makers need to address this issue and provide the population with cheaper and faster internet connectivity. There needs to be more research and enterprise driven by universities, to keep the entrepreneurial spirit going.

## 2.5 Qatar

Qatar's economy is undergoing a transformation—shifting from a high dependence on hydrocarbon towards a diversified economy, with the focus firmly on growing private industry beyond the energy sector. Fostering the entrepreneurial spirit is fundamental to this shift. The Qatar National Vision 2030 (QNV 2030) aims to "transform Qatar into an advanced society capable of achieving sustainable development." The planned development goals are divided into four central pillars: economic development, social development, human development and environmental development. Most national efforts to boost and foster entrepreneurial activity fall within the first and third pillars: economic and human development. The combination of ambitious education policies with a nationwide effort to achieve economic diversity, places entrepreneurs at the heart of Qatar's national vision.

Institutions Fostering Entrepreneurship in Qatar Qatar's entrepreneurship ecosystem has been stimulated through major institutions such as Qatar Development Bank (QDB), Bedaya Centre, Silatech, Nama and INJAZ which have been established to support entrepreneurs. These institutions provide a range of support services to help entrepreneurs start businesses in Qatar. QDB was founded by an Emiri Decree to expand Qatar's private sector and diversify the economy. It provides financial and non-financial support to SMEs and entrepreneurs. Institutions such as Bedaya Centre, Silatech, Nama and INJAZ are focused on encouraging and inspiring the youth of Qatar to become entrepreneurs. These institutions provide support, education and mentorship primarily to young Qatari nationals.

- Qatar Development Bank (QDB): Since its establishment in 1997, QDB has focused on accelerating growth and encouraging national projects within private sector activities in key economic areas that will generate various economic and social benefits for Qatar's economy in line with Qatar National Vision 2030. QDB seeks to help Qatari manufacturers to expand their industry, and to provide services in the economic fields through the provision of capital, guarantees and advisory services.
- Bedaya Center, a joint initiative between Qatar Development Bank and Silatech, provides Qatari youth with access to a wide range of services including career guidance, self-assessment, employability skills development, entrepreneurship,

mentoring opportunities, volunteering, practical training, networking activities, and lecturer programs. Bedaya Center organizes several basic skills training workshops which help youth start their career in the Qatari labor market, or launch their own business.

- The idea to establish Silatech was born out of a vision of Her Highness Sheikha Moza bint Nasser that supporting the future of Arab youth supports all the Arab society. Silatech supports the start-up and growth of sustainable, job-creating youth enterprises across the Arab World. The organization provided young entrepreneurs with access to finance, business development training, mentorship, and access to new markets.
- The Nama (Empowerment and Entrepreneurship) Centre is a national initiative that promotes entrepreneurship among young people and encourages them to innovate.
- INJAZ Qatar partners together with the local business community, corporate volunteers and educators to inspire and prepare young people to succeed in the global economy. INJAZ Qatar is a member of Junior Achievement Worldwide (JA), the world's largest organization dedicated to educating students about workforce readiness, entrepreneurship and financial literacy through experiential, hands-on programs. INJAZ Qatar offers programs in elementary, preparatory and high schools, as well as youth centers, colleges and universities across Qatar. With the help of its active corporate volunteer community, INJAZ has reached students from Grade 1 to university level. The corporate volunteers serve as inspiring role models for the youth, sharing their real-life work and entrepreneurship experiences and advice.

*Incubators and Economic Free Zones in Qatar* There are several incubators and free zones, including Qatar Science Technology Park (QSTP), Qatar Business Incubation Centre (QBIC), and Qatar Finance Centre (QFC) that take business ideas from concept to implementation. They also offer a range of entrepreneurship education programs.

- The QSTP Incubation Centre is a technology-focused incubation program that aims to foster local tech entrepreneurship in the State of Qatar. The program aims to accelerate the establishment and growth of promising tech start-ups through quick incorporation, collaborative co-working space, business facilitation, and support services which includes access to a network of mentors, funding program training, and prototyping facilities. The period of the incubation is 12 months allowing the startups to focus on achieving the following objectives: develop a product/service; acquire early customers; and fund raising.
- QBIC is a unique mixed-use business incubation centre providing support services to help entrepreneurs and companies who either have an idea to start a business or want to grow an existing business. One of QBIC's flagship initiatives is LeanStart up, a 10-week entrepreneurial programme that provides real world, hands-on learning experience on how to successfully start a company. QBIC also offers a LeanScale up programme and industrial workshops which are available

to young established companies who have significant potential to grow. The programme helps business to grow through four key services: access to the marketplace (local, regional and international customers); access to human capital (recruiting talent); smart financing (provision and access to equity and debt finance); and coaching & mentoring.

• The QFC Authority manages and maintains the QFC legal and tax environment, and licenses firms to conduct business in or from the QFC. The Authority also develops relationships with the global financial community and other key institutions, both within and outside Qatar, helping to develop the country's private sector.

Universities in Qatar That Offer Entrepreneurship Programs Qatar University is the national university of Qatar. Qatar is also home to many branch campuses run by overseas institutions. These are clustered together at 'Education City', a large campus built as part of the Higher Supreme Council's education reforms, hosting branches of leading US and European universities. Not only is Qatar's Education City a hub for international branch campuses, it also hosts facilities such as the Qatar Science & Technology Park, and the RAND-Qatar Policy Institute. The Qatar National Research Fund also supports research conducted in the City.

The World Innovation Summit for Education (WISE) was established by the Qatar Foundation for Science, Education and Community Development in 2009 with the aim of driving innovations across the academic landscape through debate on educational issues within Qatar and beyond. Qatar University and several universities within Education City offer entrepreneurship programs.

- The Centre for Entrepreneurship (CFE) was established in September 2013 as a Qatar University initiative to support entrepreneurship at the university and community at large. CFE is working to link the academic life with business reality through training, incubation, research and consultation. Its services include delivering training programs to create awareness about the importance of entrepreneurship and to develop individuals' skills to become potential entrepreneurs.
- The AlFaisal-Carnegie Mellon Innovation Entrepreneurship Centre is aimed at fostering an entrepreneurial environment and inspiring innovation among Qatar's university students. The center was launched in the autumn of 2015 and offers courses on innovation entrepreneurship that are open to all partner universities within Education City throughout the year.
- The Entrepreneurship Centre provides extracurricular and co-curricular opportunities for students and encourages them to explore entrepreneurship, understand 'business principles' from the entrepreneur's point of view and discover their own entrepreneurial spirit.

#### Initiatives That Encourage Entrepreneurship in Qatar

• Al Fikra Business Plan Competition: A joint initiative to develop entrepreneurs by providing workshops that help convert innovative ideas into value added businesses. Various partners and sponsors from academia and the business community are involved in the competition as mentors and judges.

- Enterprise Challenge: It is an annual competition which encourages entrepreneurial spirit among the youth in Qatar, organized by Qatar Shell and Silatech. The successful teams from each of the 13 participating universities compete on an entrepreneurship computer simulation, which seeks to evaluate the teams' performance on running their business in a competitive marketplace over a 3-year period.
- Challenge 22: This is an innovation award launched in 2015 by the Supreme Committee for Delivery & Legacy (SC). It promotes a culture of innovation in the Middle East and attracts entrepreneurs, scientists and pioneers from across the Arab world. It showcases ideas that can contribute towards the hosting and organization of major events like the 2022 FIFA World Cup Qatar<sup>™</sup>, while building a sustainable, economically diverse future for the region.
- Innovation Day: This event is dedicated to presenting cutting-edge technologies that are taking place in Qatar. The event is part of a wider national effort to contribute to Qatar's economic diversity as part of achieving the QNV2030 economic diversification goal. The event targets students' creativity, critical thinking and problem-solving skills, all within the focus of 'innovation'.

There have been several government initiatives which have placed entrepreneurship and SMEs at the top of Qatar's strategic priorities. Some of these initiatives have been implemented following the blockade. A summary of the initiatives is provided below:

- Qatar Development Bank (QDB) organized a forum titled '*Buy Local Products*' on July 11, which brought together 70 Qatari companies from five key sectors, along with 250 local buyers, to encourage small and medium enterprises to expand their local business in sectors such as steel and iron, plastics, wood, aluminum and copper, and general building materials. A second forum was held on July 25, to showcase products and complement the nation's renewed objective to localize the country's supply chain and increase self-reliance.
- A memorandum of understanding (MoU) was signed between QDB and Public Works Authority (Ashghal) to launch the 'Ta'heel' initiative for SMEs. The new approach gives factories an opportunity to participate in the implementation of Ashghal's programs and projects, through enlistment of Qatari manufacturers in the authority's approved supply chain, in addition to accrediting local industrial products.
- To support the local market demand for fresh produce, Hassad Food, Qatar's premier investor in food and agri-business sectors, launched an initiative titled 'Iktefa', which targets unproductive local farms, to encourage their production through purchasing farmers' yearly production from fresh vegetables and fruits, following clear commercial terms, then selling them in the local market. More than 80% of registered local farms have been identified as being unproductive. The initiative aims to increase the role of the local farms by efficiently utilizing its commercial operations to support the local market demand for fresh produce.

- 'Own your Factory in Qatar in 72 hours Project' is a government initiative aimed at fast-tracking the establishment of more manufacturing companies and factories in Qatar. The initiative attracted over 9000 applications over a period of 1 month. Aside from licensing, the project guarantees qualified investors with land readiness and immediate access to visas, including readiness of industrial infrastructure such as water, electricity, gas, and roads, as well as priority for purchases with local manufacturers.
- Single Window System: Implemented in 2016, this represents one of the key government initiatives launched to develop Qatar's business environment, stimulate real participation of the private sector, encourage domestic and foreign investments and channel them towards sectors with added value to the national economy. The initiative streamlines the application process for new businesses, which reduces the administration burden.
- Ramadan Markets: These are organized during Ramadan to encourage individual and family entrepreneurs to develop their skills in marketing and promotion of local products.

## 2.6 Saudi Arabia

Saudi Arabia is a country that still sits atop the largest share of the world's identified oil reserves. But the government has long been aware that the oil cannot last forever so, the Kingdom needs to face a transformation that is inextricably tied to the country's ability to promote and support entrepreneurial activity.

*Beyond Oil* The year 2016, Saudi Arabia's Vision 2030 was announced as a transformation blueprint for achieving the Kingdom's ambitious long-term goals. This plan, is based on three main themes: (1) a vibrant society; (2) a thriving economy; and (3) an ambitious nation. Social transformations are going to happen relatively quickly because the country's population is young in average and thus, more easily adaptable to a global scenario. The second theme states the need to leverage opportunities and structures so entrepreneurs and SMEs can design modern entrepreneurial ecosystems that create economic value and spaces to share talent and innovations. Vision 2030 also underscores SMEs as agents that create jobs, support innovation and boost exports that foster economic growth. The third theme: ambition, refers to the need for awareness on the part of the population and government, that being the country that occupies the position 25th out of 144 countries in the Global Competitiveness Report ranking, it is still transitioning from "factor-driven" to "efficiency-driven". Ending with this contradiction is the main aspiration of modernizing the context where SMEs and entrepreneurs develop their activities.

*Entrepreneurship and SME Policy* The Saudi Arabia's SME authority is reviewing laws and regulations to improve the easiness of doing businesses and start new ones. It also plans to remove obstacles and facilitate access to funding. The Kingdom's entrepreneurial framework shows several insufficient conditions that must be improved to enable youth and entrepreneurs to market their ideas and products. Modern spaces for entrepreneurs need the establishment of additional new business incubators, specialized training institutions and venture capital funds. All this is starting already to go. Its development will take some time, but is becoming a reality right now. The SME policy contemplates also, giving support to SMEs in marketing and exporting their products and services as well as enabling national entities to collaborate with relevant stakeholders. All these efforts, along with other measures taken by the government, will have a strong and positive impact that will be reflected in the middle term.

#### 2.7 Tunisia

In Tunisia, most entrepreneurs are motivated by necessity, rather than opportunities. Individuals that become entrepreneurs as a result of seeing opportunity, targeting a market segment or bringing innovation to the market cannot exceed 18–25% of entrepreneurs in Tunisia. The majority become entrepreneurs only to ensure stable income, which is the main reason for the high percentage of entrepreneurs whose ventures fail within after 2 years of being established. The entrepreneurs that create difference.

Although there are various services and products related to training and support for entrepreneurs, these are particularly lacking for entrepreneurs at the start-up stage. Tunisia is still struggling in terms of supporting start-up entrepreneurs, especially in the western and southern areas of the country.

There are also problems in the funding systems in place to support entrepreneurs. It is very difficult for entrepreneurs to access high levels of funding. The funding system is not well established enough to cover the whole of Tunisia—for many startup entrepreneurs it therefore becomes very expensive and time-consuming to get to banks and institutions, often with no guarantee that their applications will be successful. Moreover for small projects, for example co-operatives such as small agriculture groups, it is almost impossible to obtain finance it from banks or financial institutions. A further constraint is that the legal system in Tunisia does not allow for specific types of funding such as crowdfunding, which may be a solution for funding project with new value propositions.
## 2.8 United Arab Emirates

The UAE has grown rapidly from an economy dependent on fishing and a declining pearl industry to one of the Middle East's most important economic hubs. It is now one of the wealthiest countries on a per capita basis with a GDP estimated in 2016 at US\$375 billion and a real GDP growth rate of around 2.3%.<sup>6</sup> The UAE is noted for its open economy with a high per capita income (US\$67,700 of GDP per capita in 2016),<sup>7</sup> a highly developed welfare system, one of the lowest rates of unemployment in the Middle East (3.6%), its modern infrastructure, the international events it hosts, its status as a trade, tourism and transport hub, and its sizable annual trade surplus. In terms of its support for entrepreneurship, the UAE has been active on many fronts. There has been encouraging progress with entrepreneurial and SME policy, support for innovation, the financing of entrepreneurship, and the supporting entrepreneurial services.

*Entrepreneurship and SME Policy* In 2010, the UAE Vision 2021 "United in Ambition and Determination" was launched with the goal of making the UAE among the best countries in the world in which to live, work, and do business. As part of Vision 2021, the UAE government specifically recognized that entrepreneurship plays a key role in driving economic development. In particular, the Vision aimed to make the UAE among the best countries in the world for entrepreneurship by both encouraging UAE nationals to be the driving force of economic development through small, medium enterprises (SMEs), and by serving as a magnet for entrepreneurs from throughout the region and the world who would like to start or scale businesses.

Federal Law No. 2 of 2014 on SMEs (the "SME Law") came into force in June 2014, specifically introducing interventions to support the development of locally owned SMEs in the UAE. One important aspect to this law is the unified definition of a SME (in Cabinet Resolution No. 22 of 2016), standardizing their identification and hence presumably standing with existing UAE legislation, as well as an SME Council to promote UAE SMEs. Another aspect of the law establishes a "National Program for SMEs" that gives registered SMEs various benefits, such as reduced licensing fees, simpler business procedures, and expertise, technical support and training. The SME Law also exempts SMEs from customs tax for equipment, raw materials, and goods for production purposes, as well as the obligation to pay bank guarantees for each new worker. This law also mandates federal government entities to source 10% of their procurement requirements from SMEs, as well as obliging firms in which the government holds more than a 25% stake to give at least 5% of their contracts to SMEs. Furthermore, the Emirates Development Bank (EDB) must ensure that at least 10% of its loans are directed to SMEs. Encouragingly this law has also created a trend for other SME supportive initiatives. For instance, in 2016, Expo

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup>http://pubdocs.worldbank.org/en/398801475460803726/UAE-MEM-Fall-2016-ENG.pdf

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup>https://www.cia.gov/library/publications/the-world-factbook/geos/ae.html

2020 Dubai underscored its commitment to SMEs through its pledge to allocate 20% of its total direct and indirect spend, representing more than AED5 billion (US\$1.36 billion) in contracts, to local and international SMEs.<sup>8</sup> Other regulations reflect the strong commitment of the UAE government to provide entrepreneurs with a friendly regulatory environment. For instance, Federal Law No. 4 of 2012 (the Competition Law) that prohibits certain anti-competitive practices, gives advantages to SMEs through exemptions.

Because of these business friendly policies and regulations, the World Bank Group's 2016 'Ease of Doing Business Rankings' positions the UAE 26th globally and as the highest ranked country in MENA region. According to the report, it takes just 4.5 procedures and 8.5 days to open a company in the UAE.<sup>9</sup> However, in the words of the World Bank's Doing Business 2016 report, the UAE's 'lack of a modern restructuring law' is the biggest barrier to doing business in the country. Although the UAE government had been formally considering amendments to the insolvency regime since 2009, it was only in 2016 that the Federal Decree Law on Bankruptcy (No. 9 of 2016) was issued and came into force. Its most important provisions represent a step forward for the UAE's insolvency regime, notably including the removal of the criminal offence of bankruptcy by default, criminal involvement in matters relating to bounced cheques, and a new threshold and requirement for creditor-initiated insolvency proceedings. Previously, the difficulty in liquidating companies, and the fact that individuals could face criminal action if they defaulted on debt, had led expatriates to sometimes to flee the country instead of facing imprisonment.<sup>10</sup> Perhaps as a consequence, the GEM UAE 2016 Report exhibits evidence of non-Emirati expats having less inclination towards undertaking entrepreneurial activity and having bigger issues than Emiratis in transforming intentions into real business setups. Similarly, in the 2016 GEM APS, 54.3% of the adult population stated that they have been constrained from starting a business due to a 'fear of failure'. Of this proportion, 80.5% are expats, which might explain why the rate of nascent activity for expats is low (0.9%) compared to the TEA of 4.2% for the UAE adult population in 2016. It is hoped that these changes to insolvency law will be conducive to the risk-taking that is so important for entrepreneurship and SME development.

The taxation system in the UAE is also favorable for entrepreneurs. The UAE does not levy income tax on individuals and it offers companies a relatively low-tax operating environment. Corporate taxes are levied only on oil companies and foreign banks. There are significant advantages to businesses registered within the 44 UAE free zones, 27 of which are in Dubai.<sup>11</sup> In these free zones, companies are exempted

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup>http://www.usuaebusiness.org/u-s-u-a-e-business-council-hosts-expo-2020-dubai-officials-in-new-york-city/

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup>http://www.doingbusiness.org/~/media/WBG/DoingBusiness/Documents/Annual-Reports/ English/DB17-Full-Report.pdf

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup>http://www.investuae.com/wp-content/uploads/2017/03/Invest-UAE\_EE\_digital.pdf

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup>http://www.uaefreezones.com

from corporate tax for a certain time (which can be extended), as well as exempted from import duties on goods brought into a trade zone. Besides the taxation advantages, companies in a UAE free zone can also circumvent the regulation mandating that UAE nationals own at least 51% of a UAE registered company. Despite these advantages, the free zones still restrict the ability of companies to operate in the UAE proper.<sup>12</sup>

Finally, the UAE is considering levying Value Added Tax (VAT) from January 2018, with the rate likely to be 5% with certain exemptions, such as healthcare and staple food items, payable monthly.<sup>13</sup> Although businesses are expected to be VAT registered and will need to complete and submit VAT returns to the government on a regular basis, it has been suggested that they might not be required to register and report on VAT, with the intention to prevent additional costs disproportionate to their business size.<sup>14</sup>

Driving Entrepreneurial Innovation The UAE government has also embraced innovation as a national priority. 2015 was the Year of Innovation, during which a National Strategy for Innovation was announced. The National Strategy for Innovation is aimed at embedding a culture of innovation amongst individuals, companies and governments in seven key innovation sectors, specifically renewable energy, transportation, education, health, water, technology, and space.<sup>15</sup> To turn this strategy into reality, an AED300 billion Emirates Science, Technology and Innovation Higher Policy budget was established to foster sustainable innovation based on science and technology in an attempt to build a true knowledge-based economy. Of this amount, AED200 billion was dedicated to alternative energy, AED40 billion to aviation research, AED20 billion to the space industry, AED31 billion to science research, and AED12 billion to innovation incubator and academic research centers.<sup>16</sup> In an initiative of the Federal Government, the Ministry of Finance launched the Sheikh Mohammed bin Rashid Al Maktoum Fund to Finance Innovation, worth AED2 billion, to support resident individuals and companies (of all sizes) registered in the UAE, provided that they offer unique and innovative ideas—whether they be technologies, products, services and processes.<sup>17</sup>

From this auspicious start, many significant initiatives have followed, mainly from the Emirate of Dubai. In 2016, Dubai Future Foundation was launched to play a pivotal role in shaping the future of Dubai. This, along with the Dubai Future Agenda, which acts as a roadmap for the Foundation, has the medium and long-term goals of shaping strategic sectors in cooperation with government and private

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup>http://www.investuae.com/wp-content/uploads/2017/03/Invest-UAE\_EE\_digital.pdf

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup>https://government.ae/en/information-and-services/finance-and-investment/taxation

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup>https://www.clydeco.com/insight/article/vat-is-your-business-prepared

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup>http://www.uaeinnovates.gov.ae/docs/default-source/pdfs/national-innovation-strategy-en.pdf? sfvrsn=2

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup>http://www.investuae.com/wp-content/uploads/2017/03/Invest-UAE\_EE\_digital.pdf

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>17</sup>https://www.mof.gov.ae/En/About/programsProjects/Pages/MohamedBinRashidInnovationBox. aspx

sector entities. Among its major initiatives, a AED500 million "Museum of the Future" was to become a unique incubator for futuristic innovations and designs.<sup>18</sup> To pull the future forward faster, the Dubai Future Accelerators program aims to connect the world's most innovative companies with leading figures in the Dubai government with the goal of creating breakthrough solutions for the world's most exciting opportunities and pressing challenges.<sup>19</sup> Another strategic project is Dubai 3D Printing Strategy which aims to exploit 3D technology for the service of humanity, and promote the status of the UAE and Dubai as a leading hub of 3D printing technology by the year 2030.<sup>20</sup>

*Funding Entrepreneurial Activity* In the past, what held many entrepreneurial ventures back was access to financing, but entrepreneurial funding in the UAE is evolving rapidly, with capital now raised from government funds, angel investors, venture capital firms, private equity and SME-friendly banks. Government SME development agencies and funds have also been established to specifically cater to Emirati entrepreneurs and SMEs. For instance, in 2003 the Dubai SME was first established, followed in 2007 by Khalifa Fund for Enterprise Development in Abu Dhabi, and in 2009 by the Ruwad Establishment in the Emirate of Sharjah. Nationally, the ICT Fund was launched in 2008 by Telecommunications Regulatory Authority to drive rapid, progressive and realistic developments within the ICT sector in the UAE.

The UAE has a munificent environment for start-ups to attract angel investment. Driving this environment are the estimated 480,000 high net worth individuals with a combined wealth of \$2.5 trillion that live in the Middle East, mostly concentrated in the UAE, Saudi Arabia, and Kuwait.<sup>21</sup> Of note is MENA Venture Investments, one of the most prominent angel funds in the region and in the UAE, given a high profile through its association with Fadi Ghandour, CEO of Wamda Capital and founder of Aramex, and Arif Naqvi, the founder and Group Chief Executive of Abraaj. Also particularly of note are Womena<sup>22</sup> and WAIN,<sup>23</sup> two prominent angel networks dedicated to supporting both women entrepreneurs and investors in the region.<sup>24</sup>

The UAE is also a large source of venture capital (VC) funding. Between 2013 and 2016, the number of tech investors in MENA has grown exponentially,<sup>25</sup> with 30 funding institutions established in 2016 alone. Of these, 40% have headquarters in the UAE, and overall, 33% of tech investors in MENA operate from the UAE.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>18</sup>http://motf.ae

<sup>19</sup>http://www.dubaifuture.gov.ae/our-initiatives/dubai-future-accelerators/

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>20</sup>http://www.dubaifuture.gov.ae/our-initiatives/dubai-3d-printing-strategy/

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>21</sup>https://www.bcg.com/publications/2016/financial-institutions-consumer-insight-global-wealth-2016.aspx

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>22</sup>http://womena.co

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>23</sup>https://womensangelinvestornetwork.wordpress.com

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>24</sup>http://www.investuae.com/wp-content/uploads/2017/03/Invest-UAE\_EE\_digital.pdf

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>25</sup>https://intelligence.arabnet.me/

During the same period, more than \$750 million was invested in more than 450 tech start-up deals in the MENA region.<sup>26</sup> Of these investments, the vast majority, both in number (137) and value (\$286 million), occurred in the UAE.<sup>27</sup> In 2016, the UAE outranked all other MENA countries in transactions, with 41% of the deals (78 deals)—much higher than the next highest country Lebanon (18%). The 70% jump in value of total dollars invested (US\$918 million for the MENA region, including US\$799 million for the UAE in 2016) is largely explained by two megarounds, raised by Careem (\$350 million raised) and Souq.com (\$275 million raised) in 2016. Among the UAE based funds, notable mentions are MBC Ventures, the VC arm of the largest private media company in the MENA region,<sup>28</sup> BECO Capital,<sup>29</sup> Wamda Capital,<sup>30</sup> and Abraaj Group,<sup>31</sup> a leading investor in growth markets with \$10 billion in assets under management.<sup>32</sup>

Access to credit has always been limited for SMEs in the UAE, highlighted by a survey of SMEs by Dubai SME in 2013. In this survey, only 23% of survey respondents stated they had accessed bank finance in the last 5 years.<sup>33</sup> According to the OECD 2016 report on entrepreneurship and SMEs in Abu Dhabi, commercial lending currently accounts for a small proportion of bank lending in the UAE (4% of vs 9.3% for the MENA average). Although some commercial banks have established SME units, such as Mashreq Bank, Emirates NBD, National Bank of Abu Dhabi (NBAD) and First Gulf Bank (FGB), loan conditions for SMEs remain relatively unfavorable in international comparative terms and banks remain cautious about lending to SMEs. For instance, their rejection rates are in the range of 50–70%, which are much higher than the OECD range of 10–20%.<sup>34</sup>

*Entrepreneurial Support Services* The UAE has also considerable support services, including co-working spaces, incubators and accelerators that help entrepreneurial activity flourish.

Co-working spaces offer start-ups a relatively inexpensive office space and the benefit of being with like-minded individuals. The only Google-partnered Tech Hub in the MENA region, AstroLabs, serves as a Launchpad for the highest potential tech start-ups in Dubai. Created by the co-founders of Namshi, AstroLabs features a Google-supported mobile device development lab, a training facility and academy, meeting rooms, and other supporting infrastructure and services. Through a

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>26</sup>Ibid.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>27</sup>http://www.investuae.com/wp-content/uploads/2017/03/Invest-UAE\_EE\_digital.pdf

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>28</sup>http://www.mbc.net/en/corporate/ventures/about

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>29</sup>http://becocapital.com

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>30</sup>http://wamdacapital.com

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>31</sup>https://www.abraaj.com

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>32</sup>http://www.investuae.com/wp-content/uploads/2017/03/Invest-UAE\_EE\_digital.pdf

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>33</sup>http://www.sme.ae/StudiesAndResearchDocument/SME\_Report\_English.pdf

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>34</sup>https://www.oecd.org/countries/unitedarabemirates/AbuDhabi-Ecosystem-Final-Web.pdf

partnership with the DMCC-Government of Dubai, it also offers a full free zone licence at Dubai Multi Commodities Centre, with no upfront costs.<sup>35</sup>

The incubators in UAE provide entrepreneurs with office space, business advice, and seed funding. One of the newest incubators is the Washington, D.C.-headquartered 1776 Dubai. Established in late 2016, 1776 Dubai is the first international technology incubator to set up as a direct presence in the MENA region. Partnering with the Dubai Foundation of the Future, 1776 Dubai will be central to creating a dynamic community of start-ups, institutions and government leaders focused on advancing transformative technological change in crucial industries tackling society's most important needs.<sup>36</sup>

Accelerators help existing start-ups grow through physical space, funding, training, mentorship and networking opportunities, and are booming in the UAE. Among them, Flat6Labs Abu Dhabi enjoys the support of media free zone Twofour54. Twofour54 is a global hub for digital innovation that supports a generation of entrepreneurs from the UAE and abroad to launch digital businesses in Abu Dhabi and scale to regional and global markets.<sup>37</sup>

Entrepreneurs in the UAE also have the opportunity to connect, network and to be showcased in a plethora of events, exhibitions, competitions and platforms. For instance, in 2016 the UAE hosted the 'largest tech and interactive gathering in the MENA region' (STEP Conference), the 'premier conference for digital businesses in the Middle East' (ArabNet Digital Summit), the 'biggest innovation conference in the region' (Global Innovation Summit), and the 'largest regional IT exhibition' (GITEX Technology Week).<sup>38</sup> Helping start-ups connect with investors, mentors and service providers, MAGNiTT is also a valuable source of information about the MENA start-up ecosystem.<sup>39</sup>

In 2016 UAE University, the university of the future, launched its Science and Innovation Park (UAEU-SIP) to support the shift of the UAE economy towards a knowledge-economy, reflecting the vision of the UAE leadership of a transformation of the role and function of universities so that they help create conditions for sustainable economic growth. As the new key player in the entrepreneurship and innovation ecosystem in the UAE, rather than following the traditional role of teaching, the emphasis is now on the 'entrepreneurial university'. Using the helices model, where the main actors of innovation-generating processes (industry, university, government, and, at a later stage, civil society) interact within defined structures called tribes, the transfer of research and innovation resulting from university labs is accelerated to create local growth. Acting a safe innovation test bed, facilitating higher levels of knowledge creation, absorption and dissemination, enabling cross

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>35</sup>http://astrolabs.com

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>36</sup>https://www.1776.vc/dubai/

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>37</sup>http://www.flat6labs.com/location/abudhabi/

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>38</sup>http://www.investuae.com/wp-content/uploads/2017/03/Invest-UAE\_EE\_digital.pdf

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>39</sup>https://www.magnitt.com

funding, and giving and sharing between researchers, students, businesses, government agencies, global nomad entrepreneurs and innovators, the goal of the UAEU-SIP 'oasis of minds' is to unlock unfair advantages to the benefit of its tribes. The resulting habitat helps the tribes engage in social and needs-driven innovation and address the region's 100 million challenges. With an ambition of large scale new quality of growth based on inclusiveness and wellbeing, the UAEU-SIP is currently developing the following major tribes: Water Tribe; Genomics Tribe; Space Tribe; Well-being Tribe and the 100 Million Stars Tribe.

#### **3** Entrepreneurs' Stories

#### 3.1 Reem Alsowayegh (Saudi Arabia)

Reem Alsowayegh graduated from King Saud University in Riyadh with a Bachelor of Physical Therapy. She was then hired by Abdul Latif Jameel Rehabilitation Centre, mainly working on adult stroke patients. "While I was working on my duties, there was a mother with her child suffering from severe respiratory problems. Both were crying. I got into one of the private rooms and started crying myself. The question came out loud: what could I do for this child?" she recalls. That same day, Reem decided she wanted to focus her practice on children. She then accepted a position at a Jeddah based school for special needs children and worked there for 8 years.

She rapidly spotted a clear problem in the practice: children were having physiotherapy only once a week and were checked every 6 months in the government hospitals, which in Reem's opinion was not adequate. As a result, most of the children were not improving at all. Willing to start her own practice, one that could have a real impact on the lives of children in the Kingdom with special rehabilitation needs, she resigned and started specialized training in innovative techniques such as the Therasuit and other breakthrough techniques.

While continuing her involvement with the mothers of special need children, she was approached by some of them with an eye-opener question: Why don't you open your own center to help so many children and families in need? AdvanceRehab was born.

Once Reem completed the training programs and became the only professional therapist certified in the Kingdom for certain advanced new treatments, she opened her first center in a small room in a friend's kindergarten. "I rented a room there and started working by myself," she says. "It was October 2008 and my dream of really making a contribution to society while working on my passion was starting to come true." Many families' children began using her intensive therapies and the Therasuit treatment. She also started hiring some therapists, as her initial business model had a large bottleneck: her own capacity.

During the next couple of years Reem experienced serious problems in getting the business licensed in the Kingdom. She needed a special license from the Ministry of

Health that proved quite difficult to obtain, even if a doctor in one of the largest local hospitals helped her. After persistent efforts, and the building of an extension that consumed her savings, she finally got an initial license from the MoH—only to find out that the owner of the villa from which she was operating wanted the villa back. With almost no money in the Bank, Reem got some family support and started all over again from a new location, obtaining once again the initial license.

Things were looking promising businesswise, although the process to obtain the specific business license that would allow Reem to fully advertise all the company's services and concentrate on growing the business was not that encouraging. After obtaining the initial license, it took her 5 years to get the final business license. "I felt as if I was in a vicious cycle," she recalls. "I found out that I could not obtain the final license until I got an intermediate one, the Baladiya. In order to get this one, I had to hire a broker well-connected to the Ministry of Health who, for a nice sum, promised to speed up the process using his connections." To make things more complicated, the previous license was connected to Reem's ex-husband, who supposedly could deal with the procedures and the broker in an easier and more effective manner. When Reem got divorced, 2 years after initiating the process, she had to move the center's initial license into her name again and re-start the process for the third time.

Finally, after having to temporarily close the clinic for not having a license, the nightmare ended 5 years after she had started the process. Reem says of this difficult period, "I was furious. I felt that all the time and money that I was wasting on getting my license was have a huge impact on my business. I couldn't market my business because I did not have the license and it was taking way too much time. At the same time, and with almost no business, I still had to pay the salaries and rent. This business was my life passion, but I am not a rich person and did not have the financial support to be in a legal limbo for so long."

Now, with the business up and running and fully licensed, Reem could devote more time to improving the offerings and reaching out for additional customers. She soon realized that she was barely prepared, from a managerial perspective, to go beyond basic management of a small-scale business. She was a physiotherapist by training. She found out about Qotuf, a well-known Jeddah business accelerator, and applied for AdvanceRehab to become part of one of the entrepreneur intakes. She realized that Qotuf could be a great help in transforming the existing AdvanceRehab business model to avoid the current lack of scale in their planned growth. However, when Reem met with Qotuf manager, Mohammed Nabolsi, she discovered that Qotuf would only accept knowledge-economy, internet-based businesses. As a result, Reem accelerated a project she already had in mind—to go online with a completely different business model. She applied under iRehab to Qotuf and was accepted.

"Qotuf turned out to be a great experience as well as an eye-opener for me," recalls Reem. Even though she was taking an EMBA from the American University in Cairo, she found the five-day boot camp and the 3 month period of working, networking and mentoring extremely useful in designing the launch of her new online service called iRehab. Reem also had the opportunity to reach out to Aramco for investment support. I wouldn't have had the opportunity by myself of accessing

Aramco," she says. "Qotuf brought them to me together with other potential investors. The mentoring program at Qotuf was also very helpful. I had the opportunity of working out the marketing details of iRehab with Marwan Qutub, a fantastic marketing expert, and also had access to Mohammed Fitahi, an experienced and well-known Saudi entrepreneur and Babson College alumni."

While attending the Qotuf program, Reem was also involved in working and growing the on-site Advanced Rehab. The center provided physical therapy and speech therapy services for children with special needs through one-on-one sessions. Sessions were either 35 or 60 min long, depending on the treatment, and required a certified therapist to conduct them, limiting the scalability of the business. From the revenue perspective, services were normally bundled into a monthly fee of 8–20 sessions, depending on the treatment. But the unfriendly regulations for entrepreneurs in Saudi Arabia were still making things difficult.

Because of her precarious financial situation during the period she struggled to obtain her license, Reem was not able to hire more expensive Saudi therapists, and had relied on hiring immigrant therapists in order to grow the business. Of course, these therapist could not be sponsored by Reem, nor by AdvanceRehab. The Government was closing the gap on illegal immigration, which could bring additional problems to the already troubled venture.

While on the Qotuf program, Reem had the time and resources to start designing her new venture, iRehab, with the objective of diversifying from AdvanceRehab, getting into the online space and solving some of the issues that were preventing her growth. iRehab was then born as an online community therapy platform (website and application) that connects parents with licensed therapists to help them understand their child's developmental delay through online conferencing, live chat, and e-mails.

"iRehab was designed to give parents all the tools they need in giving their child better care and therapy. I wanted to ensure parents get an better understanding of how to help their child develop, which exercises are needed and which specific therapy tools and resources are required," says Reem.

According to the business plan that Reem put together while at Qotuf, her main revenue stream would be achieved from different sources: parents and caretakers for special needs who would be subscribing on a monthly basis to the website where they can follow the child's lessons, exercises and progress reports, among other services; therapists joining the platform through membership and profit sharing; advertisements; and partnering with insurance companies such as Bupa to increase database and revenue, and enhance the business model.

Reem expects iRehab to be profitable by year one, with over SAR 200 K in gross profits, and to reach SAR 4000 K by year 5—achieving a healthy gross margin of around 1/3 of its revenues by the end of the five projected years of operations.

# 3.2 Fadhel Abidi (Tunisia)

Fadhel Abidi, 40 years old, studied Accounting at university, and after he graduated worked in the private sector for 16 years. Five years ago he decide to start his own business. "I had noticed that diabetic people in Tunisia had a problem in that they are not able to find sweets and cakes that are suitable for their needs," he says.

For Fadhel it was a challenge to convince the bank to grant him funding, as he had very little experience relating to the technical aspects of his project. In addition, the project cost was 670,000 TND, which is regarded as high for small projects in the Tunisian funding ecosystem.



"I started to collect a technical team and developed my knowledge about the production process," he recalls. He managed to provide the banks with the guarantees they required, in case his venture proved unsustainable, and eventually got the bank confirmation for credit. Even after this confirmation, however, the bank was not flexible. The funds were only made available in segments, and each time new processes had to be followed.

Despite these administration obstacles, that harmed his productivity rate and are still ongoing, the United Food Company that Fadhel established has managed to not only survive but, thanks to this entrepreneur's vision and determination, is providing jobs for seven employees.

# 3.3 Sara Al Madani (United Arab Emirates)

One UAE entrepreneurial success story is that of Her Excellency Sara Al Madani.<sup>40</sup> Al Madani ventured into the UAE business world when she was 15, originally founding a fashion label focused on the abaya (a traditional robe-like dress). At the time, few women dared to enter the "man's world" of business in the UAE.

From this bold start, Sara Al Madani Fashion Design, originally branded as Rouge Couture, has become well known for its unconventional designs, and soon expanded across the UAE. She also runs a creative consultancy, Social Fish, and acts as the brand ambassador for Nivea and Natura Bissé in the Middle East. Recently, she has diversified into the hospitality industry, with the opening of a British restaurant Shabarbush, in Dubai.

Building upon her success, she travels throughout the MENA region and beyond to inspire women to pursue their dreams. As she states: "Women don't need empowering; they are already strong. They just need inspiring—someone to help them find their passions, then let them go and watch wonders happen."



<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>40</sup>The honorific Her Excellency was earned when she joined the Sharjah Chamber of Commerce & Industry at the invitation of Sheikh Sultan Al Qasimi, ruler of the UAE emirate of Sharjah, in recognition of her success.

# **Policy Implications and Recommendations**



Ayman Ismail, Thomas Schøtt, Abbas Bazargan, Basheer Salaytah, Hamad Al Kubaisi, Majdi Hassen, Ignacio de la Vega, Nihel Chabrak, Abier Annan, Mike Herrington, and Penny Kew

Most of the developing countries in the MENA region face still face a number of social, political and economic challenges. The countries in the MENA region range in economic development from factor-driven (Iran) to efficiency-driven (Egypt, Jordan, Lebanon, Saudi Arabia and Tunisia) to innovation-driven (Qatar and the UAE) but almost all face problems with job creation, low education and skills levels (especially among women), gender inequality and innovation technologies. These problems exist mainly in the underdeveloped SME sector, as many of the larger organizations have achieved international status and a high degree of competitiveness. Unemployment rates, especially among women and the youth, remain unacceptably high, especially in areas outside of the public sectors. The private sector is not providing the employment that should be expected.

Given the challenges that the region faces, it is difficult to propose a 'one solution for all' approach. Although they do share some common attributes there are significant cross-country differences with respect to motivational attitudes towards entrepreneurship, the aspirations of the population and their entrepreneurial rates. This suggests that each country has its own specific challenges and these should be addressed separately in the individual country reports. However, there are a few commonalities and improving these inhibiting factors could have a significant effect on the overall rate of entrepreneurial activity in the region.

1. Education: Over the years GEM has shown that people's education is related to their pursuit of entrepreneurial endeavors. In most countries, the more education a person has, the more likely the person is to become an entrepreneur, and the more likely the business is to survive, mature, innovate, grow and perform well.

A. Ismail  $\cdot$  T. Schøtt  $\cdot$  A. Bazargan  $\cdot$  B. Salaytah  $\cdot$  H. Al Kubaisi  $\cdot$  M. Hassen  $\cdot$  I. de la Vega  $\cdot$ 

N. Chabrak · A. Annan · M. Herrington (⊠) · P. Kew

GEM Consortium, London, UK

e-mail: mherrington@gemconsortium.org

<sup>©</sup> Springer International Publishing AG, part of Springer Nature 2018

N. Faghih, M. R. Zali (eds.), *Entrepreneurship Education and Research in the Middle East and North Africa (MENA)*, Contributions to Management Science, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-90394-1\_6

Entrepreneurial intentions are influenced by several factors, one of which is perceived capabilities. The higher the level of perceived capability the more likely the person is to start a business. The correct education plays a significant role in this. Entrepreneurial education should be introduced into all schools and universities so that the youth develop skills necessary to start their own businesses instead of becoming reliant on finding a job. Women in the MENA region tend to be disadvantaged from the start and do not receive the correct type of training. Entrepreneurship training should be introduced at all levels, starting when the young first attend school.

- 2. **Regulatory environment**: Government should reform the regulatory environment in order to make it easier for new businesses to register and operate. Reducing the amount of bureaucracy and red tape, thus making it quicker and easier to start a new business, will have a significant effect on the levels of entrepreneurship—as was the case with Chile, Argentina and Israel. Information required by SMEs should be readily available and easily accessible to all potential entrepreneurs. Information such as business registration, HR legislation insurance etc. would be useful.
- 3. Government agencies: To increase the number of innovative early-stage entrepreneurs, there is a need for more knowledge absorption and assimilation. This will naturally lead to an increased knowledge creation and transfer, a condition to have an increased proportion of innovative entrepreneurs who are more likely to innovate "vertically". Previous studies show that innovative early-stage entrepreneurs are less likely to have a necessity motive to start their business. Yet, the level of education of those involved in entrepreneurial ventures is crucial and the enhancement of individual characteristics becomes increasingly critical. With higher levels of education and higher access to new technologies, entrepreneurs become more innovative to compete successfully. Consequently, clusters related to universities should be established to attract and strengthen linkages between academia and industry and among foreign and domestic knowledge-intensive firms. Universities should become more entrepreneurial by developing programs to support inventors to take their ideas to market. Governmental agencies and programs aimed at intellectual property commercialization should be improved. Finally, these clusters and business hubs with centralised resources will help reduce the cost of basic services and other professional, commercial and legal services borne by technology start-ups, which might also increase their competitiveness. These collaborative platforms also offer them more protected and safe environment to innovate so they can create new niches with less competition.
- 4. Entrepreneurial mindset: The entrepreneurial mindset in many parts of the MENA region is a big challenge. People are used to live with certain stereotypes: having a job is very important, and preferably it should be in the public sector. So, in a region which will experience the 100 million youth unemployment challenge in the next decade, a shift in mind-set is required. Governments should be focused on creating conditions for inclusiveness by helping people transform the resources they have into capabilities for life time achievements they value. People in the MENA region should understand this as the only condition for attaining

real freedom and dignity. Another problem is that many people do not want to start small. There is a kind of hubris that is opposite to the entrepreneurial process itself that requires one to start lean and small.

- 5. Access to finance: While the east of access to finance for early stage start-ups varies among the MENA countries, it has been a common challenge in the region. Early stage start-ups in knowledge and technology fields (i.e., ones that do not have physical assets to use as a collateral for bank loans) usually struggle to secure equity investments. More initiatives are needed to expand the culture and vehicles for venture investments, such as angel investment networks and venture capital funds.
- 6. **Women participation**: Although cultural attitudes towards women in the region have started to change in the last few years, it is not enough and not taking place rapidly enough. More entrepreneurship programs should be introduced which are specifically geared towards women, with specific emphasis on their needs and challenges. Mentoring programs, incubators and training programs would go a long way towards encouraging women to enter into entrepreneurship.
- 7. Entrepreneurial culture: Changing the culture is a long-term venture; however, there are specific initiatives that can be implemented in the short term to encourage a pro-entrepreneurship culture. Media plays a key role in promoting role models. More content highlighting the stories of entrepreneurs, and introducing their narrative in the different media channels, including traditional media (TV, radio, newspapers) and digital media. Introducing entrepreneurship education in all levels of education has a substantial and rapid impact. Additionally, including entrepreneurship in the public government narrative as a mean for economic growth.

# Part II Entrepreneurship Education and Training in MENA

# **Entrepreneurship Education and Research in Iran: The Faculty of Entrepreneurship of University of Tehran**



Mohammad Reza Zali, Mahshid Tootoonchy, Jahangir Yadollahi Farsi, and Nezameddin Faghih

Abstract Entrepreneurship is widely associated with prosperity and economic growth by providing employment opportunities, promoting efficiency by applying new technologies and addressing environmental changes. To encourage entrepreneurial intention and success, the entrepreneurship education aims at providing knowledge, enhancing skills and motivating the students in different contexts. The entrepreneurship education can be offered at two levels of schools and universities. The school level entrepreneurship programs increases the long-term possibility of creating a new business. In order to enhance the entrepreneurial competencies, universities need to contribute not only to the research and teaching but also to the commercialization of technology. The commercialization and technology entrepreneurship curriculum can help the graduate students to recognize the opportunity of launching their own new business start-ups. This chapter reviews the growth of entrepreneurship education in Iran and specifically in the University of Tehran. The current educational programs are explained and the new directions at entrepreneurship education such as techno-preneurship and professional master of entrepreneurship at the faculty of entrepreneurship, University of Tehran are discussed.

**Keywords** Entrepreneurship education  $\cdot$  Entrepreneurship research  $\cdot$  The faculty of entrepreneurship

# 1 Introduction

Entrepreneurship is a dynamic process of transformation, implementation of new ideas and creative solution (Kuratko 2003). Entrepreneurship education is a response to the fast changing, and complex environment to equip people with entrepreneurial competencies (Gibb 2002). Entrepreneurship education motivates job creation

The Faculty of Entrepreneurship, University of Tehran, Tehran, Iran

N. Faghih, M. R. Zali (eds.), *Entrepreneurship Education and Research in the Middle East and North Africa (MENA)*, Contributions to Management Science, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-90394-1\_7

M. R. Zali · M. Tootoonchy (🖂) · J. Y. Farsi · N. Faghih

e-mail: m.tootoonchy@ut.ac.ir; faghihnezam@ut.ac.ir; nfaghih@rose.shirazu.ac.ir

<sup>©</sup> Springer International Publishing AG, part of Springer Nature 2018

(Hindle 2007; Jones and Iredale 2010; Kuratko 2005; Lackéus 2015; Purzer et al. 2016), economic growth (Gorman et al. 1997; Kuratko 2005; Wong et al. 2005) and globalization and innovation (Henry et al. 2005a, b; Jones and Iredale 2010).

Universities are changing their role to be able to challenge the socio-economic dynamics (Nieuwenhuizen et al. 2016); therefore, it is expected that adoption of entrepreneurial approach and commercialization of research outputs is the right solution (Goldstein 2010) to adapt to the dynamics of environment. This shift to the role of universities is known as the "entrepreneurial turn" (Goldstein 2010) or the "third mission" (Nelles and Vorley 2010).

Entrepreneurship can be taught (Purzer et al. 2016; Standish-Kuon and Rice 2002) and Entrepreneurship education facilitates the transfer of technology (Lackéus and Williams Middleton 2015). First, the literature on entrepreneurship education will be reviewed. Second, entrepreneurship in Iran and specifically in the University of Tehran as the pioneer university in providing minors, courses and experimental modules will be introduced. Then, the entrepreneurial approach and ecosystem in the University of Tehran will be analyzed. Finally, the new direction of entrepreneurship education in the University of Tehran (techno-preneurship) will be explained.

#### 2 Entrepreneurship Education and Research in World

Entrepreneurship education is conceptualized as a learning process (Cope 2005; Kakouris and Georgiadis 2016), a cognitive process of knowledge transfer (Baron 2004; Mitchell et al. 2007), a high-level learning process (Rae and Carswell 2000) or a meta-cognitive (Kakouris 2015).

Both entrepreneurial courses and pedagogies (Fayolle 2013; Pittaway and Cope 2007) and real-life entrepreneurship learning (Cope 2005; Politis 2005) have been practiced. The content of entrepreneurial education varies in different programs because each discipline has a unique perspective to entrepreneurship (Henry et al. 2005a). Examining 38 entrepreneurship programs, Streeter et al. (2002) confirm that entrepreneurship programs move toward multi-disciplinary trend aim at featuring specific content. Thompson et al. (2010) propose a conceptual model and state that knowledge or experienced based learning of entrepreneurship is associated with different entrepreneurship programs like lectures, case studies, simulation and role play and new venture-based learning. Goldstein (2010) argues that modern universities aim to change their missions from the "Ivory Tower" and the "Land-grant" to the "Triple Helix" or Entrepreneurial University model. Morris and Kuratko (2014) propose different structural forms for entrepreneurship education, namely: General Entrepreneurship Programs, Entrepreneurship Centre (or Institute), Department of Management And Entrepreneurship, Department of Entrepreneurship, School of Entrepreneurship.

There are various approaches to entrepreneurial education (Antal et al. 2014; Neck and Greene 2011). In the United States, a variety of minors, majors, certificate programs and experiential learning have been offered because of the dynamic



Fig. 1 The five Cs framework adopted from Morris and Kuratko (2014)

economic environment (Duval-Couetil et al. 2016). Universities should pay attention to entrepreneurship research, education and cooperation with entrepreneurs (Kuratko 2005).

To empower the students and transform the institution, Morris and Kuratko (2014) propose the five Cs framework to let the entrepreneurship grow and sustain. Figure 1 represents this framework in short.

Nieuwenhuizen et al. (2016) identify and compare the best practices of entrepreneurship education in the United States, Canada, China & Singapore, Europe & United Kingdom and Africa; this study concludes that at undergraduate level a generic and specialized module is preferred while at postgraduate level, universities prefer a greater degree of specialization and interdisciplinary programs. Galloway and Brown (2002) argue that development of entrepreneurship university education facilities creation of high growth ventures.

In the next sub-section, the trend of entrepreneurship education in Iran will be explained.

#### **3** Entrepreneurship Education in Iran

The entrepreneurship development plan was implemented in 2003 as a part of the Third National Development Plan in 12 Iranian Universities. The plan supported entrepreneurship centers, science and technology parks, entrepreneurship courses in universities and promotion of entrepreneurial spirit (Karimi et al. 2010). During the Fourth National Development Plan, entrepreneurship education was more supported. Now (in 2017) around 121 universities have established entrepreneurial centers across the country.<sup>1</sup>

Table 1 represents the development plans duration and their effects on entrepreneurship education.

Former studies of entrepreneurship education in Iran focused on the effects of entrepreneurship education programs on entrepreneurial intentions of students (Karimi et al. 2012), trends and challenges of entrepreneurship education (Karimi et al. 2010), and removal of barriers to entrepreneurship education courses offered in Agricultural Applied-Scientific Education Centers (Rahmanian Koushkaki et al. 2012).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>From http://karad.irost.org/kcenters.php

Plans	Effect on entrepreneurship education
The Third Development Plan (2000–2004)	Implementation of KARAD in 2003 at 12 universities (allocation of budget to education, job creation, support of entrepreneurship centers and technology parks)
The Fourth Development Plan (2005–2009)	Entrepreneurship development through education, promotion, and direct and indirect support initiatives
The Fifth Development Plan (2010–2015)	Financial support of the private sector to develop and expand business, entrepreneurship, technical, professional, and practical training
The Sixth Development Plan (2016–2021)	Developing new technology and supporting the knowledge- based companies by providing financial support for universities and institutions of higher education. Developing internship pro- grams (according to article 17 of the Sixth Development Plan)

Table 1 Iran's development plans

### 4 Research Method

Following Honig (2004), this research takes the equilibrium perspective to study the trend of entrepreneurial education in the University of Tehran. The equilibrium perspective is a dynamic process of interaction with the environment, assimilating new knowledge and applying this new knowledge to increase the level of sophistication.

This study achieves methodological fit within intermediate theory (Edmondson and McManus 2007). Therefore, a case study design is the proper method of collecting data. In case studies both types of qualitative and quantitative data are applied; the evidence may be retrieved from a combination of verbal reports, archival records, observations and/or quantitative data (Yin 1981). As recommended by Yin (1981, p. 60) "narrative-writing" helps a researcher to integrate evidence from various sources of data. Therefore, different informants within the Faculty of Entrepreneurship have been chosen to record their stories of entrepreneurship education in Iran and specifically University of Tehran. The archival records of the University of Tehran have been investigated accordingly. As the national development plans are initiated and are still guiding the development and progression of the Faculty of Entrepreneurship, the development plans have been reviewed as well.

# 5 University of Tehran as the Pioneer of Entrepreneurship Education and Research in Iran

The University of Tehran as pioneer in the field of entrepreneurship education, established the Entrepreneurship Center in 2001. Table 2 represents the timeline of entrepreneurial top activities in the University of Tehran since early 1980s.

					0000
2001	2002	2003	2007	2008	2009
Entrepreneurship	Entrepreneurship Centre	Entrepreneurship depart-	Faculty of Entrepre-	Entrepreneurship	Publication of the Jour-
Centre was	was established at UT	ment was established at	neurship in UT and	e-Learning Centre was	nal of Global Entrepre-
established at Pardis	Entrepreneurship as	the Faculty of Manage-	also, GEM Iran	established and online	neurship Research and
Technology Park	major of Business man-	ment of UT	office was	Master's degree pro-	Entrepreneurship Devel-
(PTP)	agement was established	Establishment of Master	established in this	grams started	opment at the Faculty of
	at Business department	program in Entrepreneur-	new Faculty of		Entrepreneurship
	of the Faculty of Man-	ship at the Faculty of	Entrepreneurship		
	agement of UT	Management of UT			
2010	2011	2013	2014	2016	2017
UNESCO Chair in	PhD in Entrepreneurship	Publication of the Journal	Collaboration with	Collaboration with	Toward minor in
Entrepreneurship of	at the Faculty of Entre-	of Global Entrepreneur-	UMU, Samson,	UMU, Samson, Turkey	Techno-preneurship,
at the Faculty of	preneurship was offered	ship research at the Fac-	Turkey about how	about how to become	minor in Entrepreneur-
Entrepreneurship	in 13 majors	ulty of Entrepreneurship	to become an Entre-	an Entrepreneurial	ship and pitch panel with
		by Springer	preneurial	University	collaboration of college
			University		of Engineering and other
					faculties of UT and pro-
					fessional master of
					entrepreneurship

Table 2 Time line of University of Tehran

# 6 Entrepreneurship Education at the Faculty of Entrepreneurship, University of Tehran

Founded in 2007, the Faculty of Entrepreneurship offers extensive curricula in entrepreneurship. The Faculty of Entrepreneurship has four departments of Entrepreneurship Development, New Venture/ Business Creation, Corporate Entrepreneurship, and Technological Entrepreneurship. The Faculty of Entrepreneurship is also offering E-learning education for more than 700 students.

# 6.1 Formal and Certificate Program of Entrepreneurship

The Faculty of Entrepreneurship, as a graduate school, is offering both master and PhD programs as well as DBA and MBA courses. The details of these courses are explained in the next sub-sections.

### 6.1.1 Academic Master Program of Entrepreneurship

The Academic Master's degree program in Entrepreneurship includes the majors of New Venture/Business Creation, Technology-based Entrepreneurship, Public Sector Entrepreneurship, Development Entrepreneurship, Entrepreneurship Education and Extension, Tourism Entrepreneurship; Agricultural Services Entrepreneurship, Corporate Entrepreneurship, Information Technology-Based Entrepreneurship, International Entrepreneurship, and Electronic Business.

### 6.1.2 PhD Program of Entrepreneurship

The PhD program includes some general courses followed by specialized courses for each of the four majors of Business Creation/Venture, Corporate/Organizational Entrepreneurship, Development Entrepreneurship, and Technology-based Entrepreneurship. The general courses are: Research Methods in Entrepreneurship, Philosophy of Entrepreneurship theories, Philosophy of Management Theories, Philosophy of Organizational Behavior Theories, Philosophy of Islamic Values in Management and Entrepreneurship, Entrepreneurial Opportunities.

## 6.2 Certificate Program of Entrepreneurship

#### 6.2.1 MBA of Entrepreneurship

Besides the formal courses in different majors of entrepreneurship master's degree, some specialized courses for MBA (Master of Business Administration) in entrepreneurship like Venture Capital, Product and Financial Marketing, Process Management and Implementation of Entrepreneurship Projects, and Quality Management are offered for owners/mangers. Since 2011, around 995 students have been graduated from MBA of entrepreneurship.

#### 6.2.2 DBA of Entrepreneurship

DBA in entrepreneurship school is a 2-year course targeting business owners, leaders of organizations, management consultants, trainers of management and entrepreneurship, MBA graduates and young entrepreneurs. The main courses in DBA program are: Business Models, Marketing Strategy, Learning Organization, Capital Management, Business Innovation, Business Intelligence, Business Sustainability, Leadership, Future Studies, Business Strategy, Business Research Method, and Business Networks.

The DBA course is designed to increase management and business knowledge and skills of the participants, increase decision-making ability of leaders and enhance understanding of the concepts and practical skills in the business world. All students hold a master degree; some hold PhDs before starting the DBA course. The DBA course had 332 graduates since 2014.

# 7 Approaches of Entrepreneurship Education in the Faculty of Entrepreneurship, University of Tehran

The structure of universities has faced two transitions. (1) The first transition from a teaching to research universities, called the first academic revolution. (2) The second transition besides teaching and research institutes to universities with economic missions, called the second academic revolution (Etzkowitz et al. 2008). Overall, the best approach to entrepreneurship education is considering the students' need to understand the complexities and nature of entrepreneurial acts (Tracey and Phillips 2007). Another series of research categorizes the education objectives into education "for", "about" and "through" entrepreneurship (Kirby 2004; Mwasalwiba 2010) (Fig. 2).



Fig. 2 Approaches to entrepreneurship education

Adopting a theoretical approach teaching "about" entrepreneurship, focuses on entrepreneurial attitudes and aims at giving an overall understanding of entrepreneurship. With an occupationally oriented perspective, teaching "for" entrepreneurship aims at transferring the required knowledge and skills to the promising entrepreneurs. Finally, teaching "through" entrepreneurship, takes a process-based approach to let the students experience the learning process (Lackéus 2015). Kirby (2004) suggests that entrepreneurship education needs to underscore educating "for" entrepreneurship more than educating "about" entrepreneurship. Entrepreneurship is not limited to new venture creation or small business management, but about creativity and change (Kirby 2004); therefore, educational institutions need to change their learning processes to help the students develop both systematic (leftbrain analytical skills) and unconventional (right-brain entrepreneurial capabilities) thinking.

Entrepreneurship education needs to move toward a new approach to stimulate entrepreneurial activities in practice. Educating about entrepreneurship is to aim at obtaining a general understanding of entrepreneurship. Educating in entrepreneurship aims at making the students become more innovative in their existing workplace and taking more responsibilities. Therefore, educating "through" entrepreneurship as a new approach emphasis on wider definitions of entrepreneurship while education for and about are designed for higher level students. Educating through entrepreneurship helps the students to achieve business understanding and relevant competencies. Taking this three-dimensional perspective, University of Tehran tends to design the programs to educate the students about, for and through entrepreneurship. Educating for entrepreneurship aims to stimulate the entrepreneurial activities to help the entrepreneurship students to start an innovative business.

# 8 Entrepreneurial Ecosystem of the Faculty of Entrepreneurship, University of Tehran

The Faculty of Entrepreneurship is the pioneer of executing entrepreneurial events. The following events are the recent activities of the faculty:

- Iranian Entrepreneurial Leaders Festival: recognition and glorification of the top leaders
- Entrepreneurship Commit-Up: letting the two generations of the leaders and young entrepreneurs share their experiences
- The UT Let-Start Weekend program: prepares people to overcome their fear of venturing

Whoever is interested to share their ideas or invest for a start-up is invited to participate in the events. The events help the whole ecosystem to transfer knowledge and spirit of entrepreneurship. The Faculty of Entrepreneurship is the hub to connect different elements of an entrepreneurial ecosystem. The following activities have been carried out in recent years.

# 8.1 Entrepreneurial Leaders Network as Entrepreneurship Advisors

The Entrepreneurship Leaders' Festival is held every 2 years in Iran. Only five countries in the word are running such festivals. England and United States are the pioneers and after Iran, India and Canada also run the similar festival.

The goal of this festival is appreciation of the entrepreneurship leaders of different industries. The conditions that apply to selection of these leaders are:

- The company should be international: more than 25% of its products should be exported
- Having business relationship with at least three countries
- Engagement in social responsibilities
- The company size should be over 1000 employees

The Faculty has established a network of guest speakers within the entrepreneurship leaders. The guest speakers are invited to talk about their experiences, share their stories and provide consultancy advice to the students.

### 8.2 Superior Entrepreneurs as Entrepreneurship Advisors

The Ministry of Labor and Social Welfare introduces the superior entrepreneurs each year. The superior entrepreneurs are invited to attend the Sunday evening sessions

regularly to give advice to whoever tends to start a business. The superior entrepreneurs also financially support the students with innovative ideas.

### 8.3 Entrepreneurial Students as Entrepreneurship Advisors

To have a role model in order to launch a new venture is an important factor in an entrepreneurial process. The entrepreneurial students are the students who are running start-ups. These students are invited to share their experiences and give advice to other students in the faculty.

# 8.4 Providing Seed Money to Students by Omid Entrepreneurship Fund

The Omid Entrepreneurship Fund has signed a cooperation agreement with the Faculty of Entrepreneurship. Due to this agreement, a loan is given to the students who present an interesting business plan to create a venture. The business plans are pitched in a pitch panel session; the representative of Omid Entrepreneurship Fund awards the winners.

# 9 Entrepreneurship Research at the Faculty of Entrepreneurship, University of Tehran

The Faculty of Entrepreneurship has been supporting several research programs on various knowledge areas of entrepreneurship such as new ventures and entrepreneurial opportunities, corporate entrepreneurship, Global Entrepreneurship Monitor (GEM), entrepreneurial ecosystem and business accelerators, entrepreneurship education and promotion, technological entrepreneurship, social entrepreneurship and women entrepreneurship. Table 3 specifically includes the research using GEM data.

After the first report of Global Entrepreneurship Monitor (GEM<sup>2</sup>) in 1999, different waves of research based on GEM' data started. Figure 3 shows the progression of the four research waves.

Iran is the pioneer to start the fourth wave of research in the MENA Region (Middle East and North Africa). GEM data has been used in several research programs from 2001. The Special Issue of the "International Journal of Business and Globalization" ("Networks around Entrepreneurs in the Middle East and North

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>http://www.gemconsortium.org/

Title of the thesis	Method	Year
Explaining the individual and social factors affecting entrepreneurial intent in countries based on 2008 GEM survey data	Quantitative– Descriptive	2011
Entrepreneurial activity at the national level affected by institutional situation (global study based on GEM data)	Quantitative	2011
The effect of entrepreneurial competencies on generation companies in Iran and Denmark based on GEM data	Quantitative	2012
The impact of entrepreneurial activities on economic growth in selected countries of the global entrepreneurship watch organization (GEM)	Quantitative	2011
The impact of social networking on entrepreneurial competency based on GEM 2010 data	Mixed method	2011
Influence of social network, inclination to innovation, and entrepre- neurial opportunity recognition of entrepreneurs based on GEM 2010 data in Iran	Mixed method	2011
Investigating the effect of inter-corporate collaboration on the inno- vation of Iranian secured businesses (based on GEM 2011 data)	Quantitative	2012
The impact of social networking and family support on the perfor- mance of new businesses in Iran and Denmark (using GEM 2011 data)	Mixed method	2011
The effect of organizational entrepreneurship on innovation in Iranian businesses based on GEM data	Quantitative	2012
The effect of organizational roles on business performance in selected countries based on GEM 2011 data	Quantitative	2013
The effect of psychological empowerment on the role of organiza- tional entrepreneurship in small and medium businesses based on the data of 2011 GEM of Iran and Denmark	Quantitative	2013
Analysis of the impact of entrepreneurial social competencies and norms on entrepreneurial motivation based on 2012 GEM data of Iran	Quantitative	2013
The effect of national culture on entrepreneurial motivation in selected Asian countries based on GEM 2011 data	Quantitative	2015

Table 3         The theses	using the	GEM data
----------------------------	-----------	----------

Africa: Composition, Causes and Consequences, Vol, 11, No, 4") specially focused on the MENA region. Table 4 lists the papers published in this special issue.

In order to get support from various sources and obtain more knowledge, entrepreneurs develop a strong entrepreneurial network, called the entrepreneurial ecosystem (Stangler and Bell-Masterson 2015). Etzkowitz et al. (2008, p. 681) argue that there is a global transition to 'entrepreneurial universities' or 'innovative ecosystems' which play a significant role in the knowledge based economy. The entrepreneurial ecosystem has a significant role in leveraging the education resources (e.g. internships, funding etc.) which affects the growth of start-ups (Duval-Couetil et al. 2016; Neck et al. 2004).



Fig. 3 Four waves of entrepreneurship research of GEM based data

Title	Author
Composition of networks around entrepreneurs: cross- national comparisons in the Middle East and North Africa	Constance Van Horne; Lotfi Belkacem; Taha Ahmed Al Fusail
The effect of national culture on entrepreneurs' networks: a comparison of the MENA region and Denmark	Hadia FakhrElDin; Hazbo Skoko; Maryam Cheraghi
Are entrepreneurial networks shaped by firms' organiza- tional characteristics? A cross country comparison of the MENA region	Yousef Daoud
Entrepreneurs' gender, age and education affecting their networks in private and public spheres: Denmark, Middle East and North Africa	Shayegheh Ashourizadeh; Thomas Schøtt
How individual competencies shape the entrepreneur's social network structure: evidence from the MENA region	Sarfraz A. Mian; Hala W. Hattab
Promoting innovation in the MENA region: the role of social norms and individual factors in entrepreneurial networks	Mohammad Reza Zali; Bettina Lynda Bastian; Shahid Qureshi
Firms' exports promoted by entrepreneurs' networking: MENA and Denmark	Mahdokht Sedaghat; Mohamed Derrabi
Effects of entrepreneurs' networking with national values on job growth expectations: a two-level analysis for the MENA region and Denmark	Tareq Sadeq; Zakia Setti

Table 4 List of papers published in the special issue of IJBG

# 10 Roles of the Faculty of Entrepreneurship Inside and Outside of the University

Besides designing different courses and programs and supervision of research in entrepreneurship, the faculty is actively participating in designed social activities. Two case studies are described below:

# 10.1 Case Study 1: KASHEF Plan, Entrepreneurship Promotion in Iran

In order to recognize and enhance the entrepreneurial efficacy among high school students, the Faculty of Entrepreneurship is running the "KASHEF" Plan country wide. With 15 agents in different provinces and over 40 entrepreneurial markets, the Faculty of Entrepreneurship is expanding their free educational services to direct the next generation of young entrepreneurs.

The 9–15 year old talented students are selected. The reason behind the age range is that it normally takes 3 years on average for an entrepreneurial intention to form and let the entrepreneur to start their business. The students are first courage to get a loan from their parents. The real entrepreneurial stories are told in a childish manner to let the young entrepreneurs imagine the success path. In the next step, the students are led to make a handcraft, design a software, etc. and try to sell their product in the entrepreneurial markets. The students are also thought to calculate their little business margin and the tax. Different relevant activities like preparing the balance sheet, tax declaration, market research forms are also taught to the students during this plan. As a part of their social responsibilities, the young entrepreneurs are also encouraged to donate to their selected foundation.

The next plan is co-operating with the Ministry of Education to prepare the high school students to develop their business model and start their own business. The KASHEF plan is being supported by the "High Council of Employment".

### 10.2 Case Study 2: Advanced VLSI Lab

The advanced VLSI Lab has conducted academic research in order to create knowledge at international level. The lab has been established to carry out the applied research, design and manufacture various products and provide specialized engineering services at national level. Beside the product development, the lab has an active role in compilation of national standards.

The VLSI lab approach is establishing a link between university and industry to empower the students, business development and entrepreneurship for the Advancement of Science and Technology and the national growth. The VLSI lab is an entrepreneurial lab which is managed entrepreneurially. In fact, the School of Electrical and Computer Engineering and the Faculty of Entrepreneurship are collaborating to help VLSI lab to commercialize technological research and prototypes. The Minor in Techno-preneurship has been designed to help the engineering students and graduates to start their own technological businesses or commercialize their inventions.

# 10.3 Match-Making and Knowledge Commercialization by Entrepreneurship Research

Knowledge commercialization is the transformation of knowledge into products, processes, and new ventures which contributes to the economic growth (Mueller 2006); therefore, entrepreneurial universities are the means of knowledge flow because knowledge is created in firms or universities before exploitation.

The Faculty of Entrepreneurship is acting as the match maker in order to configure an effective network between entrepreneurs and investors. In playing the new role of matchmaking, the Faculty of Entrepreneurship has conducted some events inside and outside of the country such as organizing business forums between Iranian and Malaysian, Iraqi, Russian and Chinese entrepreneurs and investors.

# 11 New Direction of Entrepreneurship Education and Research of University of Tehran; Minors and Professional Master in Entrepreneurship

Overall, entrepreneurship education is an innovative continuum of creativity (Duval-Couetil and Dyrenfurth 2012). The innovative education of entrepreneurship is connected to the technology-oriented programs and engineering (Duval-Couetil et al. 2016) and provides a framework to address "the engineering problems in a social context" (Nichols and Armstrong 2003, p. 137).

The entrepreneurship education is offered as courses and programs specialized for engineering students or as multi-disciplinary courses (Kuratko 2003). Standish-Kuon and Rice (2002) categorize the engineering or technology entrepreneurship programs into three forms:

- 1. Business schools offering formal curriculums through cooperation with the engineering faculties
- 2. Engineering schools offering the business schools' curriculums
- 3. Multi-disciplinary programs offering the engineering entrepreneurship curriculum with active cooperation of the business and the engineering school

	Structure of		
Case study	modules	Details	Requirements
National	Minor in Techno-	– Group A (Entrepreneurial Marketing,	Selection of four
University	preneurship in	Technological Innovation, New Product	modules from
of Singapore	two groups	Development, New Venture Creation,	Group A and two
(NUS)		New Venture Consulting Practicum)	modules from
		- Group B (Management & Organiza-	Group B
		tion or its equivalent, Financial Account-	
		Ing or its equivalent, Managerial	
		Analysis or Principles of Economics)	
Dunduna	Minon in Engi	Analysis of Finiciples of Economics)	Circ accuracy for a
University	neering	ship I & II)	Minor in Engi-
5	Entrepreneurship	– Electives (From Laboratory to Mar-	neering
		ketplace, Bioengineering Case Studies,	Entrepreneurship
		Drug Discovery & Development, Intel-	
		lectual Property and Business Law for	
		Engineers, Engineering Negotiations,	
		Engineering Entrepreneurship Lab,	
		Foundations of Leadership, Special	
		Topics in Human Systems Engineering,	
		Venture Capital and the Finance of Inno-	
		vation, venture Capital and Entrepre-	
I Inimanity of	Minonin	Three core courses (Foundations of	Eicht courses and
Waterloo	- Williof III	- Three core courses (Foundations of	eight courses and
w aterioo	– Entrepreneur-	Strategy Essentials of Entrepreneurial	milestone
	ship Option in	Planning and Execution)	linestone
	Engineering	<ul> <li>Five electives (Foundations of Ven-</li> </ul>	
	8 8	ture Creation, Customer Experience	
		Design, Growing Early Stage Ventures,	
		Capstone Entrepreneurship Planning and	
		Execution, Advanced Topics in Entre-	
		preneurship, Entrepreneurship for Social	
		Impact, Sales Fundamentals, Leadership)	

Table 5 Comparison of entrepreneurial engineering modules in three case studies

Table 5 represents the entrepreneurial engineering modules in three universities.

Duval-Couetil et al. (2016) examine the effects of different entrepreneurial education programs and experimental activities on students' perception of knowledge and skills. The findings reveal that a great number of entrepreneurial courses are associated with higher perception of knowledge, skills and self-efficacy. The multi-disciplinary programs show to have a greater effect on the students' general perceptions.

The engineering entrepreneurship prepare the students to recognize the opportunities related to the products, technologies and solutions, development of technologies for commercialization and funding of ventures (Shartrand and Weilerstein 2011). Duval-Couetil et al.'s (2012) survey within three institutions with established entrepreneurship programs for senior engineering students shows that 69% of



Fig. 4 Models of entrepreneurship education programs

students felt that entrepreneurship education positively affects their career prospects. Purzer et al. (2016) also argue the necessity of entrepreneurship education within engineering courses to help the graduate students to outperform their competitors, implement solutions to major technological problems and cope with economic crises. An entrepreneurial engineer organizes the risk of an engineering business (Nichols and Armstrong 2003; Purzer et al. 2016). Figure 4 shows the models of Engineering Entrepreneurship Education.

The relevance of entrepreneurship education for engineering students have been highlighted in former research (Cristina 2016; Karim 2016; Kriewall and Mekemson 2010; Luryi et al. 2007; Nieuwenhuizen et al. 2016; Streeter et al. 2002). In addition, the effects of entrepreneurship education on students' start-ups (Ochs et al. 2006) and the positive effects of technology entrepreneurship courses on career path of young engineers (Mancenido 2008) have been investigated.

The results of GEM research program revealed that entrepreneurship education increases the entrepreneurial intention and activity. According to GEM program results, there is 20% gap between the innovative entrepreneurial activities between Iran and the United States (GEM website 2016). This gap can be filled by techno-prenuership education.

# Minor in Entrepreneurship for Engineering Students and Professional Master in Entrepreneurship

In fact, education programs depend on strategic plan of universities. Following the third strategic plan, the University of Tehran has three strategic objectives: (1) to become an entrepreneurial university, (2) internationalization and (3) to enhance University's social and ethical responsibilities.

In order to help the university to reach its strategic objectives (especially the shared vision of entrepreneurial university during the next 5 years), Faculty of Entrepreneurship aims at implementing the entrepreneurship minor at the University of Tehran (Table 6). As Zali and Razavi (2013) research shows the entrepreneurial ideas of engineering students are more technology-driven while the social science students have more market-driven ideas. Therefore, the content of courses, minors of entrepreneurship should be specific for various groups. Table 7 shows the main units of the proposed Techno-preneurship minor by the Faculty of Entrepreneurship.

			Course duration/	
	Long term goals	Specific goals	modules	Main modules
Minor in techno- preneurship	Long term goals – Developing creative, intelli- gent, and skillful human resources in setting up a technology busi- ness – Strengthening university educa- tion in the path to the creation and development of new technology businesses in the private sector – Eliminating graduates' unem- ployment problem by teaching entre-	Specific goals – Training of Techno- preneurs to gain – The knowledge of developing product tech- nology and business start- ups – The ability of establishing business start- up	Course duration/ modules – Both under- graduate and post- graduate engineer- ing students can attend the courses at the same time – Six modules in the form of 12–15 units for master's degree – 15–18 modules for bachelor's degree	Main modules – Techno- preneurship – Product design – Design and engineering of techno-preneurship – Strategic man- agement of techno- preneurship – Commercializa- tion and product development – Marketing and internationalization of techno- preneurship
	by teaching entre-			
	by teaching entre-			
	to engineering stu-			
	dents and graduates			

Table 6 Techno-preneurship courses in University of Tehran

 Table 7 The main units of the proposed techno-preneurship minor

Unit name	Hours	Unit name	Hours
Techno-preneurship	32	Strategic management of entrepreneurship,	32
		mnovation and technology	
Product Design	32	Product commercialization and development	32
Technological business and	32	Marketing and internationalization of techno-	32
engineering design		logical business	

Basically, master's programs can be professional or academic (please refer to Table 8 for comparison). Both programs prepare students for jobs as working professionals. Programs of academic master's degree allow students to obtain an education in a specialized field of study. Most of these degree programs take about 2 years of study with a thesis. However, recent master's degrees tend to be more business or career-oriented.

As Table 8 shows, the professional master's degree has just three semesters and is a graduate degree designed to allow students to pursue advanced training in entrepreneurship while simultaneously developing business and entrepreneurship skills through internship or new business start-up. The Faculty of Entrepreneurship is currently involved in designing and implementing Professional Masters degrees of entrepreneurship at the University of Tehran.

Factors	Academic master	Professional master
Orientation	Science	Practical
Number of semesters	4	3
Thesis	Yes	No
Internship	No	Yes
Start up	No	Yes

Table 8 Comparison of Academic and Professional master program

## 12 Conclusion and Suggestion

The Faculty of Entrepreneurship of the University of Tehran is a pioneer in entrepreneurship education. Various entrepreneurship programs, minors and majors in the faculty bring the entrepreneurial efforts together across the university through social gatherings and lectures. A range of diverse formal and certified programs help the keen individuals to choose a desired program along with their educational needs. The scholars come from different disciplines and educational backgrounds like management, engineering, and social science. Some of the scholars are start-ups founders. Beside the formal education programs, the faculty focuses on recognition of entrepreneurial opportunities, link the funders and young entrepreneurs, run different entrepreneurial forums and seminars, International Conferences on Entrepreneurship (ICE), festivals to honor entrepreneurs. Linking the "OMID" Foundation to the young entrepreneurs with interesting business ideas let the young talent receive proper financial support. The students can also get entrepreneurship advice from Iran entrepreneurial leaders and entrepreneurs' network.

Taking a new direction in entrepreneurship education, a minor specifically for engineering students has been designed. The goal of this minor is enabling the engineering scholars to set international goals and commercialize their technological products.

Overall, the Faculty of Entrepreneurship takes a long-term visionary perspective to entrepreneurship education, educate the scholars, facilitate entrepreneurial activities and adopt academic and experimental knowledge.

## 12.1 Contribution

The Faculty of entrepreneurship of the University of Tehran as the first school of entrepreneurship in MENA Region, aligns all its activities to the country's development plans and specifically to the entrepreneurship development. In order to reach the visions and goals, the Faculty of Entrepreneurship strives to:

First, develop the educational courses based on KARAD goals.

Second, develop the business management course in business department.

On the road to establishment of the Faculty of Entrepreneurship, the depth and variety of research and education in Iran have been expanded. The effects of the entrepreneurship education on a number of start-ups have been significant

#### 12.2 Limitations and Future Research

Although, entrepreneurship education is very effective in training young entrepreneurs, the need for evaluation programs has been highlighted in recent literature (Pittaway et al. 2009; Welsh et al. 2016). As recommended by former research (Fayolle 2013; Kakouris and Georgiadis 2016), long-term evaluation of the effects of entrepreneurship education on success of entrepreneurial activities shall be considered. In addition, accepting failure of entrepreneurial activities (Welsh et al. 2016) is a part of the nature of entrepreneurship. Future research may investigate the effects of failures on entrepreneurial intentions.

#### References

- Antal N, Kingma B, Moore D, Streeter DH (2014) University-wide entrepreneurship education innovative pathways for university entrepreneurship in the 21st century. Emerald Group, Bingley, pp 227–254
- Baron RA (2004) The cognitive perspective: a valuable tool for answering entrepreneurship's basic "why" questions. J Bus Ventur 19(2):221–239
- Cope J (2005) Toward a dynamic learning perspective of entrepreneurship. Enterp Theory Pract 29(4):373–397
- Cristina MD (2016) Promoting technological entrepreneurship through sustainable engineering education. Procedia Technol 22:1129–1134
- Duval-Couetil N, Dyrenfurth M (2012) Teaching students to be innovators: examining competencies and approaches across disciplines. Int J Innov Sci 4(3):143–154
- Duval-Couetil N, Reed-Rhoads T, Haghighi S (2012) Engineering students and entrepreneurship education: involvement, attitudes and outcomes. Int J Eng Educ 28(2):425
- Duval-Couetil N, Shartrand A, Reed T (2016) The role of entrepreneurship program models and experiential activities on engineering student outcomes. Adv Eng Educ 5(1):n1
- Edmondson AC, McManus SE (2007) Methodological fit in management field research. Acad Manag Rev 32(4):1246–1264
- Etzkowitz H, Ranga M, Benner M, Guaranys L, Maculan AM, Kneller R (2008) Pathways to the entrepreneurial university: towards a global convergence. Sci Public Policy 35(9):681–695
- Fayolle A (2013) Personal views on the future of entrepreneurship education. Entrep Reg Dev 25(7–8):692–701
- Galloway L, Brown W (2002) Entrepreneurship education at university: a driver in the creation of high growth firms? Educ Train 44(8/9):398–405
- Gibb A (2002) In pursuit of a new 'enterprise' and 'entrepreneurship' paradigm for learning: creative destruction, new values, new ways of doing things and new combinations of knowledge. Int J Manag Rev 4(3):233–269
- Goldstein HA (2010) The 'entrepreneurial turn' and regional economic development mission of universities. Ann Reg Sci 44(1):83–109

- Gorman G, Hanlon D, King W (1997) Some research perspectives on entrepreneurship education, enterprise education and education for small business management: a ten-year literature review. Int Small Bus J 15(3):56–77
- Henry C, Hill F, Leitch C (2005a) Entrepreneurship education and training: can entrepreneurship be taught? Part I. Educ Train 47(2):98–111
- Henry C, Hill F, Leitch C (2005b) Entrepreneurship education and training: can entrepreneurship be taught? Part II. Educ Train 47(3):158–169
- Hindle K (2007) Teaching entrepreneurship at university: from the wrong building to the right philosophy. In: Handbook of research in entrepreneurship education, vol 1. Edward Elgar, Northampton, pp 104–126
- Honig B (2004) Entrepreneurship education: Toward a model of contingency-based business planning. Acad Manag Learn Edu 3(3):258–273
- Jones B, Iredale N (2010) Enterprise education as pedagogy. Educ Train 52(1):7-19
- Kakouris A (2015) Entrepreneurship pedagogies in lifelong learning: emergence of criticality? Learn Cult Soc Interact 6:87–97
- Kakouris A, Georgiadis P (2016) Analysing entrepreneurship education: a bibliometric survey pattern. J Glob Entrep Res 6(1):6
- Karim MSA (2016) Entrepreneurship education in an engineering curriculum. Procedia Econ Financ 35:379–387
- Karimi S, Biemans H, Lans T, Mulder M, Chizari M (2012) The role of entrepreneurship education in developing students' entrepreneurial intentions. Proceedings of WICaNeM 2012, the 10th Wageningen international conference on Chain and network science, Wageningen University, Wageningen, The Netherlands, p 22
- Karimi S, Chizari M, Biemans HJA, Mulder M (2010) Entrepreneurship education in Iranian higher education: the current state and challenges. Eur J Sci Res 48(1):35–50
- Kirby DA (2004) Entrepreneurship education: can business schools meet the challenge? Educ Train 46(8/9):510–519
- Kriewall TJ, Mekemson K (2010) Instilling the entrepreneurial mindset into engineering undergraduates. J Eng Entrep 1(1):5–19
- Kuratko DF (2003) Entrepreneurship education: emerging trends and challenges for the 21st century. White Paper, US Association of Small Business Education, 22
- Kuratko DF (2005) The emergence of entrepreneurship education: development, trends, and challenges. Entrep Theory Pract 29(5):577–598
- Lackéus M (2015) Entrepreneurship in education: what, why, when, how. Background Paper
- Lackéus M, Williams Middleton K (2015) Venture creation programs: bridging entrepreneurship education and technology transfer. Educ Train 57(1):48–73
- Luryi S, Tang W, Lifshit N, Wolf G, Doboli S, Betz JA, Shamash Y (2007) Entrepreneurship in engineering education. In: Paper presented at the 37th annual frontiers in education conferenceglobal engineering: knowledge without borders, opportunities without passports, 2007, FIE'07
- Mancenido MV (2008) Technology entrepreneurship in engineering education: harnessing the technology entrepreneurs in filipino engineering students. https://smartech.gatech.edu/handle/ 1853/24407
- Mitchell RK, Busenitz LW, Bird B, Marie Gaglio C, McMullen JS, Morse EA, Smith JB (2007) The central question in entrepreneurial cognition research 2007. Entrep Theory Pract 31(1):1–27
- Morris MH, Kuratko DF (2014) Building university 21st century entrepreneurship programs that empower and transform. In: Innovative pathways for university entrepreneurship in the 21st Century. Emerald Group, Bingley, pp 1–24
- Mueller P (2006) Exploring the knowledge filter: how entrepreneurship and university-industry relationships drive economic growth. Res Policy 35(10):1499–1508
- Mwasalwiba ES (2010) Entrepreneurship education: a review of its objectives, teaching methods, and impact indicators. Educ Train 52(1):20–47
- Neck HM, Greene PG (2011) Entrepreneurship education: known worlds and new frontiers. J Small Bus Manag 49(1):55–70

- Neck HM, Meyer GD, Cohen B, Corbett AC (2004) An entrepreneurial system view of new venture creation. J Small Bus Manag 42(2):190–208
- Nelles J, Vorley T (2010) Constructing an entrepreneurial architecture: an emergent framework for studying the contemporary university beyond the entrepreneurial turn. Innov High Educ 35(3): 161–176
- Nichols SP, Armstrong NE (2003) Engineering entrepreneurship: does entrepreneurship have a role in engineering education? IEEE Antennas Propag Mag 45(1):134–138
- Nieuwenhuizen C, Groenewald D, Davids J, Rensburg LJ, Schachtebeck C (2016) Best practice in entrepreneurship education. Probl Perspect Manag 14(3):528–536
- Ochs J, Lennon G, Watkins T, Mitchell G (2006) A comprehensive model for integrating entrepreneurship education and capstone projects while exceeding ABET requirements. In: Paper presented at the American society for engineering education annual conference
- Pittaway L, Cope J (2007) Entrepreneurship education: a systematic review of the evidence. Int Small Bus J 25(5):479–510
- Pittaway L, Hannon P, Gibb A, Thompson JL (2009) Assessment practice in enterprise education. Int J Entrep Behav Res 15(1):71–93
- Politis D (2005) The process of entrepreneurial learning: a conceptual framework. Entrep theory prac 29(4):399–424
- Purzer S, Fila N, Nataraja K (2016) Evaluation of current assessment methods in engineering entrepreneurship education. Adv Eng Educ 5(1):n1
- Rae D, Carswell M (2000) Using a life-story approach in researching entrepreneurial learning: the development of a conceptual model and its implications in the design of learning experiences. Educ Train 42(4/5):220–228
- Rahmanian Koushkaki M, Chizari M, Abbasi E (2012) Barriers of entrepreneurship education courses delivering in agricultural applied scientific education centers (AASECs); case of Fars province, Iran. Int J Agr Sci Res 3:51–61
- Shartrand A, Weilerstein P (2011) Strategies to promote entrepreneurial learning in engineering capstone courses. Int J Eng Educ 27(6):1186
- Standish-Kuon T, Rice MP (2002) Introducing engineering and science students to entrepreneurship: models and influential factors at six American universities. J Eng Educ 91(1):33–39
- Stangler D, Bell-Masterson J (2015) Measuring an entrepreneurial ecosystem. Kauffman Foundation research series on city, metro, and regional entrepreneurship, pp 1–16
- Streeter DH, Jaquette JP Jr, Hovis K (2002) University-wide entrepreneurship education: alternative models and current trends. Southern rural sociology (No. 127271)
- Thompson JL, Scott JM, Gibson DA (2010) Experiential learning, new venture creation, strategic entrepreneurship, knowledge and competency in the university context, innovation and entrepreneurship in universities, the 3rd international FINPIN 2010 conference, Joensuu, Finland, April 25–27, 2010. In: Neuvonen-Rauhala M-L (ed) The proceedings of the 3<sup>rd</sup> international FINPIN 2010 conference. Lahti University of Applied Sciences, FINPIN
- Tracey P, Phillips N (2007) The distinctive challenge of educating social entrepreneurs: a postscript and rejoinder to the special issue on entrepreneurship education. Acad Manag Learn Educ 6(2): 264–271
- Welsh DHB, Tullar WL, Nemati H (2016) Entrepreneurship education: process, method, or both? J Innov Knowl 1(3):125–132
- Wong PK, Ho YP, Autio E (2005) Entrepreneurship, innovation and economic growth: evidence from GEM data. Small Bus Econ 24(3):335–350
- Yin RK (1981) The case study crisis: some answers. Adm Sci Q 26(1):58-65
- Zali MR, Razavi SM (2013) Global entrepreneurship monitor (GEM) national report: Iran
# University Students' Entrepreneurial Intentions: Does Education Make a Difference?



Afsaneh Bagheri

Abstract Recently critical questions have been raised about the impact of entrepreneurship education on developing entrepreneurial qualities and intentions of university students. The main purpose of this study is to explore the impact of entrepreneurship education on entrepreneurial intentions of students using the theory of planned behaviour and social cognitive theory. The sample consisted of 348 Master students (171 with and 177 without entrepreneurship education) from the Faculty of Entrepreneurship, Faculty of Foreign Languages and Literature and School of Electrical and Computer Engineering, University of Tehran, Iran. The data were collected using validated questionnaires. As hypothesized, the findings indicate that entrepreneurship education significantly improves entrepreneurial intentions of the students so that students who have undertaken entrepreneurship education have higher entrepreneurial attitude, entrepreneurial self-efficacy and intentions to become an entrepreneur than the students who have not undertaken entrepreneurship education. Furthermore, entrepreneurship education enhances students' entrepreneurial intentions through significantly improving both their entrepreneurial attitude and entrepreneurial self-efficacy. Implications of the findings for entrepreneurship education and improvement of research standards at universities are discussed.

# 1 Introduction

The main focus of governments' policies on entrepreneurship education all over the world suggests the importance of developing entrepreneurial capabilities in students (Entrialgo and Iglesias 2016; Hannon 2006; Heinonen 2007; Holmgren et al. 2005; Sánchez 2013). This considerable attention given to entrepreneurship education also reflects the dramatically critical influences of entrepreneurs and entrepreneurial activities on individual development as well as socioeconomic growth of both

A. Bagheri (🖂)

Faculty of Entrepreneurship, University of Tehran, Tehran, Iran e-mail: af.bagheri@ut.ac.ir

<sup>©</sup> Springer International Publishing AG, part of Springer Nature 2018 N. Faghih, M. R. Zali (eds.), *Entrepreneurship Education and Research in the Middle East and North Africa (MENA)*, Contributions to Management Science, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-90394-1\_8

developed and developing countries (Heinonen 2007; Heinonen and Poikkijoki 2006; Hynes and Richardson 2007; Liñán et al. 2011; Matlay 2006; Watchravesringkan et al. 2013). Entrepreneurship education has been considered as a means to achieve the goals of a knowledge-based economy and a struggle to cope with certain economic and social problems such as the growing number of unemployed graduates specifically in developing countries including Iran (Molaei et al. 2014; Ertuna and Gurel 2011; Firdaus et al. 2009; Mastura and Abdul Rashid 2008). As a result, a growing number of public and private universities are providing students with different entrepreneurship education and training programs (Busenitz et al. 2003; Fayolle et al. 2006; Heinonen 2007; Mueller and Thomas 2000; Sánchez 2013). These programs aim to improve students' intentions to pursue an entrepreneurial career by improving their self-efficacy, attitude, creativity, innovativeness, leadership, and other skills required for creating and managing a new venture (BarNir et al. 2011; Chen et al. 1998; Fayolle et al. 2006; Karimi et al. 2016; Karlsson and Moberg 2013; Liñán et al. 2011; Louw et al. 2003; Wilson et al. 2007).

Despite the growing interest in entrepreneurship and the wide expansion of entrepreneurship education all over the world, critical questions have been raised about the real impact of entrepreneurship education programs on students' entrepreneurial intentions and attitudes (Fayolle and Gailly 2015; Karimi et al. 2016). Furthermore, there is limited understanding on how education affects students' intentions to select entrepreneurship as their future career path (Anderson and Jack 2008; Entrialgo and Iglesias 2016; Fuchs et al. 2008; Hannon 2006; Liñán et al. 2011; Watchravesringkan et al. 2013). Through a comprehensive review of the literature published from 1997 to 2011, Rideout and Gray (2013) concluded that research into the effect of entrepreneurship education programs on developing students' entrepreneurial competencies and intentions is at the very early stages of development and insufficient empirical evidence exists that show the effectiveness of the programs in creating more successful entrepreneurs. The results of Fayolle's (2013) systematic analysis of the published literature from 2006 to 2012 also revealed that most of the studies (49, 22.27% of 220) found a strong and significant impact of entrepreneurship education on students' entrepreneurial intentions. Through a meta-analysis of 73 papers examining the relationship between entrepreneurship education and entrepreneurial intentions, Bae et al. (2014) suggested a significant but small association between entrepreneurship education and entrepreneurial intentions of students. Moreover, entrepreneurship education had stronger impact on students' entrepreneurial intentions than business education. However, when the authors controlled for the participants' entrepreneurial intentions before their engagement in entrepreneurship education in their regression model, entrepreneurship education had not a significant impact on students' entrepreneurial intentions.

Furthermore, research findings on the impact of education on students' entrepreneurial intentions are contradictory. The majority of the prior studies provided empirical evidence for the positive influence of education on students' entrepreneurial intentions and skills (e.g., Anderson and Jack 2008; Morris et al. 2013; Pittaway and Cope 2007; Sánchez 2013; Zhao et al. 2005) and consequently their real involvement in establishing their own venture (Karlsson and Moberg 2013). More specifically in Iran, studies provided empirical evidence for the significant impact of entrepreneurship education on students' entrepreneurial intentions (e.g., Arasti et al. 2011; Baghersad et al. 2013; Keshavarz 2014), attitudes toward entrepreneurship and entrepreneurial self-efficacy (e.g., Gheyasi 2016; Jafarimoghadam and Etemadi 2009; Karimi et al. 2016). While, recent research showed a small (Bae et al. 2014), insignificant and even negative effect of entrepreneurship education on students' entrepreneurial motivation and skills (Oosterbeek et al. 2010; Souitaris et al. 2007). This is because these studies mostly examined the direct impact of education on students' entrepreneurial intentions (Liñán et al. 2011). While more recent studies suggest that entrepreneurship education plays an indirect role in the relationship between students' entrepreneurial intentions and its antecedents (Entrialgo and Iglesias 2016; Ertuna and Gurel 2011; Watchravesringkan et al. 2013). Therefore, researchers called for further investigations into the moderating effect of entrepreneurship education on the relationship between personal capabilities and the entrepreneurial outcomes for students (Bae et al. 2014; Fayolle 2013).

In response, the main purpose of this study is to develop and test a model for the impact of entrepreneurship education on the relationship between the factors that shape students' entrepreneurial intentions using the theory of planned behaviour (Ajzen 1991) and the social cognitive theory (Bandura 1997). The findings highly contribute to the literature on the mechanism through which entrepreneurship education influences students' entrepreneurial intentions (Entrialgo and Iglesias 2016; Ertuna and Gurel 2011; Watchravesringkan et al. 2013). This study also advances our understanding of the direct and indirect effects of entrepreneurship education on students' entrepreneurial intentions and its antecedents. The first section of this chapter presents the conceptual and theoretical foundations of the study which constructs the basis for the hypotheses and the research model. The second section describes the methodology and the empirical analysis performed. The third part presents the findings. Subsequently, the findings are discussed in light of their implications for entrepreneurship education and research. Finally, the chapter ends by explaining the limitations, agendas for future research along with a conclusion section.

## 2 Theories and Hypotheses

The last four decades have seen the development of various theories and models to describe the factors that motivate and drive individuals to pursue an entrepreneurial career (Fayolle et al. 2014; Trevelyan 2011). The theory of planned behaviour (Ajzen 1991) and the social cognitive theory (Bandura 1997) have predominantly been used as reliable frameworks to examine students' entrepreneurial intentions and particularly the impact of education on improving entrepreneurial intentions among students (e.g., Entrialgo and Iglesias 2016; Fayolle et al. 2006; Karimi et al. 2016; Karlsson and Moberg 2013; Kickul et al. 2009; Pittaway and Cope 2007; Tyszka

et al. 2011; Zellweger et al. 2011). Research has shown the power of the theories specifically when integrated into a model to explain the factors that affect students' decision to become an entrepreneur (Guerrero et al. 2008; Liñán et al. 2011; Liñán 2008). Following previous studies, this research incorporated the theory of planned behaviour and the social cognitive theory (self-efficacy) to investigate the effect of education on the relationship between students' entrepreneurial self-efficacy, attitudes and intentions. The following sections review the most relevant literature on the impact of education on the relationship between entrepreneurial self-efficacy, attitudes toward entrepreneurship and entrepreneurial intentions and propose the hypotheses and the model to be tested in this study.

# 2.1 Entrepreneurship Education, Self-Efficacy and Entrepreneurial Intentions

Social cognitive theory self-efficacy is one of the main concepts of the social cognitive theory (Bandura 1997). Bandura (2012, p. 11) describes human behaviour as "a product of the interplay of intrapersonal influences, the behaviour individuals engage in, and the environmental forces that impinge upon them". In other words, human involvement in a particular behaviour originates from others' reflection, the nature of the behaviour and various factors in their environment. The interactions among these factors in couple with expectations from the outcomes of the behaviour shape one's beliefs in their ability to successfully complete a specific behaviour in a certain situation (Bandura 1999). Self-efficacy influences human behaviour in several ways. First, self-efficacy beliefs highly affect the selection of an action even though there are other alternatives (Bandura 1997). Second, self-efficacy influences the amount of efforts expended to perform the action and finally, the perseverance in dealing with difficulties and challenges of performing the action successfully (Bandura 1997; Dwyer and Cummings 2001). Therefore, perceptions of self-efficacy not only affect the current performance of a specific task but also the future task accomplishments (Bandura 2000). Bandura (2012) attributes this influential impact of self-efficacy to the direct and indirect relationships of the variable with other processes and factors that drive human behaviours such as goal setting, outcome expectations and perceptions toward facilitators and impediments in the environment. On the influence of self-efficacy beliefs on the selection of a career in the presence of other choices, Bandura (2012) argues that individuals mostly choose the career in which they are highly efficacious.

Self-efficacy is first conceptualized in entrepreneurship domain by Scherer et al. (1989). In the last three decades, the concept has been extensively used to explain students' entrepreneurial motivation, intentions, and behaviour (e.g., Chen et al. 1998; DePillis and Reardon 2007; Kickul et al. 2009; Liñán et al. 2011; Zellweger et al. 2011; Zhao et al. 2005). Entrepreneurial self-efficacy is defined as individuals' beliefs in their capacities to successfully perform the required tasks and roles in the

process of a new venture creation and management and their expectations toward the consequences of the venture (BarNir et al. 2011; Chen et al. 1998; Kickul et al. 2009; McGee et al. 2009). In general, self-efficacy affects the successful performance of a planned and intentional behaviour such as the decision to create a new venture (Bandura 2012; Elfving et al. 2009). It indicates individuals' degree of confidence in their competencies and skills to successfully accomplish an intended task in a specific situation. Scholars believe that perceived self-efficacy motivates and regulates one's actions through directing his/her choice of the action, the efforts he/she puts to perform the actions, and his/her persistence in the face of the challenges and difficulties to successfully execute the actions (Bandura 1997; 2012). Perceptions of self-efficacy take shape through a cognitive process through which individuals evaluate their abilities and the required tasks for a new venture creation as well as their expectations of the personal and societal outcomes of entrepreneurial activities (Bandura 2012: Mauer et al. 2009). This evaluation highly motivates and directs individuals' thoughts, efforts and behaviour particularly when they choose to carry out a challenging and novel task such as creating a new venture (Bandura 2012).

Self-efficacy highly improves one's intention to become an entrepreneur and successful performance of entrepreneurial tasks in several ways. First, perceptions of self-efficacy enable an individual to set entrepreneurship as his/her career goal (Carsrud et al. 2009). Second, self-efficacy beliefs enable the individual to plan to achieve the goal by regulating his/her thoughts and actions and perceive more facilitators than impediments in the environment (Bandura 2012). Furthermore, self-efficacy influences entrepreneurial intentions by improving individuals' perceived abilities to control the process of entrepreneurship (Carr and Sequeira 2007). Therefore, entrepreneurial self-efficacy and perceived control over behaviour (the theory of planned behaviour, Ajzen 1991) were employed interchangeably in research into entrepreneurial intentions (Liñán 2008). Entrepreneurial self-efficacy also enhances one's motivation and commitment to entrepreneurial behaviour (Elfving et al. 2009). Therefore, the motivation, intention, and commitment to establish individuals' own venture will not take form if they perceive their ability and skills as not sufficient for performing the challenging tasks in the process of entrepreneurship (Mauer et al. 2009).

A robust body of literature found entrepreneurial self-efficacy as the key personal trait that determines one's selection into entrepreneurship, endeavours to start a new venture, and persistence in the face of challenges and crisis throughout the entrepreneurship process (Barbosa et al. 2007; Chen et al. 1998; DePillis and Reardon 2007; Liñán et al. 2011; McGee et al. 2009). Notably, for students, entrepreneurial self-efficacy has been examined in order to design more effective pedagogical strategies and methods to improve their perceptions of entrepreneurial self-efficacy (Mauer et al. 2009) and direct them to develop the knowledge and skills required for the entrepreneurship process (Bandura 2012; Chen et al. 1998). Previous research has shown both the direct (Chen et al. 1998; Liñán et al. 2011; Zhao et al. 2005) and indirect (Lope Pihie and Bagheri 2013) effects of entrepreneurial self-efficacy on students' entrepreneurial intentions.

Four sources of information have been highlighted as the factors that construct one's sense of self-efficacy (Bandura 1997). These factors are: mastery experience, vicarious learning (role modelling), social persuasion, and physiological status. Various entrepreneurship education and training programs (e.g., business plan development, running small businesses, case studies, and guest speakers) have been designed based on these sources of self-efficacy in order to develop students' sense of abilities to perform specific tasks required for establishing and running their own businesses (Heinonen 2007; Wilson et al. 2007). Educators believe that students' involvement in these programs helps them evaluate their capabilities to execute entrepreneurial tasks and decide whether or not to establish their own venture (Fayolle et al. 2006; Zhao et al. 2005). Previous research has supported the significant impact of entrepreneurship education on entrepreneurial self-efficacy and consequently entrepreneurial intentions of students (Fayolle et al. 2006; Kickul et al. 2009; Wilson et al. 2007; Zhao et al. 2005). More recent research has also found the influential role that specific entrepreneurship education plays in developing students' entrepreneurial self-efficacy (Morris et al. 2013). Using an experimental research design, Karlsson and Moberg (2013) concluded that entrepreneurship education significantly improves students' self-efficacy in performing the tasks required for the process of establishing a new venture including searching, planning, marshalling, people implementation and financial implementation. Karimi et al. (2016) examined the influence of elective and compulsory entrepreneurship education on university students' entrepreneurial intentions in Iran. The authors found a significant association between both types of entrepreneurship education and students' perceived control over entrepreneurial behaviour (self-efficacy). However, the findings of the study revealed an insignificant impact of compulsory entrepreneurship education on students' entrepreneurial intentions. Few studies have also examined how students' involvement in entrepreneurship education, their entrepreneurial self-efficacy and attitude toward entrepreneurship interact to construct their entrepreneurial intentions (Mauer et al. 2009). Bandura (2012) has recently highlighted attitudes toward behaviour as one of the mechanisms through which self-efficacy affects behaviour. Therefore, we proposed and tested the following hypotheses:

**H1** Entrepreneurship education has a significant positive impact on students' entrepreneurial intentions.

**H2** Entrepreneurship education significantly improves students' entrepreneurial intentions through entrepreneurial self-efficacy.

# 2.2 Entrepreneurship Education, Attitudes Toward Entrepreneurship and Entrepreneurial Intentions

Attitude toward a specific behaviour is one of the main factors in the theory of planned behaviour (Ajzen 1991) that shape individuals' intended behaviour such as

the decision to become an entrepreneur. Carsrud et al. (2009) emphasize that individuals' positive attitudes toward entrepreneurship highly affect their intentions to become an entrepreneur. Students' attitude toward entrepreneurship has been defined as their awareness of the importance of entrepreneurship and indicates the desirability or undesirability of creating a new venture and its consequences for them (Liñán et al. 2011; Liñán 2008). Research findings highlighted students' attitudes toward entrepreneurship as a significant factor that influences their entrepreneurial career selection (Barber 2015; Peterman and Kennedy 2003). For example, using a sample of 216 university students, Harris and Gibson (2008) found that most of the university students have entrepreneurial attitudes. Liñán et al. (2011) examined the relationship between entrepreneurial attitudes, self-efficacy, knowledge and entrepreneurial intentions of final year Spanish university students. The findings confirmed the direct relationship between attitudes toward entrepreneurship and students' entrepreneurial intentions. Ferreira et al. (2012) also found that secondary school students' personal attitudes toward entrepreneurship significantly affect their intentions to become entrepreneurs. The findings of Sánchez's (2013) study revealed that entrepreneurship education significantly promotes secondary school students' attitudes toward entrepreneurship. Using a sample of university students in Denmark, Karlsson and Moberg (2013) provided empirical evidence for the influential impact of entrepreneurship education on enhancing students' attitudes toward entrepreneurship.

In addition to directly affecting entrepreneurial intentions, attitude toward entrepreneurship carries the impact of other variables on entrepreneurial intentions (Entrialgo and Iglesias 2016). The findings of a recent studies revealed the mediating role of attitudes toward entrepreneurship by carrying the effect of personal values in shaping entrepreneurial intentions of students (Entrialgo and Iglesias 2016; Watchravesringkan et al. 2013). Liñán (2008) also found that attitude toward entrepreneurship significantly moderates the relationship between university students' perceived entrepreneurial skills and their entrepreneurial career intentions.

While the impact of education on improving students' entrepreneurial selfefficacy and intentions has been established in the literature (e.g., Morris et al. 2013; Zhao et al. 2005), there is little knowledge on the relationship between education, students' attitudes toward entrepreneurship and their intentions to pursue an entrepreneurial career (Duval-Couetil 2013; Entrialgo and Iglesias 2016; Fayolle et al. 2006; Souitaris et al. 2007). Anderson and Jack (2008) highlighted the influential role that education plays in improving students' awareness of and attitudes toward entrepreneurship. Recently, Entrialgo and Iglesias (2016) found a significant influence of entrepreneurial education on entrepreneurial intentions of university students by improving the relationship between subjective norms and entrepreneurial attitude. Therefore, we proposed and tested the following hypothesis:

**H3** Entrepreneurship education significantly improves students' entrepreneurial intentions through their entrepreneurial attitudes.



Fig. 1 Hypothesized model for the impact of entrepreneurship education on students' entrepreneurial self-efficacy, attitudes and intentions

Figure 1 presents the conceptual framework for this study that depicts the hypothesized effects of entrepreneurship education on entrepreneurial self-efficacy, entrepreneurial attitudes and entrepreneurial intentions. The framework integrates the theory of planed behaviour and self-efficacy to describe how education affects students' entrepreneurial intentions. As the framework indicates, entrepreneurial education influences entrepreneurial intentions both directly and indirectly through entrepreneurial self-efficacy and entrepreneurial attitudes.

## 3 Method

## 3.1 Participants

The students from three faculties of the University of Tehran, which is one of the largest public universities in Iran, were selected as the participants in this study. To explore the moderating impact of education on constructing students' entrepreneurial capabilities and intentions and to avoid biases of the findings toward entrepreneurship education (Matlay 2005), both students with and without entrepreneurship education were included in this study. The students with education were selected from the Faculty of Entrepreneurship which is the first faculty in the Middle East and North Africa that specifically focuses on entrepreneurship education and involves students with different entrepreneurial activities to improve their entrepreneurial capabilities and intentions. The faculty only accepts Master's and PhD students. A group of 171 Master's students from different specializations of the faculty

Demographic characteristics	With entreprene education	eurship	Without entrepre education	neurship
	n = 171	Percent	n = 177	Percent
Gender				
Male	66	38.6	87	49.2
Female	105	61.4	90	50.8
Age				
20–25	7	4.1	5	2.9
26–30	59	33.5	52	29.4
31–35	56	32.7	41	23.2
36–40	32	18.8	50	28.3
>40	17	10.1	29	16.2
Business experience				
Yes	79	46.2	43	24.3
No	90	52.6	132	74.6

**Table 1** Sample demographics (n = 348)

participated in this study. The students who did not undertake entrepreneurship education were selected from the Faculty of Foreign Languages and Literature and School of Electrical and Computer Engineering. These faculties were selected to ensure the students from both Humanities and Science fields of studies are included in this research. Of these faculties, a sample of 177 Master's students was involved in this study. Previous studies have also used a sample of university students to examine the relationship between entrepreneurial capabilities and intentions (e.g., Barber 2015; BarNir et al. 2011; Karlsson and Moberg 2013; Verheul et al. 2012; Watchravesringkan et al. 2013).

Table 1 demonstrates the demographic information of the students. As the table shows, the number of students with and without entrepreneurship education was approximately equal (171 and 177 respectively). Regarding the gender, the majority of the students were female (105, 61.4% with and 90, 50.8% without entrepreneurship education). Most of the students from the Faculty of Entrepreneurship who have undertaken entrepreneurship education aged between 26 and 36 years (115, 66.2%). The students from other two faculties who have not undertaken entrepreneurship education aged between 26 and 40 years (143, 80.9%). The majority of both students with and without entrepreneurship education had no business experience (90, 52.6%, 132, 74.6 receptively).

# 3.2 Measures

We used validated scales to measure the constructs in this study including, entrepreneurial self-efficacy, entrepreneurial attitude and entrepreneurial intentions. In addition, the students were asked to provide their demographic information including: gender, age and education background and whether they had a business experience.

#### **Entrepreneurial Self-Efficacy**

Students' ESE was measured using the entrepreneurial self-efficacy scale developed by Scherer et al. (1989). Entrepreneurial self-efficacy has been considered as the strongest indicator of students' perceived confidence in their abilities to perform entrepreneurial tasks and roles (Carr and Sequeira 2007; Zhao et al. 2005). Building on previous studies (Chen et al. 1998; Karlsson and Moberg 2013; McGee et al. 2009; Wilson et al. 2007), entrepreneurial self-efficacy was measured using a multiitem scale in order to better assess students' beliefs in their skills to perform the tasks required to manage a business. The self-efficacy skills scale consists of five items including marketing (perceived capabilities to successfully perform marketing tasks of the business), accounting (perceived abilities to successfully perform monetary tasks of the business), human resources (perceived capabilities to successfully recruit competitive staff and allocate their tasks), production (perceived abilities to manage the process of production) and organizational management tasks (perceived capabilities to successfully perform tasks related to planning, organizing and controlling). An example of the items is "I can successfully complete the necessary marketing tasks related to owing a business (consider selling, selecting a location, advertising and customer service". A five-point Likert scale was used to measure this variable anchoring from 1 (strongly disagree) to 5 (strongly agree). This study also found the scale highly reliable to measure students' entrepreneurial self-efficacy ( $\alpha = 0.84$ ).

#### **Entrepreneurial Attitude**

Students' attitudes towards establishing their own businesses were measured using five items of the Entrepreneurial Intention Questionnaire developed by Liñán (2008). These items measure the attractiveness, satisfaction, and advantages of being an entrepreneur for students. An example of the items is "Being an entrepreneur would give me great satisfaction". A five-point Likert scale was also used to measure this variable anchoring from 1 (strongly disagree) to 5 (strongly agree). This questionnaire was also reliable to assess students' entrepreneurial attitudes ( $\alpha = 0.79$ ).

#### **Entrepreneurial Intentions**

Students' entrepreneurial intentions were measured using six items from the Entrepreneurial Intention Questionnaire (Liñán 2008). The items measure students' desire, determination, efforts and goals to become an entrepreneur. An example of the items is "My professional goal is to be an entrepreneur". Liñán's (2008) findings indicated that the questionnaire was highly valid and reliable to measure entrepreneurial intentions and its components among university students in Spain (all of the constructs scored a Cronbach's alpha higher than 0.80). The findings of this study also confirmed high reliability of the questionnaire ( $\alpha = 0.81$ ). The students were asked to indicate the extent to which they agreed or disagreed with each item based on a five point Likert scale ranging from 1 (strongly disagree) to 5 (strongly agree).

#### **Control Variables**

The findings of prior studies showed the influential impact of age, gender and business experience on students' entrepreneurial capabilities and intentions (Bagheri and Lope Pihie 2014; Gupta et al. 2008, 2009; Wilson et al. 2007). Therefore, students' age, gender and business experience were controlled in this study.

# 3.3 Data Collection

Participation in this research was voluntary. All of the questionnaires administered were completed anonymously and the students were ensured that their responses will be confidential. Data collection was conducted during the academic year of 2016–2017. From the 453 questionnaires administered, 348 were used in the final analysis with 76.8% response rate.

#### 3.4 Data Analysis

To test the validity of the relationship between the constructs in the research measurement model, Structural Equation Modelling (SEM) and AMOS Version 20 was employed (Hair et al. 2010; Schreiber et al. 2006). Previous researchers have also used SEM to examine entrepreneurial self-efficacy, attitudes and intentions (Watchravesringkan et al. 2013; Liñán and Chen 2009; Liñán 2008; Guerrero et al. 2008; Zhao et al. 2005). The structure and loadings of the observed variables to each of the three constructs in the measurement model (entrepreneurial self-efficacy, entrepreneurial attitude and entrepreneurial intention) were assessed by performing Confirmatory Factor Analysis (CFA) for each construct. Subsequently, we included all of the constructs and the related items in one measurement model. Then, the hypothesized relationships among the variables in the conceptual model (Fig. 1) was tested using the regression analysis.

## 4 Results

In this section, the results for model fit indices for measurement and structural models as well as hypothesized moderating role of entrepreneurship education in the relationship between entrepreneurial self-efficacy, entrepreneurial attitudes and entrepreneurial intentions are presented.

# 4.1 Assessment of Instrument Validity

Confirmatory Factor Analysis (CFA) was performed for the three constructs in this study including entrepreneurial intention, self-efficacy and attitude in order to test factor loadings and model fit indices for each construct. The results indicate that all of the items describing the constructs had higher loadings than the 0.50 threshold to their constructs (Hair et al. 2010). Table 2 presents the statistics obtained for the scale constructs and items. Analysis of the measurement model developed with all constructs in this research indicated that the model fits the data well because  $x^2$ /DF was less than 3, all of the goodness of fit indices were higher than 0.90 and RMSEA was less than the 0.05 threshold (Byrne 2010) [ $x^2$ /df = 2.68; Goodness of Fit Index (GFI = 0.91); Incremental Fit Index (IFI = 0.91); Comparative Fit Index (CFI = 0.95); Tucker-Lewis index (TLI = 0.90); and root-mean square error of approximation (RMSEA = 0.049)]. The Cronbach's *a* for each construct in the model also showed high reliability of the scale (>0.70). The composite reliability indices (CR) obtained for the constructs were also greater than the 0.7 threshold which confirms the high reliability of the constructs (Hair et al. 2010).

In particular, entrepreneurial self-efficacy is explained by five factors including students' perceived abilities in marketing, accounting, human resources, production and organizational management tasks (Cronbach's a = 0.84). Entrepreneurial attitude is best described by five factors which include attractiveness of entrepreneurship as a career, passion and willingness to start a business, satisfaction of becoming an entrepreneur and advantages of entrepreneurship for students. The Cronbach's *a* obtained for this section was 0.79. Finally, five items on the students' tendency to do anything to become an entrepreneur, their willingness to put in effort to establish their own business and their seriousness and determination to create a new business venture best explained the students' entrepreneurial intentions (Cronbach's a = 0.81).

The Average Variance Extracted (AVE) indicated the convergent validity (the portion of the construct variance explained by its items) of the constructs in the measurement model (Kline 2010). Specifically, all of the constructs scored higher than the 0.50 threshold (Table 2) indicating that the majority of the variance in each construct is explained by its items (Hair et al. 2010). Discriminant validity of the constructs was also measured by Maximum Shared Squared Variance (MSV) and Average Shared Squared Variance (ASV) (Hair et al. 2010; Kline 2010). Analysis of the indices obtained in this study showed that the ASV and MSV scores for ESE were less than the AVE. This finding indicates that all of the items have the highest loadings to their own constructs.

Table 3 presents the means, standard deviations and correlations among the variables in the model. As the table shows the students with entrepreneurship education scored higher means in all of the constructs under this investigation including entrepreneurial attitude, self-efficacy and intention and these constructs have significant correlations.

				Factor	Cronbach's				
Constructs	Items	Mean	SD	loadings	a	CR	AVE	MSV	ASV
Entrepre-	Marketing	3.48	0.89	0.73	0.80	0.84	0.52	0.43	0.37
neurial self-	Accounting	3.27	0.91	0.56					
efficacy	Personnel	3.50	0.87	0.77					
	Production	3.38	0.87	0.77					
	Organization	3.46	0.85	0.78					
Entrepre-	EATT1	3.64	0.98	0.76	0.79	0.75	0.53	0.45	0.40
neurial Atti-	EATT2	3.50	0.79	0.54					
tudes	EATT3	3.54	0.84	0.86					
(EATT)	EATT4	3.34	0.84	0.73					
	EATT5	3.08	0.91	0.56					
Entrepre-	EINT1	3.38	0.92	0.80	0.81	0.82	0.57	0.51	0.48
neurial inten-	EINT2	3.55	0.82	0.68					
tions (EINT)	EINT3	3.68	0.00	0.65					
	EINT4	3.50	0.84	0.66					
	EINT5	3.40	0.98	0.67					
	EINT6	3.29	0.82	0.53					

 Table 2
 Validity and reliability statistics for the constructs in the scale

				With educati	on	Withou educati	t on			
	Variables	Mean	SD	Mean	SD	Mean	SD	1	2	3
1	Entrepreneurial attitude	3.05	0.58	3.28	0.64	2.84	0.41	1		
2	Entrepreneurial self-efficacy	3.41	0.70	3.62	0.53	3.20	0.77	0.64**	1	
3	Entrepreneurial intentions	3.30	0.50	3.44	0.44	3.17	0.52	0.65**	0.73**	1

Table 3 Means, standard deviations and correlations among the study variables

p < 0.05, p < 0.01

# 4.2 Test of Hypotheses

To test the model proposed in this study, the direct impact of entrepreneurial selfefficacy, attitude and education were examined. The results indicated significant direct effect of the variables on entrepreneurial intentions of both students with and without entrepreneurship education. More specially, entrepreneurial self-efficacy significantly improves students' entrepreneurial intentions ( $\beta = 0.57$ , p < 0.001). Importantly, this effect was also significantly positive when students' age, gender, business experience and education were controlled ( $\beta = 0.56$ , p < 0.001). In accordance with previous studies (Bagheri and Lope Pihie 2014; Barbosa et al. 2007; DePillis and Reardon 2007; McGee et al. 2009), these findings highlight the impactful influence of entrepreneurial self-efficacy on students' intentions to become an entrepreneur. This study also found a significant positive and direct relationship between entrepreneurial attitude and students' entrepreneurial intentions ( $\beta = 0.65$ , p < 0.001). Furthermore, when the demographic variables were controlled the relationship was also significant and positive ( $\beta = 0.57$ , p < 0.001). The direct associations between entrepreneurship education and entrepreneurial self-efficacy  $(\beta = 0.27, p < 0.001)$  and entrepreneurial attitude were also significant and positive  $(\beta = 0.39, p < 0.01).$ 

Hypothesis 1 predicts that entrepreneurship education has a significant positive impact on students' entrepreneurial intentions. The finding indicates that entrepreneurship education significantly and positively influences students' entrepreneurial intentions ( $\beta = 0.45$ , p < 0.001). Based on hypothesis 2, entrepreneurship education significantly improves students' entrepreneurial intentions through entrepreneurial self-efficacy. As Table 4 shows, this hypothesis was confirmed and entrepreneurship education was significantly associated with students' entrepreneurial intentions by improving their entrepreneurial self-efficacy ( $\beta = 1.29$ , p < 0.001).

This analysis also tested hypothesis 3 on the significant impact of entrepreneurship education on students' entrepreneurial intentions by improving their entrepreneurial attitude. As Table 5 presents, entrepreneurship education has a significant influence on entrepreneurial intentions of students by enhancing their entrepreneurial attitude ( $\beta = 0.45$ , p < 0.001).

Variables	Model 1	Model 2	Model 3	Model 4
Control variables				
Age	-0.004	0.044	0.049	0.031
Gender	0.031	0.013	-0.033	-0.013
Entrepreneurship experience	1.075**	0.041	0.005	0.008
Entrepreneurship education	-	0.457***	0.316***	0.908***
Entrepreneurial self-efficacy	-	-	0.479***	0.416***
Education $\times$ entrepreneurial self-efficacy	-	-	-	1.294***
R <sup>2</sup>	0.021	0.209	0.419	0.545
$\Delta R^2$	-	0.188	0.210	0.126

 Table 4
 Standardized coefficients for the impact of entrepreneurship education on entrepreneurial intentions and self-efficacy

p < 0.01, p < 0.001

 Table 5
 Standardized coefficients for the impact of entrepreneurship education on entrepreneurial intentions and attitude

Variables	Model 1	Model 2	Model 3	Model 4
Control variables				
Age	-0.004	0.044	-0023	-0023
Gender	0.031	0.013	0.002	0.002
Entrepreneurship experience	1.075**	0.041	0.046	0.046
Entrepreneurship education	-	0.457***	0.242***	0.242***
Entrepreneurial attitude	-	-	0.566***	0.242***
Education $\times$ entrepreneurial attitude	-	-	-	0.269***
R <sup>2</sup>	0.021	0.209	0.483	0.493
$\Delta R^2$	-	0.188	0.274	0.000

\*\*p < 0.01, \*\*\*p < 0.001

Finally, this study examined the simultaneous impact of entrepreneurship education on entrepreneurial self-efficacy and attitude of students and consequently their entrepreneurial intentions including the variables in a model (Fig. 2). Interestingly, the impact of entrepreneurship education on entrepreneurial intentions highly improved when the interactions between entrepreneurship education and entrepreneurial self-efficacy and entrepreneurship education and entrepreneurial attitude ( $\beta = 3.84$ , p < 0.01) were included in the model. More specifically, entrepreneurship education improves students' entrepreneurial intentions by enhancing their entrepreneurial self-efficacy ( $\beta = 0.22$ , p < 0.001). Entrepreneurship education also significantly improves students' entrepreneurial attitude. The R square for the model also indicates that the model fits the data well ( $R^2 = 0.61$ ). Of the demographic variables controlled in this study (age, gender and entrepreneurship experience), only entrepreneurship experience significantly influences students' entrepreneurial intentions ( $\beta = 1.07$ , p < 0.01).



Fig. 2 Results on the impact of entrepreneurship education on students' entrepreneurial selfefficacy, attitudes and intentions

# 5 Discussion

The wide expansion of entrepreneurship education and training programs specifically at universities have raised many questions about effectiveness of the programs in developing favourable attitudes toward and competencies in choosing entrepreneurship as their future career among students (Fayolle and Gailly 2015; Fuchs et al. 2008; Pittaway et al. 2009; Karlsson and Moberg 2013; Sánchez 2013). In addition, previous research failed to find a significant direct (Oosterbeek et al. 2010) and strong (Bae et al. 2014) relationship between entrepreneurship education and students' motivation, skills and intentions to become an entrepreneur. This study contributes to the validity and efficacy of entrepreneurship education by highlighting both significant direct and indirect influence of such education on constructing students' entrepreneurial intentions, self-efficacy and attitudes. The findings of this study also suggest entrepreneurial self-efficacy and entrepreneurial attitude as two mechanisms through which entrepreneurship education affects students' entrepreneurial intentions (Entrialgo and Iglesias 2016; Fayolle et al. 2006; Sánchez 2013; Zhao et al. 2005). Analysis of the data also supported the hypothesised impact of education on the relationship between entrepreneurial self-efficacy and students' entrepreneurial intentions. This is sharply in contrast with the studies that could not find a significant association between entrepreneurship education and students' entrepreneurial skills and intentions (Liñán et al. 2011; Oosterbeek et al. 2010; Souitaris et al. 2007). Specifically, our findings imply that entrepreneurial selfefficacy of students who received entrepreneurship education had a higher impact on their entrepreneurial intentions than students without entrepreneurship education.

With a higher efficacy on their entrepreneurial skills, students with entrepreneurship education are more likely to set entrepreneurship as their career goal, make plans to establish their own businesses and are more capable of performing entrepreneurial tasks (Carsrud et al. 2009; Karlsson and Moberg 2013; Elfving et al. 2009; Chen et al. 1998). Therefore, educators may need to provide students with entrepreneurship education programs and learning opportunities that improve their perceived self-efficacy in performing the tasks required for the entrepreneurship process by emphasizing more experiential and social interactive learning (Heinonen and Poikkijoki 2006; Man and Yu 2007; Morris et al. 2013; Pittaway and Cope 2007).

Furthermore, the findings of this study revealed the role of education in influencing students' entrepreneurial intentions by improving their attitudes toward entrepreneurship such that entrepreneurial attitudes of students who had received entrepreneurship education had a significant higher impact on their intentions to become an entrepreneur than their counterparts without such education. This confirms previous research findings on the impact of entrepreneurship education on improving students' entrepreneurial attitudes (Entrialgo and Iglesias 2016; Karlsson and Moberg 2013; Sánchez 2013), and consequently their entrepreneurial intentions. It also expands prior research on the relationship between entrepreneurial attitudes and intentions (Entrialgo and Iglesias 2016; Harris and Gibson 2008; Liñán 2008) by exploring the effects of education on improving students' attitudes. This finding suggests the necessity to develop more attractive, enjoyable and inspiring entrepreneurship education programs rather than the traditional methods of entrepreneurship teaching and learning in order to promote favourable attitudes toward establishing their own business among students and thereby enhance their entrepreneurial intentions (Ferreira et al. 2012; Hannon 2006; Hynes and Richardson 2007; Morris et al. 2013; Liñán et al. 2011). To do so, educators can highlight the advantages of entrepreneurship for personal development as well as the socio-economic growth of the country (Heinonen 2007; Heinonen and Poikkijoki 2006; Hynes and Richardson 2007; Liñán et al. 2011). Educators may also need to explore more effective entrepreneurship teaching and learning methods in order to promote positive attitudes toward entrepreneurship among students (Ferreira et al. 2012).

In particular, analysis of the data confirmed the critical role that both entrepreneurial self-efficacy and attitude play in shaping students' entrepreneurial intentions (Liñán et al. 2011; Liñán 2008). Karlsson and Moberg (2013) emphasise that "These two factors are central aspects for understanding the future behaviour of entrepreneurship students" (p. 7). Therefore, students' efficacy in performing entrepreneurial tasks and their attitudes toward entrepreneurship greatly determine their intentions to establish their own business and their ultimate engagement in entrepreneurial activities (Verheul et al. 2012). Due to the strong associations between entrepreneurial self-efficacy and attitude (Bandura 2012; Zhao et al. 2005) and the significant impact of entrepreneurship education on both students' entrepreneurial self-efficacy and attitude emerging from this study, entrepreneurship educators should focus on improving these two key factors if they are to create more competent entrepreneurs out of university students. Finally, this study confirmed the significant influence of entrepreneurship experience on students' entrepreneurial intentions. This finding highlights the importance of experiential teaching methods that involve students in the learning opportunities to experience the process of establishing their own new business (Anderson and Jack 2008; Pittaway and Cope 2007; Wilson et al. 2007).

## 6 Conclusion

Based on the findings of this study, it can be concluded that entrepreneurship education improves students' entrepreneurial intentions in several ways. The programs not only provide the appropriate environment that create a desirable attitude toward entrepreneurship in students but develop students' entrepreneurial self-efficacy by engaging them in empirical leaning activities (Heinonen and Poikkijoki 2006; Man and Yu 2007; Morris et al. 2013; Pittaway and Cope 2007).

This study provides several contributions to the literature and research on entrepreneurial intentions and entrepreneurship education. First, it supports the influential roles that entrepreneurship education can play in improving students' entrepreneurial self-efficacy, attitude and intentions. The model for the relationship among the variables emerging from this study explains the construction of students' entrepreneurial intentions as dynamic interactions between personal and environmental factors. These interactive effects that have been mostly overlooked by entrepreneurship researchers and educators can be considered in the research into the factors that affect students' entrepreneurial intentions as well as providing them with more effective entrepreneurship education (Liñán et al. 2011). Second, it identified the potential mechanisms for the influence of entrepreneurship education on a range of personal and socially constructed factors that shape students' entrepreneurial intentions. Third, this study confirmed the appropriateness of the theory of planned behaviour (Ajzen 1991) and self-efficacy (Bandura 1997) in explaining the relationship between entrepreneurship education and the factors that shape students' entrepreneurial intentions which has been criticised for lacking robust theoretical foundations (Fayolle 2013).

This study also provides contributions to entrepreneurship education particularly in Iran by highlighting entrepreneurship education, entrepreneurial self-efficacy and attitudes toward entrepreneurship as the influential factors that construct students' entrepreneurial intentions (Arasti et al. 2011; Baghersad et al. 2013; Gheyasi 2016; Jafarimoghadam and Etemadi 2009; Keshavarz 2014). The findings of this study also confirmed the significant impact of entrepreneurship education on university students' attitude toward entrepreneurship and entrepreneurial self-efficacy specifically in Iran (Karimi et al. 2016). Educators can use the model emerging from this study in order to provide university students with more effective entrepreneurship education and training programs. By including both students with and without entrepreneurship education, this study also makes great contributions to the literature on the role that education plays in developing students' entrepreneurial capabilities and intentions (Karimi et al. 2016; Karlsson and Moberg 2013; Matlay 2005). Particularly, the findings of this study contributes to one of the first empirical evidence for the effectiveness of entrepreneurship education programs offered by the Faculty of Entrepreneurship in developing students' entrepreneurial attitude, self-efficacy in managing their own business and ultimately their entrepreneurial intentions. Conducting a comparative analysis, this study also explains the differences between the students of this faculty and two of other faculties of the University of Tehran in their intentions to become an entrepreneur, entrepreneurial attitude and self-efficacy. Furthermore, the findings of this study confirmed the validity and reliability of the EIQ (Liñán 2008) in measuring university students' attitudes toward entrepreneurship and their entrepreneurial intentions in the context of higher education in Iran as was supported in Malaysia (Bagheri and Lope Pihie 2014). Future researchers can use the EIQ to measure students' entrepreneurial intentions and its antecedents.

# 6.1 Limitations and Future Research

This study has some limitations that suggest agendas for future research. First, this research attempted to examine the impact of education on the factors that shape students' intentions to choose entrepreneurship as their career. Therefore, only students were selected as the participants of this study. Although, students have often been used as the sample for examining entrepreneurial attitudes and selfefficacy and intentions (BarNir et al. 2011; Entrialgo and Iglesias 2016; Karimi et al. 2016; Karlsson and Moberg 2013; Liñán et al. 2011; Liñán 2008; Molaei et al. 2014; Zellweger et al. 2011; Zhao et al. 2005) the findings are constrained in terms of generalization to explain real entrepreneurs' entrepreneurial intentions. Future research might examine the interactions among the factors that shape entrepreneurial intentions and the effect of education on the relationships among these factors with a sample of nascent and real entrepreneurs to better explain entrepreneurial intentions and behaviour. Second, this study only focused on the effect of education on two of the most influential factors in shaping students' entrepreneurial intentions which are: entrepreneurial self-efficacy and attitudes toward entrepreneurship (Liñán et al. 2011; Liñán 2008). Since a combination of cognitive (Fayolle et al. 2014; Molaei et al. 2014), personal and social factors construct students' entrepreneurial intentions (BarNir et al. 2011; Liñán 2008) and education may affect other factors than those examined in this study, future studies should investigate the interactions among factors such as creativity (Zampetakis 2008; Zampetakis and Moustakis 2006), family business background (Carr and Sequeira 2007; Ertuna and Gurel 2011), subjective and social norms (Entrialgo and Iglesias 2016; Liñán 2008) and students' intentions to pursue an entrepreneurial career path. Further investigations can also be undertaken to explore the aspects of the entrepreneurship education that have the most influential impact on enhancing students' entrepreneurial self-efficacy and attitudes.

Third, this study only included Master students from three faculties of University of Tehran. Further investigations can explore the relationships emerging from this study using undergraduate and PhD students from public and private universities. This research also measured students' entrepreneurial intentions using a self-report questionnaire rather than their actual behaviour in establishing their own venture. Although individuals' intentions have a direct effect on their actual involvement in entrepreneurship (Verheul et al. 2012), this measure does not allow drawing any conclusions if students will take action and establish their own businesses (Krueger et al. 2000; Liñán et al. 2005). It will be enlightening for future longitudinal studies to examine whether students with high entrepreneurial intentions will launch their own venture after graduation. Future comparative studies can also be conducted across countries to include the differences between countries regarding their entrepreneurship education programs and activities. Further investigations can also be undertaken to explore if the reinforcing effects of education on the relationship between entrepreneurial intentions and its antecedents change at different education levels. Furthermore, this study used a cross-sectional research design to investigate the role that entrepreneurship education plays in shaping students' entrepreneurial intentions. Future studies can also use more reliable designs such as a quasiexperimental method in order to better explore the effects of entrepreneurship education and assist policy makers and educators to provide students with more effective entrepreneurship education and training programs (Rideout and Gray 2013). Finally, another possible limitation of this study is that the present entrepreneurial self-efficacy findings are highly related to students' perceived skills in running an established business. These managerial skills may not fully describe the tasks required for the process of establishing a new venture (Mauer et al. 2009; McGee et al. 2009). It would be valuable to examine the impact of education on improving students' entrepreneurial self-efficacy by a process-oriented instrument in order to better explain their capacity to perform the tasks needed for the process of entrepreneurship (Karlsson and Moberg 2013; McGee et al. 2009). Research into the development of effective teaching and learning methods to improve students' entrepreneurial self-efficacy and attitude also provides great contributions to entrepreneurship education.

### References

- Ajzen I (1991) The theory of planned behavior. Organ Behav Hum Decis Process 50(2):179–211 Anderson AR, Jack SL (2008) Role typology for enterprising education: the professional artisan? J
  - Small Bus Enterp Dev 15(2):256-273
- Arasti Z, Sayeed Banadeki S, Imanipour N (2011) The role of teaching entrepreneurship foundations in constructing university students' entrepreneurial intentions. J Entrep Dev 5(4):107–124
- Bae TJ, Qian S, Miao C, Fiet JO (2014) The relationship between entrepreneurship education and entrepreneurial intentions: a meta-analytic review. Entrepreneurship Theory and Practice 38 (2):217–254
- Bagheri A, Lope Pihie ZA (2014) The moderating role of gender in shaping entrepreneurial intentions: implications for vocational guidance. Int J Educ Vocat Guid 14:255–273
- Baghersad V, Zali MR, Razavi SM, Sayeed Banadaki S (2013) The impact of entrepreneurship education on entrepreneurial intention of technical and vocational students. Journal of Entrepreneurship Development 6(4):21–36

Bandura A (1997) Self-efficacy: the exercise of self control. Freeman, New York

- Bandura A (1999) A social cognitive theory of personality. In: Pervin L, John O (eds) Handbook of personality, 2nd edn. Guilford, New York, pp 154–196
- Bandura A (2000) Exercise of human agency through collective efficacy. Curr Dir Psychol Sci 9:75–78
- Bandura A (2012) On the functional properties of perceived self-efficacy revisited. J Manag 38:9-44
- Barber D (2015) An experimental analysis of risk and entrepreneurial attitudes of university students in the USA and Brazil. J Int Entrep 13:370–389
- Barbosa SD, Gerhardt MW, Kickul JR (2007) The role of cognitive style and risk preference on entrepreneurial self-efficacy and entrepreneurial intentions. J Leadersh Org Stud 13(4):86–104
- BarNir A, Watson WE, Hutchins HM (2011) Mediation and moderated mediation in the relationship among role models, self-efficacy, entrepreneurial career intention, and gender. J Appl Soc Psychol 41(2):270–297
- Busenitz LW, Page West G III, Shepherd D, Nelson T, Chandler GN, Zacharakis A (2003) Entrepreneurship research in emergence: past trends and future directions. J Manag 29 (3):285–308
- Byrne BM (2010) Structural equation modelling with AMOS: basic concepts, applications, and programming, 2th edn. Taylor and Francis Group, New York, London
- Carr JC, Sequeira JM (2007) Prior family business exposure as international influence and entrepreneurial intent: a theory of planned behaviour approach. J Bus Res 60:1090–1098
- Carsrud A, Brännback M, Elfving J, Brandt K (2009) Towards a contextual model of entrepreneurial intentions. In: Carsrud A, Brännback M (eds) Understanding the entrepreneurial mind: opening the black box. Springer, Heidelberg
- Chen C, Greene P, Crick A (1998) Does entrepreneurial self-efficacy distinguish entrepreneurs from managers? J Bus Ventur 13:295–316
- DePillis E, Reardon KK (2007) The influence of personality traits and persuasive messages on entrepreneurial intention: a cross-cultural comparison. Career Dev Int 12(4):382–396
- Duval-Couetil N (2013) Assessing the impact of entrepreneurship education programs: challenges and approaches. J Small Bus Manag 51(3):394–409
- Dwyer AL, Cummings LC (2001) Stress, self-efficacy, social support and coping strategies in university students. J Couns 35:3
- Elfving J, Brännback M, Carsrud A (2009) Towards a contextual model of entrepreneurial intentions. In: Carsrud A, Brännback M (eds) Understanding the entrepreneurial mind: opening the black box. Springer, Heidelberg, pp 23–33
- Entrialgo M, Iglesias V (2016) The moderating role of entrepreneurship education on the antecedents of entrepreneurial intention. Int Entrep Manag J 12(4):1209–1232
- Ertuna ZI, Gurel E (2011) The moderating role of higher education on entrepreneurship. Educ Train 53(5):387–402
- Fayolle A (2013) Personal views on the future of entrepreneurship education. Entrep Reg Dev 25 (7–8):692–701
- Fayolle A, Gailly B (2015) The impact of entrepreneurship education on entrepreneurial attitudes and intention: hysteresis and persistence. J Small Bus Manag 53(1):75–93
- Fayolle A, Gailly B, Lassas-Clerc N (2006) Assessing the impact of entrepreneurship education programmes: a new methodology. J Eur Ind Train 30(9):701–720
- Fayolle A, Liñán F, Moriano JA (2014) Beyond entrepreneurial intentions: values and motivations in entrepreneurship. Int Entrep Manag J 10:679–689
- Ferreira JJ, Raposo ML, Rodrigues RJ, Dinis A, Paço AD (2012) A model of entrepreneurial intention: an application of the psychological and behavioral approaches. Journal of Small Business and Enterprise Development 19(3):424–440
- Firdaus A, Hamali J, Rahman Deen A, Saban G, Abdurahman AZA (2009) Developing a framework of success of Bumiputera entrepreneurs. J Enterp Communities People Places Global Econ 3(1):8–24

- Fuchs K, Werner A, Wallau F (2008) Entrepreneurship education in Germany and Sweden: What role do different school systems play? Journal of Small Business and Enterprise Development 15(2):365–381
- Gheyasi A (2016) The impact of self-efficacy and entrepreneurial attitude on entrepreneurial intention of students from Zabol University. Journal of Entrepreneurship Development 8 (39):3–15
- Guerrero M, Rialp J, Urbano D (2008) The impact of desirability and feasibility on entrepreneurial intentions: a structural equation model. Int Entrep Manag J 4:35–50
- Gupta VK, Turban DB, Bhawe NM (2008) The effect of gender stereotype assimilation and reactance on entrepreneurial intentions. J Appl Psychol 93:1053–1061
- Gupta VK, Turban DB, Wastiand SA, Sikdar A (2009) The role of gender stereotypes in perceptions of entrepreneurs and intentions to become an entrepreneur. Entrep Theory Pract 33:397– 417
- Hair JF, Black B, Babin B, Anderson RE, Tatham RL (2010) Multivariate data analysis: a global perspective, 7th edn. Pearson Education, Upper Saddle River, NJ
- Hannon PD (2006) Teaching pigeons to dance: sense and meaning in entrepreneurship education. Educ Train 48(5):296–308
- Harris ML, Gibson SG (2008) Examining the entrepreneurial attitudes of US business students. Educ Train 50(7):568–581
- Heinonen J (2007) An entrepreneurial-directed approach to teaching corporate entrepreneurship at university level. Educ Train 49(4):310–324
- Heinonen J, Poikkijoki S-A (2006) An entrepreneurial-directed approach to entrepreneurship education: mission impossible? J Manag Dev 25(1):80–94
- Holmgren C, From J, Olofsson A, Karlsson H, Snyder K, Sundtröm U (2005) Entrepreneurship education: salvation or damnation? J Entrep Educ 8:7–19
- Hynes B, Richardson I (2007) Entrepreneurship education: a mechanism for engaging and exchanging with the small business sector. Educ Train 49(8/9):732–744
- Jafarimoghadam S, Etemadi K (2009) Measuring and comparing entrepreneurial attitudes of students. Journal of Entrepreneurship Development 2(2):163–182
- Karimi S, Biemans HJA, Lans T, Chizari M, Mulder M (2016) J Small Bus Manag 54(1):187-209
- Karlsson T, Moberg K (2013) Improving perceived entrepreneurial abilities through education: exploratory testing of an entrepreneurial self-efficacy scale in a pre-post setting. Int J Manag Educ 11:1–11
- Keshavarz M (2014) Entrepreneurial intention of Payamnoor's students and the affecting constructs. Journal of Entrepreneurship Development 7(3):529–548
- Kickul J, Gundry LK, Barbosa SD, Whitcanack L (2009) Intuition versus analysis? Testing differential models of cognitive style on entrepreneurial self-efficacy and the new venture creation process. Entrepreneurship Theory and Practice 33(2):439–453
- Kline RB (2010) Principles and practice of structural equation modeling, 3th edn. Guilford Press, New York
- Krueger NF, Reilly MD, Carsrud AL (2000) Competing models of entrepreneurial intentions. J Bus Ventur 15:411–432
- Liñán F (2008) Skill and value perceptions: how do they affect entrepreneurial intentions? Int Entrep Manag J 4:257–272
- Liñán F, Chen YW (2009) Development and cross-cultural application of a specific instrument to measure entrepreneurial intentions. Entrepreneurship Theory and Practice 33(3):593–617
- Liñán F, Rodríguez JC, Rueda-Cantuche JM (2005) Factors affecting entrepreneurial intention levels. 45th Congress of the European Regional Science Association, Amsterdam, 23–27 August
- Liñán F, Rodríguez-Cohard JC, Rueda-Cantuche JM (2011) Factors affecting entrepreneurial intention levels: a role for education. Int Entrep Manag J 7:195–218
- Lope Pihie ZA, Bagheri A (2013) Self-efficacy and entrepreneurial intention: the mediation effect of self-regulation. Vocat Learn 6(3):385–401

- Louw L, Van Eeden SM, Bosch JK, Venter DJL (2003) Entrepreneurial traits of undergraduate students at selected South African Tertiary Institutions. Int J Entrep Behav Res 9(1):5–26
- Man TWY, Yu CWM (2007) Social interaction and adolescent's learning in enterprise education: an empirical study. Educ Train 49(8/9):620–633
- Mastura J, Abdul Rashid AA (2008) Entrepreneurship education in developing country, Exploration on its necessity in the construction programme. J Eng Des Technol 6(2):178–189
- Matlay H (2005) Researching entrepreneurship and education. Part 1: What is entrepreneurship education and does it matter? Educ Train 47(8/9):655–677
- Matlay H (2006) Researching entrepreneurship and education. Part 2: What is entrepreneurship education and does it matter? Educ Train 48(8/9):704–718
- Mauer R, Neergaard H, Linstad AK (2009) Self-efficacy: conditioning the entrepreneurial mindset. In: Carsrud A, Brännback M (eds) Understanding the entrepreneurial mind: opening the black box. Springer, Heidelberg, pp 233–256
- McGee JE, Peterson M, Mueller SL, Sequeira JM (2009) Entrepreneurial self-efficacy: refining the measure. Entrep Theory Pract 33(4):965–988
- Molaei R, Zali MR, Mobaraki MH, Farsi JY (2014) The impact of entrepreneurial ideas and cognitive style on students entrepreneurial intention. J Entrep Emerg Econ 6(2):140–162
- Morris MH, Webb JW, Fu J, Singhal S (2013) A competency-based perspective on entrepreneurship education: conceptual and empirical insights. J Small Bus Manag 51(3):352–369
- Mueller SL, Thomas AS (2000) Culture and entrepreneurial potential: a nine country study of locus of control and innovativeness. J Bus Ventur 16:51–75
- Oosterbeek H, Praag M, Ijsselstein A (2010) The impact of entrepreneurship education on entrepreneurship skills and motivation. Eur Econ Rev 54:442–454
- Peterman NE, Kennedy J (2003) Enterprise education: influencing students' perceptions of entrepreneurship. Entrepreneurship Theory and Practice 28(2):129–145
- Pittaway L, Cope J (2007) Entrepreneurship education: a systematic review of the evidence. Int Small Bus J 25(5):479–510
- Pittaway L, Hannon P, Gibb A, Thompson J (2009) Assessment practice in enterprise education. International Journal of Entrepreneurial Behaviour and Research 15(1):71–93
- Rideout EC, Gray DO (2013) Does entrepreneurship education really work? A review and methodological critique of the empirical literature on the effects of university-based entrepreneurship education. J Small Bus Manag 51(3):329–351
- Sánchez JC (2013) The impact of an entrepreneurship education program on entrepreneurial competencies and Intention. J Small Bus Manag 51(3):447–465
- Scherer RF, Adams JS, Carley SS, Wiebe FA (1989) Role model performance effects on development of entrepreneurial career preference. Entrep Theory Pract 13(3):53–71
- Schreiber JB, Nora A, Stage FK, Barlow EA, King J (2006) Reporting structural equation modeling and confirmatory factor analysis results: a review. J Educ Res 99(6):323–338
- Souitaris V, Zerbinati S, Al-Laham A (2007) Do entrepreneurship programmes raise entrepreneurial intention of science and engineering students? The effect of learning, inspiration and resources. J Bus Ventur 22:566–591
- Trevelyan R (2011) Self-regulation and effort in entrepreneurial tasks. International Journal of Entrepreneurial Behaviour and Research 17(1):39–63
- Tyszka T, Cieslik J, Domurat A, Macko A (2011) Motivation, self-efficacy, and risk attitudes among entrepreneurs during transition to a market economy. J Socio-Econ 40:124–131
- Verheul I, Thurik R, Grilo I, Zwan P (2012) Explaining preferences and actual involvement in selfemployment: gender and the entrepreneurial personality. J Econ Psychol 33:325–341
- Watchravesringkan K, Hodges NN, Yurchisin J, Hegland J, Karpova E, Marcketti S, Yan R (2013) Modeling entrepreneurial career intentions among undergraduates: an examination of the moderating role of entrepreneurial knowledge and skills. Fam Consum Sci Res J 41(3):325–342
- Wilson F, Kickul J, Marlino D (2007) Gender, entrepreneurial self-efficacy, and entrepreneurial career intentions: implications for entrepreneurship education. Entrepreneurship Theory and Practice 31(3):387–401

- Zampetakis LA (2008) The role of creativity and proactivity on perceived entrepreneurial desirability. Think Skills Creat 3:154–162
- Zampetakis LA, Moustakis V (2006) Linking creativity with entrepreneurial intention: a structural approach. Int Entrep Manag J 2(3):413–428
- Zellweger T, Sieger P, Halter F (2011) Should I stay or should I go? Career choice intentions of students with family business background. J Bus Ventur 26:521–536
- Zhao H, Seibert SE, Hills GE (2005) The mediating role of self-efficacy in the development of entrepreneurial intentions. J Appl Psychol 90(6):1265–1272



# Integrated Approach as a Way of Overcoming Entrepreneurship Education Challenges in Elementary Schools in MENA Countries: Evidence from Iran

# Mohammad Azizi and Negar Mokhtari

**Abstract** Since entrepreneurship and its outcomes, especially in the private sector, lead to a considerable increase in quantity and quality of businesses and new products in society, it is considered as the key to solving economic and social problems. Due to the social and cultural achievements of society, the benefits of non-economic entrepreneurship (social entrepreneurship), have really increased which per se implies that improvement of entrepreneurial mind and culture becomes crucially important. Entrepreneurship education in both formal and informal educational systems is one of the most effective ways to institutionalize entrepreneurship. However, due to its wide range of purposes, the philosophy and importance of entrepreneurship education in the community could be complicated and challenging. In this regard, one must develop the concept for education and training in the community, along with other planned activities. In any case, there are a number of challenges and obstacles in designing and executing these programs in MENA countries like Iran. In this study, via qualitative research, the authors identified and investigated these obstacles and then provided guidelines for tackling the challenges. The key determinants in this study were curriculum development researchers and entrepreneurship education experts. In the end, findings showed that in order to promote entrepreneurial knowledge, skills and attitude in elementary school students, we could integrate entrepreneurship concepts in courses like mathematics, sciences, social sciences, Persian language, work and technology.

Keywords Entrepreneurship  $\cdot$  Elementary education  $\cdot$  Educational system  $\cdot$  Integrated curriculum  $\cdot$  MENA  $\cdot$  Iran

M. Azizi (🖂)

N. Mokhtari

Faculty of Entrepreneurship, University of Tehran, Tehran, Iran e-mail: m\_azizi@ut.ac.ir

M.A. Entrepreneurship; Faculty of Entrepreneurship, University of Tehran, Tehran, Iran e-mail: n.mokhtari@alumni.ut.ac.ir

<sup>©</sup> Springer International Publishing AG, part of Springer Nature 2018 N. Faghih, M. R. Zali (eds.), *Entrepreneurship Education and Research in the Middle East and North Africa (MENA)*, Contributions to Management Science, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-90394-1\_9

# 1 Introduction

In recent decades, entrepreneurship has been of great interest among the researchers and policy makers as an emerging scientific field. During these years, there has been extensive research on entrepreneurship in many countries and parts of them were to introduce and educate this concept. An entrepreneur is a person who starts a new venture, taking the initiative and risk associated with it and does so by creating something innovative to provide value to society. Entrepreneurs are the main drivers of economic growth and social development (Holt 1992; Hatten 1997). Many studies have been developed about the factors which influence making the decision to start a business (Littunen 2000; de Pillis and Reardon 2007) and subsequently, the question arises; whether these factors can be taught and learned (Henry et al. 2005; Klein and Bullock 2006; Kantor 2013). Or what makes a person accept all the psychological, social and financial risks associated with starting entrepreneurial activities. Related studies show that entrepreneurs have certain personality traits that distinguish them from non-entrepreneurs. As an example, McClelland (1961) has identified three indicators for entrepreneurs: competitiveness, personal responsibility for results, and innovation. On the other hand, studies show that entrepreneurship is an educable skill, and creativity and innovation can be encouraged (Fayolle 2005). By studying entrepreneurial traits, we can figure out creation and enhancement of such traits at an early age is possible. Children are, by nature, curious about the world around them. Providing opportunities for them to inquire and explore will, therefore, engage their interest. In fact, entrepreneurship education can build and strengthen personality traits that lead one to become an entrepreneur such as self-efficiency, need for achievement, risk-taking, and creativity (Rosendahl Huber et al. 2012). For this purpose, entrepreneurship education programs are conducted at different levels in many countries (EACEA European Commission 2012). Entrepreneurship education has been started by teaching entrepreneurship knowledge at university; however, most of the entrepreneurial traits are related to attitudes and skills that are shaped in early childhood. The best age to learn the basics of entrepreneurship and to create entrepreneurial traits is childhood and adolescence because children in their early years have specific physical, mental, emotional, psychological and social traits and their attitudes are shaped generally in this period and learning entrepreneurship skills in middle childhood (9-11 years old) is more effective (Cunha and Schennach 2010). As a recent experience, a sub-program named "My first enterprise: Entrepreneurship by playing" was designed in Mexican education system in order to promote entrepreneurship in elementary schools and the results show that it led to the creation of 1327 mini companies from 2009 to 2014 and the role of teachers is of great importance to influence the entrepreneurial knowledge and skills of students (Cárcamo-Solís et al. 2017).

Developing entrepreneurship can be a separate module in the curriculum, or can be integrated into the usual subjects of the curriculum and indirectly lead students to become entrepreneurs. According to recent researches, the best and effective learning method for childhood is integrated curriculum (Vars and Beane 2000; Audet and Jordan 2005).

For the reasons mentioned, considering entrepreneurship education for children is essential, but often neglected in the educational system. Integration of entrepreneurship education in school curricula would enrich the learning experiences of students. increase the possibility of creating new businesses by students, improve job skills and business management abilities, enhance communication between schools and industry, and give an opportunity for testing the content and teaching methods of entrepreneurship education. And although the ideal time for learning the basics of entrepreneurship and developing a positive attitude towards entrepreneurship is childhood and adolescence, there is a lack of entrepreneurship education in primary schools, especially in developing countries (Gasse 1985; Filion 1994). In order to expand entrepreneurship in elementary schools, we should consider school books, because school books are one of the most useful educational resources that both teachers and students use on a daily basis. However, organizing the material and content of the curriculum is one of the most critical stages of curriculum development not only because it improves the educational performance but also because the achievement of important goals of the plan depends on it. Studies have further shown that different kinds of integrated methods have more effectiveness and efficiency than the subject-centered curriculum (discipline) and educational goals are reached better by this approach (Drake and Burns 2004). Therefore, educating creativity and entrepreneurship in childhood and adolescence, both in the family and at schools, is vital. In an integrated approach, instead of seeing entrepreneurship as a specific topic, it is considered a part of a longitudinal, transverse and interdisciplinary program. Fortunately, in most countries, entrepreneurship is taught as parts of the social sciences, which may include history, geography, government, and politics or civics as well as other related areas such as community studies (EACEA European Commission 2012).

Entrepreneurship education in Iran goes back to 1990; therefore, when compared with higher education, one can say it is older and more experienced. However, only in one major, named Working Knowledge, an optional entrepreneurship course was planned for students and the curriculum preparation, including textbooks and teacher training, was designed with this one course only. Today after more than two decades of experiences in the educational system it is required that educational system as one of the most important and coherent institutions contain a comprehensive, unified, and consonant entrepreneurship education program at all levels (Azizi et al. 2008).

Due to the necessity and importance of entrepreneurship education at all academic levels, different countries have attempted to teach entrepreneurship through formal programs in the educational system and so Iran has initiated the subject two decades ago in high schools and college entrepreneurship courses. According to the nature of entrepreneurship, presenting the content and methods of the subject in different periods of education, especially in primary school, is a challenge arising from lack of experience. So how to face and overcome the challenges of entrepreneurship education is a critical issue. In this study based on Bloom's taxonomy, we classify learning objectives of entrepreneurship into three main areas: the cognitive domain (knowledge), the psychomotor domain (skill), the affective domain (attitudes). Then according to Heinonen and Poikkijoki model (2006), these areas are broken down into various concepts which are considered as learning outcomes:

- 1. Knowledge: knowledge of career opportunities and world of work; economic and financial literacy; knowledge of business organization and process
- 2. Skill: communication, presentation, and planning skill as well as teamwork; practical exploration of entrepreneurial opportunities
- 3. Attitude: self-awareness and self-confidence; taking the initiative and risk-taking, critical thinking, creativity, and problem-solving finally, using the interdisciplinary approach of Drake and Burns (2004), which is one of the integration methods for organizing curriculum; we identify the content and teaching methods for integrating with current disciplines in primary schools.

# **2** The Status of Entrepreneurship Education in Iran

## 2.1 Primary School Level

In Iran the subject of entrepreneurship was mentioned in the National Curriculum Document as "the field of education and learning of work and technology" which aims at acquisition of practical skills for an efficient and productive life; attainment of related competencies to technology and related fields, especially information and communication technology for technological education and healthy life in cyberspace; and preparation to enter occupations in different economic sectors of social life. However, no specific integrated research has been conducted on the development of entrepreneurship curriculum. In fact, achieving economic growth requires entrepreneurial citizens, and achieving entrepreneurial citizens lie in the education and proper infrastructure which are originated in primary education. On the other hand, aiming at entrepreneurship education for enhancing children's creativity, entrepreneurial attitude and modified thinking, will require that the curriculum include these goals as an integrated subject and the content of existing textbooks encourage traits such as self-esteem, creativity, problem-solving, innovation, and communication in children. We already are aware that integrated approach in modern educational planning acts more efficiently. Also, given a large number of courses at this level of education, there is no need to add a new course as entrepreneurship. In addition, in spite of the emphasis of National Curriculum and the Evolution of Education Document and the goals of the primary level education, conditions of teaching entrepreneurship subjects in this period are not clear. Seeing the importance of entrepreneurship, mentioned in the National Curriculum and the Evolution of Education Document, and also regarding the fact that entrepreneurship education in primary schools has just recently been proposed, entrepreneurship curriculum should be developed quite scientifically in this area. Otherwise, it will face many problems in practice.

Already at primary level education—first to sixth grade—entrepreneurship is not directly addressed and only in the sixth-grade curriculum, there is a course called "work and technology" which has some subjects related to business and entrepreneurship.

# 2.2 High School Level

The education system of high school is divided into the first three years of secondary school education (first, second and third) and second three years (fourth, fifth, sixth) and after the first three years of secondary school, students are allowed to choose their future educational discipline. Henceforth, the second high school education system is structured in the following fields: (1) Technical and Vocational, (2) Work and knowledge, (3) Theoretical [(a) Mathematics, (b) Natural, (c) The humanities, (d) Religious studies]. In the first period a book called "work and technology" is taught. In the second-period entrepreneurship course is presented (Ahmadpour Dariani and Azizi 2007).

# 2.3 Higher Education

Entrepreneurship education in universities has started in Iran since 2000 by KARAD program. Development of entrepreneurship at universities (KARAD) is a program which was carried out as a part of the Third Plan of Development (2000–2004) in 13 state universities by the Ministry of Science, Research and Technology of Iran. Creating entrepreneurial culture and mindset, building supportive and welfare institutions such as entrepreneurship center, sciences and technology incubators, and interface facilities were the main objectives of this program. In the Fourth Plan of Development (2005–2009) however, there was more direct and indirect support for expanding entrepreneurship. In recent years, business and entrepreneurship are presented at most of the universities at graduate and post graduate levels. We also have faculty of entrepreneurship on university of Tehran. In addition, other academic programs have also some optional courses related to entrepreneurship. Nevertheless, the greatest challenge of higher education is that the number of universities has unusually increased in Iran and this has led to a reduction of the quality in both the old educational system and the new entrepreneural system.

# 2.4 Investment and Entrepreneurship Funds

In U.S.A., top training centers belong to the private sector or are sponsored by the private sector. Nonetheless in most countries, such as Iran, a majority of school and university budget is funded by the government. Unfortunately, in Iran, most public investments start long after the apparent need has emerged and end long before the results appear. To access the funds scattered in different types of organizations throughout the country, students and graduates must pass a complex bureaucratic path which by itself leads to an increase in the price of fundraising. Banks that can provide capital for small businesses make applicants face a long and complicated process and graduates cannot provide the necessary documents to receive loans. In addition, the interest rates on loans are immoderately high.

## 2.5 Rules and Regulations

According to the 2017 World Bank Report, Iran was ranked 121st among the 183 countries on the Ease of Doing Business. This indicates that the process of doing business is governed by strict rules. One of the most basic reasons for such a rank is having a system of bureaucracy with too many laws and regulations. Bureaucracy in Iran is a complicated process with endless stages. In Iran, governmental intervention in the market and existence of parallel regulatory bodies have led to a high risk of doing business. Planners in this area consist of the Ministry of Science and Technology, Ministry of Education, Ministry of Labor and Social Affairs, Parliament, Ministry of Industry, and other organizations. Consequently, increased layers of responsibility reduce transparency, raise management's doubts and put pressure on them.

# 2.6 Gaps Between World of Business and Education

The education system comprises three functions: knowledge production (research), transfer of knowledge (education), and distribution of knowledge (services). Iran's educational system is based on knowledge transfer; and according to law of budget allocating to research (half percent of the total country's GDP) the importance of research or services has been marginalized. A simple glance at the situation indicates that universities and the business environment operate in two distinct worlds. One (Business) is seeking for survival and the other (university) concerns a long-term plan for transfer of knowledge. Lack of cooperation between these two parts makes higher education neglect the changing business and society's needs.

## 2.7 Unemployment

Ministry of Education officials in Iran are unfamiliar with the industry and service sectors and therefore are not able to design and offer courses tailored to job opportunities in the labor market. The main cause of unemployment among graduates is incompatibility of disciplines with labor market needs. But the impacts of external factors outside the educational environments are also hugely effective. These external factors may include lack of entrepreneurial culture, lack of private sector development, lack of jobs, an organizational defect in the labor market, and employment discrimination against women who constitute more than half of Iranian students.

# 2.8 Entrepreneurial Culture

As an example of the culture of eastern societies, Iranian culture is also pluralist and the form of collective identity like the form of family, for instance, is widely accepted in Iranian culture. General population tends to do ordinary jobs and seek government employment. On the contrary, the developed countries' cultures encourage individualism along with teamwork and investment in ideas that are likely to be more successful.

# 3 Methodology

In this study, qualitative data were collected by semi-structured interviews. In the interviews, the interviewees were asked about integrating entrepreneurship education content in lessons of elementary education including mathematics, Persian language, sciences, social studies, thinking and research, work and technology. The target population consisted of three groups: (1) Curriculum planning experts, (2) Entrepreneurship Teaching experts, and (3) Pedagogical experts. Therefore, the number of interviews conducted on 14 participants, helped the adequacy of the data and theoretical saturation. The method of analysis in this research was open and axial coding process was based on the reaction, comments and opinions and written records of interviews. These concepts formed the study statements. Then, in coded statements, that are pivotal related around an axis formed categories. Each sub-category was one of the aspects of the conceptual model. These dimensions are the same "syllabus" involved in the interview-based on research design that gives the hybrid concept. These dimensions include size and content of entrepreneurship education that sub-dimensions explain.

## 4 Findings

The model of developing curriculum of entrepreneurship in primary education with integrated approach are displayed in Table 1. The components of the model are knowledge, skills and entrepreneurial attitude, as well as courses in primary schools (including 6 lessons: math, Persian language, science, social studies, thinking and research, and work and technology) have been integrated. Data from the interviews were clustered for each content of lessons and emerged suitable teaching methods indirectly to make the concepts to be taught. The results for the matrix entrepreneurship education were integrated into the curriculum at elementary levels.

For instance, the introduction of money to the children and doing the mathematical operations with the concept of money can make the students familiar with and attract them to the world of business. Or in the course of Persian language describing different kinds of jobs and businesses can make students think of different businesses and formation of them. This could be performed by telling and writing stories and proverb contest about different kinds of jobs.

As shown in Table 1, entrepreneurship education materials in the course of work and technology are identified as a prelude to new technologies as well as educational content. Discussing new methods and solutions to the problems relating to job opportunities are crucial too. To improve financial literacy skills, investigating the economy and the world's richest companies, producing domestic food such as popcorn or fruit juice, marketing and providing services or goods in order to sell products to parents of students and exhibiting are identified as the content of entrepreneurship education.

Visiting the exhibitions and local shops and talking about their jobs, creating groups and teams that share a common interest to set up business relationship, working with programs and software for planning, imagination and ideation of products and technologies could be considered along with the content of entrepreneurship education to strengthen self-awareness and self-confidence in the students' attitude.

## 5 Conclusion and Discussion

The purpose of education together with developing entrepreneurial skills in primary schools is enabling students to be creative, innovative, future planners and communicative. Having this purpose in mind, at the end of the course, students are expected to be able to provide new ideas for various problems and communicate effectively with others. In this regard, in the mathematics, course problems that can be solved in different ways have been assigned to students' groups. After teaching new topics the following tasks were to be solved by group brainstorming instead of teacher delivering.

Educational of	bjectives					
	Entrepreneurial knowledge and world of work econorr business organization and	e (career opportunities nic and financial literacy process)	Entrepreneurial skills (c presentation, planning, practical exploration of opportunities)	ommunication, team work entrepreneurial	Entrepreneurial attitude (s self-confidence; taking th taking, critical thinking, c problem-solving)	elf-awareness, e initiative, risk reativity, and
Courses	Content	Teaching methods	Content	Teaching methods	Content	Teaching methods
Mathematics	The definition of money Value of money in the community Basic economic con- cepts such as price, cost, revenue, and profit tax on math problems	Discussion about ways to solve financial prob- lems Calculate the class as a group about the price of the product, costs, income, and profit	Mathematical and financial issues are solved in several dif- ferent ways	Forming a group to solve difficult mathe- matical prob- lems Problem-solv- ing or group brainstorming	Definition of risk How to calculate risk	Group problem solving Intelligence test.
Persian language	Define the types of jobs Define the types of businesses	Storytelling Proverb competition Story writing	Fostering imagina- tion through writing future career or busi- ness Complete Story How to write a busi- ness letter	Business story demonstration Strengthening exercises and improvisation in rehearsal	Poetry about business Entrepreneurs biography	Playing different job roles in group activities Watching car- toons Writing stories
Sciences	The benefits of plants The benefits of animals	Case Study Individual research	Creatures living and solve problems in a creative way at odds with the issues	Talks about the evolution of products	Stages of fruit ripening Organic evolution	Video Playback Visiting museums Visiting the farms
Social studies	• History of new jobs Old jobs and businesses	<ul> <li>Play demos about various business</li> </ul>	Risks and achieve- ments of entrepre- neurs in start-up businesses	• Provide post- ers and adver- tisements about the products	Social and profit entre- preneurs for community	Case study about entrepreneurs
						(continued)

Table 1 Integrated entrepreneurship content and teaching methods at elementary schools

Table 1 (cont	inued)					
Educational o	bjectives					
	Entrepreneurial knowledge and world of work econom	e (career opportunities) of financial literacy	Entrepreneurial skills (c presentation, planning, practical exploration of	ommunication, ceam work entrepreneurial	Entrepreneurial attitude ( self-confidence; taking th taking, critical thinking, o	self-awareness, le initiative, risk creativity, and
	business organization and	process)	opportunities)		problem-solving)	
Courses	Content	Teaching methods	Content	Teaching methods	Content	Teaching methods
Thinking and research	Why people are doing business	Discuss the lifestyle of people	<ul> <li>Methods of effective communication</li> </ul>	•Finding ideas for solving	Understanding the causes of failure or	Invite entrepre- neurs
	Reasons of various businesses emerging Reasons of jobs	List the duties of employees of a business	with classmates • Procedures for pro- ject planning in schools	<ul> <li>business issues</li> <li>Brainstorming for new prod- ucts or service ideas</li> </ul>	success Understanding the traits of entrepreneurs	Invited speaker
Work and technology	<ul> <li>History of new tech- nologies</li> <li>Emerging technologies</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Talk about new solutions to existing problems</li> <li>The ability to use business software applications</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Create a mobile app</li> <li>How to use e-mail</li> <li>Launch weblog for economic news and business school students</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Understanding technologies</li> <li>Business related software</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Exhibition of new technologies such as Elecomp</li> <li>Formation of business groups with shared interests to set up a temporary business</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Design a Logo for Business</li> <li>Design busi- ness cards</li> <li>Video Playback</li> </ul>

164

Given that the purpose of teaching entrepreneurship in elementary schools is becoming familiar with the world of economy and business and job opportunities, in mathematics, course concepts such as money, value of money in the community, economic concepts that require mathematical calculations such as price, cost, revenue, tax, profit can be used to achieve higher financial skills and prepare children for the financial transactions and better calculation in their daily tasks. Also, effective teaching methods are discussed about methods of financing and solving practical financial problems in class. Furthermore, development of the ability to calculate the cost price, cost, revenue, and profit are discovered.

In the Persian language course, students can become familiar with a variety of business and types of jobs, stories and proverbs and stories about work and its value to society.

Talking about history of new jobs in the social studies course can be useful. In order to achieve this objective, role playing methods of businesses and jobs can be used. Discussing the lifestyle of entrepreneurs and listing the tasks that a business staff should be familiar with could be important too. Students should also know about the ideals of certain prominent individuals as well as creation of businesses and jobs. Technology in history lessons and evolution of technology and its impact on the economy should also be discovered. Solutions for business problems by using computational software should be provided and discussed.

The risks and gains of business entrepreneurs in the start-up phase could be integrated into the content of social studies courses. Also presenting posters about the products or services will boost students' creativity.

In the Persian language, the students' creative capacities and communication skills will be strengthened by writing stories about their future career or explaining their favorite business and completing the incomplete stories about entrepreneurs and practicing principles of writing official letters. By using business games and business poetries as well as improvising plays, students can plan their activities and gain innovation in different sectors.

Also in science class, the ways which animals are used to solve their problems could be explained through innovative methods. Also the evolution of plants and animals on the Earth and turning them into products to meet the diverse needs of humans will be discussed.

In thinking and research courses, methods of effective communication with others will be taught to students. They must practice these methods to gain skill in connection with their fellow classmates. Furthermore, planning methods for carrying out different projects will be explained to them. Exhibitions to sell products will be held in schools and then the ways of problem solving will be investigated and used by the students' own ideas. Brainstorming sessions are one of the best methods that can be used to provide new goods or services in the annual exhibition booths.

In the work and technology course, students can learn how technology works and how innovative mobile applications are designed and how technology is used to earn income. How to use Email to send and receive messages could be taught in this course as well. Launching weblogs and websites for breaking economic and business news to school students as well as other interested parties could be weighty. In this regard exhibition of new technologies such as Elecomp can also be useful. It is important that students, who only have certain business interests, develop different role skills in various groups.

The aim of strengthening entrepreneurial insights in primary school students is boosting confidence and risk-taking power. Consequently, attitude is linked with knowledge and skills and is even more complex than the two. The definition of risk and how to calculate risk in financial transactions and solving intelligence issues in mathematics, as well as playing different roles in group activities and showing related cartoons in Persian lessons can partially reinforce this attitude in them. Moreover, the role and value of entrepreneurs in society, economy, family, and entrepreneurs' talks with students in social studies course could be helpful. And in the course of work and technology, logo designing and printing business cards can be an effective way to promote an entrepreneurial attitude.

Research in the field of entrepreneurship education is novel and at a very elementary stage. Different countries are developing and expanding programs to promote entrepreneurial traits in students. Review of past research shows that many researchers believe that entrepreneurship should be entered in the educational system. In fact, entering the themes of entrepreneurship in textbooks can fertilize the seeds of motivation for entrepreneurship in children. According to the European Commission, incorporating some entrepreneurship concepts in some European countries in experimental education in schools has been started. But implications of practical and organized research showing entrepreneurial curriculums suitable for each education level have not been clearly detected (Eurydice 2016). Accordingly, for the development of entrepreneurship in elementary schools, some functional implications are represented. For example, the Mexican experiment shows that the persons who participated in entrepreneurship sub-programs showed significant changes in their attitudes towards entrepreneurship. Also, the aim of this research is to find out the contents and methods to improve entrepreneurial traits based on the expert's viewpoint.

# 6 Practical Implications

According to the findings of this research, the following implications are recommended:

- Developing entrepreneurship and formulating a general policy of entrepreneurship education programs in the education system with the potential of local and regional business specifics should be the key driving factor of the Ministry of Education at all levels, especially in primary schools. Certainly, in all subjects, including geography, sociology, chemistry, physics, and mathematics, entrepreneurship content could be implemented.
- In order to execute the entrepreneurial policies all education officials and executive staff especially teachers should be familiar with the role and importance of entrepreneurship education in the community.
- 3. In preparing more attractive contents for children, development of entrepreneurship materials in the form of multimedia, electronic, games and cartoons is necessary.
- 4. Entrepreneurship programs should be held in schools by inviting former students who work as entrepreneurs in society and transferring their experiences to the current students and putting such invitation process on a regular basis.
- 5. Special entrepreneurial training courses should be set up for students who want to become entrepreneurs.
- 6. Students' learning by doing and engaging in entrepreneurship education courses definitely should be practical and activity-based rather than teacher-centered.
- 7. All stakeholders like teachers and business leaders should participate in curriculum planning of integrated entrepreneurship, preparing educational materials, and designing learning activities, teaching-learning strategies, and evaluation approaches.

# 7 Recommendations for Further Research

- 1. According to the findings, this study clearly affirms that an approach to combining entrepreneurship education and curriculum development is the best possible approach. However, the use of integrated methods for organizing curriculum in terms of education levels (from primary school to university level) and different types of integration are subjects that require further study.
- 2. Methods of learning and teaching in an integrated approach in primary schools are extremely important and need adequate attention and scientific research.
- 3. It should be pointed out that the objective of entrepreneurship education is not only business start-ups and entrepreneurial profit for entrepreneurs, but also entrepreneurship is affecting life in all dimensions, with social, organizational and individual applications. Thus Students as future employees, managers, executives, and entrepreneurs of the country, if familiar with the issues, will be most effective in deciding about their lives and careers for themselves.
- 4. There are different kinds of integration methods such as multidisciplinary and transdisciplinary approaches. Further integration methods could be used for identifying the learning concepts and methods.
- 5. Students could be addressed in researches for finding out about methods which will lead to fostering entrepreneurial traits.
- 6. Entrepreneurship education could be considered as a separate module in the education system and providing concepts is of a significant importance.
- 7. As the researches indicate children learn much from their family environment. It is important to understand whether teaching entrepreneurship to parents could influence the attitudes and skills of children.
- 8. Distinctive kinds of researches could be implemented on the children who are in their early childhood in order to identify whether learning concepts are more important and effective or learning methods.

9. Further research is required to determine the degree of effectiveness and efficiency of each concept and method of the current research with a quantitative approach.

### References

- Ahmadpour Dariani M, Azizi M (2007) Entrepreneurship. Sherkate Pardis Publication, Tehran
- Audet RH, Jordan LK (eds) (2005) Integrating inquiry across the curriculum. Corwin Press, Thousand Oaks, CA
- Azizi M, Sabbaghian Z, Ahmadpour Daryani M (2008) Development of sustainable entrepreneurship programs in educational system. CRRC Conference, Queen's University, Belfast
- Cárcamo-Solís ML, Arroyo-López MP, Alvarez-Castañón LC, García-López E (2017) Developing entrepreneurship in primary schools. The Mexican experience of "My first enterprise: Entrepreneurship by playing". Elsevier J 64:291–304
- Cunha F, Schennach SM (2010) Estimating the technology of cognitive and non-cognitive skill formation. Econometrica 78(3):883–931
- de Pillis E, Reardon KK (2007) The influence of personality traits and persuasive messages on entrepreneurial intention: a cross-cultural comparison. Career Dev Int 12(4):382–396
- Drake SM, Burns RC (2004) Meeting standards through integrated curriculum. ASCD, Alexandria, VA
- Education, Audiovisual and Culture Executive Agency (2012) Entrepreneurship education at school in Europe. Retrieved from http://eacea.ec.europa.eu/education/eurydice/
- Eurydice (2016) Entrepreneurship education at school in Europe: eurydice report. Publications Office of the European Union, Luxembourg
- Fayolle A (2005) Evaluation of entrepreneurship education: behavior performing or intention increasing. Int J Entrep Bus 2(1):89–98
- Filion LJ (1994) Ten steps to entrepreneurial teaching. J Small Bus Entrep 11(3):68-78
- Gasse Y (1985) A strategy for the promotion and identification of potential entrepreneurs at the secondary level. In: Hornaday JA, Shils B, Timmons JA, Vesper KH (eds) Frontiers of entrepreneurship research. Babson College Center for Entrepreneurial Studies, Wellesley, MA, pp 538–559
- Hatten T (1997) Small business: entrepreneurship and beyond. Prentice-Hall, Upper Saddle River, NJ
- Heinonen J, Poikkijoki S-A (2006) An entrepreneurial-directed approach to entrepreneurship education: mission impossible? J Manag Dev 25(1):80–94
- Henry C, Hill F, Leitch C (2005) Entrepreneurship education and training: can entrepreneurship be taught? Part I. Educ Train 47(2):98–111
- Holt DH (1992) Entrepreneurship: new venture creation. Prentice-Hall, Englewood Cliffs, NJ
- Kantor J (2013) Can entrepreneurship be taught? A Canadian experiment. J Taylor Francis
- Klein PG, Bullock JB (2006) Can entrepreneurship be taught? J Agric Appl Econ 38(2):429-439
- Littunen H (2000) Entrepreneurship and the characteristics of the entrepreneurial personality. Int J Entrep Behav Res 6(6):295–310
- McClelland DC (1961) The achieving society. Van Nostrand, Princeton, NJ
- Rosendahl Huber L, Sloof R, Van Praag M (2012) The effect of early entrepreneurship education: evidence from a randomized field experiment. Institute for the Study of Labor (IZA), Discussion paper No. 6512
- Vars GF, Beane JA (2000) Integrative curriculum in a standards-based world. ERIC Digest, Champaign, IL

# Spiritual Intelligence and Social Entrepreneurial Intentions Among Students: The Mediating Role of Entrepreneurial Passion



# Morteza Hendijani Fard, Nader Seyyed Amiri, Mostafa Oboudi, and Saeid Ramezani

**Abstract** It is well known that social entrepreneurs have distinct beliefs, purposes, and perspectives. They have conviction in their own particular beliefs and in how those beliefs are formed. However, little research has been done to date that clarifies the exceptional beliefs of social entrepreneurs. Spirituality gives people a transcendental perspective. Furthermore, spiritual intelligence brings about a deeper understanding of life, heightened values, a strong sense of purpose and a high level of motivation. Despite the importance of a person's orientation in terms of beliefs, little research has been done to evaluate the role of spiritual intelligence as a driving force for social entrepreneurship. Therefore, the present research is done to evaluate the relationship between spiritual intelligence and social entrepreneurial intention according to the mediating role of entrepreneurial passion. For this purpose, the descriptive-correlation method is used and 384 questionnaires are distributed among local undergraduate students of management and industrial engineering at universities in the city of Mashhad in Iran. Structural equation modeling with partial least squares is applied for data analysis. Results show that spiritual intelligence is a

e-mail: Hendijanifard@ut.ac.ir

N. Seyyed Amiri (🖂) Faculty of Entrepreneurship, Department of Corporate Entrepreneurship, University of Tehran, Tehran, Iran e-mail: Nadersa@ut.ac.ir

M. Oboudi Faculty of Entrepreneurship, Department of Techno Entrepreneurship, University of Tehran, Tehran, Iran e-mail: Mostafa.oboudi@ut.ac.ir

S. Ramezani Faculty of Management, Department of Business Management, University of Tehran, Tehran, Iran e-mail: Ramezanisaeid@ut.ac.ir

© Springer International Publishing AG, part of Springer Nature 2018 N. Faghih, M. R. Zali (eds.), *Entrepreneurship Education and Research in the Middle East and North Africa (MENA)*, Contributions to Management Science, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-90394-1\_10

M. Hendijani Fard

Faculty of Entrepreneurship, Department of Business Creation, University of Tehran, Tehran, Iran

predictor of social entrepreneurial intention through the mediating role of entrepreneurial passion. However, of the two types of entrepreneurial passion tested in this research, the passion for founding is determined as a stronger mediator for this relationship compared to the passion for inventing. Results also show that spiritual intelligence had a direct effect on social entrepreneurial intention. In addition to this, results confirm effects of both types of entrepreneurial passion on social entrepreneurial intention. However, the passion for founding has a much stronger effect on social entrepreneurial intention than does the passion for inventing. Finally, practical implications and future research are discussed.

**Keywords** Spiritual intelligence · Entrepreneurial passion · Passion for inventing · Passion for founding · Social entrepreneurial intention · Social entrepreneurship

#### 1 Introduction

Schumpeter (1934), in his economic development theory, reports that a community's movement toward development requires highly energetic leaders who do not easily accept facts and who are strongly motivated to adopt new ideas. He calls such people entrepreneurs and maintains that such people express a strong passion for conducting affairs successfully and that their most important feature is that of placing themselves in situations where they can be effective. Shane et al. (2003) mention the category of selfish love among entrepreneurs and a passion for the process of creation and making an organization profitable. This is in response to the question; what causes maintenance of entrepreneurs' long-term efforts to follow-up on opportunities? Passion includes a positive tendency to entrepreneurial activities that can lead to perceptions of related purposes, entrepreneurial behavior and entrepreneurial effectiveness (Yitshaki and Kropp 2016). Entrepreneurial passion seems to be an important motivator of an entrepreneur as it fosters a sense of trust in investors; especially when a product or environment is subject to ambiguity and change (Cardon et al. 2009). Despite the importance of passion for entrepreneurship, this has not been clarified by research to determine values and inspirational factors that encourage entrepreneurs to tolerate and accept unavoidable and high levels of uncertainty associated with the entrepreneurial activity (Judge and Douglas 2013).

Mashhad is one of the most visited religious cities in the world (Zabeth 1999). Because of holding pilgrimage sites including Imam Reza shrine within itself (Davidson and Gitlitz 2002), Mashhad has become not only a hub of tourism in Iran (Aminian 2012) but also of spirituality (Shahshahani 2009). Accordingly, the Islamic Educational, Scientific, and Cultural Organization (ISESCO) chose Mashhad as "cultural capital of the Muslim world" in Asia for 2017 (Press TV 2017). Hence, religion and spirituality play strong roles in the cultural and psychological contexts of Mashhad.

According to the Theory of Planned Behavior (Ajzen 1991), beliefs demonstrate the information we have about the world, and they form the cognitive basis for many of our responses to aspects of that world. Accordingly, beliefs establish the basis for our attitudes and intentions (Ajzen 1991). Traditionally, studies on effective and driving factors of entrepreneurial activities have focused on economic growth and wealth creation (Balog et al. 2014) and have ignored the role of spirituality (Kauanui et al. 2008, 2010). Nowadays, the effect of spirituality and religion in the field of entrepreneurship has begun to attract research attention (Balog et al. 2014) and some research has been done to evaluate spirituality on various aspects of entrepreneurship (Jackson and Konz 2006; Kauanui et al. 2005, 2008, 2010; Pio 2010; Nandram 2016). Balog et al. (2014) express that spirituality and religion had suitable potential as entrepreneurial measures of factors for the desire for self-fulfillment and meaning that are included in most definitions of spirituality and that have often been identified as a person's main drive to start up an independent business. Also, other research has expressed that more spirituality causes more intense passion in certain cases (Kauanui et al. 2010). Based on this, this issue can be raised by this question; can spiritual intelligence have a positive effect on entrepreneurial passion? Despite some research on the effect of spiritual and religious values on entrepreneurial motivation and attitudes towards entrepreneurship (Balog et al. 2014), very little research has been done to evaluate and test interrelation of these two concepts.

Research in the field of entrepreneurship is still investigating an explanation for reasons that some people have a tendency to start up a business and others lack this inclination (Holtsch 2014). Identifying factors for entrepreneurial intention by evaluating roles and models for importance, mental plans and criteria and cognitive traits and patterns can clarify the process of acting on this intention (Fayolle and Liñán 2014). In addition, it can provide a clearer perception of the issue of how automatic processes are responsible for decision making in humans. Some entrepreneurs have expressed that their motivation to start a business was to help others and to serve society, customers and other stakeholders in a company rather than personal financial gain (Balog et al. 2014). Social entrepreneurs are an obvious example of this attitude. Social entrepreneurs have a social purpose as the main goal rather than ambition for personal financial profit (Shaw and Carter 2007). According to Ungvári-Zrínyi (2014), spirituality is one of the factors which inspires entrepreneurs and causes them to think and move beyond mere material interests. In addition to this, Krueger (2007, 2009) suggested that research on entrepreneurial intention could be developed through an attempt to provide a better understanding of the deep beliefs and assumptions that form intentions. So, this raises a question: does spiritual intelligence have a positive and significant effect on people's intention for social entrepreneurship? Despite some research in the field of spirituality and entrepreneurship, little has been done to evaluate and test the relationship between spiritual intelligence and social entrepreneurial intention. Some studies have stated that entrepreneurial passion is one factor that can lead to entrepreneurial intention (Nasiru et al. 2014; Moses et al. 2016; Biraglia and Kadile 2017). So the present research was done to investigate whether or not spiritual intelligence has an effect on social entrepreneurial intention through the mediating role of entrepreneurial passion. Accordingly, because of the importance that spirituality can play in the stimulation of entrepreneurial passion and subsequently social entrepreneurial intention, the contribution of this research is to examine the effect of spiritual intelligence on social entrepreneurial intention with the mediating role of entrepreneurial passion among local undergraduate students in the fields of management and industrial engineering in universities in the City of Mashhad, Iran.

#### 2 Literature Review and Research Hypotheses

#### 2.1 Spiritual Intelligence

Spirituality is one of the three main philosophical perspectives of the ultimate nature of reality. As the first of these, spirituality is a theistic perspective; it concedes to the existence of a superior or immortal soul. The second perspective is atheism that denies belief in God or any type of soul or deity. According to this perspective, matters are the only truth of reality. The third perspective is agnosticism; wherein there is no clear evidence for the existence of God or any immortal souls and therefore, questions of existence cannot be answered (Nandram 2016). Spirituality is regarded as a set of capabilities and abilities that make humans capable of solving problems and reaching everyday goals in life (Emmons 2000). Spirituality is the search among individuals or groups for a sacred sense of purpose (Kauanui et al. 2010). Spirituality refers to how a person gives meaning to his life through an ultimate state and in response to deep consideration of the world (Emmons 2000). Some researchers have presented spirituality as a type of consciousness (e.g., Mayer 2000) and others refer to spirituality as a type of intelligence (e.g., Emmons 2000; King and DeCicco 2009). Spiritual intelligence is a set of mental-adaptive capacities based on immaterial and transcendental aspects of reality (King and DeCicco 2009). A review of various definitions of spiritual intelligence shows that having meaning and purpose in life is a common factor in most of these definitions. Having spiritual intelligence helps a person to reach a deeper cognitive understanding of events and experiences and the connections between them (Vaughan 2002). Transcendental concerns are manifest in a person's efforts to fulfill their purpose and to create a deep connection between spirituality and purpose in life (Zohar 2012). In fact, one function of spirituality is the creation of a transcendental perspective of the purposes that a person aspires to fulfill in their in life. Transcendental concerns give form and orientation to a person's life and make connections between motivation, spirituality, and intelligence (Emmons 2000).

Emmons (2000) presents five components of spiritual intelligence:

(1) Capacity for transcendence; (2) Ability to enter into higher spiritual state of consciousness; (3) Ability to invest in everyday activities, events and relationships with a sense of the sacred; (4) Ability to utilize spiritual resources to solve problems in life; (5) Capacity to engage in virtuous behavior, such as showing forgiveness, expressing gratitude, demonstrating humility and displaying compassion.

King and DeCicco (2009) in a newer and similar conceptualization counted four main abilities or capacities for spiritual intelligence: (1) Critical Existential Thinking—a capacity of critical reflection of the nature of being, reality, the world, space time and other existential and metaphysical topics, as well as the capacity to reflect on non-existential topics related to a person's being; (2) Personal Meaning Making—the ability to extract meaning and a personal sense of purpose from all material and mental experiences such as the capacity to create and to find direction or purpose in life; (3) Transcendental Awareness—capacity to recognize transcendental aspects of the self, others and the world during normal states of consciousness, associated with the capacity to recognize relationships; (4) Conscious State Expansion—ability to enter heightened state of consciousness.

#### 2.2 Entrepreneurial Passion

Generally, passion is defined as a person's strong tendency to favored activities that they regard as important (Murnieks et al. 2011). Passion can strengthen motivation and provide a balanced and purposeful life (Curran et al. 2015). Passion is necessary to reach higher levels of operation and to cope with change (Ismail et al. 2016). However, the concept of passion as a positive tendency has not always had consensus as sometimes it has been used to describe forceful and compulsive activities, a negative feeling or excessive insistence. According to these two perspectives, two types of passion can be identified, harmonious passion and obsessive passion. The main differentiation between these two perspectives is that of how people's inner actions are changed according to their identity (Curran et al. 2015).

Harmonious passion is under a person's control such that they can select freely when to involve it. This type of passion is associated with effective profitability and cognitive consequences such as positive feelings, satisfaction with an activity and mental health. In contrast to harmonious passion; obsessive passion is not controlled by a person. If a person with obsessive passion can't follow an activity there may be consequences such as psychological distress or negative perceptions such as an inability to concentrate, as well as negative consequences such as feelings of guilt (Ho and Pollack 2014). Of course, it should be considered that both types of passion have the potential to be highly energizing (Curran et al. 2015). This binary model of passion has seven main elements. These refer to an initial definition of passion and to philosophical ideas that have formed the conceptual principles: (1) Passion is related to a particular activity and not to everything. (2) Passion consists of a deep love and interest in an activity. (3) Passion is only apparent in those activities that are valuable and meaningful for a person. (4) Passion is a motivator. (5) Passion appears when an activity becomes natural and contributes to a person's identity. (6) Passion has highlevel psychological energy, effort, and assiduity. (7) Passion takes a dual form and can have compatible or incompatible consequences (Vallerand 2015).

Recently, entrepreneurial research has focused on the concept of entrepreneurial passion (Moses et al. 2016). As entrepreneurship is a risky and time-consuming process, it needs initiatives; there is a widely held belief that entrepreneurs have a deep passion for success. This deep passion makes them creative and grants the necessary diligence to conduct activities, overcome major challenges and to cope with the ups and downs that exist at beginning of each new investment (Lucas et al. 2016). In addition, passion helps to identify informational patterns in order to

discover and utilize hopeful opportunities (Cardon et al. 2013). Passion has a strong effect on creativity, stability, and attraction to entrepreneurial activity. Passion includes conscious, intense, positive and achievable emotions, which are understood through participation in entrepreneurial activities (Cardon 2008).

In addition to the two-type division mentioned in Vallerand et al. (2003), according to harmonious and obsessive types of passion, another division for entrepreneurial passion was introduced by Cardon et al. (2013). This type of passion was framed according to three categories; inventing, founding and developing:

- Passion for inventing: this type of passion is related to activities associated with evaluating an environment for new markets, grabbing opportunities to develop new products or services and involvement with new initiatives (Cardon et al. 2013). People with a passion for inventing are insistent on following new ideas; this leads to the discovery of opportunities that others are unable to identify (Lu et al. 2016). In other words, a passion for inventing shows enthusiasm for activities related to identification, innovation, and evaluation of new opportunities (Breugst et al. 2012; Collewaert et al. 2016). A tendency to provide new solutions for a market is often a driving force for entrepreneurs. People with a passion for inventing, actively seek opportunities, enjoy providing new ideas for products and services and have the desire to invent new solutions for important needs and problems (Cardon et al. 2013).
- Passion for founding: many entrepreneurs are stimulated by a tendency to found a new business (Nasiru et al. 2014). Entrepreneurs, with a passion for founding new companies, often use various methods to obtain and integrate the necessary resources to start up a business (Lu et al. 2016). The concept of passion for founding is evident among entrepreneurs in their interest in activities related to founding a business for commercialization and exploitation of opportunities (Breugst et al. 2012). A passion for founding is related to activities related to collecting the required financial, human, and social resources to start a new business (Cardon et al. 2013). In other words, this type of passion determines how an entrepreneur overcomes the key challenges of founding a new business such as mobilizing financial resources, employing personnel and targeting customers (Collewaert et al. 2016). Entrepreneurs with a passion for founding projects often enjoy the process of starting up a business. For example, some entrepreneurs who have a strong passion for founding projects have started up many businesses during their lifetime; these people can be called habitual entrepreneurs<sup>1</sup> (Cardon et al. 2013).
- Passion for developing: this type of passion is related to growth and development
  of a business after the founding stage. A tendency to found isn't the motivation
  for many entrepreneurs; it is more likely that they have a conscious motivation to
  develop business (Cardon et al. 2013). These people have positive feelings about

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>Habitual entrepreneurs are entrepreneurs who have ownership (or a part of ownership) of more than one independent business during their life; whether this ownership to be in a unique time (Serial entrepreneurs) or in various time periods and discontinuously (Portfolio entrepreneurs) (Ucbasaran et al. 2008).

themselves when involved in activities such as finding new customers, developing markets and optimizing organizational processes (which are useful for the success of an organization in the long-term) (Breugst et al. 2012). Also, they often present different strategies of organizational management to their peers. Thus they rely on different managerial methods and make connections with key stakeholders in order to promote the continuous development of an organization. Entrepreneurs, with a passion for developing, enjoy activities such as increasing sales, employing new personnel or finding foreign investors (Cardon et al. 2013).

#### 2.3 Spiritual Intelligence and Entrepreneurial Passion

Spirituality links all attitudes and motivations of a person in a significant and mutually acceptable way. Spirituality gives life a sense of meaning (Ungvári-Zrínyi 2014). Specifically, spirituality gives meaning to a person's economic and entrepreneurial activities and this convergence provides a deeper meaning. Judge and Douglas (2013) in a five-year study on entrepreneurs reported that faith and value orientation of entrepreneurs can be effective on operation of the process of creating a business through passion, an entrepreneur's motivation and emotional tolerance.

Also, Kauanui et al. (2010) expressed that if people have a spiritual connection with their work then they experience more passion and that strengthens belief in the importance of their work. They found that this passion was elevated by meaning-fulness and valuable communication. Therefore the first hypothesis of the research is as follows.

**H1** Spiritual intelligence has positive and significant effects on entrepreneurial passion.

#### 2.4 Social Entrepreneurship

Although the concept of social entrepreneurship has been more prevalent in recent decades, it has different meanings for different people. Social entrepreneurs are very innovative people. Like other entrepreneurs, they enjoy competition and learn from their mistakes as well as those of others, they don't avoid taking risks or subjecting themselves to environmental factors that could determine success or failure (Steinerowski et al. 2008). Social entrepreneurs have strong beliefs about social issues. They have long-standing and practical ideas about how to change and improve the world. This practical perspective, together with a set of values and emotional tendencies, leads to the creation of positive changes in the world (Waddock 2009). Social entrepreneurs are often identified by features such as inner motivation, determination and a passion for conducting affairs that they believe in (Neck et al. 2009). Although they work long hours, entrepreneurs are not motivated by purely material gain. Social entrepreneurs are concerned about the effect of their activities on other people. Also, in developing a business, they

consider the effect that they are having on other smaller groups. They proceed to work in unfamiliar environments and accept all risks in order to meet society's needs (Steinerowski et al. 2008).

#### 2.5 Social Entrepreneurial Intention

The intention is the driving factor for entrepreneurial activity (Hindle et al. 2009). Intentionality is a state of mind that draws a person's attention (and consequently experience and actions) toward a specified purpose. A person's intentions cause him to hold certain values and to strive to uphold those values despite various barriers. This process requires endurance, perseverance, and courage (Bird 1988). Many researchers have stated that the concept of entrepreneurial intention can lead to entrepreneurial behavior and is a good predictor of such behavior (Turker and Selçuk 2009). Entrepreneurial intention well aware of how to make a new business together with a tendency for planning for this work in the future (Nabi et al. 2010). The entrepreneurial intention is an important concept in the field of entrepreneurship; it has received much research attention from the 1990s until now (Fayolle and Liñán 2014). Evolution of theoretical literature on entrepreneurial intention is the result of the successful integration of social psychology and cognitive psychology theories related to the field of entrepreneurship (Nabi et al. 2010).

There are various models for entrepreneurial intention; they have many similarities and some differences. In a review of these models for entrepreneurial intention researchers such as Nabi et al. (2010) and Fayolle and Liñán (2014) conclude that the most important among such models are those of Shapero (1982), Bird (1988), Ajzen (1991) and Lüthje and Franke (2003). An explanation of each of these models is given below.

Shapero's model of the Entrepreneurial Event (SEE) (1982) suggests that entrepreneurial intention depends on perceived feasibility (personal capability) and perceived desirability (attractiveness) to start up a business; together with a tendency to act (tendency to put a decision into operation) when presented with an opportunity (Shapero 1982). In other words, the model expressed that a positive view of entrepreneurial feasibility, desire, and a propensity to act on the matter leads to entrepreneurial intention and consequently, entrepreneurial activities (Hindle et al. 2009).

Ajzen's Theory of Planned Behavior (TPB) (1991) focused on attitude as the best factor for predicting intention. This theory applies three factors to predict entrepreneurial intention: attitude toward behavior, social norms and perceived behavioral control. Attitude toward the behavior and perceived behavioral control are equivalent to Shapero's (1982) perceived desirability and perceived feasibility, respectively (Lüthje and Franke 2003).

The main difference between Ajzen's model (1991) and Shapero's model (1982) relates to the axes of a propensity to act and role of social norms such that Ajzen's model (1991) implies the role of perceived social pressure in actualizing or not

actualizing entrepreneurial behavior (Nabi et al. 2010). These social factors can include a person's important points of reference and behavior patterns, entrepreneurial climate or environment (Fretschner 2014). The two mentioned models have been integrated or developed by some researchers such as Krueger (1993), Krueger and Brazeal (1994), Kolvereid (1996), Krueger (2000), Elfving et al. (2009), and Liñán et al. (2013).

Krueger (1993) tested and confirmed Shapero's model (1982) using path analysis. Furthermore, his research found that prior experience related to entrepreneurship had an indirect effect on entrepreneurial intention through perceived feasibility and perceived desirability. His research showed that perceived feasibility had a considerable relationship with the extent of prior entrepreneurial experience. Also, he found that perceived desirability had a relationship with positive prior experience of entrepreneurial activity.

Krueger and Brazeal (1994) suggested that perceived desirability included social norms and attitudes and that perceived feasibility originated from self-efficacy. They expressed that these two factors provided the necessary belief and validity in a person and that this belief provided a tendency and willingness to act. It was reported that this potential leads to entrepreneurial intention.

Kolvereid (1996) tested and strongly confirmed Ajzen's model (1991) done on undergraduate students in the field of business in Norway. It was found that criteria such as gender, previous experience of self-employment and family background affected entrepreneurial intention in students through attitude, mental health and perceived behavioral control.

Elfving et al. (2009) developed a contextual model of entrepreneurial intention by considering Shapero's model (1982). In this model, the role of self-efficacy and motivation was emphasized in fostering entrepreneurial intention. They expressed that self-efficacy can affect motivation, the creation of superior and entrepreneurial purpose and perceived entrepreneurial feasibility. Motivation is often acquired by a momentary insight or a sudden event and it creates a superior and transcendental sense of purpose in a person. Eventually, perceived entrepreneurial desirability and feasibility, superior and transcendental purpose and evaluation of the opportunities caused by entrepreneurial purpose produce entrepreneurial intention.

It seems that Liñán et al. (2013) gave the most development in Ajzen's model (1991). This cross-cultural research on university graduates in Spain and the United Kingdom found that that values of person's relatives affected a person's level of entrepreneurial skills, environmental entrepreneurial knowledge, and his/her personal attitude. However, social and cultural values of a society were effective in entrepreneurial skills, mental norms and perceived behavioral control; also environmental entrepreneurial knowledge had an effect on perceived behavioral control. Eventually, mental norm leads to entrepreneurial intention in a person indirectly and through his/her personal attitude and perceived behavioral control.

Empirical evidence has confirmed the utility of the models of Shapero (1982) and Ajzen (1991) in the field of entrepreneurship. However, Bird's model (1988) has not been validated empirically in the literature. Bird (1988) begins with an explanation of intentionality in his research and then continues to address the process of

entrepreneurial intention. He expressed two categories of thinking (rational analytical cause-effect thinking and intuitive holistic contextual thinking). These categories of thought relate to social, political and economic contexts on the one hand and personality, capability and a person's experiences on the other. Results and outcomes of these two categories of thinking can eventually lead to intention and then action. In explaining the process of intention, he expressed that it begins with attention to needs, values, demands, habits, and specified beliefs that cause tension and then a focus on a strategy that results in a certain position.

Model of Lüthje and Franke (2003) expresses that attitude to entrepreneurship is related to a combination of personal characteristics. Then these attitudes, together with perceived contextual factors (barriers and supportive structures), affect a student's level of tension in starting a business. This model provides a wide framework to evaluate antecedents and prerequisites for entrepreneurial intention through an emphasis on the role of government plans for fostering a corporate culture and enabling the growth of small businesses.

Relatively few studies have been done on social entrepreneurial intention. One of these models for social entrepreneurial intention is that of Mair and Noboa (2006) that reports on internal factors effective in social entrepreneurial intention. They developed models of Shapero (1982) and Ajzen (1991) and expressed that an intention that leads to social entrepreneurship develops from perceived desirability, which is under the effect of empathy and moral judgment and perceived feasibility, which in turn is affected by enablers such as self-directed activity, self-efficacy, direction from others and social support.

Hockerts (2017) developed the model of Mair and Noboa (2006) by adding two variables; prior experience and social issues. By testing the model of Mair and Noboa (2006), it was found that prior experience is a predictor for social entrepreneurial intention through its effect on empathy, moral obligation, self-efficacy and perceived social support.

# 2.6 Entrepreneurial Passion and Social Entrepreneurial Intention

According to the models of entrepreneurial intention and related research, it can be said that the research to date has concentrated mainly on entrepreneurial self-efficacy as the driving factor for entrepreneurial intention (Boyd and Vozikis 1994; Díaz-García and Jiménez-Moreno 2010; Owoseni 2014; Hassan and Bakri 2016); whereas Biraglia and Kadile (2017) reports that entrepreneurial passion not only affects entrepreneurial self-efficacy but that it also has a strong effect on entrepreneurial intention directly. Nasiru et al. (2014) found, in their research on university students in Nigeria, that passion for founding a business had a positive effect on entrepreneurial intention. However, the effect of passion for inventing on entrepreneurial intention was not confirmed in their research. Moses et al. (2016) designed a model

in which entrepreneurial intention had a moderating role in the relationship between entrepreneurial intention and the three variables of attitude toward the behavior, perceived behavioral control, and self-efficacy. They report that entrepreneurship training was affected by three variables: attitude to the behavior, perceived behavioral control and self-efficacy. After that, to reach entrepreneurial intention, entrepreneurial passion had the role of moderating between those three variables and entrepreneurial intention.

Nasiru et al. (2015) found, in a research on 595 students at federal universities in Nigeria, that a passion for inventing, a passion for founding, support from the university for entrepreneurial activity and perceived creativity had a positive and significant effect on entrepreneurial intention, but the hypothesis of the effect of entrepreneurship training on entrepreneurial intention was rejected in that research. Hence, according to the focus of this research on social entrepreneurial intention, the second hypothesis of the research is presented as follows:

**H2** Entrepreneurial passion has a positive and significant effect on social entrepreneurial intention.

# 2.7 Spiritual Intelligence and Social Entrepreneurial Intention

Social entrepreneurs have deep and well-rooted beliefs (Barendsen and Gardner 2004). As experience has an important role in the formation of social entrepreneurial intention (Drennan et al. 2005) and as social entrepreneurs have distinctive personal experiences (Nga and Shamuganathan 2010), these beliefs have been formed early and have been based on experiences. However, social entrepreneurs are extraordinary in the beliefs they hold and how these beliefs are emanated. They are exceptional and extraordinary in terms of having a distinct set of beliefs and effective ways to overcome barriers (Barendsen and Gardner 2004).

In recent decades, some people and organizations have invested in social entrepreneurship as a strategy to conduct their spiritual mission (Alderson 2011). It is common and usual that some managers and entrepreneurs have attributed their success to spirituality, experience, and intuition (Nandram 2016). However, there is a gap in the academic research on the relationship between spiritual intelligence and social entrepreneurial intention. Despite this, it has been mentioned in the literature that people with a tendency to social entrepreneurship have distinguished beliefs but these beliefs have not been explained clearly to date.

Spirituality includes morality, culture and religion (Ungvári-Zrínyi 2014) and Mair and Noboa (2006) acknowledged in their research that moral judgment had an effect on social entrepreneurial intention through an effect on perceived desirability. Also, Hockerts (2017) understood that moral obligation is a predictor of social entrepreneurial intention. Ungvári-Zrínyi (2014) stated that spirituality, through making sense of a person's actions, indicates whether or not a person's purpose and actions are acceptable to the society he/she lives in. According to Chin et al. (2012), spiritual intelligence and emotional intelligence encourage and improve an entrepreneur's performance. They have also stated that higher levels of spiritual and emotional intelligence create more successes for entrepreneurs in terms of creativity and innovation. This leads to the third hypothesis of the research, presented as follows:

**H3** Spiritual intelligence has positive and significant effects on social entrepreneurial intention.

# 2.8 The Conceptual Framework

According to the research hypotheses, the conceptual framework of the research can be drawn as follows. Because entrepreneurial passion, prepared by Cardon et al. (2013), is a formative construct and not reflective, and according to the statistical population of this research that constituted local undergraduate students, most of whom had not started up a business, only two types of passion were used to evaluate entrepreneurial passion; passion for inventing and passion for founding; examination of passion for developing has been ignored (Fig. 1).

# 3 Research Method

#### 3.1 Sample

This research was practical in terms of its purpose and data was collected by a descriptive-correlational method according to development of practical knowledge



Fig. 1 Hypothesized model

		Frequency	Percent
Gender	Female	196	51.04
	Male	188	48.96
Marital status	Single	323	84.11
	Married	61	15.89
Age (year)	18 & 19	237	61.72
	20 & 21	127	33.07
	22 to up	20	5.21
Field of study	Management	228	59.38
	Industrial engineering	156	40.62
Employment status	Unemployed	352	91.67
	Employee/worker	17	4.43
	Business owner	15	3.9

Table 1 Demographics of samples of the research

in the field of entrepreneurship and spirituality. The statistical population of this research constituted undergraduate students in the fields of industrial engineering and management from all universities in Mashhad City (including governmental, quasi-governmental and non-governmental universities) in Iran. Using the Cochran formula for unlimited population, 384 people were selected as the sample using the method of simple random sampling. Demographic features of samples of the research are observable in Table 1.

#### 3.2 Measures

A questionnaire was used to collect data for the research and it had two parts: the first part related to demographics and the second part included measuring variables of the research and embedded options were by type on the five-point Likert scale. Items related to measuring variables of spiritual intelligence were based on Self-Report Inventory (SISI) of King and DeCicco (2009); the variable of entrepreneurial passion and the two types (passion for founding and inventing) was based on the measure of Cardon et al. (2013) and measuring the variable of social entrepreneurial intention was researcher-made by adjusting the entrepreneurial intention measure of Liñán and Chen (2009).

#### 3.3 Factor Analysis and Validity Test

The structural equation modeling method with a partial least squares and Smart PLS 3 software (professional version) was used to analyze data. Reliability of data was evaluated by Cronbach's alpha and composite reliability (higher being of

Cronbach's alpha and composite reliability of 0.70 for the main construct of the research confirmed reliability of research). Furthermore, convergent validity (minimum acceptable value for the mean of extracted variance was determined at 0.4 and used to evaluate validity.

Various indexes have been used to evaluate fitting the model to the partial least squares approach, these are as follows:

- Standardized root mean square residual (SRMR): according to the opinion of Chin et al. (2014), values lower than 0.08 were determined acceptable for this index.
- Bentler-Bonnet index (NFI): values higher than 0.9 are acceptable for this index (Bentler and Bonett 1980)
- The goodness-of-fit index (GOF): Wetzels et al. (2009) introduced three values;
   0.10, 0.25 and 0.36 as weak, medium and strong, respectively, for the model fit index.
- R<sup>2</sup> index: shows the effect that exogenous variable(s) has on the endogenous variable. For R<sup>2</sup> criterion, three values of 0.19, 0.33 and 0.67 have been expressed as criteria for weak, medium and strong values of R<sup>2</sup>, respectively (Chin 1998).

Table 2 shows results for evaluation of reliability and convergent validity of the measure and in general, it shows a measure of the model's fit to the research. It was found that values of Cronbach's alpha, composite reliability and average variance extracted (AVE) were in the range of acceptable so reliability and convergent validity of the research tool were confirmed. Also, all values of standard factor loads were higher than 0.5 and values of T coefficient were higher than 1.96, this shows the favorable fit of the measuring model (some items were removed because of low T values).

Generally, values of the model-fitting index in Table 3 indicate acceptable fit of the model to the research. It is observed that value of Bentler-Bonnet index was obtained at 0.972 (higher than 0.9). Also indexes of SRMR and GOF obtained values of 0.052 (lower than 0.08) and 0.48 (higher than 0.36), respectively and confirmed that the model was a suitable fit to the research.  $R^2$  value was determined at 0.599 for social entrepreneurial intention construct, indicating a relatively strong effect of exogenous variables on this construct. However, values of  $R^2$  related to variables of passion for inventing and passion for founding indicate a medium effect of spiritual intelligence on these two variables.

#### 3.4 Findings

Table 4 shows values of average and standard deviation of variables of the research and value of correlation among variables of the research. Table 4 shows correlations of values of spiritual intelligence with the passion for inventing and passion for founding; these were determined medium at 0.528 and 0.463, respectively. However, spiritual intelligence had a higher correlation with the passion for inventing in

Variable	Item	Factor load	Т	Cronbach's alpha	Composite reliability	AVE
Spiritual intelligence	CET1	0.694	30.805	0.860	0.886	0.541
(SI)	CET2	0.677	32.718	1		
	CSE1	0.606	22.575	1		
	CSE2	0.708	32.603	1		
	CSE3	0.625	22.797	1		
	CSE4	0.656	24.493	1		
	PMM1	0.589	16.136	1		
	PMM2	0.672	25.658	1		
	TA1	0.615	20.529			
	TA2	0.639	23.169	]		
	TA3	0.583	16.475	]		
Passion for inventing	PI1	0.743	33.316	0.840	0.888	0.616
(PI)	PI2	0.845	66.817			
	PI3	0.829	61.469			
	PI4	0.848	68.318	]		
	PI5	0.639	23.836			
Passion for founding	PF1	0.847	69.631	0.862	0.906	0.707
(PF)	PF2	0.809	43.647	-		
	PF3	0.832	60.049			
	PF4	0.874	99.137			
Social entrepreneur- ial intention (SEI)	SEI1	0.771	37.233	0.884	0.912	0.633
	SEI2	0.810	44.790			
	SEI3	0.793	41.772	]		
	SEI4	0.774	40.598			
	SEI5	0.837	62.966			
	SEI6	0.788	49.756			

Table 2 Factor analysis, Cronbach's alpha, composite reliability and AVE values

Table 3 Model fitting indexes

Variable	R <sup>2</sup>	GOF	SRMR	NFI
Spiritual intelligence (SI)	-	0.48	0.052	0.972
Passion for inventing (PI)	0.279			
Passion for founding (PF)	0.214			
Social entrepreneurial intention (SEI)	0.599			

comparison with the passion for founding. In addition, passion for founding and social entrepreneurial intention had high correlation (0.753) and passion for inventing and social entrepreneurial intention had a relative medium correlation (0.428). Also, the value of correlation of spiritual intelligence and social entrepreneurial intention was determined at 0.501.

Results of hypotheses test of the research are shown in Table 5 and Fig. 2. Table 5 shows that all the research hypotheses were confirmed. Although the mediating role

Variable	Mean	SD	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
1. Age	19.47	1.42	-						
2. Gender <sup>a</sup>	1.49	0.50	0.15**						
3. Marital status <sup>b</sup>	1.16	0.36	0.20**	-0.14**					
4. Field of study <sup>c</sup>	1.41	0.49	0.2**	0.1*	0.003				
5. SI	3.08	1.16	0.027	0.008	0.017	0.04			
6. PI	3.40	1.10	-0.003	0.12*	0.002	0.087	0.53**		
7. PF	3.35	1.14	-0.058	-0.052	-0.037	-0.071	0.46**	0.73**	
8. SEI	3.15	1.09	-0.024	0.023	-0.039	-0.034	0.50**	0.43**	0.75**

Table 4 Descriptive statistics and correlations

SI spiritual intelligence, PI passion for inventing, PF passion for founding, SEI social entrepreneurial intention

 $p^* < 0.05; p^* < 0.01$ 

 $a^{1} = female, 2 = male$ 

<sup>b</sup>1 = single, 2 = married

 $^{c}1 = management$ , 2 = industrial engineering

Hypothesis	Path coefficient	T statistic	Result
$SI \to SEI$	0.164**	4.229	✓Positive
$SI \to PI \to SEI$	0.052**	(15.550) (2.783)	✓Positive
$SI \to PF \to SEI$	0.28**	(12.695) (16.979)	✓Positive
$SI{\rightarrow}\ PI$	0.528**	15.550	✓Positive
$SI \to PF$	0.463**	12.695	✓Positive
$\text{PI} \rightarrow \text{SEI}$	0.098**	2.783	✓Positive
$PF \to SEI$	0.606**	16.979	✓Positive

Table 5 Hypotheses test

SI spiritual intelligence, PI passion for inventing, PF passion for founding, SEI social entrepreneurial intention

\*\*p < 0.01

of passion for inventing and passion for founding in the relationship between spiritual intelligence and social entrepreneurial intention was confirmed, passion for founding was determined as a stronger mediator than the passion for inventing in this relationship and the mediating role of passion for inventing was found to be weak. The value of effect of spiritual intelligence on the passion for inventing was determined higher than the passion for founding. However, passion for founding had a much stronger effect on social entrepreneurial intention compared with the passion for inventing. Although the direct effect of spiritual intelligence on social entrepreneurial intention was confirmed statistically, the intensity of this effect was low.



Fig. 2 Final model

Although all hypotheses are confirmed based on T values, other methods including Sobel's (1982) test, the VAF<sup>2</sup> statistic (Iacobucci and Duhachek 2003), and the method of Preacher and Hayes (2004, 2008) are also used for mediation analysis. As will be seen below, Z-values are 1.374 and 9.876 for the mediating roles of "passion for inventing" and "passion for founding", respectively. It shows that only the mediating role of "passion for founding" is significant (1.96 < 9.876).

$$Z - value_{PI} = \frac{0.528 \times 0.098}{\sqrt{(0.528^2 \times 0.071^2) + (0.098^2 \times 0.03^2) + (0.03^2 \times 0.71^2)}} = 1.374$$
$$Z - value_{PF} = \frac{0.463 \times 0.606}{\sqrt{(0.463^2 \times 0.0231^2) + (0.606^2 \times 0.0434^2) + (0.0231^2 \times 0.0434^2)}} = 9.876$$

As shown below, the values of VAF are equal to 0.24 and 0.631 for the mediating role of "passion for inventing" and "passion for founding", respectively. Hence, passion for founding is stronger mediator than passion for inventing.

$$VAF_{PI} = \frac{0.528 \times 0.098}{(0.528 \times 0.098) + 0.164} = 0.24$$
$$VAF_{PF} = \frac{0.463 \times 0.606}{(0.463 \times 0.606) + 0.164} = 0.631$$

According to Preacher and Hayes (2004, 2008), the results of mediation analysis is observable in Table 6.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>Variance accounted for.

Hypothesis	c*	b**	a***	c'	Result
$SI \to PI \to SEI$	0.164	0.098	0.528	0.112	Partial mediation (c' <c)< td=""></c)<>
$SI \to PF \to SEI$	0.164	0.606	0.463	0.136	Partial mediation ( $c' < c$ )

Table 6 Results of Preacher and Hayes Mediation Analysis

SI spiritual intelligence, PI passion for inventing, PF passion for founding, SEI social entrepreneurial intention

\*Path coefficient for SI->SEI relationship

\*\*Path coefficients for PI/PF->SEI relationships

\*\*\*Path coefficients for SI->PI/PF relationships

Table 6 shows that the relationship between spiritual intelligence and social entrepreneurial intention is significant in the first step (c). Accordingly, the first condition for mediation analysis is confirmed. In the second and third steps (b & a), the relationships of two types of entrepreneurial passion with spiritual intelligence and social entrepreneurial intention are also significant. Therefore, the second and third conditions for mediation analysis are also verified. As "passion for inventing" and "passion for founding" play the mediating roles in the fourth step, path coefficients (0.164) will decrease to 0.112 and 0.136, respectively [ $c' = c - (a \times b)$ ]. This result shows that two types of entrepreneurial passions play partial mediating roles between spiritual intelligence and social entrepreneurial intention. However, passion for founding is a stronger mediator in this relationship.

#### 4 Conclusion and Suggestions

Due to the important role of spirituality and religion in the psychological and cultural contexts of Mashhad, the present research was conducted to clarify the relationship between spiritual intelligence and social entrepreneurial intention according to the mediating role of entrepreneurial passion among local undergraduate students in industrial engineering and management at universities in the city of Mashhad in Iran. Results showed that both types of entrepreneurial passion had mediating roles in the relationship between a student's spiritual intelligence and social entrepreneurial intention. However, passion for founding was a stronger mediator in this relationship compared to the passion for inventing. Results also showed that spiritual intelligence had a positive and significant effect on the passion for inventing and passion for founding. However, its effect on the passion for inventing was slightly higher. The findings of this research also showed that both types of entrepreneurial passion had positive and significant effects on social entrepreneurial intention. This result is in line with reports of Biraglia and Kadile (2017), Nasiru et al. (2015) and Moses et al. (2016) but contrasts with some of the findings reported in Nasiru et al. (2014) in which the effect of passion for inventing on entrepreneurial intention was rejected. However, in the present research, despite statistical confirmation of the effect of passion for inventing on social entrepreneurial intention, this effect was weak and passion for founding had a stronger effect on social entrepreneurial intention. This finding confirms the viewpoint of Cardon et al. (2013) who expressed that the role of passion for founding was more prominent than the other two types of entrepreneurial passion. In addition, the direct effect of spiritual intelligence on social entrepreneurial intention was also confirmed in the present research. This result is in line with the viewpoint of Chin et al. (2012) and compatible with models of social entrepreneurial intention of Mair and Noboa (2006) and Hockerts (2017). Furthermore, results of the present research were consistent and compatible with all studies that have considered the role of internal factors in the formation of entrepreneurial intention. Lüthje and Franke (2003), Bird (1988) and Owoseni (2014) are examples of such studies. Lüthje and Franke (2003), by explaining the process of entrepreneurial decision-making, emphasized that internal factors such as interest in risk-taking, need for independence, and internal control can lead to a positive attitude, self-employment and entrepreneurial intention, as well as the effects of external factors. Owoseni (2014) found in his research that internal factors such as self-efficacy and motivation to succeed had a positive effect on entrepreneurial intention.

According to the positive effect of spiritual intelligence on entrepreneurial passion and students' social entrepreneurial intention in this paper, it is suggested that spirituality and concepts of theism are promoted among students and that provisions are made for the required training and that awareness of spirituality should be promoted. Training courses should be conducted to introduce students to spiritual intelligence and methods of strengthening such attitudes are practical suggestions to follow up on this research.

It is suggested that the social entrepreneurial intention model of Mair and Noboa (2006) and Hockerts (2017) is developed by adding the variables of entrepreneurial passion and spiritual intelligence and that the new model is then tested. According to the type of statistical population of this research and the lack of measurement of passion for developing, it is suggested that relationships of the research are tested in larger and different statistical populations such as social entrepreneurs and habitual entrepreneurs by examining the mediating role of three types of entrepreneurial passion. According to the results of the research and confirmation of hypotheses of the research, it is suggested that the role of spirituality is studied in the context of entrepreneurship by concentrating on examples of various spiritual ideologies such as Islam, Christianity, and Buddhism.

#### References

Ajzen I (1991) The theory of planned behavior. Organ Behav Hum Decis Process 50(2):179–211 Alderson KJ (2011) The role of moral and spiritual capital in a social entrepreneur's personal development: a brief review of the literature. Int J Soc Entrep Innov 1(1):21–28

Aminian A (2012) Environmental performance measurement of tourism accommodations in the pilgrimage urban areas: the case of the Holy City of Mashhad, Iran. Procedia-Social and Behavioral Sciences 35:514–522

Balog AM, Baker LT, Walker AG (2014) Religiosity and spirituality in entrepreneurship: a review and research agenda. Journal of Management, Spirituality and Religion 11(2):159–186

- Barendsen L, Gardner H (2004) Is the social entrepreneur a new type of leader? Lead Lead 2004 (34):43–50
- Bentler PM, Bonett DG (1980) Significance tests and goodness of fit in the analysis of covariance structures. Psychol Bull 88(3):588–606
- Biraglia A, Kadile V (2017) The role of entrepreneurial passion and creativity in developing entrepreneurial intentions: insights from American homebrewers. J Small Bus Manag 55(1): 170–188
- Bird B (1988) Implementing entrepreneurial ideas: the case for intention. Acad Manag Rev 13(3): 442–453
- Boyd NG, Vozikis GS (1994) The influence of self-efficacy on the development of entrepreneurial intentions and actions. Entrepreneurship Theory and Practice 18:63–63
- Breugst N, Domurath A, Patzelt H, Klaukien A (2012) Perceptions of entrepreneurial passion and employees' commitment to entrepreneurial ventures. Entrepreneurship Theory and Practice 36(1):171–192
- Cardon MS (2008) Is passion contagious? The transference of entrepreneurial passion to employees. Hum Resour Manag Rev 18(2):77–86
- Cardon MS, Wincent J, Singh J, Drnovsek M (2009) The nature and experience of entrepreneurial passion. Acad Manag Rev 34(3):511–532
- Cardon MS, Gregoire DA, Stevens CE, Patel PC (2013) Measuring entrepreneurial passion: conceptual foundations and scale validation. J Bus Ventur 28(3):373–396
- Chin WW (1998) Issues and opinion on structural equation modeling. MIS Q 22(1):7-16
- Chin STS, Raman K, Yeow JA, Eze UC (2012) Relationship between emotional intelligence and spiritual intelligence in nurturing creativity and innovation among successful entrepreneurs: a conceptual framework. Procedia Soc Behav Sci 57:261–267
- Chin WW, Mills AM, Steel DJ, Schwarz A (2014) Multi-group invariance testing: an illustrative comparison of PLS permutation and covariance-based SEM invariance analysis. In: International conference on partial least squares and related methods. Springer International Publishing, pp. 267–284
- Collewaert V, Anseel F, Crommelinck M, De Beuckelaer A, Vermeire J (2016) When passion fades: disentangling the temporal dynamics of entrepreneurial passion for founding. J Manag Stud 53(6):966–995
- Curran T, Hill AP, Appleton PR, Vallerand RJ, Standage M (2015) The psychology of passion: a meta-analytical review of a decade of research on intrapersonal outcomes. Motiv Emot 39(5): 631–655
- Davidson LK, Gitlitz DM (2002) Pilgrimage: from the Ganges to Graceland: an encyclopedia, vol 1. ABC-CLIO, Santa Barbara, US
- Díaz-García MC, Jiménez-Moreno J (2010) Entrepreneurial intention: the role of gender. Int Entrep Manag J 6(3):261–283
- Drennan J, Kennedy J, Renfrow P (2005) Impact of childhood experiences on the development of entrepreneurial intentions. Int J Entrep Innov 6(4):231–238
- Elfving J, Brännback M, Carsrud A (2009) Toward a contextual model of entrepreneurial intentions. In: Carsrud AL, Brännback M (eds) Understanding the entrepreneurial mind: opening the black box. Springer, New York, pp 23–33
- Emmons RA (2000) Is spirituality an intelligence? Motivation, cognition, and the psychology of ultimate concern. Int J Psychol Relig 10(1):3–26
- Fayolle A, Liñán F (2014) The future of research on entrepreneurial intentions. J Bus Res 67(5): 663–666
- Fretschner M (2014) Ajzen's theory of planned behavior in entrepreneurship education research. In: Weber S, Oser FK, Achtenhagen F, Fretschner M, Trost S (eds) Becoming an Entrepreneur. Sense Publishers, Rotterdam, pp 249–277
- Hassan RA, Bakri MZ (2016) Self-efficacy and self-independence in promoting self-employment intention among university students. J Res Bus Econ Manag 6(2):888–893

- Hindle K, Klyver K, Jennings DF (2009) An "informed" intent model: incorporating human capital, social capital, and gender variables into the theoretical model of entrepreneurial intentions. In: Carsrud AL, Brännback M (eds) Understanding the entrepreneurial mind: opening the Black Box. Springer, New York, pp 35–50
- Ho VT, Pollack JM (2014) Passion isn't always a good thing: examining entrepreneurs' network centrality and financial performance with a dualistic model of passion. J Manag Stud 51(3): 433–459
- Hockerts K (2017) Determinants of social entrepreneurial intentions. Entrepreneurship Theory and Practice 44(1):105–130
- Holtsch D (2014) Entrepreneurial intentions in initial vocational education and training. In: Weber S, Oser FK, Achtenhagen F, Fretschner M, Trost S (eds) Becoming an entrepreneur. Sense Publishers, Rotterdam, pp 139–160
- Iacobucci D, Duhachek A (2003) Mediation analysis round table acr 2003. Presentation at the round table of the ACR Conference, Toronto
- Ismail I, Husin N, Rahim NA, Kamal MHM, Mat RC (2016) Entrepreneurial success among single mothers: the role of motivation and passion. Procedia Econ Finance 37:121–128
- Jackson JJ, Konz GN (2006) Spirituality and entrepreneurs. Journal of Management, Spirituality and Religion 3(3):242–257
- Judge WQ, Douglas TJ (2013) Entrepreneurship as a leap of faith. J Manag Spiritual Relig 10(1): 37–65
- Kauanui SK, Thomas KD, Waters GR (2005) Entrepreneurship and spirituality: integration of spirituality into the workplace. J Manag Spiritual Relig 2(2):255–274
- Kauanui SK, Thomas KD, Sherman CL, Waters GR, Gilea M (2008) Exploring entrepreneurship through the lens of spirituality. J Manag Spiritual Relig 5(2):160–189
- Kauanui SK, Thomas KD, Rubens A, Sherman CL (2010) Entrepreneurship and spirituality: a comparative analysis of entrepreneurs' motivation. J Small Bus Entrep 23(4):621–635
- King DB, DeCicco TL (2009) A viable model and self-report measure of spiritual intelligence. Int J Transpersonal Stud 28(1):68–85
- Kolvereid L (1996) Prediction of employment status choice intentions. Enterp Theory Pract 21(1): 47–58
- Krueger N (1993) The impact of prior entrepreneurial exposure on perceptions of new venture feasibility and desirability. Enterp Theory Pract 18(1):5–22
- Krueger N (2000) The cognitive infrastructure of opportunity emergence. Entrep Theory Pract 24(3):5–23
- Krueger NF (2007) What lies beneath? The experiential essence of entrepreneurial thinking. Entrepreneurship Theory and Practice 31(1):123–138
- Krueger N (2009) Entrepreneurial intentions are dead: long live entrepreneurial intentions. In: Carsrud AL, Brännback M (eds) Understanding the entrepreneurial mind. Springer, New York, pp 51–72
- Krueger NF, Brazeal DV (1994) Entrepreneurial potential and potential entrepreneurs. Entrepreneurship Theory and Practice 18:91–104
- Liñán F, Chen YW (2009) Development and cross-cultural application of a specific instrument to measure entrepreneurial intentions. Entrepreneurship Theory and Practice 33(3):593–617
- Liñán F, Nabi G, Krueger N (2013) British and Spanish entrepreneurial intentions: a comparative study. Revista de Economía Mundial 33:73–103
- Lu XF, Shan BA, Chen B (2016) Entrepreneurial passion definition, antecedent, outcome, and model building. In: Proceedings of the 6th international Asia conference on industrial engineering and management innovation. Atlantis Press, pp 1055–1062
- Lucas K, Kerrick SA, Haugen J, Crider CJ (2016) Communicating entrepreneurial passion: personal passion vs. perceived passion in venture pitches. IEEE Trans Prof Commun 59(4): 363–378
- Lüthje C, Franke N (2003) The 'making' of an entrepreneur: testing a model of entrepreneurial intent among engineering students at MIT. R&D Manag 33(2):135–147

- Mair J, Noboa E (2006) Social entrepreneurship: how intentions to create a social venture are formed. In: Mair J, Robinson J, Hockerts K (eds) Social entrepreneurship. Palgrave Macmillan, UK, pp 121–135
- Mayer JD (2000) Spiritual intelligence or spiritual consciousness? Int J Psychol Relig 10(1):47-56
- Moses CL, Olokundun MA, Akinbode M, Agboola M, Inelo F (2016) Entrepreneurship education and entrepreneurial intentions: the moderating role of passion. Soc Sci 11(5):645–653
- Murnieks CY, Mosakowski E, Cardon MS (2011) Pathways of fire: an empirical look at entrepreneurial passion. Front Entrep Res 31(4):138–150
- Nabi G, Holden R, Walmsley A (2010) Entrepreneurial intentions among students: towards a re-focused research agenda. J Small Bus Enterp Dev 17(4):537–551
- Nandram SS (2016) How do spirituality, intuition and entrepreneurship go together? Philos Manag 15(1):65–82
- Nasiru A, Keat OY, Bhatti MA (2014) Relationship between entrepreneurial passion for inventing, entrepreneurial passion founding and entrepreneurial intention: the role of perceived creativity disposition. Res J 2(1):132–144
- Nasiru A, Keat OY, Bhatti MA (2015) Influence of perceived university support, perceived effective entrepreneurship education, perceived creativity disposition, entrepreneurial passion for inventing and founding on entrepreneurial intention. Mediterr J Soc Sci 6(3):88–95
- Neck H, Brush C, Allen E (2009) The landscape of social entrepreneurship. Bus Horiz 52(1):13-19
- Nga JKH, Shamuganathan G (2010) The influence of personality traits and demographic factors on social entrepreneurship start up intentions. J Bus Ethics 95(2):259–282
- Owoseni OO (2014) The influence of some personality factors on entrepreneurial intentions. Int J Bus Soc Sci 5(1):278–284
- Pio E (2010) Islamic sisters: spirituality and ethnic entrepreneurship in Sweden. Equality Divers Incl 29(1):113–130
- Preacher KJ, Hayes AF (2004) SPSS and SAS procedures for estimating indirect effects in simple mediation models. Behav Res Methods 36(4):717–731
- Preacher KJ, Hayes AF (2008) Asymptotic and resampling strategies for assessing and comparing indirect effects in multiple mediator models. Behav Res Methods 40(3):879–891
- Press TV (2017, January 24) Mashhad named cultural capital of Muslim world. Retrieved from http://presstv.ir/Detail/2017/01/24/507521/Iran-Mashhad-cultural-capital-Muslim-world
- Schumpeter JA (1934) The theory of economic development: an inquiry into profits, capital, credit, interest, and the business cycle, vol 55. Transaction Publishers
- Shahshahani S (2009) Cities of pilgrimage, vol 4. LIT Verlag, Berlin, Germany
- Shane S, Locke EA, Collins CJ (2003) Entrepreneurial motivation. Hum Resour Manag Rev 13(2): 257–279
- Shapero A (1982) The social dimensions of entrepreneurship. In: Kent CA, Sexton DL, Vesper KH (eds) Encyclopedia of entrepreneurship. Prentice Hall, Englewood Cliffs, NJ, pp 72–90
- Shaw E, Carter S (2007) Social entrepreneurship: theoretical antecedents and empirical analysis of entrepreneurial processes and outcomes. Journal of Small Business and Enterprise Development 14(3):418–434
- Sobel ME (1982) Asymptotic confidence intervals for indirect effects in structural equation models. In: Leinhart S (ed) Sociological methodology 1982. Jossey-Bass, San Francisco, pp 290–312
- Steinerowski A, Jack SL, Farmer J (2008, June 5–7) Who are the social 'entrepreneurs' and what do they actually do? Paper presented at the Babson College Entrepreneurship Research Conference (BCERC)
- Turker D, Selçuk SS (2009) Which factors affect entrepreneurial intention of university students? J Eur Ind Train 33(2):142–159
- Ucbasaran D, Westhead P, Wright M (2008) Habitual entrepreneurs. In: Basu A, Casson M, Wadeson N, Yeung B (eds) The Oxford handbook of entrepreneurship. Oxford University Press, pp 462–482
- Ungvári-Zrínyi I (2014) Spirituality as motivation and perspective for a socially responsible entrepreneurship. World Rev Entrep Manag Sustain Dev 10(1):4–15

- Vallerand RJ (2015) The psychology of passion: a dualistic model. Oxford University Press, New York
- Vallerand RJ, Blanchard C, Mageau GA, Koestner R, Ratelle C, Léonard M, Gagné M, Marsolais J (2003) Les passions de l'ame: on obsessive and harmonious passion. J Pers Soc Psychol 85(4): 756–767
- Vaughan F (2002) What is spiritual intelligence? J Humanist Psychol 42(2):16-33
- Waddock S (2009) Pragmatic visionaries: difference makers as social entrepreneurs. Organ Dyn 38(4):281–289
- Wetzels M, Odekerken-Schröder G, Van Oppen C (2009) Using PLS path modeling for assessing hierarchical construct models: guidelines and empirical illustration. MIS Q 33(1):177–195
- Yitshaki R, Kropp F (2016) Entrepreneurial passions and identities in different contexts: a comparison between high-tech and social entrepreneurs. Entrep Reg Dev 28(3-4):206-233
- Zabeth HR (1999) Landmarks of Mashhad. Printing and Publishing Foundation of Astan Quds Razavi, Mashhad, Iran
- Zohar D (2012) Spiritual intelligence: the ultimate intelligence. Bloomsbury Publishing

# **Entrepreneurship Education and Training in Saudi Arabia**



Mohammad Tahlil Azim and Abdulrahman Hariri

Abstract The paper aims (1) to trace the present status of Entrepreneurship Education and Training (EET) in Saudi Arabia and (2) to assess the design of the Entrepreneurship training programs offered by public and private institutes, and Entrepreneurship education programs offered at universities in Saudi Arabia. The design of the EET programs is evaluated in line with the Azim and Al-Kahtani's EET Model (Journal of Economics and Sustainable Development 6(22):112–127, 2015). Data were collected from the academic instructors and trainers of EET programs through a structured questionnaire based on the Model. It is observed that there are a number of initiatives from the public and private sectors in Saudi Arabia in the form of training, counseling, funding, incubation and other advisory and material supports to the potential as well as nascent entrepreneurs. However, it is observed that no formal course on entrepreneurship is offered either in secondary schools or in technical institutes. Most of the Saudi universities offer an entrepreneurship course for business students only. Moreover, such courses are usually optional rather than mandatory. The study reveals that the facilitators of the programs have less conviction to see their participants as potential entrepreneurs. As far as the contents and approaches of EET programs are concerned, it is found that the interactive and experiential activities like games, competition, role-plays, and creative exercises are relatively less used in EET programs which reduce the efficacy of the program to develop the much-needed psychosocial abilities in the participants. The paper concludes with a number of recommendations regarding overall improvement of EET in Saudi Arabia. The uniqueness of the paper lies with its pioneering attempt to provide a bird's eye view of overall EET efforts in Saudi Arabia and evaluation of such efforts in terms of contents, approaches of delivery and facilitator characteristics.

**Keywords** Entrepreneurship Education and Training (EET) · Saudi Arabia · Start-up

M. T. Azim  $(\boxtimes) \cdot A$ . Hariri

Faculty of Economics and Administration, Department of Business Administration, King Abdulaziz University, Jeddah, Saudi Arabia

<sup>©</sup> Springer International Publishing AG, part of Springer Nature 2018

N. Faghih, M. R. Zali (eds.), *Entrepreneurship Education and Research in the Middle East and North Africa (MENA)*, Contributions to Management Science, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-90394-1\_11

#### 1 Introduction

Addressing unemployment is a key challenge to every government. Saudi Arabia, the largest economy of the MENA region is not an exception. Despite its richness in oil and gas resources, it is struggling with youth unemployment. According to the figures of the General Authority of Statistics (GAS), the rate of unemployment among Saudis in the third quarter of the last year (2016) was 12.1%. Saudi Arabia recently adopted vision 2030, where it sets its target to reduce unemployment to 9% by 2020 and 6% by 2030. In fact, there are two major avenues to address unemployment, (1) creating jobs in the existing job market, and (2) entrepreneurship. As far as entrepreneurship is concerned, Saudi Arabia is a fertile ground for breeding entrepreneurs. According to a report of Jeddah Chamber (2016), there are approximately 1.97 million SMEs in Saudi Arabia, which constitute almost 90% of registered businesses and 60% of the total employment. Nearly, 85% of these SMEs are sole proprietor enterprises. The adult population survey (2016) of Global Entrepreneurship Monitor (GEM) observed that 81.3% respondents in Saudi Arabia consider entrepreneurship as a desirable career option and 78.7% feel that successful entrepreneurs have high status and respect in the society. Saudi adults also show high levels of self-perception about entrepreneurship, as 81.5% believe that there is a good opportunity to start new businesses following the next 6 months. Moreover, according to the World Bank's 'Ease of Doing Business Report' Saudi Arabia has ranked 49 in 2015, second within the MENA region, after the UAE. All this implies that Saudi Arabia has potential to develop entrepreneurial activity. However, the entrepreneurial activities are not taking place according to the potential. Regarding Total Early-stage Entrepreneurial Activity (TEA) measured by GEM, Saudi Arabia scored 11.4%, lowest among the participating countries from MENA region except for Jordan while the Established Business ownership rate was observed to be only 2.3%, one of the lowest among the participating nations in the region. The GEM's National Expert Survey (2016) identified government policies, financial support, cultural and social norms, entrepreneurial education and training, commercial infrastructure, and political, institutional, and social contexts as the primary constraints for entrepreneurship in Saudi Arabia. In fact, school level and post school entrepreneurship education and training are observed to be the least taken care of element among the constituents of the entrepreneurial ecosystem in the country. Thus it implies that Saudi Arabia should pay particular attention to entrepreneurship education and training as a vital force to stimulate entrepreneurship in the country.

It is believed that EET contributes to promoting employable skills for individuals, expanding the experiences, developing the readiness for work, enhancing creativity and innovation that lead to self-employment and job creation for unemployed youth (UNESCO and StratREAL Foundation 2013). A good number of studies found that entrepreneurship education programs have a positive impact on entrepreneurial intention (Guerrero et al. 2008; Krueger 2009; Linan and Chen 2009; Iakovleva et al. 2011; Muller 2011), perceived attractiveness and feasibility of a new venture (Fayolle et al. 2006; Muller 2011; Zhang et al. 2014) and on the cognition of

personal self-efficacy, pro-activeness, and the inclination toward risk (Sanchez 2013). Other studies underlined that attending an EET has a direct and positive relation with the participants' intention to start a business after graduating from the program (Dickson et al. 2008; Pittaway and Cope 2007; Souitaris et al. 2007). A survey of young entrepreneurs of G 20 countries (including Saudi Arabia) revealed that 66% of the youth ask for training to learn entrepreneurial skills (YE 2014). It indicates that there is a likely demand for training and education related to entrepreneurship. Keeping this significance in mind, the present paper aims to trace the existing entrepreneurship training and education efforts in Saudi Arabia. The objectives of the paper are (1) to trace the current status of Entrepreneurship Education and Training (EET) in Saudi Arabia and (2) to assess the design of the Entrepreneurship training programs offered by government and private institutes and Entrepreneurship education programs offered as an academic program at higher educational institutes in Saudi Arabia.

# 2 Entrepreneurship Education and Training (EET): Snapshot of Literature

EET is acknowledged as an established field of study, drawing increased attention from both the policy makers and the students (Mwasalwiba 2010). Even though there are multiplicities of definitions, EET reflects the process of transmitting specific knowledge, mindsets, and skills pertaining entrepreneurship. It is usually meant for providing the students with entrepreneurial zeal and acumen to start own business. However, it also helps to develop employable skills.

EET programs can be classified into two distinct categories: *education programs* and *training programs*. Although both programs aim to stimulate entrepreneurship, they differ from one another by their variety of program objectives or outcomes. Academic entrepreneurship education (EE) programs focus on imparting knowledge and skills *about* or *for the purpose of* entrepreneurship while Entrepreneurship training (ET) programs encourage the participants to start or operate an enterprise (Valerio et al. 2014; Volkmann et al. 2009). Again, in line with the target audiences, Entrepreneurship education program may be targeted to the secondary school students or higher education students. Similarly, entrepreneurship training programs may target different audiences like potential or practicing entrepreneurs. Potential entrepreneurs may be necessity driven (unemployed vulnerable, unskilled underprivileged individuals) or innovation led opportunistic (educated aspiring individuals) potential entrepreneurs (Valerio et al. 2014).

The effectiveness of an EET program depends primarily on program design including the contents, teacher quality, teaching approaches and support services. The researchers have spotlighted the contents of an EET program from a very specific area of a business plan to a broad range of socio-emotional attributes, and business management skills. The mode of delivery of the educator/trainer in EET is also crucial. McLuhan's (1967) famous argument that the 'medium is the message' emphasizes the importance of learning methods about the content. Some authors, such as Davies and Gibb (1991) consider the traditional dyadic approach of teaching as 'inappropriate' in the teaching of entrepreneurship. They emphasize more on interactive approach where the learners will be responsible for their learning through action, experience, and communication. Godtfredsen (1997) has remarked that the "teaching" methodology used in the EET classroom should resemble that of an art school where students are encouraged to develop their creativity. Another vital area of concern regarding EET is the role of the teacher/trainer in the program. It is s/he who brings about attitudinal and behavioral modification in the participants required to progress through the odds in the journey of venture creation. Teacher's motivation, skill, experience, and values are all essential ingredients for program success (Azim and Al-Kahtani 2014). Moreover, conversion of a business plan into a real life start-up often requires many support services right from issue-specific counseling, to funding and incubation in the initial stage of venture creation.

The exponential growth in EET in the last few decades stimulates research in the outcomes of specific EET programs. However, as venture creation, the ultimate outcome of an EET program depends on a wide variety of personal and environmental factors (Lüthje and Franke 2003) along with obscurity in determining causality (Wyckham 1989). Venture creation cannot possibly be measured during or immediately after the intervention since the venture-creation process usually takes time. Moreover, the more delayed the measurement, the harder it is to isolate the role played by a single factor such as training as a cause of venture creation (Hytti and Kuopusjärvi 2004). Therefore, it requires longitudinal and experimental methods of study on a matching control group, which adds to its intricacy. That is why most of the evaluations on the outcomes of EET programs are either methodologically weak (Glaub and Frese 2011), or look for entrepreneurial intention or skill development as the outcome rather than venture creation. Despite this, there are constant efforts from the researchers to study the outcomes of the EET programs.

Pedrini et al. (2016) in the context of Ghana found that EEs strongly and positively affect some physiological characteristics, skills, and knowledge of participants, which are antecedents of entrepreneurial intentions. Palalić et al. (2016) observed that the university students attending entrepreneurship courses had higher entrepreneurial desire compared to the students not exposed to such courses. Nakkula et al. (2004) in their study of Network for Teaching Entrepreneurship (NFTE) in the United States observed that entrepreneurial behavior increased for NFTE students compared to the control group. However, the results for the locus of control and the values-in-action scales (originality, curiosity, industriousness, and hopefulness) were not significant. The evaluation of INJAZ Junior Achievement program in secondary schools in 8 Arab countries including Saudi Arabia by Reimers et al. (2012) found participants in the Junior Achievement programs had medium levels of knowledge of basic entrepreneurial concepts. They had high and positive aspirations, high self-efficacy and greater interest in business creation. Elert et al. (2013) evaluated the Junior Achievement Company Program (JACP) among the upper secondary Swedish students. Participation significantly increased the likelihood of starting a new business. However, there was no significant effect on firm survival due to JACP participation.

Charney and Libecap (2003) studied BEP, the McGuire Entrepreneurship Program among the Business undergraduate and graduate students at the University of Arizona, United States. They observed a significant positive relationship between entrepreneurship education and new venture creation. Entrepreneurship education is also found to have contributed to the growth of firms, average annual income of the graduates and enhanced transfer of technology. Kolvereid and Moen's (1997) study of Bodo Graduate School of Business, Norway observed education as an antecedent to entrepreneurship where they found a major in entrepreneurship was positively associated with entrepreneurial intentions and new firm formation. Zhang et al. (2012) in the context of China found a positive and significant correlation between entrepreneurship education and business knowledge, entrepreneurial ability, and psychological disposition.

McKenzie and Woodruff (2012) reviewed 20 studies about the evaluation of entrepreneurship training programs and observed that business training provided stronger evidence of helping potential owners in launching new business more quickly and that practitioners tended to put into practice what they learned in training. The meta-analysis by Martin et al. (2013) included 42 evaluation studies of EET. They found a stronger relationship between entrepreneurship outcomes and academic-focused EET interventions than the training-focused EET interventions. Even though most of the outcome studies come up with either a positive or insignificant results of EET interventions, some studies present contradictory results as well. One such study is by Oosterbeek et al. (2010) who analyzed the impact of a leading entrepreneurship education program on college students' entrepreneurship skills and motivation in Netherland. The study found an insignificant effect of the program on entrepreneurial skills and the effect on the intention to become an entrepreneur is even negative. However, a well- thought- out entrepreneurship curriculum is expected to develop both hard and soft skills required for the employment market, not just for business creation. Turner and Mulholland (2017) in their pursuit of better enterprise education framework reveal that the students' engagement to the program as well as project management, creative thinking, communication skills and confidence were enhanced by the activity of real-world business challenges embedded within the curriculum.

#### **3** Entrepreneurship Stimulating Initiatives in Saudi Arabia

Government and private sector initiatives for stimulating entrepreneurship in Saudi Arabia are overwhelming. In addition to increased effort of deregulation to ease the business startup process, government generously invests in training, mentoring, funding as well as incubation facilities to potential entrepreneurs. The recently established Small and Medium Enterprises Authority in Saudi Arabia is another step forward in this regard. Besides, some private sector initiatives are supporting and developing enthusiastic individuals to prepare them with the essential knowledge and skills. They, in some cases, in partnership with corporate businesses and venture capitalists, also provide seed capital and working space for the nascent entrepreneurs. A few such initiatives are briefly outlined below.

- 1. **Badir Project** of King Abdul Aziz City for Science and Technology (KACST) is a Technology Incubator Program launched in 2007. The word 'Badir' means 'to initiate.' It is a national program aimed at accelerating the growth of technology-based entrepreneurship in cooperation with governmental entities, the private sector, and universities. It offers comprehensive support to the budding entrepreneurs right from feasibility study to funding and operating. Presently it provides a number of incubators throughout the country such as
  - (a) Information and Communication Technology Incubator, Riyadh (2008, 81 Projects)
  - (b) Advanced Manufacturing Technology Incubator (2010, 28 Projects)
  - (c) Biotechnology Incubator (2010, 16 Projects)
  - (d) Taif Incubator (2015, 4 Projects)
  - (e) Universities Incubator, Sattam bin Abdul Aziz University, Al-Kharj (2012).
- 2. Namaa AlMunawara is the executive arm of the Madinah endowment which came into being as a strategic partnership between the Madinah state and the Islamic development bank. Its goal is to drive sustainable economic development in the region by focusing on SMEs through their wide-range of initiatives, events, and programs. It offers a One-Stop-Shop in providing a full range of administrative and consultancy services required by the entrepreneurs under one roof.
- 3. National Entrepreneurship Institute—Riyadah is a national non-profit organization jointly established by the Ministry of Energy, Industry & Mineral Resources and the Technical and Vocational Training Corporation. It offers a broad range of services including awareness, training, consulting, mentoring, very small loans, helping businesses hoping to secure funding, and help businesses obtain licenses.
- 4. The Saudi Industrial Development Fund (SDIF) is a government financial institution, established in 1974 (1394H), to finance, and support the development of the private industrial sector by providing medium- and long-term loans for setting up new factories, as well as expansion, upgradation, and modernization of the existing ones. It also offers consultancy services to the local industrial projects in the administrative, financial, technical and marketing fields.
- 5. Small and Medium Enterprises (SMEs) Loan Guarantee Program (KAFALH) is an initiative of SDIF which started in 2006 in collaboration with different banks to facilitate SMEs to receive loans from the banks.
- 6. Saudi Credit and Savings Bank was established by the government in 1391 H (1971) to provide interest-free social loans (marriage, family loan) to the citizens of Saudi Arabia. Later it started financing SMEs based on preferential financing scheme. The projects with creative and non-traditional business ideas, projects

in remote & underdeveloped areas, and projects that achieve the highest rate of Saudization (employing Saudi nationals instead of expatriates) receive the highest preference. The bank offers loans, ranging from USD 80,000 to USD 2 million (Jeddah Chamber 2016).

- 7. **The Centennial Fund**, established in July 2004, is an independent, non-profit foundation concerned with funding youth projects. The Fund provides partial or complete funding in the form of interest-free loan "Al-qard Al hasan", and the value of the loan ranges between 50,000 to 5 million Saudi riyals. In association with its partners, the fund offers training, mentoring, and technological support to the budding entrepreneurs.
- 8. **The Prince Sultan bin Abdul Aziz Fund** was founded in 2007 in Dammam to Support Women's Small Enterprises. The fund provides aspiring women entrepreneurs with technical and financial assistance. It offers a 10-day training course called "Intilakati" (My Launch), to the would-be entrepreneurs.
- 9. The 25 **Chambers of Commerce and Industry** in Saudi Arabia have numerous programs to encourage innovation and entrepreneurship in the Kingdom. Each chamber has opened support centers for men and women, providing new entrepreneurs with consultation, training, financial advice and assistance in identifying investment opportunities. The Women's Section in the Riyadh Chamber of Commerce, along with the Khadijah bint Khuwailid Businesswomen's Center in Jeddah, have become the most influential women's institutions for entrepreneurship and finance in the Arabian Gulf region. The three largest chambers—Riyadh, Jeddah and the Eastern Province—host yearly entrepreneurship forums and have established Small and Medium Enterprises (SME) Development Centers (U.S.-Arab Tradeline, spring 2010, p. 7).
- 10. Bab Al-Rizq Jameel (BRJ) is an initiative of the Abdul Latif Jameel Community Services Programs (ALJCSP). It assists the young aspiring Saudis to become self-employed or to start their own business. It operates throughout the country with many branches. The diversified programs offered by BRJ include recruitment service, employment training, direct employment, taxi and truck ownership, micro-project financing, SME financing, work-from-home and franchise programs. Its "productive household" program provides support for women to set up their cottage industries making different handmade items with the help of interest-free loans of up to SR 5000 (\$1870). BJR works in partnership with Islamic Development Bank (IDB) and Injaz-Saudi program (school-based entrepreneurship education program) to promote and support entrepreneurship in Saudi Arabia.
- 11. Aramco Entrepreneurship Center (Wa'ed) is the entrepreneurship arm of Saudi Aramco offering access to a wealth of resources and expertise that are valuable to Saudi entrepreneurs. Wa'ed was established in 2012 as a business incubator. However, now, it offers a wide variety of training programs as well as easy loans and venture capital funding and partnering with the nascent entrepreneurs.
- 12. Flat 6 Labs Jeddah is a private business accelerator program launched in 2013 to assist and encourage entrepreneurs throughout the critical initial steps of

development. The target for the accelerator program is to graduate 15 satisfactory and scalable startup businesses each year. It screens the entrepreneurship teams based on their potentials, and the selected teams receive seed-funding (50,000–80,000 SAR), strategic mentorship, office space, a multitude of perks and services from partners (over \$300,000+), and entrepreneurship-focused business training and workshops.

# 4 Entrepreneurship Education and Training in Saudi Arabia

Saudi Arabian education system, as in most other countries, is branched into General education and technical education. Students have to undergo a general 6-year elementary and 3-year intermediate education before they enter into specific area of education. Secondary education comprises 1-year general curriculum and 2-year in any of the three branches viz. administrative and social sciences, natural sciences and Sharia (religious) and Arabic studies. The vocational education is imparted in three major areas viz. industrial, commercial and agriculture for intermediate school graduates. Graduates from vocational institutes and the general secondary curriculum may study in technical colleges for another 4-years. Students for universities are recruited from the graduates in secondary schools. At present, there are 28 government and 10 private universities, 65 vocational and technical colleges in Saudi Arabia. An investigation into the curriculum reveals that there is no course on entrepreneurship offered either in general school curriculum or vocational or technical institutes. However, a regional initiative, INJAZ Al-Arab (INJAZ) is found to operate its entrepreneurship education program in Saudi schools. INJAZ is a non-profit organization that promotes youth education and training in the Arab World under three pillars: workforce readiness, financial literacy, and entrepreneurship. At present, it works in Algeria, Bahrain, Egypt, Kuwait, Lebanon, Morocco, Oman, Palestine, Qatar, Saudi Arabia, Tunisia, the United Arab Emirates, Yemen, and Pakistan. It offers a broad base of entrepreneurship training opportunities aimed at developing basic business skills to start and run own businesses. It also facilitates obtaining soft skills essential for career development. In cooperation with its corporate volunteers, INJAZ organizes annual regional company of the year competition and enables young entrepreneurs to build their businesses with mentors, seed funds, and incubation provided by various corporations. According to the annual report (2014-2015), a total of 1,23,047 students, in partnership with 932 schools and 9 universities were served by INJAZ AL-ARAB. (http://www.injazalarab.org/wpcontent/uploads/2015/12/2015-AR-SCREEN-DPS-DEC20153.pdf)

Entrepreneurship as an academic course is found to be offered only at the universities. However, this course is part of the curriculum merely for the students of Business school in general and the department of business administration, management or human resources management, in particular. Only one private university is found to have a separate academic department with concentration on entrepreneurship. However, many universities have established centers to promote, train, and facilitate innovation and venture creation for its students and staffs. A few such initiatives are outlined below:

- 1. Innovation & Economic Development Department, KAUST: King Abdullah University of Science and Technology (KAUST) is, perhaps, the most magnanimous innovation and research hub in the entire Middle East. In line with its pledge to contribute to the economic development, in addition to its state-of-theart research facilities, it has introduced entrepreneurship program under the Innovation & Economic Development department. The program strives to build a strong culture of entrepreneurship and to create new knowledge-based businesses in the Kingdom through its new venture school, startup accelerators and innovation fund. It offers various entrepreneurship teaching and learning opportunities to students, faculty, staff, as well as external visitors and industry partners. The department also helps entrepreneurs to protect their inventions, create business propositions, develop business plans and get funding for their ideas. The KAUST Innovation Fund aims to make venture capital investments in high-tech startups from seed (less than \$200,000) to early-stage (up to \$2 million) and becomes a long-term strategic partner of these ventures. The KAUST Entrepreneurship Center was named as one of four High Impact Programs. In addition, Forbes Middle East's 'Entrepreneurs Shaping Saudi Arabia's Future 2015 Conference, held in Rivadh on December 15, listed six KAUST-related companies among the top 100 innovative startups.
- 2. Entrepreneurship Institute, Umm Al Oura University: Established in 2012, the Entrepreneurship Institute started acting as an umbrella organization for promoting entrepreneurship and innovation in the region. So far, it has taken some bold initiatives, such as IEForum, IEYouth, AccMakk, IESummer and more. IEForum and IEYouth plays the role of knowledge exchange forums for people interested in entrepreneurship and innovation in and around Makkah where the scientists, researchers, policy makers, and entrepreneurs exchange their views related to entrepreneurship and its development in Saudi Arabia. IESummer is a program focusing on the brightest of inventors and entrepreneurs from Umm Al Qura University. Under the auspices of the program, the potential teams of students are sent abroad for 2 weeks to learn best practices and facilitate transfer of knowledge from centers of excellence to Saudi Arabia. Three key summer programs were run in 3 consecutive years starting from 2012 in the United Kingdom, Japan, and the United States. The programs included intensive workshops on the main topics of innovation and entrepreneurship as well as visits to key entrepreneurship and innovation entities (centers, accelerators, incubators, etc...). The AccMakk (Accelerate Makkah) business accelerator is another initiative of the Institute to nurture the potential student entrepreneurs.
- 3. King Salman's Institute for Entrepreneurship, King Saud University: King Salman Institute for Entrepreneurship runs a variety of academic and training programs aiming to spread the awareness of entrepreneurship and develop the necessary skills and knowledge in individuals to help them establish their

businesses successfully. Furthermore, the institute focuses on scientific research while offering a variety of business consulting services. It also hosts a business incubator to help entrepreneurs turn their ideas into reality.

- 4. Entrepreneurship Institute, King Fahd University of Petroleum and Minerals: It is a very vibrant institute which houses three different centers: The Center for Entrepreneurship Education, the Center for Business Incubators, and the Center for Entrepreneurship Studies. The Institute is taking a holistic approach to develop appropriate training and academic programs including teachers' training in entrepreneurship, conduct scientific research in the area, and support potential entrepreneurs so that they can launch their businesses. Furthermore, it is offering a 1-year scholarship, named "The 2030 Entrepreneurs" in the hope of nurturing entrepreneurs through donations obtained from key business individuals and organizations.
- 5. Business Support and Development Center at Princess Nourah Bint Abdurrahman University: It is a national project for the enablement of innovative commercial businesses in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia. The center focuses primarily on supporting leading female-owned commercial businesses and marketing the research results of innovators by providing them with the services and facilitates that guarantee the success of their promising projects. The center has been established based on an integrated system that primarily works as a link between the university and the industry.
- 6. Prince Mohammad Bin Salman College (MBSC) of Business and Entrepreneurship is a recently established private, higher education institution located at King Abdullah Economic City. It is a partnership initiative between Emaar The Economic City, Babson Global (a wholly-owned subsidiary of Babson College, USA), and Lockheed Martin. It follows Babson College's unique approach to entrepreneurial education focusing on hands-on experiential learning rather than passive classroom lectures.

# 5 Empirical Study of Program Design of Entrepreneurship Education and Training in Saudi Arabia

# 5.1 Methodology

The study aims to assess the program design of entrepreneurship education offered by universities as well as training programs offered through different government and private initiatives in Saudi Arabia. Data were collected from the instructors of the EET programs through a structured questionnaire based on Azim and Al-Kahtani's EET Model (2015). Academic staff members from business departments from various private and public universities were contacted through their e-mails and invited to participate in the survey. Curriculums of all graduate and undergraduate programs of all the departments were scanned to ensure that at least one course related to entrepreneurship is offered. Therefore, data collection was



Fig. 1 Research stages of the study

limited by the availability of information and email addresses on universities' websites. For trainers, a questionnaire was sent to their email addresses based on personal acquaintances and snowballing. A total of 115 faculty members and 25 trainers were served with the questionnaire. 32 faculty members and 18 trainers responded correctly. Figure 1 depicts the schematic view of the research stages:

Specification of Azim and Al-Kahtani's EET Model (2015): The model provides a recipe with the most crucial ingredients of an entrepreneurship development program in terms of traits, skills and knowledge contents (what are to be taught?) as well as approaches to teaching (how to teach?) and the essential features of the facilitators (Who should teach?). Following is the Diagram of the Model (Fig. 2):

# 5.2 Results and Discussion

Among the respondents for entrepreneurship education, 86.7% belong to government universities, and 13.3% belong to private universities while among trainers, 28.6% belong to government institutes and 71.4% work in private sector. Regarding gender, 53.3% respondents identified themselves as male and 46.7% as female faculty members. Among the trainers, 85.7% are male and 14.3% female. The course is offered with different titles, such as, 'Entrepreneurship', 'Entrepreneurship Development', 'Entrepreneurship and Small Business Management', 'Entrepreneurship in Business', Entrepreneurship and Innovation' etc. 46.7% respondents mentioned that entrepreneurship course is mandatory in their department or faculty while 53.3% cited it as an optional course. This indicates that the entrepreneurship course does not receive enough attention and credence even in the business administration department or business faculty.


Fig. 2 Entrepreneurship education and training model by Azim and Al-Kahtani's EET model (2015)

#### 5.2.1 Objectives of the Courses

An attempt is made to know about the objectives with which the instructors offer the course. The inquiry includes three types of objectives of an EET program (not mutually exclusive) identified by Gibb (1999): (1) to inform about entrepreneurship, (2) to prepare student to be entrepreneurial, and (3) to prepare students to become entrepreneur. Ideally, every instructor of EET should have all three objectives. The result of the survey is shown in Table 1. Most of the educators and trainers of EET aim to prepare the participants to become entrepreneurs followed by 'to be entrepreneurial' and 'to let them know about entrepreneurship.' It implies that all the instructors, particularly trainers, do not even think that their course is meant for preparing the participants to be entrepreneurs, which is sharply against the spirit of such program. Less emphasis on the second objective, also indicates that the instructors do not pay enough attention to develop soft skills among the participants that may enhance their employability.

Objectives	Education	Training
To let the participants know about entrepreneurship	46.7%	42.9%
To prepare the participants to be entrepreneurial	46.7%	57.1%
To prepare the participants to become entrepreneur (start their own business in future)	86.7%	71.4%

Table 1 Objectives of the EET program

Table 2 Facilitator's characteristics of EET programs

Facilitator's characteristics	Education	Training
Have training/education on entrepreneurship	77%	71.4%
Have practical business experience	60%	71.4%
Have research on entrepreneurship	33.3%	14.3%
believe that entrepreneurship is a viable career option for the participants	100%	100%

#### 5.2.2 Facilitator's Characteristics

Regarding facilitator's characteristics, most of the educators and trainers are found to have attended either an academic course or training program on entrepreneurship. An acceptable number of the respondents from both categories is observed to have practical business experience. However, as far as the research is concerned, the respondents scored very poorly (Table 2). In fact, research on issues related to entrepreneurship, small business, innovation and other areas of entrepreneurship ecosystem keep the educators/trainers updated about the recent developments. It also helps them to explore the country-specific issues in relevant areas. One very positive finding is that all the educators and trainers perceive entrepreneurship as a viable career opportunity for the participants. Such perception facilitates implanting positive attitude towards entrepreneurship and brings enthusiasm to the participants.

#### 5.2.3 Teaching Approaches

The survey reveals that the educators and trainers use multiple approaches with different intensity in their teaching/training instead of mono method of lecturing only (Table 3). It implies that unlike the traditional teachers who only know the 'right' answers, the educators/trainers of EET programs in Saudi Arabia consider themselves as facilitators. However, relatively less use of games, competition, role-plays, exposure to the successful entrepreneurs and creative exercises by the facilitators indicates that the programs are not imparted up to the ideal level. As mentioned by Godtfredsen (1997, p. 19), entrepreneurship is an art, and therefore, the teaching methodology used in the classroom should resemble that of an art school where students should be encouraged to develop their creativity. Kirby (2004, p. 515) emphasized the notion of creativity for entrepreneurs and suggested the approaches to nurturing the right side of the brain that takes care of the body's

Teaching approaches	Education	Training
Lecture	100%	100%
Group discussion	93.3%	100%
Case study	86.7%	100%
Successful entrepreneurs as guest speakers	66.7%	83.3%
Exercise to nurture creativity	66.7%	77.3%
Games and competitions	53.3%	66.7%
Role play	53.3%	50%

Table 3 Teaching approaches

Table 4 Content of the EET program: knowledge segment

Topics	Education	Training
Entrepreneurship concept, theories, etc.	100	100
How to prepare a business plan	100	83.3
How to conduct market research	93.3	66.7
Government support services	93.3	66.7
Institutional sources of fund	93.3	83.3
Government incentives for novice entrepreneurs	86.7	66.7
Private support services	86.7	83.3
Franchising as a business startup avenue	66.7	50
Government regulations (related to starting a business)	66.7	50
Buyout (acquisition) as a business startup avenue	66.7	50

emotional, intuitive and spatial functions which are at the heart of the creative process. Breen (1999) believes that entrepreneurship education should be learner driven and the educators should pay more attention to the use of role models, community and business links, hands-on activities, and learning under conditions of uncertainty.

#### 5.2.4 Content of the EET Program: Knowledge Segment

An inquiry into the knowledge and information disseminated by the educators and trainers in EET programs shows that the educators pay greater attention to theoretical aspects of entrepreneurship, business plan preparation, market research, government support services, and institutional sources of fund while the trainers emphasize theoretical aspects of entrepreneurship, business plan development, institutional sources of capital, and private support services (Table 4). Certainly, there is a strong emphasis on active approach of learning in entrepreneurship education. However, it should not necessarily be at the expense of theory. Thus, Fiet (2000) advocates that those involved in teaching entrepreneurship should increase the theoretical content of their courses to develop the cognitive skills necessary to make better entrepreneural decisions.

The most important aspect of entrepreneurship education/training is to prepare the participants to start new businesses, which require exposure to the reality, comprehension of overall business environment and coming up with a feasible business idea. To this end, given the short duration of the course, Timmons et al. (1987) suggest that business plan is the key measure of active experiential learning. Therefore, each EET program must incorporate this in its contents. In this regard, the trainers of Saudi Arabia have to improve their content with essential incorporation of business plan development in their program. Other than Greenfield investment, franchising and acquisition of existing businesses are two major avenues of getting involved in entrepreneurship. However, it is observed that the educators and trainers of EET programs in Saudi Arabia pay less attention to these avenues.

#### 5.2.5 Content of the EET Program: Trait Segment

In the survey, an attempt was made to identify if the educators/trainers of EET programs in Saudi Arabia pay attention to develop the most sought after traits among the participants. It is revealed that most of the educators pay attention to vision and self-confidence followed by creativity and innovation, need for achievement, desire for independence, risk taking and internal locus of control. The trainers are found to pay more concerted attention to the traits than the educators do, and all the trainers mention that they aim to develop self-confidence, creativity, and innovation, need for achievement, desire for independence, and risk taking (Table 5). In fact, traits are the psychosocial characteristics of an individual, which determine his/her mental ability and influence innovative and entrepreneurial behavior patterns. Even though it is believed that traits are mostly biologically determined by the inheritance, or are developed at the early stage of life through socialization process, proper training and different student-centered approaches to teaching like role play, games and competition, creative exercise, exposure to role model etc. may develop these characteristics, at least, to some extent (Azim and Al-Kahtani 2015).

Almost 20% educators and trainers are found not to consider the internal locus of control in their EET program. However, different studies support the link between internal locus of control and entrepreneurship (Ho and Koh 1992; Robinson et al. 1991). In fact, this particular trait warrants particular attention in a predominantly Muslim society. Muslims are usually attributed with external locus of control

**Table 5**Content of the EETprogram: trait segment

Traits	Education	Training
Vision	93.3	83.3
Self-confidence	93.3	100
Creativity and innovation	86.7	100
Need for achievement motivation	86.7	100
Desire for independence	86.7	100
Risk taking	80	100
Internal locus of control	80	83.3

because of their belief in fate. But it needs interpretation and accurate comprehension. Islam has never discouraged people to work or encouraged them in any way to wait for fortune. Rather, as mentioned by Azim (2008), "The values and spirit of Islam can be of much help in instilling the qualities of dynamism in its followers." The verses of Holy Quran and the sayings of Prophet (PBUH) are illustrative in this regard:

Do not forget your share of the world (Al-Quran 28:77).

There is nothing for man except what he strives for (Al-Quran 53:39).

The honest, trustworthy merchant will be with the Prophets, siddeeqs and martyrs (Al-Tirmidhi 1209).

Based on the above, EET programs in Saudi Arabia should have enough discussion on internal locus of control so that the participants get the right comprehension of the Islamic view of fate.

#### 5.2.6 Content of the EET Program: Skill Segment

Entrepreneurs are not mere thinkers. They are doers. With a portfolio of skills, they overcome the odds and convert their dreams into reality. Therefore, an EET program should be viewed as a skill-building workshop for the participants. In this study, eight critical skills are surveyed, and it is found that both educators and trainers try to develop all the major traits in their participants (Table 6). In fact, it is the approaches to teaching that determine the effective development of these essential skills. Mere lectures and written exams are not sufficed to develop these skills rather it requires more interaction and an active approach to learning like game and competition, role play, market survey, case analysis and presentation, creative exercise, etc.

#### 5.2.7 Wrap-Around Services

Wrap-around services are aspects of a program that complement the main content and curriculum (Valerio et al. 2014). These may include a broad range of services

Table 6         Content of the EET		Education	Training
program: skill segment	Communication skill	100	100
	Decision making skill	100	100
	Opportunity recognition skill	100	100
	Organizing skill	100	66.7
	Negotiating skill	93.3	100
	Networking skill	93.3	100
	Leadership skill	93.3	83.3
	Time management skill	93.3	83.3
	Stress management skill	80	66.7

Wrap-around services	Percentage
Consulting	100
Mentoring	75
Pitching in front of investors	37.5
Working space	25
Shared resources among students (design/legal advice/development/etc)	25
Help with obtaining a loan	25
Assist in securing appropriate location	12.5

Table 7 Wrap-around services provided by training organizations

like consulting, mentoring, facilitating access to financing, incubation, offering shared resources, etc. An inquiry into such facilities for the trainees in Saudi Arabia reveals that training organizations mainly provide intangible advisory services like consulting, mentoring and networking while a few organizations offer more tangible and material services like a working space, shared resources, assisting in securing loan, etc. (Table 7). Lacking in these services is likely to reduce the effectiveness of the program to boost start-ups by the participants.

# 6 Conclusion and Recommendation

This paper offers a brief outline of entrepreneurship initiatives as well as education and training programs in Saudi Arabia. It is observed that there are a number of initiatives from the government and private sector in Saudi Arabia in the form of training, counseling, funding, incubation and other advisory and material supports to the potential as well as nascent entrepreneurs. With regard to entrepreneurship education in Saudi Arabia, the study observes rather a bleak picture. No formal course on entrepreneurship is offered either in secondary schools or in technical institutes. Most of the Saudi universities offer an entrepreneurship course within the curriculum of either the business faculty or the department of business administration/management/Human resources management, but such courses are usually optional rather than mandatory. However, a few universities are also found to have separate centers for entrepreneurship that provide training, counseling and other support services to aspiring students from any faculty and the academic and non-academic staff members.

The survey of faculty members and trainers of EET programs in Saudi Arabia reveals that the facilitators of the programs have less conviction to see their participants as potential entrepreneurs. Regarding a facilitator's characteristics, most of the educators and trainers have participated in entrepreneurship education/training program before. Most of them have practical business experience, and perceive entrepreneurship as a viable career opportunity for their participants. The educators and trainers of EET programs are reported to use multiple approaches. Most of the educators and trainers have claimed to have included important lessons to

disseminate appropriate knowledge and information regarding entrepreneurship in the course. They also attempt to develop the right set of traits and skills in their participants. However, relatively less use of interactive and experiential activities like games, competition, role-plays, and creative exercises pour doubt on the efficacy of the program to develop the much-needed psychosocial abilities in the participants.

Given the scenario of entrepreneurship development in Saudi Arabia the following recommendations may be of use for promoting entrepreneurship in general as well as helping improve the standards and effectiveness of entrepreneurship education and training programs in particular.

The Spirit of Entrepreneurship Should Be Spread Throughout the Whole Education System Entrepreneurship development in a country requires a culture that nurtures creativity, supports risk-taking and props up dignity of work. Education is the primary vehicle to develop and establish these values in the society. Therefore, the whole education system should be imbued with the spirit of entrepreneurship. The teaching approaches, evaluation system and overall environment of the educational institutes should be fine-tuned in a way so that the students from the early stage of their education get accustomed to thinking independently, act proactively, learn to question the status quo and demonstrate creative ingenuity.

**Entrepreneurship Education Should Be Introduced in Schools and Vocational Institutes** To provide orientation to the entrepreneurship as an alternative career option, an introductory course on entrepreneurship should be launched for the students in schools and vocational institutes. The course is likely to create a favorable impression about entrepreneurship and motivate the students to develop the soft skills required to opt for this career. Moreover, the school drop-outs will be benefited by the course as they will learn the basics of getting involved in business. On the same line of reasoning, the students of vocational institutes may find such a course instrumental in coming up with technological start-ups.

Entrepreneurship Education Should Be Introduced to All Disciplines Within Universities So far it is observed that entrepreneurship courses are offered at universities as mandatory or optional courses for business students only. Such restriction does not make sense. Entrepreneurship is an alternative career option for students of all disciplines. The students of applied sciences and technology like engineering, agriculture, veterinary science, applied chemistry, applied physics, etc. are more likely to benefit from a missing link through this course as it will facilitate commercialization of their innovations and creative ideas generated through research. Therefore, the entrepreneurship course should be made at least an optional course for the students of all disciplines at the Universities.

An Entrepreneurship Development Center Should Be Established in Each Higher Educational Institute A few universities in Saudi Arabia are found to have stand-alone institutes to train and support aspiring entrepreneurs. It offers an excellent opportunity for the students from multiple disciplines, and university staff of the university to learn about entrepreneurship and prepare for it. Such institutes should be established in all universities around the country so that the students of diverse regions are benefitted. However, the establishment of entrepreneurship centers or supporting programs in itself is not enough to drive the entrepreneurship spirit throughout the university. University top management needs to ensure that proper funding to such centers exist to ensure that they operate, train, and offer all possible support services to students and staffmembers.

**More State-of-the-Art Approaches Should Be Used** As entrepreneurship is a practical course, the method of conducting this course is crucial for its effectiveness. In fact, to inculcate traits, and develop the abilities and skills for entrepreneurship, students should be involved in the learning process as much as possible. Therefore, the use of case studies, role plays/simulations, games and competitions, exercises to nurture creativity, etc. are very useful. Therefore, the teachers should not view this course as just another course in the curriculum and stick to lecture methods only in teaching entrepreneurship. They should consider it as a different, practical course that warrants different approaches to instruction.

**Teachers' Training for Entrepreneurship Educators/Trainers** Entrepreneurship is a relatively new arrival in the curriculum of the universities in Saudi Arabia. Training in this area is not very timeworn practice either. In addition, EET programs require proactive mindsets of the facilitators to offer this program successfully. Also, there are pedagogical differences between this course and other courses in the curriculum. So there should be arrangement for teachers' training for EET programs. Entrepreneurship Institute of King Fahd University of Petroleum and Minerals are found to have such program. However, to make it available to other parts of the country, there should be such arrangement in other regions. Also, a teacher manual should be prepared as a guide for the teachers of EET programs.

An Arrangement of Annual Business Plan Competition Business Plan embraces the whole process of starting and running a business. It gives a comprehensive idea about the business. Therefore, the more the students will be encouraged to write reallife business plans the better will be their understanding of the business process. To this end, each institute may arrange a business plan competition every year for different levels of students. Similar competition can also be organized at national level as well. This culture will create enthusiasm among the students of different levels. The successful or award winning plans may be supported with financial and other assistance from the government or private organizations/banks etc.

**Exposure to the Entrepreneurs** A role model acts as the catalyst for being involved in any adventurous activity. It increases the self-efficacy of the individual. Having an interaction with a live entrepreneur, the participants learn a lot from his/her experience and can grasp the fine points of the journey. Thus, each EET should invite at least one successful entrepreneur to share his/her experience with the participants.

There Should Be Arrangement for Follow-Up and Guidance To make the Entrepreneurship Training programs worthwhile, the training institutes and the entrepreneurship centers of the Universities should maintain a database of their participants and arrange to follow up sessions for the trainees from time to time and provide guidance in getting involved in the business. It should develop a network of contacts with different private and public support organizations to offer total support for starting ventures by the trainees.

There Should Be an Arrangement for Wrap-Around Services for Aspiring Entrepreneurs The most cases, the aspiration, and enthusiasm of the participants to start their business dry up because of lack of financial assistance or other support services. Therefore, the entrepreneurship training programs should have an arrangement for advisory services like consulting, mentoring, and networking as well as the material services, like incubation facilities, shared resources, assistance in securing loan, assistance to take part in a national and international exhibition, etc.

In fact, entrepreneurship development in a country is not an isolated issue. It is very much intertwined to many other economic, infrastructural and socio-cultural factors. To develop entrepreneurship in a country, providing mere training or education is not sufficient. An actual attempt to promote entrepreneurship in a country must address all related factors and improve the overall entrepreneurship ecosystem.

## References

- Azim MT (2008) Socio-cultural environment for entrepreneurship development in Bangladesh. J Bangladesh Stud 10(1):51–60
- Azim MT, Al-Kahtani AH (2014) Entrepreneurship education and training: a survey of literature. Life Sci J 11(1s):127–135
- Azim MT, Al-Kahtani AH (2015) Designing entrepreneurship education and training program: In search of a model. J Econ Sustain Dev 6(22):112–127
- Breen J (1999) Smart business operators of the future: best practice in the delivery of enterprise education. In: The small enterprise association of Australia and New Zealand conference, May 6–7
- Charney AH, Libecap GD (2003) The contribution of entrepreneurship education: an analysis of the Berger program. Int J Entrep Educ 1(3):385–417
- Davies LG, Gibb AA (1991) Recent research in entrepreneurship. In: The 3rd international EIASM workshop, Gower, London
- Dickson PH, Solomon GT, Weaver KM (2008) Entrepreneurial selection and success: does education matter? J Small Bus Enterp Dev 15(2):239–258
- Elert N, Andersson F, Wennberg K (2013) The impact of entrepreneurship education in high-school on subsequent entrepreneurial performance: a longitudinal study. The Ratio Institute, Sweden
- Fayolle A, Gailly B, Lassas-Clerc N (2006) Assessing the impact of entrepreneurship education programs: a new methodology. J Eur Ind Train 30(9):701–720
- Fiet JO (2000) Theoretical side of teaching entrepreneurship theory. J Bus Ventur 16(1):1-24
- GEM (2016) Global entrepreneurship monitor kingdom of Saudi Arabia report 2016-17. Babson College, Babson Park, MA
- Gibb AA (1999) Can we build effective entrepreneurship through management development? J Gen Manag 24(4):1–21
- Glaub M, Frese M (2011) A critical review of the effects of entrepreneurship training in developing countries. Enterp Dev Microfinanc 22(4):335–353

- Godtfredsen L (1997) Entrepreneurship education in Denmark: the opportunity and the challenge & idea development for entrepreneurial ventures with special reference for the Danish educational system. Working Paper, Arbejdspapiret er udgivet af Handelshøjskole Syd, Center for Småvirksomhedsforskning (CESFO)
- Guerrero M, Rialp J, Urbano D (2008) The impact of desirability and feasibility on entrepreneurial intentions: a structural equation model. Int Entrep Manag J 4(1):35–50
- Ho TS, Koh HC (1992) Differences in psychological characteristics between entrepreneurially inclined accounting graduates in Singapore. Entrep Innov Change 1:243–254
- Hytti U, Kuopusjärvi P (2004) Evaluating and measuring entrepreneurship and enterprise education: methods, tolls, and practices. Retrieved from http://www.entreva.net
- Iakovleva T, Kolvereid L, Stephan U (2011) Entrepreneurial intentions in developing and developed countries. Educ Train 53(5):353–370
- Jeddah Chamber (2016) Small-medium enterprises in Saudi Arabia report. Jeddah Chamber of Commerce, Jeddah. Retrieved from http://www.jeg.org.sa/data/modules/contents/uploads/ infopdf/2866.pdf
- Kirby DA (2004) Entrepreneurship education: Can business schools meet the challenge? Educ Train 46(8/9):510–519
- Kolvereid L, Moen O (1997) Entrepreneurship among business graduates: Does a major in entrepreneurship make a difference? J Eur Ind Train 21(4):154–160
- Krueger NF (2009) Entrepreneurial intentions are dead: long live entrepreneurial intentions. In: Carsrud AL, Brannback M (eds) Understanding the entrepreneurial mind – opening the black box. Springer, Dordrecht
- Linan F, Chen YW (2009) Development and cross-cultural application of a specific instrument to measure entrepreneurial intentions. Enterp Theory Pract 33(3):593–617
- Lüthje C, Franke N (2003) The 'making' of an entrepreneur: testing a model of entrepreneurial intent among engineering students at MIT. R&D Manag 33(2):135–147
- Martin B, McNally JJ, Kay MJ (2013) Examining the formation of human capital in entrepreneurship: a meta-analysis of entrepreneurship education outcomes. J Bus Ventur 28(2)
- McKenzie D, Woodruff C (2012) What are we learning from business training and entrepreneurship evaluations around the developing world? Policy research working paper 6202. World Bank, Washington, DC
- McLuhan M (1967) The medium is the massage: an inventory of effects, 1st edn. Random House, Jerome Agel
- Muller S (2011) Increasing entrepreneurial intention: effective entrepreneurship course characteristics. Int J Entrep Small Bus 13(1):55–74
- Mwasalwiba ES (2010) Entrepreneurship education: a review of its objectives, teaching methods, and impact indicators. Educ Train 52(1):20–47
- Nakkula M, Lutyens M, Pineda C, Dray A, Gaytan F, Huguley J (2004) Initiating, leading and feeling in control of one's fate: findings from the 2002–2003 study of NFTE in six Boston public high schools. Harvard University. http://www.nfte.com/sites/default/files/harvard-nfte\_study\_ 02-03\_full\_report\_6-6-04.pdf
- Oosterbeek H, van Praag M, Ijsselstein A (2010) The impact of entrepreneurship education on entrepreneurship skills and motivation. Eur Econ Rev 54:442–454
- Palalić R, Ramadani V, Đilović A, Dizdarević A, Ratten V (2016) Entrepreneurial intentions of university students: a case-based study. J Enterp Commun People Places Global Econ. https:// doi.org/10.1108/JEC-12-2016-0046
- Pedrini M, Langella V, Molteni M (2016) Do entrepreneurial education programs impact the antecedents of entrepreneurial intention? An analysis of an entrepreneurship MBA in Ghana. J Enterp Commun People Places Global Econ. https://doi.org/10.1108/JEC-12-2016-0043
- Pittaway L, Cope J (2007) Entrepreneurship education: a systematic review of the evidence. Int Small Bus J 25(5):479–510
- Reimers F, Dyer P, Ortega ME (2012) Entrepreneurship education in the middle east. https://www. jaworldwide.org/inside-ja/Reports/INJAZ\_Al\_Arab\_Final\_Evaluation\_Report.pdf
- Robinson PB et al (1991) An attitude approach to the prediction of entrepreneurship. Enterp Theory Pract 15:13–31

- Sanchez JC (2013) The impact of an entrepreneurship education program on entrepreneurial competencies and intention. J Small Bus Manag 51(3):447–465
- Souitaris V, Zerbinati S, Al-Laham A (2007) Do entrepreneurship programs raise entrepreneurial intention of science and engineering students? The effect of learning, inspiration and resources. J Bus Ventur 22(4):566–591
- Timmons JA, Muzyka DF, Stevenson HM, Bygrave WD (1987) Opportunity recognition: the core of entrepreneurship. In: Churchill N (ed) Frontiers of entrepreneurial research. Babson College, Babson Park, MA, pp 42–49
- Turner J, Mulholland G (2017) Enterprise education: towards a framework for effective engagement with the learners of today. J Manag Dev 36(6):801–816. https://doi.org/10.1108/JMD-09-2016-0176
- U.S.-Arab Tradeline (2010) Retrieved from http://www.nusacc.org/uploads/2/2/9/7/22977530/8\_ trdln0610saudi.pdf
- UNESCO and StratREAL Foundation (2013) Entrepreneurship education in the Arab States. UNESCO.
- Valerio A Parton B, Robb A (2014) Entrepreneurship education and training programs around the world. The World Bank. doi:https://doi.org/10.1596/978-1-4648-0202-7
- Volkmann C, Wilson KE, Mariotti S, Rabuzzi D, Vyakarnam S, Sepulveda A (2009) Educating the next wave of entrepreneurs: unlocking entrepreneurial capabilities to meet the global challenges of the 21st century. World Economic Forum, Cologny, Switzerland
- Wyckham RG (1989) Measuring the effects of entrepreneurial education programs: Canada and Latin America. In: Robert G, Wyckham W, Wedley C (eds) Educating the entrepreneurs. Faculté d'administration, Université Simon Fraser, Colombie-Britannique, pp 1–16
- YE (2014) Avoiding a lost generation: ten key recommendations to support youth entrepreneurship across the G20. Retrieved from https://www.g20yea.com/images/reports/2014-EY-report.pdf
- Zhang G, Cheng P, Fan L, Chu Z (2012) An empirical study on impact of college carve-out education on entrepreneur intention. Social Science Research Network (SSRN). http://ssrn.com/ abstract=2034168
- Zhang Y, Duysters G, Cloodt M (2014) "The role of entrepreneurship education as a predictor of university students" entrepreneurial intention. Int Entrep Manag J 10(3):623–641

# Useful Websites

- Bab Rizq Jameel helped generate over 81,000 job opportunities in Saudi Arabia in 2015 (April 10, 2016). Retrieved from http://www.alj.com/en/news/article/2016/04/bab-rizq-jameel-helpedgenerate-over-81000-job
- Entrepreneurship Institute, King Fahd University of Petroleum and Minerals. Retrieved from http://ei.kfupm.edu.sa/
- General Authority of Statistics (GAS). https://www.stats.gov.sa/en

http://www.mbsc.edu.sa/aboutus#sthash.8pfJFGR1.dpuf

- Injaz Al Arab (2016) Empowering a generation: annual report 2016. Retrieved from http://www. injazalarab.org/wp-content/uploads/2015/12/2015-AR-SCREEN-DPS-DEC20153.pdf
- King Abdullah University of Science and Technology. Retrieved from https://www.kaust.edu.sa/ en/news/kaust-year-in-review-2015
- Prince Muhammad bin Fahd Fund for women development. Retrieved from http://www. princemohammad.org/en/Initiatives-Fund-for-Women-Development.aspx
- Saudi Industrial Development Fund. Retrieved from http://www.sidf.gov.sa/en/Achievements/ Pages/SmallandMediumEnterprises.aspx
- The Centennial Fund. Retrieved from: http://www.tcf.org.sa/en/about-tcf/Pages/result-and-achievements.aspx

# Perceptions Towards Entrepreneurship and Intention to Become Entrepreneurs: The Case of Sultan Qaboos University Female Undergraduate Students



# Topoyame Moremong-Nganunu, Nthati Rametse, Saeed Al-Muharrami, and Sujeet Kumar Sharma

**Abstract** This chapter reports the results of a study conducted on Sultan Qaboos University (SQU) female undergraduate students' intentions on becoming entrepreneurs and their perceptions towards entrepreneurship. This study employed predictive modelling to understand and predict the start of own business by female students in a developing country like Oman. The key research question addressed in this chapter is: What factors influence Sultan Qaboos University's female students towards entrepreneurship? Using a questionnaire survey, data were collected from 200 undergraduate female students at the College of Economics and Political Science in 2015. The findings suggest that, while the general perceptions on factors that influence the entrepreneurial aspirations of female SQU undergraduate students are positive, a small portion of these students still hold ambivalent views towards entrepreneurship. This research has important implications for researchers, practitioners, policy makers and entrepreneurship educators.

**Keywords** Entrepreneurship intent  $\cdot$  Role models  $\cdot$  Perceptions  $\cdot$  SQU undergraduate students

# 1 Introduction

In a new global economy, entrepreneurship has become important as it contributes to employment, output, and to the size of the overall economy. Youth unemployment rates are a real concern in The Middle East. The lack of jobs in The Middle East has been quoted as cause of political and social instability. In addition, youth unemployment rates in the Middle East and North Africa (MENA) Region are the highest

N. Rametse

T. Moremong-Nganunu · S. Al-Muharrami (🖂) · S. K. Sharma

College of Economics and Political Science, Sultan Qaboos University, Muscat, Oman e-mail: muharami@squ.edu.om

College of Business, School of Management, RMIT University, Melbourne, VIC, Australia

<sup>©</sup> Springer International Publishing AG, part of Springer Nature 2018

N. Faghih, M. R. Zali (eds.), *Entrepreneurship Education and Research in the Middle East and North Africa (MENA)*, Contributions to Management Science, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-90394-1\_12

in the world, (Khaleej Times 2004). More than half of the region's populations are less than 25 years old, and 27.2% of them are unemployed. The World Economic Forum Report (2014) refers to this issue as a "youth liability". Oman is one of the MENA Region where youth represents the highest per cent of the country's population. It is therefore important for Oman to inspire entrepreneurship in order to create innovation, economic productivity and jobs, and expand the economy.

This study tries to assess (SQU) female undergraduate students' intentions to become entrepreneurs and their perceptions towards entrepreneurship. The growing groups of female business graduates who have the potential (in theory) of starting their own businesses have been unrecognised in research. This Chapter tries to fill this research gap. The Chapter focuses on female students for the following reasons. First, studies such as Hisrich and Brush (1985) have confirmed that the woman entrepreneur is not an 'average' woman and that she has problems not encountered by her male peers (Scott 1986, p. 37). These impediments have resulted in women entrepreneurs being 'under-resourced, under-experienced, under-protected and under-productive' (Marcucci 2001, p. 3). Thus, to contribute to the existing body of knowledge, there is a need to understand the various perceptions of female students towards entrepreneurs.

Secondly, students are mostly young and governments have acted as protective role models for teachers and parents, so that everyone acts to overprotect, overly support and arrange easy and secure outcomes for Arab youth (The World Economic Forum Report 2014). Moreover, as noted by GUESSS (2008, p. 1) a significant amount of innovative power and entrepreneurial competences are embedded within students and can later lead to successful start-ups. Finally, women represent a minority of entrepreneurs and policy makers must be informed of this situation (Rametse and Huq 2013).

The protective, parental role that MENA governments have created systems and institutions that work against entrepreneurship. The young are groomed to take on government positions that are well-paid and require little personal accountability. Government subsidies make unemployment often preferable to low-paying positions. The educational system is not geared to create independent thinking, critical or creative thinking, or teach problem-solving, management skills and other functional skills needed in the private sector. (The World Economic Forum report 2014). This creates a sense of entitlement amongst the Arab youth, along with dependence, lack of motivation and responsibility, and little desire to take risks.

Oman is no exception, where the serious problem of the lack of employment opportunities has increased in the past couple of years. For instance, the waiting period for jobs ranges between 3 and 5 years for young Omanis after graduation (Al-Lawati 2016). The emergence of this problem can be traced to two key reasons. Firstly, the increased number of graduates who are looking for meaningful employment, which is a direct result of the better access to higher education that the Sultanate of Oman has promoted over the past number of years (Al-Lawati 2016). Secondly, the serious economic problems that Oman is currently experiencing resulted from low oil prices, the main source of income for the country. The low-oil-price crisis creates not only youth unemployment but unemployment for adults.

According to Erlich (2015), this state of Oman's economy provoked some private companies to force their drilling workers to seek other livelihoods and find alternative jobs.

These unemployment problems prompted a call for the diversification of the sources of national income away from oil and gas. The Sultanate developed "Vision 2040" for Oman's Economy. The Vision aims to make the Sultanate a diversified economy by utilising its rich, highly talented, and capable human capital predicated on the development of an innovative culture which is commendable.

Sultan Qaboos University as a premier public institution is dedicated to producing high quality graduates, knowledgeable and skilled in various disciplines offered by nine colleges. Entrepreneurship is considered by researchers as the fourth pillar of economic development, and some even argue, that perhaps entrepreneurship is the only important pillar of economic development in the highly technological twenty-first century. It is hoped that with the country's vision, the issue of "youth liability" will become "youth advantage" for Oman. Hence the key research question addressed in this paper is: What factors influence Sultan Qaboos University's female students towards entrepreneurship?

The rest of the chapter is structured as follows: Sect. 2 sets the country context for Omanis with a focus on the development of entrepreneurship. Section 3 briefly discusses economy of Oman. Section 4 reviews the literature, whereas Sect. 5 focuses the theoretical framework adopted in this study. Finally, Sects. 6 and 7 present the results and conclusions respectively.

# 2 Development of Entrepreneurship in Oman

As a result of the over-dependence on oil, Oman's economic development has been unbalanced. The consequences have been, and continue to be, high and growing levels of unemployment and over-dependence on imports of goods and services. Entrepreneurship education and training represent a special area of innovative new approaches and initiatives in the world and it is even more important in the Arab world. Hence, entrepreneurship and entrepreneurship education in institutions of higher education have received increased attention in Oman with the hope of alleviating acute unemployment rates and overdependence on imports.

The government of Oman has taken steps in the promotion of entrepreneurship education at the national level. Efforts to promote entrepreneurship in the country take different forms such as research, expenditure, curriculum development, teacher training and collaboration with Non-Government Organizations (NGOs). Various pilot projects and national, regional or international programmes have been implemented to promote entrepreneurship and to provide entrepreneurship education especially among students, young people generally and the unemployed (Al-Ghassani 2010).

The Government of Oman recognised the role of privatization and liberalization of its policies in accelerating the rate of economic growth. The government encouraged men and women equally to participate in the process of economic development of the Sultanate "Vision 2020" which emphasises the industrial development of small and medium enterprises (Al-Ghassani 2010).

Many initiatives have been launched nationally to encourage young people to take up independent business options. The SANAD programme, which has been a successful programme all over Oman, promotes the launch of youth business ventures through the provision of loans and expertise to recent graduates. It was started in October 2001 under the Ministry of Manpower with the objective of helping to promote and foster the development of small-scale enterprises in Oman. The program supports individual initiatives for all who are willing to undertake self-employment, through the available mechanisms of training, rehabilitation, funding and technical and administrative follow-up. It is targeted especially for the unemployed youths. The SANAD Incubators Programme helps young entrepreneurs from technical colleges start their own enterprises through monetary and technical support. These young entrepreneurs are expected to build their own businesses with a head start in the business world. The Government has created SANAD offices in each governorate and region that provides technical and administrative support to the beneficiaries (Khan and AL-Moharby 2007).

The Know About Business (KAB) programme is a global package being offered under the aegis of the International Labour Organization (ILO) to empower the young to acquire skills that will help them earn a livelihood. The main focus of KAB is the training of entrepreneurs in management skills for developing an entrepreneurial attitude through entrepreneurship education. The programme seeks to develop the entrepreneurial skills of young people and educate them not only to establish their own businesses at some time in the future, but also to work productively in small and medium enterprises (SMEs) (International Labour Organization 2012). In Oman, this program is being implemented in vocational training centres and colleges of technology.

The "Intilaaqah" program is part of the Shell group worldwide initiative, LiveWIRE. This program helps the young entrepreneurs by providing them the right kind of training, counselling and consultancy services which enable them to start their own businesses. The objective of the training program is to develop the candidate's ability to conceptualize the business environment by enabling him or her to acquire necessary skills to run small businesses professionally as cited in Intilaaqah (2016).

The colleges of technology have also adopted programmes for newly recruited teachers and lecturers focusing on entrepreneurship education in addition to other areas. After recruitment, these teachers are sent abroad for a Master's Degree. They spend a few months working in industry to gain industrial experience and to acquire entrepreneurship skills, followed by a few months of training within the college to learn modern teaching techniques and methods of transferring knowledge and skills to students. In addition to the above initiatives, the government introduced a mandatory entrepreneurship course in all government and private colleges and universities Mohammed al Sami (2014).

In terms of financial support for the prospective entrepreneurs, Oman's government has adopted certain steps in promoting entrepreneurship education. These include the availability of Oman Development Bank loans, 'incubator' facilities, equity funding by the Youth Fund, and micro-business development facilities offered through the SANAD programme. Oman Development Bank (ODB) promotes entrepreneurship among the youth by providing them with soft loans and reducing bureaucracy (Central Bank of Oman 2015).

Under the SANAD programme, an amount of 5000 Rial Omani (around \$13,000) is provided as a loan. ODB disburses the loan amount after approval and recovers it as per the Fund regulations. The period of the loan settlement is 7 years including 1 year as a grace period starting from the date of granting the loan. The fund charges an interest rate of 2% per annum to cover the administrative cost of the loan. The Fund for Development of Youth provides financial and management assistance to young people wishing to embark on business in the private sector. The fund was established with a grant of RO (Rial Omani), 1 million granted by His Majesty and the fund has accumulated RO 5.36 million as equity from private companies. The policy of this fund is to invest in the equity of the small and medium sized projects and to render administrative, financial and technical support. The entrepreneur has the flexibility to buy back the equity in his or her enterprise by paying back to the fund after an exit period of 5 years (Central Bank of Oman 2015).

#### **3** Economy of Oman

The Sultanate of Oman registered a robust overall real economic growth of 5%, in the previous decade prior to the marked drop in oil prices. Prudent fiscal measures ensured high fiscal buffers and the public debt to GDP ratio stood at 5% at end-December 2014. On the external front, gross foreign exchange reserves exceeded 6 months of import according to the Central Bank of Oman's Annual Report (Central Bank of Oman 2015).

The Vision 2020 and successive Five-Year Development Plans pursued the strategy of economic diversification, a greater role for the private sector, an improved business climate for attracting foreign direct investment etc. (Central Bank of Oman 2015). During the previous 10-year period, the share of the non-hydrocarbon sector had increased from 16% to 41% of merchandise exports, while the share of non-oil revenue in public revenue had grown from 14% to 22% (Central Bank of Oman 2015). Over the years, the government of Oman implemented sound macroeconomic policies resulting in strong growth, moderate inflation and a stable financial system.

The sharp decline in the oil price since mid-2014 and the renewed dip in oil price from the end of 2015 to January 2016 have turned the fiscal and external balances into sizeable deficits in 2015 (Central Bank of Oman 2015). In order to contain fiscal metrics within manageable limits, the authorities have implemented fiscal adjustments through spending cuts, augmenting non-oil revenues and undertaking subsidy reforms. An expectation of low oil prices to continue would warrant contingency plans of further spending restraint and revenue measures including expanding non-oil revenue, prioritizing capital expenditure, reducing current expenditure and enhancing user fees (Central Bank of Oman 2015). On the other hand, gains from a quick recovery in international oil prices would be an opportunity for greater fiscal savings facilitating the restoration of fiscal sustainability in the medium term. With a view to enhancing non-hydrocarbon revenue, additional fiscal measures have been planned. Corporate income tax is expected to be raised from 12% to 15% in 2017 and VAT to be introduced in 2018 (Central Bank of Oman 2015).

The Ninth Five Year Development Plan (2016–2020) seeks to achieve higher economic growth through focused investment in five sectors namely, manufacturing, logistics, tourism, fisheries and mining. It is intended that the private sector would play a significant role in the expansion of activity in these sectors. The government and the Central Bank of Oman have instituted policies and programs to support entrepreneurship and the SME sector (Central Bank of Oman 2015).

### **4** Literature Review

# 4.1 Benefits of Entrepreneurship

Entrepreneurship is a difficult concept to define in clear terms. In common usage, the word 'entrepreneurship' is linked to enterprise creation, but the term has a wider application (Martins 2007). Some researchers (Li et al. 2012) believe that entrepreneurship can be used more specifically to identify individuals who stimulate economic progress by finding new and better ways of doing things. Blackman and Hindle (2007) have enhanced Klyver's (2005) model that describes Davidsson (2004) classification of the two principals 'schools' of definitional emphasis in the entrepreneurship literature: (1) "the emergence perspective", and (2) "the opportunity perspective". The "emergence perspective" emphasises the dynamics of new organization creation whether or not the venture includes innovation "the development of new means-ends relationships as a core component" (Blackman and Hindle 2007). The 'opportunity perspective' suggests that entrepreneurial opportunities involve the discovery and evaluation of new relationships between means and ends, irrespective of whether this involves the creation of a new venture or not. Entrepreneurship, in this perspective, is defined as "the discovery, evaluation and exploitation of opportunities whatever the organizational mode of pursuit" (Shane and Venkataraman 2000). These two perspectives are illustrated in Table 1.

The empirical work performed for this paper does not, as it were, 'take sides' in the debate regarding definitions. The philosophical stance adopted in this paper is inclusive and eclectic enough to take a broad view of entrepreneurship i.e. any activity that could be classified in any of quadrants A, B and C (Table 1).

The European Union Green Paper on Entrepreneurship (European Commission 2003) set out a range of benefits that can be associated with entrepreneurship. These benefits include contributing to economic growth by job creation and growth; fostering social and economic cohesion particularly in less developed regions; being crucial to competitiveness and productivity improvements; unlocking personal

		Principal action focus		
		Creation of new means and ends relationships	Maximising existing means and ends relationships	
Organizational context	New organizations	(A) Innovation oriented venture creation	(B) Non-innovation oriented venture creation	
	Existing settings	(C) Innovation oriented venturing in existing contexts (e.g. corporate ven- turing; licensing via markets etc.)	(D) Traditional management	

Table 1 Two main perspectives of entrepreneurship research

Sources: Klyver (2005), Blackman and Hindle (2007)

potential and satisfying a range of social interests, by making wealth, jobs and diversity of choice available for citizens. Thus, through entrepreneurship, the call is made for nations to have new ways of doing things; to be innovative and creative; to have the willingness to take calculated risks—in terms of time, equity or career; to recognise opportunities and evaluate them and to possess many other essential ingredients of entrepreneurship. Encouraging entrepreneurship therefore is viewed as a central key to creating jobs and to improving competitiveness, social integration and economic growth, especially in developing countries and this can only be done though changing their mindsets through entrepreneurial education and training which is relevant to their situations.

Entrepreneurship education poses a definitional problem. Literature abounds (Blenker et al. 2006) that indicates that there is no common agreement over what constitutes entrepreneurship education or how it is taught (Kirby 2007). The nature of entrepreneurship education is made even more complicated by the fact that there is not much clarity about what the outputs are designed to be. The lack of clarity about the intended outputs leads to significant diversity surrounding the inputs (Pittaway and Cope 2007). As Kroy (2005) notes, approaches to entrepreneurship education are likely to vary between continents and between countries as well as according to the target group. Oman, like most countries, gives priority to supporting entrepreneurship through education and training of existing and prospective entrepreneurs.

It is important for Oman to diversify its economy (Al-Shanfari 2012) affirms that "Oman's main export has been oil, which is still the backbone of the economy and constitutes around 80% of total government revenue", and the fact that "Oman has less than 20 years of oil reserves left" (AL-Shanfari 2012) calls for Oman to benefit from the advantages that entrepreneurship brings. Low oil prices in Oman have led to acute youth unemployment. In its 2004 Human Development Report, the United Nations Commission on the Private Sector and Development asserted that alleviation of youth unemployment requires a strong private sector. The private sector is seen as the source of growth, jobs and opportunities for the unemployed and the poor. Accordingly, there is a clear need for an economic climate that encourages private-sector investment and thus economic growth, as in the UN Human Development Report (2014).

Entrepreneurship is essential to promote and achieve economic growth, development and the creation of wealth and employment (Nieman 2001). Entrepreneurship is defined as the process by which opportunities to create future goods and services are discovered, evaluated and exploited (Shane and Venkataraman 2000), thus, to focus on developing entrepreneurship in Oman is important for several reasons.

First, entrepreneurship drives innovation and technical change, and therefore generates economic growth (Schumpeter 1934). Second, entrepreneurial action is the process through which supply and demand are equilibrated (Kirzner 1997). Third, entrepreneurship is an important process by which new knowledge is converted into products and services (Shane and Venkataraman 2000). Fourth, entrepreneurship has become an important vocation and we need to understand its role in the development of human and intellectual capital (Zahra and Dess 2001). According to Fayolle (2000, p. 2) countries with a high level of entrepreneurial activity are those which have the most developed and complete entrepreneurial teaching and training programs. Therefore, teaching entrepreneurial skills represents one powerful means of achieving economic development (Fayolle 2000).

Many initiatives have been designed to foster entrepreneurship development in Oman; they aim to inspire, encourage, and prepare Omani youth to succeed in a global economy. Hence, the number of young Omanis prepared to start entrepreneurial ventures is expected to increase. However, despite all these initiatives and incentives, many Omani youth still hesitate to start their own businesses. For instance, in the year 2003, fewer than 2 in 100 young Omanis started a new business, compared to 1 in 10 in the US" (Al-Shanfari 2012).

### **5** Influential Motivators of Entrepreneurial Aspirations

In order to encourage entrepreneurship, we must ask ourselves "what shapes career aspirations toward self employment" (Scott and Twomey 1988). These researchers believe that the motivation is a significant factor in the start-up and success of the business. They conducted one of the earliest studies on university students entrepreneurial intentions by studying the intentions of the university students in the United States. They found that only 24.8% of US university students aspired to become entrepreneurs. The results of their study indicated that, students whose parents owned businesses showed the highest preferences for self employment. Thus, parents must have acted as role models.

A study which was conducted by Bhandar (2006) in India administered a 62 item questionnaire on university students on their career intentions. The results indicated that 92.35% of the respondents had the intention to venture into entrepreneurship activities upon university completion. The fact that Indians are generally believed to be good business people may explain the high positive result of students aspiring to become entrepreneurs upon completion of their studies. The cooperativeness of Indians is conducive to entrepreneurial success and thus, this is bound to motivate students to venture into businesses.

Researchers in the area of career theory continuously identify role models as an influential determinant of a student's career choice. The presence of entrepreneurial role models had been identified as one of the most significant socio-cultural factors to play a role in entrepreneurship (Fornahl 2003). Earlier studies stem from the social learning theory (Bandura 1977) and the cognitive developmental theory (Kohlberg 1966), that assume that children imitate adults, in particular, parents who are regarded as role models (Dryler 1998). Shapero (1985) assert that role models influence entrepreneurial intentions.

In their study of factors influencing the entrepreneurial engagement Thurik et al. (2010) concluded that having at least one self-employed parent increased the odds of being engaged in entrepreneurial activity. This concurs with Scott and Twomey's study on predisposing factors. Rametse (2013) researched into the attitudes of women students' and barriers to business ownership in Botswana. Her results confirmed that a majority of the women aspired to start their businesses when they completed their studies. The study indicated that women students' involvement in their family members' businesses influenced their desire to start their businesses thus confirming Scott and Twomey's findings about predisposing factors in particular, the importance of parents as role models.

Since Scott and Twomey's work, a number of other studies have been conducted and have highlighted a steady increase in the percentage of students aspiring to become entrepreneurs. Another study conducted by Moi et al. (2011) also suggested that the number of role models (family, friends or colleagues) was positively related to entrepreneurial intention.

Ferreira et al. (2017) sought to identify attitudes and intentions of university students towards starting their own businesses. The objective of their study was to identify the students' intentions toward entrepreneurship, their personal characteristics and future plans. They found that most of the students did not want to undertake entrepreneurial activities immediately after graduation but postponed it to a distant future. Perhaps this could have been because students wanted to gain hands-on work experience before starting their own businesses. Lack of initial capital could also have contributed to students' decisions to defer entrepreneurial activities to a distant future.

Scott and Twomey (1988) indicated that "predisposing" (background, personality, perception); "triggering" (situational) factors and having a business idea acted both independently and together to shape students' career aspirations. While predisposing factors are long-term, triggering factors are situational and short-term in nature and they include "the effects of looking for work, career advice received and the prospects of unemployment' (Scott and Twomey 1988).

There is a paucity of literature on the intentions of female university students' with regard to entrepreneurship in the Gulf Community Countries (GCC) and Middle Eastern and North African (MENA) countries. Hatten and Ruhland (1995) and Kent (1990) examined the entrepreneurial knowledge, preferences and perceived barriers among business students in the Middle East. Other studies were conducted by Gallant et al. (2010). Hossan et al. (2013) studied entrepreneurial knowledge and preferences of female businesses students in Abu Dhabi and their

study found that students had greater interest in starting new ventures but did not know where to get help regarding starting their new businesses.

In Oman, the attitudes of Omani college students towards entrepreneurship were assessed by Segumpan and Zahari (2012). Their research also attempted to determine any significant differences in respondents' attitudes when grouped by gender. Sixty one (61) university students who were enrolled on the International Business course took part in the study. In relation to differences in entrepreneurship attitudes by gender, their study found that male students had higher entrepreneurial orientation than their female colleagues. However, all in all, their findings indicated positive attitudes by Omani students towards entrepreneurship.

In another Omani study, Thresi and Hamadi (2012) assessed the entrepreneurial intentions of Sohar University students. Their study tested for the presence and strength of four traits associated with entrepreneurship; the need for achievement, autonomy, risk-taking and self confidence. Their results indicated a high number of students who intended to engage in entrepreneurial activities upon university completion.

Both the Omani studies indicate students' positive attitudes towards entrepreneurial activities. This could be due to the influence of many government and non-governmental programs that are aimed at encouraging youth entrepreneurship in Oman.

No study has been conducted in Oman regarding role models and family background as influential motivators of entrepreneurial aspirations of female students in higher education.

#### 6 Theoretical Framework

The analysis of this research is predominantly based on the Scott and Twomey (1988) model, which describes factors that influence students' career aspirations (see Fig. 1). This framework has been chosen because its conceptual dimensions are widely covered by the literature (Scott and Twomey 1988; Orhan and Scott 2001; Rametse and Huq 2014) and meet the research objectives of our study. These factors are represented by three broad variables comprising of predisposing factors, triggering factors and possessing a business idea (Scott and Twomey 1988). Scott and Twomey (1988) explain predisposing factors as background/personality/perception factors that develop over several years or more. For this study, these include family background, in particular small business owners within the immediate or broader family as role models. However, it should be noted that our paper discusses only the predisposing factor of parental role models and career preferences.

Other broad variables, which are situational and short-term, are triggering factors. These are the reasons why the students are interested in setting up businesses. These include "the effects of looking for work, career advice received, and the prospect of unemployment" (Scott and Twomey 1988, p. 6). Another factor that may influence women students to start their businesses is possession of a business idea, which may



Adapted from Scott and Twomey 1988,

Fig. 1 Main factors influencing career aspirations

be instigated by both predisposing and triggering factors. Thus, these factors may generate a business idea, leading on to setting up a business as an ultimate career preference. Thus, possession of a business idea alone may "pull" women students into entrepreneurship.

# 7 Research Methodology

This research attempts to answer the above stated question: What factors influence female students at Sultan Qaboos University towards entrepreneurship?

#### 7.1 Participants

Data was collected between January and March, 2015, from a sample of 210 undergraduate female students from the College of Economics and Political Science at Sultan Qaboos University in Oman. Out of the 210 participants, 200 respondents remained in the sample after eliminating the unusable questionnaires.

#### 7.2 Measurement/Instruments

Building upon Rametse and Huq (2015), we adapted and developed a survey questionnaire, titled, Female Students Entrepreneurial Motivations Questionnaire (FSEMQ), for the purpose of this study.

This instrument was piloted on five female students and five academics for their comments and suggestions, and to determine its validity. Problematic questions were identified and refined. Semi structured survey questionnaires were used as they are

cost effective and more reliable. Additionally, questionnaires can be distributed to a large sample of people to get their different attitudes and views at once and they are suitable for gathering data quickly and in a short time. The main disadvantage was lack of in-depth answers from respondents. When designing a questionnaire, sub-questions were formulated to address the research question and the hypotheses to be evaluated.

The self-administered questionnaire—FSEMQ was divided into four sections. The questions were devised based on the adapted theoretical framework. The first section of the questionnaire required respondents to provide their personal details and family background including parents' occupations; if respondents were involved in a business or had any business experience and whether they had a relative who was an entrepreneur. This information was needed to investigate how demographic factors affected students' perceptions towards entrepreneurship.

The second section required students to provide information on their prospective career options upon university completion. They were required to rank their options with a measurement scale of a Five-point Likert-scale, with 1 =Very unattractive and 5 =Very attractive. In this section, respondents were further asked to rank the amount of influence they got (from family, friends, university teachers, and the media) towards their career choices. With 1 =No influence and 5 Strong influence.

The third section was designed to investigate participants' attitudes towards entrepreneurship, their intentions as well as their experience of business ownership. Questions related to women attitudes towards entrepreneurship as their career options were also included. Questionnaires contained several open-ended questions with the last section of the questionnaire requesting for respondents' general views on barriers preventing women to partake in entrepreneurship ventures in Oman. Responses were appropriately coded for analysis using a Statistical Package for the Social Sciences (SPSS).

# 7.3 Procedure

On the basis of the pilot, the FSEMQ was distributed randomly to the undergraduate female students (N = 210) in 2015, generating 200 responses. The purpose was to identify the factors that motivate students in their aspirations to start businesses. Data was collected after ethics clearance by Sultan Qaboos University.

# 7.4 Statistical Procedure

The Statistical Package for Social Sciences (SPSS) 23.0 was used for the survey to compute descriptive statements and some cross-tabulations. In addition to using SPSS 23.0, Artificial Neural Network (ANN) was used to predict female students' interest in starting their own businesses.

## 7.5 Artificial Neural Network

Artificial Neural Network (ANN) is gaining importance in business research as it can handle data without normality conditions and can capture linear as well as non-linear relationship among decision variables. ANN is considered one of the most advanced statistical techniques. ANN can be defined as "a massively parallel distributed processor made up of simple processing units, which have a neural propensity for storing experimental knowledge and making it available for use" (Haykin 2001). The functioning of artificial neural network is similar to the human brain in the sense of knowledge gathering through learning. ANN is made up of three layers namely input layers, hidden layers, and output layer. These layers are connected through synaptic weights for adjusting using recursive learning process (Leong et al. 2013). There are two ways of learning in artificial neural networks namely supervised learning and unsupervised learning. ANN has been employed in various domains of businesses such as insurance, operations management, retail, marketing, telecommunications, eLearning, banking and finance sector (Smith and Gupta 2000). The performance of ANN has been proved to perform better than other advanced statistical models such as multiple linear regression, discriminant analysis, logistic regression, structural equation modelling and others. The "black box" approach of neural network model is one of its shortcomings and it cannot be used to test research hypotheses it can be done with regression based statistical models.

# 8 Results

# 8.1 The Respondents' Profile

Table 2 presents a distribution of personal details. A majority of female students (99.3%) were in the age range 18–25 years. Around 99% are single. A majority (55%) were from a nuclear family set-up. Around 50.8% and 49.2% had a level of

Variables	Sample
Age	n = 145 (99.3%), ranged from 18 to 25 years
	n = 1 (0.7%), ranged from 26 to 30 years
Marital status	n = 145 (99.3%), single; $n = 9$ (6.9%), married
Type of family set-up	n = 68 (55.6%), = nuclear family; $n = 55$ (44.4%), = joint family
Level of studies	n = 67 (50.8%), = Junior (<2 years); $n = 65 (49.2%)$ , = Senior (>2
	years)
Education qualification	n = 74 (51.7) Bachelor; $n = 44$ (30.8) Diploma; $n = 12$ (8.4) Basic
	education; $n = 11$ (7.7) Post basic education; $n = 2$ (1.4) Masters
Monthly income (bread	n = 92 (65.7%) < 5000  OMR; n = 37 (26.4%) 5001-20,000  OMR;
winner)	n = 9 (6.4%) 20,001-35,000  OMR; n = 2 (1.4%) > 35,000  OMR

Table 2 Profile of respondents

Table 3         Type of business           interest         Interest	Industry	n (%)	
	Retail	8 (12.9)	
	Service	31 (50)	
	Manufacturing	10 (16.1)	
	Others	13 (20.9)	

studies of junior and senior respectively. Regarding qualifications, 51.7 % studied for Bachelor's Degree and 30.8% for a Diploma. A majority (65.7%) were from the lower level of income (less than OMR 5000).

As shown in Table 3, respondents were largely interested in service business (50%). Thus, it seems female students in Oman are more attracted to service industry.

# 8.2 Family Background

In an effort to investigate how demographic factors affected students' perceptions towards entrepreneurship, we further requested information from female students on their family background. These included parents' occupations, whether respondents were involved in a business or had any business experience and whether they had a relative who was an entrepreneur.

Table 4 shows that around 82% of respondents' fathers were employed, 13.8% were in business and 4% were farmers. A majority of the participants' mothers (26%) had no education as compared to their fathers (11.6%). However, many

Table 4   Parents'	Variables	N	%	
employment status and their	Father's occupation			
level of education	Farmer	4	4.0	
	Business	14	13.8	
	Job	83	82.2	
	Father's education	· · ·		
	No education	16	11.6	
	Basic	37	26.8	
	Post basic	25	18.1	
	Diploma	16	11.6	
	Bachelors	28	20.3	
	Masters	15	10.9	
	Mother's education			
	No education	36	26.1	
	Basic	52	37.7	
	Post basic	14	10.1	
	Diploma	19	13.8	
	Bachelors	16	11.6	

participants' mothers (37.7%) had basic education, while 26% reported that their fathers had basic education. Additionally, a majority of female students (20%) reported that their fathers had a Bachelors degree. Around 11% said their mothers had a Bachelor Degree. Thus, female students' fathers were more educated than their mothers.

# 8.3 Predisposing and Triggering Factors

#### 8.3.1 Involvement in Business

Table 5 shows 75% of the participant's families were already involved in business broken down as follows—parents (39.3%), uncles (21.4%), siblings (18.8%) and at least one spouse (1%). Few of the participants (14.3%) were themselves already involved in business. This suggests that they wanted to concentrate on their studies in an effort to earn more money in government and the private sector. Moreover, as indicated earlier on in this paper, this may support the assertion that in Oman, young people are groomed to take on government positions that are well-paid and require little personal accountability, hence the low level of involvement in business.

#### 8.3.2 Employment Preference

Respondents were requested to indicate their employment preference upon graduation. Table 6 shows that most female students found it very attractive to work for a large business in the private sector (48.3%) or a government organization (41.3%). Only 28.2% want to start their own businesses, and had little interest in the sectors of

Variables	n	%	
Does/did any of your family members operate own business?			
Yes	112	74.7	
If yes,			
Parents	44	39.3	
Siblings	21	18.8	
Uncles/aunts	24	21.4	
Cousins	15	13.4	
Grand parents	5	4.5	
Spouse	1	0.9	
In-laws	2	1.8	
Are/were you involved in the business in any way?			
Yes	17	14.3	
No	102	85.7	

 Table 5
 Distribution of family involvements in business

	Attractive				
	Very			Very	
	attractive	Attractive	Undecided	Unattractive	unattractive
Variables	n (%)	n (%)	n (%)	n (%)	n (%)
Govt. organization	50 (41.3)	40 (33.1)	16 (13.2)	10 (8.3)	5 (4.1)
Private sector, large	57 (48.3)	32 (27.1)	18 (15.3)	6 (5.1)	5 (4.2)
business					
Private sector, small	6 (12.8)	15 (12.8)	49 (41.9)	30 (25.6)	17 (14.5)
business					
Own business	33 (28.2)	29 (24.8)	30 (25.6)	11 (9.4)	14 (12.0)
Joint family business	20 (17.5)	28 (24.6)	20 (17.5)	29 (25.4)	17 (14.9)

Table 6 Distribution of participant's employment preference after the graduation

Table 7 Factors influencing to choose the preference of employment

	Influence				
	Strong	Moderate	Undecided	Somewhat	No
Variables	n (%)				
Parents	60 (49.6)	34 (28.6)	21 (17.6)	2 (1.7)	2 (1.7)
Siblings	17 (16.7)	32 (31.4)	26 (25.5)	15 (14.7)	12 (11.8)
Friends	18 (15.1)	29 (24.4)	43 (36.1)	18 (15.1)	11 (9.2)
The media	21 (17.9)	38 (32.5)	28 (23.9)	20 (17.1)	10 (8.5)
University (courses, teachers)	30 (27.5)	37 (33.9)	31 (28.4)	8 (7.3)	3 (2.0)
Work experience	40 (41.7)	27 (28.1)	18 (18.8)	7 (7.3)	4 (4.2)
Relatives	7 (10.1)	14 (20.3)	23 (33.3)	18 (26.1)	7 (10.1)
Spouse	9 (20.5)	5 (11.4)	13 (29.5)	8 (18.2)	9 (20.5)

small private business (12.8%) and joint family businesses (17.5%). The female students were attracted to work for large private companies due to the well-known factor of security in terms of resources and high remuneration. (Rametse and Huq 2015) This issue had earlier been confirmed by Huq and Moyeen (1999) who showed that working for large private sector organizations is associated with status, attractive salary and prestige. As confirmed by Rametse and Huq (2015) working for government organizations was less appealing for female students, probably due to bureaucratic red tape in the public sector.

Participants were requested to indicate the level of influence they think parents, siblings, friends, the media, university, work experience, relative and spouses had on their choice of preferred employment. Table 7 shows parents (49.6%), work experience (41.7%), spouse (20.5%) strongly influence the choice of preferred employment while there is only a moderate influence from the University (33.9%), media (32.5%), siblings (31.4%). Also, there is moderate influence from friends (36%) and relatives 26.1%. This high figure for the influence of parents supports the social learning and the cognitive developmental literature that the family is one of the most influential contexts of socialisation in childhood and adolescence (Kohlberg 1966; Bandura 1977; Dryler 1998).

Variables	n	%			
How did/do you want to set-up the business					
By myself	52	63.4			
With friends	30	36.6			
If you are to start your own business would your friends support your decision?					
Yes	86	84.3			
No	16	15.7			
Did you try/Are you trying to set up the business?					
Yes	19	22.9			
No	64	77.1			
It has been found that women often face additional problems before setting up business					
Yes	31	34.8			
No	58	65.2			

Table 8 Perception towards business ownership

Table 8 shows that most of female students prefer to start businesses by themselves (63.4%) when compared to starting with their friends (36.6%), hoping their friends (84.3%) will support them. Some of the 23% of participants tried/are trying to start a business, and 35% of them agree that women are facing additional problems. Starting businesses by themselves support the view by Rametse and Huq (2015) that women students' see themselves as well-educated and confident enough to succeed in venture creation.

#### 8.3.3 The Importance of Role Models

Participants believe parents (48.9%), friends/peers (23.3%), siblings (23.1%), media (22.1%) will contribute strong influence while starting their own business. Only 7% were influenced by other relatives (See Table 9). Ranking parents high amongst others, in influencing female students to start their own enterprises confirms the significance of socialization and parental role models (Dryler 1998). Additionally,

	Influence				
	Strong	Moderate	Undecided	Somewhat	No
Variables	n (%)				
Parents	45 (48.9)	23 (25.0)	12 (13.0)	5 (5.4)	7 (7.6)
Siblings	18 (23.1)	21 (26.9)	20 (25.6)	9 (11.5)	10 (12.8)
Friends/peers	21 (23.3)	35 (38.9)	21 (23.3)	6 (6.7)	7 (7.8)
The media	19 (22.1)	24 (27.9)	28 (32.6)	7 (8.1)	8 (9.3)
University (courses, teachers)	16 (18.6)	29 (33.7)	21 (24.4)	9 (10.5)	11 (12.8)
Relatives	7 (4.7)	17 (11.3)	24 (35.8)	10 (14.9)	9 (13.4)
Spouse	5 (13.5)	4 (10.8)	10 (27.0)	11 (29.7)	7 (18.9)

Table 9 Distribution of the family members influences while starting the business

studies (for example, Scott and Twomey 1988) have confirmed that students whose parents owned businesses were more motivated to start their own businesses.

#### 8.3.4 Artificial Neural Network Analysis

The back propagation neural network was employed to analyze data using IBM SPSS 23.0. The back propagation involves the weighted inputs to be added and processed by activation function and transferred to the next layers of neurons (Chong 2013). The activation function used in this model was hyperbolic tangent trigonometric function. This neural model is commonly used in business research because of its ease of use and effectiveness in predicting outcome variables using predictors. In this model, predictors namely influence, setup business, bussSetup, workholic, wealthy, friend-sup and outcome variable chosen was "interest to start own business". In Fig. 1, DV = 1 represents the value of dependent variable "Yes" whereas DV = 2 represents "No". A three layer namely input layer, hidden layer, and output layer is shown in Fig. 2. The neural network model is mapping input onto output the learning process (Chong 2013). The key objective of learning process is to minimize the difference between actual value of outcome variable and its predicted value.

#### 8.3.5 Validation of Neural Network Model

The artificial neural network model was trained using the multilayer perceptron training algorithm. In order to minimize over-fitting and simplification of the neural network model, cross validation was performed. The cross validation was employed using 1–10 hidden nodes. In the neural network model, there were six predictors, one hidden layer, and one outcome variable with two possible outcomes "Yes" and "No". The prediction accuracy of the neural network model was determined with the help of Root Mean Squared Error (RMSE). In the tenfold cross validations, 80% of the data points were used to train the proposed neural network models whereas 20% data points were used to validate the same. The average RMSE for the training the neural network model was 0.092 with standard deviation 0.004 and for the testing the neural network model was 0.086 with standard deviation 0.007. These descriptive statistics of RMSE support the reliability of the proposed neural network model in this research. The results of this research were compared with the results of multiple linear regression for benchmarking purpose. The RMSE value of linear regression was 0.269. Hence, performance of the neural network model was better than multiple linear regression.

#### 8.3.6 Sensitivity Analysis

The sensitivity analysis was performed to rank the importance of the predictors influencing the interest of female participants towards starting their own business



Hidden layer activation function: Hyperbolic tangent Output layer activation function: Softmax

Fig. 2 Artificial neural network model

(see Table 10). The importance of predictors shows how the predicted values by the neural network model influence the different values of the outcome variable (Chong 2013).

The normalized importance of the predictors was computed by dividing the importance values by the highest value of the importance and finally multiplied by 100 to get the importance in terms of percentage for easy understanding. The normalized importance of the predictors is also shown in Fig. 3. Table 10 summarizes the importance of all the predictors for all 10 neural networks. On the basis of the artificial neural network models results, it is concluded that the most important predictor of "Interest to start own business" was "influence" which is defined as the "Business-ownership made you think of having your own business" followed by "How did/do you want to set-up the business?", "Trying to set up the business?", "Business-owner means "all work and no play".", "Business owners earn a lot of money.", and "Friend supports your decision to start business?"

#### Table 10 Predictor importance

Predictors importance					
		Normalized importance			
Predictors	Importance	(%)			
Business-ownership made you think of having your own	0.259	100.0			
business					
How did/do you want to set-up the business?	0.247	95.4			
Trying to set up the business?	0.233	89.7			
Friend supports your decision to start business?	0.048	18.3			
Business-owner means "all work and no play"	0.110	42.3			
Business owners earn a lot of money	0.103	39.8			



Fig. 3 Normalized importance

# 9 Conclusions and Implications

This study has attempted to answer the following research question:

What factors influence Sultan Qaboos University' female students towards entrepreneurship? Findings of this study suggest that while the general perceptions toward business start-up are positive among female undergraduate students, a small portion of them still hold ambivalent views towards starting their businesses. Although a majority of female students' families were already involved in business, this did not influence many of them to be involved in business. Female students ranked the influence of their parents high in terms of their aspirations to start their own businesses when they graduate. A majority of female students also aspired to work for private large organisations. The influence is attributable to prestige, job security, more resources and higher salary. However, due to a fear of bureaucratic red-tape, the public sector is less appealing than the private sector for female students. Female students also aspire to start their businesses by themselves, suggesting the high confidence they have due to their higher level of education.

Findings of this study suggest that female students are indecisive about their aspirations for venture creation upon their graduation. Thus, in Oman, entrepreneurship courses should be developed both at early stage of high school and university level (Rametse and Huq 2015). Capstone courses, industry engagement relating to entrepreneurship, role models and the use of the Activator need to be seriously considered by universities in their curriculum development to prepare the student to undertake entrepreneurial activities when they graduate. The Activator will enable female students to be empowered through collaboration, advice and knowledge in the creation and development of their entrepreneurship ideas.

This study employed predictive modelling to understand and to predict starting up of businesses by female students in developing country like Oman. The predictive modelling is being preferred over traditional statistical models like regression models and structural equation models because it has power to detect non-linear relationship among decision variables in addition to detecting linear relationship among decision variables. On employing predictive modelling in this chapter, it was revealed that the key factors influencing female students to start a business were the "Business-ownership made you think of having your own businesss" These findings show that Omani students are willing to start their own businesses. However; there is a lack of information about how to set up a business among female students. It is imperative that female students should be given training and opportunities during their school as well as college days. In recent times, it has been observed that leadership in Oman is working towards empowerment of women in general. This chapter will be useful to researchers, academics, and decision makers to develop suitable strategies to prepare appropriate platforms for budding female entrepreneurs in Oman.

The limitation of this study was lack of soliciting qualitative information to substantiate the quantitative data obtained, as well as triggering factors, which encompass the socio-cultural factors confronting women in Omani. This is particularly important for a country with such a rich culture. Thus, a focus group discussion with the same group of female students is suggested.

# References

Al-Ghassani AM (2010) A case study of Oman. Entrepreneurship education in the Arab States, UNESCO-UNEVOC International Centre for Technical and Vocational Education and Training – Bonn UN Campus Hermann-Ehlers Publication, p 47

- AL-Lawati HS (2016) 3.5 year waiting for job by young Omanis times of Oman. http:// timesofoman.com/article/77188/Oman/Government/An-Omani-job-seeker-needs-three-and-ahalf-years-to-find-a-job. Accessed 15 Jan 2017
- Al-Shanfari DA (2012) Multi-year expert meeting on enterprise development policies and capacitybuilding in science. Technology and innovation (STI) (Fourth session), Geneva, 16–18 Jan 2012
   Bandura A (1977) Social learning theory. Prentice-Hall, Englewood Cliffs
- Bhandar NC (2006) Intention for entrepreneurship among students in India. J Entrep 15(2):169-179
- Blackman D, Hindle K (eds) (2007) Would using psychological contract increase entrepreneurial business development potential? In: International handbook of entrepreneurship and human resources management, Educational Psychology. Routledge, Folkestone
- Blenker P, Dreisler P, Kjeldsen J (2006) Entrepreneurship education-the new challenge facing the universities. Department of Management, Aarhus School of Business, Aarhus
- Central Bank of Oman (2015) Annual report. Sultanate of Oman, Muscat
- Chong AY (2013) A two-staged SEM-neural network approach for understanding and predicting the determinants of m-commerce adoption. Expert Syst Appl 40(4):1240–1247
- Davidsson P (2004) The domain of entrepreneurship research: some suggestions. In: Katz JA, Shepherd D (eds) Advantages in entrepreneurship, firm emergence and growth. JAI Press, Oxford, pp 315–372
- Dryler H (1998) Parental role models, gender and educational choice. Br J Sociol 49(3):375-398
- Erlich R (2015) Continuing low oil prices cause crisis in Oman, DW. http://www.dw.com/en/ continuing-low-oil-prices-cause-crisis-in-oman/a-18584787
- European Commission (2003) Final report of the expert group "best procedure" project on education and training for entrepreneurship. E. Directorate-general. European Commission, Brussels
- Fayolle A (2000) Setting up a favourable environmental framework to promote and develop entrepreneurship education. ICSB world conference 2000
- Ferreira JJ, Fernandes CI, Ratten V (2017) The influence of entrepreneurship education on entrepreneurial intentions. In: Entrepreneurial universities. Springer, Cham, pp 19–34
- Fornahl D (2003) Entrepreneurial activities in regional context. In: Fornahl D, Brenner T (eds) Cooperation, networks and institutions in regional innovation systems. Edward Elgar, Northampton, pp 38–57
- Gallant M, Majumdar S, Varadarajan D (2010) Outlook of female students towards entrepreneurship: an analysis of a selection of business students in Dubai. Educ Bus Soc Contemp Middle E Issues 3(3):218–230
- Global University Entrepreneurial Spirit Students' Survey [GUESSS] (2008) An international comparison of entrepreneurship among students. International report of the global university entrepreneurial spirit students' survey project
- Hatten TS, Ruhland SK (1995) Student attitude toward entrepreneurship as affected by participation in an SBI program. J Educ Bus 70(4):224–227
- Haykin S (2001) Neural networks: a comprehensive foundation. Prentice Hall, Upper Saddle River NJ
- Hisrich RD, Brush CG (1985) Women and minority entrepreneurs: a comparative analysis. Frontiers in entrepreneurship research, Babson College, Wellesley, pp 566–572
- Hossan C, Parankandi M, Saber H (2013) An empirical study on the UAE business student's entrepreneurial knowledge, preferences and perceived barriers. College of Business Administration, Abu Dhabi University, UAE 59911, 1–13
- Huq A, Moyeen A (1999) Social influences on entrepreneurial career aspirations of female graduates in Bangladesh. J Bus Adm 25(3–4.) July and October, Institute of Business Administration, University of Dhaka, Bangladesh. ISSN 1680-9823
- International Labour Organization (ILO), United Nations Conference on Trade and Development (UNCTAD) (2012) Entrepreneurship policy framework and implementation guidance. United Nations, Geneva. http://unctad.org/en/Pages/DIAE/Entrepreneurship/UNCTAD\_Entrepreneur ship\_Policy\_Framework.aspx

- Intilaaqah Entrepreneurial Development (2016) https://www.shell-livewire.com/home/newsevents/ news/shell\_launches\_new\_intilaaqah\_entrepreneurial. Accessed 25 Jan 2017
- Kent CA (1990) Entrepreneurship education at the collegiate level: a synopsis and evaluation. In: Kent CA (ed) Entrepreneurship education. Quorum Books, New York, pp 111–122
- Khaleej Times (2004) Women forum to help boost image of Omani entrepreneurs, April 14. Accessed 5 Feb 2017
- Khan GM, Almoharby D (2007) Towards enhancing entrepreneurship development in Oman. J Enterp Cult 15(4):371–392
- Kirby D (2007) Changing the entrepreneurship education paradigm (Chapter 2). In: Fayolle A (ed) Handbook of research in entrepreneurship education, vol 1. Edward Elgar, Cheltenham, pp 21– 23
- Kirzner I (1997) Entrepreneurship discovery and the competitive market process: an Austrian approach. J Econ Lit 35:60–85
- Klyver K (2005) Entrepreneurship and social network development a life cycle approach. Unpublished PhD dissertation. University of Southern Denmark
- Kohlberg L (1966) A cognitive-developmental analysis of children's sex-role concepts and attitudes. In: Maccoby EE (ed) The development of sex differences. Stanford University Press, Stanford
- Kroy P (2005) The continental and Anglo-American approaches to entrepreneurship education differences and bridges (Chapter 6). In: Fayolle A, Klandt H (eds) International entrepreneurship education. Edward Elgar, Cheltenham
- Leong LY, Hew TS, Tan GWH, Ooi KB (2013) Predicting the determinants of the NFC-enabled mobile credit card acceptance: a neural networks approach. Expert Syst Appl 40(14):5604–5620
- Li J, Young MN, Tang G (2012) The development of entrepreneurship in Chinese communities: an organizational symbiosis perspective. Asia Pac J Manag 29(2):367–385
- Marcucci PN (2001) Jobs, gender and small enterprises in Africa and Asia: lessons drawn from Bangladesh, the Philippines, Tunisia and Zimbabwe. Seed working paper no. 18, series on women's entrepreneurship development and gnder in enterprises – WEDGE, March. http:// www.ilo.org/empent/Whatwedo/Publications/lang--en/docName--WCMS\_113775/index.htm. Accessed 19 Mar 2011
- Martins RA (2007) The use of performance measurement information as a driver in designing a performance measurement system. Centre for Business Performance, Boston
- Mohammed al Sami A (2014) Entrepreneurship course for all higher education students, Muscat Daily, 2 September, p 2
- Moi T, Adeline YL, Dyana ML (2011) Young adult responses to entrepreneurial intent. Res World 2(3):37
- Nieman G (2001) Training entrepreneurs and small business enterprises in South Africa: a situational analysis. Educ Train 43(8/9):445–450
- Orhan M, Scott D (2001) Why women enter into entrepreneurship: an explanatory model. Women Manage Rev 16(5):232–247
- Pittaway L, Cope J (2007) Entrepreneurship education: a systematic review of the evidence. Int Small Bus J 25:479–510
- Rametse N (2013) Attitudes of higher education students to business ownership: lessons and experiences from the University of Botswana students. Paper for the 5th annual American business research conference, Sheraton LaGuardia East Hotel, NY, USA. ISBN: 978-1-922069-24-5
- Rametse N, Huq A (2013) Women students aspirations in starting their businesses in Botswana. Paper for the 6th international business and social science research conference, Novotel World Trade Centre, Dubai, 3–4 Jan 2013. ISBN 978-1-992069-18-4
- Rametse N, Huq A (2014) Factors influencing attitudes of women students to business ownership: lessons and experiences from the University of Botswana. Int Rev Bus Res Pap 10(1):109–125. http://www.irbrp.com/static/documents/March/2014/9.%20Nthati.pdf

- Rametse N, Huq A (2015) Social influences on entrepreneurial aspirations of higher education students: empirical evidence from the University of Botswana women students. Small Enterp Res 22(1):1–16. Access http://www.tandfonline.com.ezproxy.lib.rmit.edu.au/doi/abs/10.1080/ 13215906.2015.1018381
- Schumpeter JA (1934) The theory of economic development: an inquiry into profits, capital, credit, interests, and the business cycle. Oxford University Press, Oxford
- Scott CE (1986) Why more women are becoming entrepreneurs. J Small Bus Manag 24(4):37-44
- Scott M, Twomey D (1988) The long-term supply of entrepreneurs: students career aspirations in relation to entrepreneurship. J Small Bus Manag 26(4):5–13
- Segumpan RG, Zahari JS (2012) Attitude towards entrepreneurship among Omani college students trained in business. Int J Bus Behav Sci 2(4):61–72
- Shane S, Venkataraman S (2000) The promise of entrepreneurship as a field of research. Acad Manag Rev 25(1):217–226
- Shapero A (1985) The entrepreneurial event. Enterprise, February:5-9
- Smith KA, Gupta JN (2000) Neural networks in business: techniques and applications for the operations researcher. Comput Oper Res 27(11):1023–1044
- Thresi V, Hamadi A (2012) Youth's entrepreneurial attitudes in Oman. World J Soc Sci 2(7):302-325
- Thurik R, Verheul I, Hessels J, van der Zwan P (2010) Factors influencing the entrepreneurial engagement of opportunity and necessity entrepreneurs (No. H201011). EIM Business and Policy Research, March 2010, 1–24
- United Nations Development Program (2014) Human development report 2014. Oxford University Press, New York
- World Economic Forum (2014) The world competitiveness report. IMF, Lausanne
- Zahra S, Dess G (2001) Entrepreneurship as a field of research: encouraging dialogue and debate. Acad Manag Rev 26:8–10

# A Journey Towards Entrepreneurial Support in Pakistan: IBA's Center for Entrepreneurial Development (CED)



Shahid Qureshi and Sarfraz Mian

**Abstract** Entrepreneurship is a key to the economic development of a country as it leads to innovation and job creation. Pakistan with its factor-driven economy and a population of around 200 million, with a heavy youth bulge (60% of population less than 30 years of age), thousands of jobs need to be created every year. The rural youth have a tendency to move to main cities to pursue careers in often low paid and semi-skilled jobs. The Centre for Entrepreneurial Development (CED) at the Institute of Business Administration (IBA) Karachi was established in 2010 to play a key role in promoting entrepreneurship in the country. The objective was to train the urban and rural youth to pursue agriculture, technology and other low cost business opportunities in their own villages, towns and cities to spur innovation and growth. Starting from a single room CED now has a dedicated three story building and has helped hundreds of youth to develop an entrepreneurial mindset and start their businesses. The case describes the emergence of CED as a premier center and discusses the various challenges and issues as they arose during the journey. It provides valuable lessons and has implications for policy makers and university administrators confronted with similar situations.

**Keywords** Entrepreneurship  $\cdot$  Effectuation principles  $\cdot$  Poverty alleviation  $\cdot$  Social entrepreneurship

S. Qureshi (🖂)

CED, Washington, DC, USA e-mail: squreshi@iba.edu.pk

S. Mian State University of New York, New York, NY, USA

© Springer International Publishing AG, part of Springer Nature 2018 N. Faghih, M. R. Zali (eds.), *Entrepreneurship Education and Research in the Middle East and North Africa (MENA)*, Contributions to Management Science, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-90394-1\_13 239
# 1 Introduction

Pakistan is endowed with a large population base approaching 200 million inhabitants. Interestingly more than 60% of this population is below 30 years of age. The rapid rise in population has created many challenges for the country as both the government and private sector feels helpless to provide job opportunities to this great youth bulge. Unemployment and purposelessness have created a great number of social and economic issues. At this juncture, the country needs to work on a national strategy to promote the entrepreneurial mindset in the country and facilitate the youth to proceed for new venture creation activities as it is happening in other countries such as US, Korea, China, Iran, Turkey and India etc. These countries are investing a lot of resources in the development of their entrepreneurial ecosystems. Many universities in these nations have developed entrepreneurial centers to help their university faculty and students to innovate, commercialize, and to work on new startup opportunities. These centers offer a wide array of services from teaching entrepreneurship, providing incubation facilities, mentorship, networking, soft loans, and a host of other support services. In many cases these centers have invested millions of dollars on research commercialization and new venture creation.

Pakistan has more than 200 universities and hundreds of polytechnics offering degrees and diplomas to thousands of students every year (Qureshi et al. 2016). If every major university or institute sets up an entrepreneurial center, it is hoped that thousands of students all across the country can be prepared to pursue entrepreneurial opportunities. This requires a lot of investment in infrastructure, staffing and launching support programs. The Higher Education Commission (HEC) of the country has given many grants to several major universities to start centers of research, innovation and commercialization programs. However the impact is far less than what is expected. One of the reasons for this setback is the lack of the entrepreneurial mindset in the university administration and their faculty. All of these efforts are generally based on the causation model where we start with a big vision, gather the means required to start a venture and then proceed. This journey never starts unless the required means are gathered. The entrepreneurial mindset is in contrast to the above. Successful entrepreneurs start with the means they have (who they are, what they know and whom they know) and then take a small step to pursue a small goal. As they keep on taking small steps, the ability to develop a larger vision is developed (Sarasvathy 2001). Moreover these entrepreneurs leverage any surprises during this journey and work in collaborative manner. They keep on taking smaller steps in a quick fashion which eventually develop into bigger goals. Sarasyathy (2006) has emphasized that the effectual mindset leads to phenomenal results in a new venture creation and the availability of resources does not matter.

The subject case study describes the process of setting up an entrepreneurial center at IBA Karachi. Initially it was decided to pursue a casual path by the university administration. A vision was developed and a leading foreign consultant was hired to develop a grand vision and strategy along with the means required to achieve this vision. The consultant report estimated that around 7.5 million was

required to achieve the vision of setting up a viable entrepreneurial center. The university approached various donors. One international donor agreed with the proposal and committed to the program but later backed out of the commitment. This was a big setback as IBA had been working on this proposal for a couple of years. The founders had no option left but to pursue the effectual approach. The case study describes the journey and explains how the events unfolded and a full-fledged entrepreneurial center came into being with a small amount of resources. It is hoped that other universities in similar situations will learn from this experience and follow the effectual approach in developing their centers.

#### **2** Organized Support for Entrepreneurship in the Region

The entrepreneurial center phenomena surfaced in the 1970s, when the University of Southern California launched graduate and undergraduate programs with concentration on entrepreneurship (Katz 2003). These small activities later led to the development of entrepreneurial centers in universities. These centers played an important role in promoting entrepreneurship throughout the university. Bert Twaalfhoven reports the role of entrepreneurial centers (three US, four Europe, and one Russia) which are acting as a hub in promoting entrepreneurship in their universities. These role models were then emulated at other places throughout the world. Morris et al. (2013) describe the key learnings of building world class entrepreneurship programs in universities.

Audretsch (2012) points out that the creation of patents, startups and spinoff ventures is not the real role of the university, and rather the university has to play an important role in developing entrepreneurial mindset, thinking, actions and institutions. Guerrero et al. (2016) describe the role of entrepreneurial universities as drivers of innovation and entrepreneurial activities. Audretsch and Keilbach (2004) introduced a new factor, entrepreneurial activity which contributes as a conduit to knowledge spillovers, healthy competition, and diversity. These activities further lead to the creation of institutions which facilitate these entrepreneurial activities and serve as the driving force for economic growth (Audretsch 2007).

The entrepreneurial centers as an institution are playing a focal role in promoting entrepreneurship in many parts of the world including South Asia. Once such pioneering center i.e. Centre for Innovation, Incubation and Entrepreneurship (CIIE) was developed at IIM in India and is playing an important role in promoting entrepreneurship throughout the country.

This phenomena also started taking place in Pakistan during the 2010s as many universities decided to create entrepreneurial centers in Pakistan. Qureshi et al. (2016) conducted an exploratory study of entrepreneurial centers in Pakistan. According to the study some of the leading entrepreneurial centers in Pakistan are working at IBA Karachi, IBA Sukkur, Lahore University of Management Sciences (LUMS), Baluchistan University of Information Technology and Management Sciences (BITUMS) Quetta, University of Engineering and Technology Peshawar among others. However the large amount of funding required for the infrastructure and other resources is an impediment to start and launch these entrepreneurial centers. This case study depicts the entrepreneurial journey of launching an entrepreneurial center in a resource parsimonious manner using bootstrapping, creative and innovative approaches.

# **3** The CED Case Study

It was a sunny and shining morning of Sept 2016, in Karachi. The program director of the Center for Entrepreneurial Development (CED) was preparing his slides for presentation to the CED advisory board along with his team members. The annual advisory board meeting was scheduled to take place in a week. As he was discussing the contents of the presentation with the CED team, he stuck upon a 10 year old document. The 150 page document was a proposal made by J E. Austin Associates (an international consulting firm) to set up an Entrepreneurial Center at IBA Karachi. The consultants had requested for an amount of US\$7.5 million to be submitted to a foreign donor in March 2010 to help build and grow the CED in the next 5 years. As he went through the various pages he stuck at a page where the consultants had written the goals for the next 5 years for CED. The document described as follows:

In 5 years the CED will be having a total of 44 employees and will be contributing in the following ways.

- · CED would be affiliated with Babson College, USA
- CED Would be part of the GEM global entrepreneurship monitor consortium
- · CED would have a dedicated three story building for the entrepreneurial center
- · CED would establish provincial centers in various parts of the country
- CED would train more than 1200 people by year 5
- · CED would conduct an international conference in entrepreneurship
- CED would have sent faculty to Babson College for training and invite faculty from Babson

As the team looked at the 5 year goals, they went into a mood of jubilation. The team members simultaneously shouted "Thanks God, we have achieved not only all of these objectives but went much beyond". See Table 1 for the comparison of the two strategies.

#### 4 The Beginning: A Big Dream

In response to a shrinking job market and thousands of jobless young people, the management of IBA, decided to open a center for entrepreneurial development to promote entrepreneurship in the country. It was decided by the top management to hire some consultants to help in the creation of an entrepreneurial center. In 2006, a

Strategy 1: Big Bang US\$7.5 million	Strategy 2: Start small with what you can do with the least amount
Collaboration with Babson College	Collaboration with Babson college on a short duration basis
Faculty training from Babson College	Faculty training from Babson for shorter duration
Team size of 38 employees and 6 faculty	Team size of 15. Mostly contract-based and visiting faculty
Outreach programs women entrepreneurship, technology and agricultural entrepreneurship	Outreach programs to be started on an experi- ment basis (by 2016 300 women entrepreneurs trained, 2000 youth trained)
Training of 1300 people in 5 years	More than 10,000 people trained in 6 years all over Pakistan
One international conference	Three international conferences and symposia conducted
One cycle of global entrepreneurship monitor- ing research	Three cycles of global entrepreneurship moni- toring research conducted

 Table 1
 Comparison of two strategies

feasibility study to set up a center for entrepreneurial development was conducted by J.E Austin Associates. The feasibility study proposed to raise around US\$10 million for the construction of a state of the art infrastructure and the operational expenditures for the next 5 years. It was projected that the center will be self-sustainable by the fifth year. In the meanwhile a director for the center was hired. Despite many hopes and efforts the hope to raise this huge amount faded as some of the international donors declined to provide financial assistance. The feasibility and the proposed plan lay dormant for a few years. The IBA Dean also approached Babson College through one of IBAs alumni who was working as faculty member at Babson College to get support. This further led to an MOU to train IBA faculty to teach entrepreneurship and lay the foundation of an Entrepreneurial center.

#### 5 Small Steps

In the fall of 2010, Mr. K who had recently finished his PhD in entrepreneurship from the Technical University of Berlin and was working as faculty member had a chance meeting with the Pakistani ambassador in Germany. During the meeting the ambassador persuaded Mr. K to join IBA and contribute in the development of the entrepreneurial center. The ambassador was a close friend of the then IBA Dean and was helping him to find international faculty for IBA.

After a series of interviews and discussions, Mr. K joined as an Associate Director of the center to look after the academic side. As the funding had been declined it was decided to take small steps and keep things moving. As a first step it was decided to start teaching entrepreneurship in the BBA program. The international exposure of Mr. K and his passion to teach helped him to develop a lot of interest in the students. One full time and some visiting faculty started offering entrepreneurship courses and started inviting guest speakers in the classes. The students were given assignments to interview an entrepreneur. The interview assignments were used to write small case studies on entrepreneurship and invite guest speakers to interact with students. In a short period of two semesters the center had more than 50 mini case studies and a list of guest speakers.

In the year 2011, IBA was able to raise a huge amount for the construction of the dedicated CED building with the generous support of AMAN foundation (PKR 200 million i.e. US\$2.4 million) and an amount of US\$360,000 was allocated for training of faculty from Babson College. The construction of the building started in the year 2012 and in the meanwhile six faculty members from various departments were selected for training at Babson. Upon their return a BBA in Entrepreneurship was initiated. The first batch of the BBA entrepreneurship was started with the induction of around 25 students in 2012. Three to four courses in entrepreneurship were offered. The FME (Foundation for Management and Entrepreneurship) course offered in the first year was mandatory and the students had to start a small functional business with an interest free loan up to US\$1000 from CED. The students were asked to develop a business plan in a group of 6-8 and then apply for funding from CED. Most of the businesses failed in the beginning, thus the CED management changed the policy of giving loans and proposed the change in the structure of the FME course. This idea came from studying the effectuation theory of entrepreneurship. According to effectuation theory the successful entrepreneurs start with their means i.e. who they are, what they know and whom they know instead of borrowing resources. According to the new model the students were asked to come up with an idea based on their bird in hand and then to develop a team on their own and then to start executing the business with the resources the team had. This model had a very positive impact and almost all of the teams started making some money from their business ideas. As the time passed on the CED team's observations had to indigenize the Babson learnings. This indigenization process led to the development of an indigenous Entrepreneurship teaching model called Entrepreneurship Plus model. The entrepreneurship plus model based on developing a strong faith and spiritual orientation (Neubert 2013). Qureshi posits that a spiritual orientation leads to strong entrepreneurial orientation and helps launch ventures which are environmentally, socially and ethically sustainable.

The CED building was completed in 2013. The center which started from a single room in 2010, eventually expanded into a full fledged building by 2013. The three story building, three big seminar rooms, small class rooms, a space for incubation, cafeteria and a lounge. The small steps taken in the past 2 years had grown big enough to ensure space utilization.

#### 6 Providing Incubation Support

An interesting development in the CED took place when the Director General of the provincial government's Sind Board of Investment (SBI) requested the CED to issue a certificate in entrepreneurship for the unemployed urban and rural youth of Pakistan. A 6 month program called EDP (Entrepreneurship Development Program) was designed. The government was willing to offer soft loans for startups as well. The program was eventually approved and around 120 students were trained in a year. In the first few weeks the focus of the course was on developing the entrepreneurial mindset. Initially the material and resources from Babson College were used to teach the various aspects of entrepreneurship. However after a few months the team discovered that they needed more indigenous material to make the curriculum relevant and easy to learn.

The search for local and indigenous material led the team to find local case studies and invite guest speakers from business and industry Segments. The faculty also looked at the various models being used in other developing countries. The application of the use of the effectuation theory in the BBA, FME course had shown positive results, therefore the faculty decided to use it in the EDP course.

The introduction of the effectuation theory led to the creation of many small startups with the least amount of money. This gave a lot of motivation to the CED team and the faculty from the Computers Science and Accounting started taking interests in the program. Effectuation theory proved to be powerful in terms of developing an action oriented mindset in the students. The faculty noticed a marked difference in the enthusiasm among entrepreneurship students when compared to the regular BBA/MBA students.

As more and more students underwent this training many of them started with small ventures within their affordable loss and without asking for any loans or financial support. That was a great discovery. Soon some of them asked for an incubation space. A few rooms were made available for a minimal rent of US\$50 for a month. Around five companies were incubated and as the word spread many others came. A small hatchery was added where each company got a table. In the mean-while, a Business Accelerator program was started to help the new businesses grow. Some of the incubatees joined the Accelerator and got access to the mentors who helped them grow. One of the students from the very first batch of the BBA program started a small courier company with US\$100. The fledgling company started with one table and was initially offering courier delivery services in the city. They had one borrowed motorcycle and one rider. The business started growing and expanded into a large company offering services throughout the country.

#### 7 CED Goes International

During his third year the same student went to the Babson College under a student exchange program. With a fire in his belly he was advised by the CED team to deliver his best in the summer program and build networks. He performed well is his studies and was able to connect some of the Babson faculty to the CED team. A couple of these faculties later visited CED and volunteered to help the Center.

Gradually, CED started becoming visible throughout the country and many local universities started contacting for training on how to start an entrepreneurial center and to learn the entrepreneurship pedagogy. With the support of a British Council grant the CED team conducted two national workshops on teaching entrepreneurship in Karachi and Islamabad. International faculty from the UK visited IBA and jointly conducted workshop with IBA faculty. This practice was continued on a yearly basis and more than 1000 local faculty members have gone through this training.

#### 8 CED's Flagship Women Entrepreneurship Program

By the beginning of 2013, the World Bank approached CED to start a program on women entrepreneurship to help women to start and grow businesses. After looking into the success of the EDP program, CED was selected as the implementation partner of the Women X program. Almost 300 women who had already started small ventures were selected to undergo a 4 month rigorous training program on the weekends. Seven batches of women entrepreneurs underwent this training from 2013 to 2016. As all of the women participants had already gained hands-on experience, they brought a lot of experience in the class and the networking and mentoring opportunity at the CED provided them a great learning opportunity. This program became a feather in the crown as it won the prestigious Outstanding Specialty Entrepreneurship Award at the annual USASBE (United States Association for Small Business and Entrepreneurship) conference in Philadelphia in January, 2017. The Outstanding Specialty Entrepreneurship Program Award is given to a college or university that has developed and still offers a high quality and innovative program the purpose of which is to educate and train future generations of entrepreneurs in a niche or specialty area. This award is given each year for an exemplary program that reflects innovation, quality, comprehensiveness, sustainability, depth of support, and impact. IBA Karachi representing Pakistan was competing with international universities in the quest for this award.

### 9 Other Related Initiatives

Another chance of meeting with the vice chancellor of the neighboring engineering university in 2014 led to the start of the technology entrepreneurship program. NED University of Engineering and Technology is one the largest universities of Karachi. A certificate course on technology entrepreneurship with a very subsidized fee of Pakistani rupee 5000 was offered to the NED students. The purpose was to inculcate the entrepreneurial mindset in the students and enable them to start small ventures and try to commercialize their final year projects. This program enhanced the CED program offerings and helped to bring the technical universities come closer. This program has become a regular feature and engineering students from all over the city attend this certificate program. Many students develop prototypes and start small businesses.

Another initiative called Kids Entrepreneurship was introduced in 2014. During summer vacations the high school students were offered a 4 week course to help the young kids to help their family businesses along with their studies. Later on this became a regular feature of the CED.

From 2011 to 2014, CED conducted national level business plan competitions to promote entrepreneurship in the country. This used to be a 6-month long activity which culminated in a final event where the top 50 ideas were presented in front of experts and angel investors. This activity made Entrepreneurship a buzz word in the country. The CED team conducted dozens of workshops throughout the country. After three rounds of the national level business plan competition, the CED team decided to use the effectuation theory and changed the structure of the competition. The entry was based on a viable product/service and some sales/customers. This process filtered the non-serious participants and made the competition more credible and useful.

By the end of year 2013, the CED had around 30 student companies in the incubator, another 10–15 availed virtual incubation support and dozens more students had started small ventures in their homes and localities. In January 2014 CED was selected in the top three best entrepreneurial centers category in the USASBE 2014 conference. This brought more visibility to the program and brought CED on the international map.

In 2015 and 2016 CED faculty members attended the Academy of Management (AOM) annual conferences and presented their own Entrepreneurship Plus model which had worked well at IBA. This brought more visibility to CED and helped in networking. Based on these networks the CED was able to make new friends and invite them to Pakistan. Many others showed interest and later visited and participated in various programs of the CED. In 2016 two international workshops were conducted. The first one was held in Karachi and was sponsored by the World Bank. Key note speakers came from the US, Europe and Pakistan and more than 200 local faculty members attended the workshop was conducted in August in Islamabad which was sponsored by the National ICT R&D fund. More than 300 international



Fig 1 Various activities being carried out at IBA CED

and national faculty members underwent a 2-day workshop on entrepreneurship teaching and mindset development. At the same time the first international summer school was conducted at IBA. More than 60 participants and faculty came from all over the world to attend this 20 days summer school. This school was conducted in four cities i.e. Karachi, Islamabad, Abbottabad and Lahore enabling the participants to experience the Pakistani landscape and meet various Pakistani entrepreneurs. Two of these visiting international professors taught three entrepreneurship courses at CED.

Another initiative undertaken in 2016 was to start the ITVP (IBA Technology Ventures Program) which is designed for "C" and Java programmers to enable them to set up small companies.

This journey is still going on. A committed team of over a dozen IBA faculty and staff is working 6 days a week in various programs. The CED has an advisory board which facilities them in the visioning process. The portfolio of programs has made CED as a melting pot where people from agriculture, technology, service sector, IT and of various ages and gender interact. This interaction is very unique and leads to new opportunities. Figure 1 describes the various activities being carried out at AMAN CED.

#### **10** Spreading the Message and Sharing It with Others

IBA has helped over dozens of Pakistani universities to setup entrepreneurial programs including incubation facilities throughout the country, for this purpose CED offers 2–3 day to 2-week long courses on and off site. Like other initiatives, this also started small and then later grew into a larger program. More than a dozen workshops have been conducted in this regard since 2010.

Another interesting event was the selection of IBA CED by the Sri Lankan Chamber of Commerce as a consultant to help them build an entrepreneurial center in Colombo. As a first step, the CED team conducted a 2-day workshop in Colombo. The mentoring process is going on till to date.

The details of all of these activities are available at the CED website. http://ced. iba.edu.pk/.

#### **11** Salient Features of the Programmatic Elements at CED

- Several entrepreneurship courses have been developed and taught over the last 16 years
- National business plan competition is an ongoing activity and so far 6000 participants have benefitted
- Largest pool of foreign trained entrepreneurship faculty in the region at the CED
- Training more than 1000 faculty members across Pakistan in Entrepreneurship
- First BBA Entrepreneurship program in the country
- First Kids Entrepreneurship program in the country
- First Agricultural Entrepreneurship Program in the country
- Developing a new Entrepreneurship Teaching Model called (E+ Model)
- Approaching 100 case studies and research papers on Entrepreneurship. These are being used in teaching
- Largest Entrepreneurship research activity in the country i.e. GEM research for three consecutive years
- · First program on Entrepreneurship for Engineers
- New program called ITVP has started
- More than 10,000 people have benefited from the CED programs in the past 10 years
- · CED has expanded internationally and is now active in Sri Lanka

### 12 Research Initiatives

In 2011 the CED launched the GEM (Global Entrepreneurship Monitoring) project which was repeated in 2012 and 2013. The project was initiated with the help of a Professor of Pakistani origin working at the State University of New York. That project brought CED into the International limelight. The center faculty was also engaged in the Iran–Pakistan, Turkey women entrepreneurship study, and the MENA Networking research activity.

In addition the faculty started writing local case studies which became a part of the curriculum of the various courses. A repository of about 100 case studies is available and is being used in teaching at various places.

### 13 Conclusion

The sequence of events and as they are unfolded in the case study lead to the conclusions that entrepreneurial mindset is the most important aspect of pursuing any entrepreneurial venture. The development of CED was a new venture creation activity with the following lessons:

- Start with who you are, what you know and whom you know. Do not try to copy someone else. Focus on your bird in hand and keep on developing it. This can be as simple as inviting entrepreneurs as guest speakers in the class, offering a course in entrepreneurship, labelling a room as an entrepreneurial center/incubator.
- The founding teams needs to be engaged in teaching entrepreneurship in the effectual way. The more they teach, the more they will embrace it and the more they will be able to convince the young participants.
- Take small steps based on the affordable loss principle. This will give courage and initiative. These small failures provide valuable lessons and you keep on improving based on these learnings.
- Be flexible in terms of your goals and leverage the surprises as they come in your way and consider them an opportunity.
- Collaborative mindset is the best way to proceed. Engage other people and work with an altruistic mindset of giving others. You will soon find self-selected partners ready to work with you.
- Team building is important. The golden principle is treating others as you like to be treated. Help them grow intellectually, emotionally and spiritually. The more you give the more you get in return.
- Believe in sharing of knowledge and learnings and more knowledge and wisdom return to you.

### References

Audretsch DB (2007) The entrepreneurial society. Oxford University Press, New York

- Audretsch D (2012) From the entrepreneurial university to the university for the entrepreneurial society. J Technol Transfer 39(3):313–321. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10961-012-9288-1
- Audretsch D, Keilbach M (2004) Entrepreneurship capital and economic performance. Reg Stud 38(8):949–959
- Guerrero M, Urbano D, Fayolle A et al (2016) Entrepreneurial universities: emerging models in the new social and economic landscape. Small Bus Econ 47:551. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11187-016-9755-4
- Katz JA (2003) The chronology and intellectual trajectory of American entrepreneurship education. J Bus Ventur 18(2):283–300
- Morris et al (2013) Entrepreneurship programs and the modern university. Edward Elgar, Northampton
- Neubert MJ (2013) Entrepreneurs feel closer to god than the rest of us do. Harv Bus Rev 91(10): 32–33
- Qureshi S, Cheema FA, Sana F (2016) An exploratory study of entrepreneurial centers in Pakistan: an untapped market opportunity. IBT J Bus Stud 11(2):16–28
- Sarasvathy SD (2001) Causation and effectuation: toward a theoretical shift from economic inevitability to entrepreneurial contingency. Acad Manag Rev 26(2):243–263
- Sarasvathy SD (2006) The bird-in-hand principle: who I am, what I know, and whom I know. Darden Business Publishing, Charlottesville

# Part III Entrepreneurship Research in MENA

# A Taxonomic Study of Innovation in the MENA Region Economies: Reflections on Entrepreneurism in Egypt and Qatar



#### Amir Forouharfar, Mahshid Sazegar, Victoria Hill, and Nezameddin Faghih

**Abstract** The research goal of this paper is to study the impact of innovation in an economy. This has an effect not only on the economy in general, but particularly on entrepreneurism. To narrow the focus of the study, the Middle East and North Africa (MENA) region was chosen and two countries were selected: Egypt, which is mainly in North Africa but partially in West Asia; and Qatar, which is in the most eastern portion of the Arabian Peninsula. Egypt is the most populated country in MENA, while Qatar has one of the smallest populations. Numerical taxonomy was applied to secondary data from Global Innovation Index (GII) for 2008–2017 for Egypt, Qatar and Switzerland, which was chosen as the benchmark country. Egypt has an efficiency-driven economy while Oatar and Switzerland have innovation-driven economies. Data from these three countries formed the compound distance matrices (i.e. primary data) of the research; the GII's annual country reports were used to specify the innovation distances within all three countries (i.e. secondary data). The results of the paper demonstrated that while emulating Switzerland's innovation success remains a long-term goal for many countries, Qatar is far more innovative than Egypt.

**Keywords** Innovation  $\cdot$  Entrepreneur  $\cdot$  Entrepreneurial  $\cdot$  Innovation-driven vs. efficiency-driven  $\cdot$  MENA  $\cdot$  Egypt  $\cdot$  Qatar  $\cdot$  Numerical taxonomy

A. Forouharfar University of Sistan and Baluchestan, Zahedan, Iran

M. Sazegar (⊠) Fars Engineering Association, Shiraz, Iran

V. Hill

Faculty of Arts and Sciences, Department of Languages and Continuous Training, Moulay Ismail University, Meknes, Morocco

N. Faghih UNESCO Chair in Entrepreneurship, Paris, France e-mail: faghihnezam@ut.ac.ir; nfaghih@rose.shirazu.ac.ir

© Springer International Publishing AG, part of Springer Nature 2018 N. Faghih, M. R. Zali (eds.), *Entrepreneurship Education and Research in the Middle East and North Africa (MENA)*, Contributions to Management Science, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-90394-1\_14

# 1 Introduction

"Innovation performance is a crucial determinant of competitiveness and national progress" (OECD 2009). Today, economic growth and increased competitiveness is determined by a nation's ability to translate innovation into successful entrepreneurism.

The Middle East and North Africa region (MENA) faces a plethora of economic challenges: The entire region suffers from the world's highest rates of youth (15-24 years old) unemployment, at roughly 29.6% (ILO 2017a). Egypt suffers from extremely high rates of youth unemployment at 34.6% (WB 2017); and even "...when working, 43% of young workers are wage labourers without written contracts" (ILO 2017b). At the other end of the spectrum, Qatar has been much more successful in solving its own youth unemployment issues; rates were already low in 1991 at 3.4%; but most recent measurements show just 0.9% in 2016 and 1.1% in 2017. While 3.4% is a very admirable rate, the improvements that lead to 1.1% are worth investigation. It would be tempting to consider Qatar's massive oil wealth spread over a relative small population as being the driver of such impressive youth unemployment rates. But, by way of comparison, consider Qatar's very close and similar neighbour, Bahrain, which enjoyed a rate of 5.3% youth unemployment in 1991 but climbed to 5.9% in 2017 (WB 2017). One of the solutions to tackle these economic challenges is to identify those aspects of the economy which could increase innovation in each MENA state.

However, truly innovative outcomes in an economy are bound to the capabilities of the populace (Arnold and Wade 2015: 670). The capabilities of that 'populace' are directly connected to capabilities in research and development (R&D). If a nation does not have sufficient number, educational level, scientific skills and funding for researchers, there is no innovation-promoting populace. Without a large enough share of 'native' researchers, a country's choices are to hire foreign researchers (as China has recently announced in its intention to offer 5–10 year visas to some 50,000 persons representing "high-end foreign talent"<sup>1</sup>; or purchase the scientific output (i.e. innovation) from other countries and markets (Nambisan and Sawhney 2007). However, this latter option removes any possibility of becoming the 'first adopter', thereby reducing economic benefits. Within the *Global Innovation Index* (GII) reports, one can read examples of both improved economic benefits driven by innovation (e.g. Switzerland and Qatar) as well as countries suffering from economic stagnation, many of these in MENA (Global Innovation Index 2017: 43).

Although R&D could be thought of as the 'engine' (or input) for innovation, the output of innovation is much more diffuse (Fig. 1):

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>In *Evaluation Criteria for Foreigners Employed in China, China's* State Administration of Foreign Experts Affairs definers 'high-end talent' as Nobel Prize winners, top scientists in nearly every field of science, heads of major financial institutions, successful entrepreneurs, technology leaders, successful Olympic athletes, directors and professors of "high-level universities" (BBC 2018).



Fig. 1 Application of innovation from R&D labs to development of products and/or services. Source: Authors' own work

- 1. *Brainware* represents the individuals—initially the researchers, but especially later as diffusion occurs, the members of the population, especially the youth—accepted into entrepreneurial development programmes as well as those who independently develop innovative ideas.
- 2. *Hardware* represents both the resources and other tools made available because of innovation, as well as for the promotion and facilitation of developing entrepreneurial ideas.
- 3. *Software* is one of the 'outputs', i.e. the broad collection of original ideas developed by individual researchers/teams. The best of these are refined further into entrepreneurial and innovation-oriented businesses.

The OECD and Eurostat offer an even more specific description:

It goes far beyond the confines of research labs to users, suppliers and consumers everywhere—in government, business and non-profit organisations, across borders, across sectors, and across institutions. The *Oslo Manual for Measuring Innovation* defines four types of innovation: **product** innovation, **process** innovation, **marketing** innovation and **organisational** innovation:

- **Product innovation:** A good or service that is new or significantly improved. This includes significant improvements in technical specifications, components and materials, software in the product, user friendliness or other functional characteristics.
- **Process innovation**: A new or significantly improved production or delivery method. This includes significant changes in techniques, equipment and/or software.
- **Marketing innovation**: A new marketing method involving significant changes in product design or packaging, product placement, product promotion or pricing.
- **Organisational innovation**: A new organisational method in business practices, workplace organisation or external relations (OECD and Eurostat 2005).

While the benefits of innovation to an economy are clear, not every government shares that perspective. It should be noted that excessive intervention by governments in the nation's economy stymies the development of innovation's benefits. Unfortunately, governmental interventions in MENA economies are prevalent (Salehi Esfahani 2006). And, "while the developing world has moved toward more market-oriented policies and production systems that are dominated by the private sector and rely on market signals, MENA has maintained much of the old style industrial policies and high state intervention in the economy that characterized much of the developing world in the past" (Nabli et al. 2006). Thus, the economies of MENA countries are particularly prone to excessive governmental intervention. It should be remembered that organizational DNA also determines the destiny of an organization, public or private. Faghih et al. (2016) believe: "...the defining elements of the genetic code or DNA of an organization ... and their unique combination in an organization determine how ably and agilely the organization functions. Hence, they imperil or ensure enduring results" (p. 7).

#### 2 Methodology

"Innovation inputs include factors like human capital and research, infrastructure, market sophistication and business sophistication. Innovation outputs refer to knowledge and technology outputs, as well as creative outputs" (Switzerland Global Enterprise 2016). Egypt, Qatar and Switzerland are compared based on their GII scores between 2008 and 2016 using Numerical Taxonomy. Switzerland, an innovation-driven economy, was chosen as a benchmark as it was the GII's highest-scoring economy in 2017—as it's been every year since 2011. Switzerland has also been considered the world's top-performing economy for the past nine successive years by the World Economic Forum (2018). The taxonomic results were used to consider the distances of Efficiency-driven Egypt and Innovation-driven Qatar's economies relative to the world's top-scoring innovation economy in the GII's 2016 report.

A description of the methodological steps for developing comparative data appears as a flowchart (Fig. 2).

#### **3** Calculations of Comparative Indices

#### 3.1 Step 1: Development of the Data Matrix

$$Xoj = \left(\sum_{i=1}^{n} Xij\right)/n \tag{1}$$



Fig. 2 Flowchart of methodological steps. Source: Authors' own work

The purpose of step 1 was to develop a matrix with 'n' members (1, 2, 3, ..., n) to represent the variables as groups. The groups were shown with 'm' (as an indicator of each study). The matrix, as it was shown in Eq. (1), consisted of 'i' rows and 'j' columns. The data matrices of the three countries were formed by using the GII's indices data from 2008 to 2016. It should be noted that each indicator (for the scores of the indices and sub-indices) was normalized. In the tables that follow, the sub-indices of the innovation input and output for each year are placed in rows 1-7. Additionally, the first five sub-indices of institution, human capacity, infrastructure, market sophistication, and business sophistication (1-5) beside the two sub-indices of knowledge (scientific outputs) and creative outputs (6-7) comprise the Innovation Input Index and Innovation Output Index, respectively.

Concerning Tables 1 and 2, which represent the released data by GII in the years 2008 and 2009, GII reports have reported the data of the countries based on their rankings. Therefore, the values in these 2 years do not represent mathematical values, but the rankings. Obviously, Switzerland's numbers in both the tables are lower than that of the Egypt and Qatar, which are due to Switzerland's better rankings (Tables 3, 4, 5, 6, 7, 8 and 9).

		2008			
	Index (Xij)	Egypt	Qatar	Switzerland	Хој
1	Institution	75	29	4	36.00
2	Human capacity	66	32	4	34.00
3	Infrastructure	71	34	4	36.33
4	Market sophistication	86	36	23	48.33
5	Business sophistication	74	27	3	34.67
6	Knowledge	73	32	2	35.67
7	Competitiveness <sup>a</sup>	78	41	14	44.33

Table 1 GII's indices for Egypt, Qatar and Switzerland in 2008

<sup>a</sup>The year 2008 was the last year that Competitiveness was the label used in Item 7. In subsequent years, the Competitiveness label was replaced by Creativity

		2009				
	Index (Xij)	Egypt	Qatar	Switzerland	Xoj	
1	Institution	74	25	7	35.33	
2	Human capacity	77	21	8	35.33	
3	Infrastructure	82	37	5	41.33	
4	Market sophistication	74	92	16	60.67	
5	Business sophistication	103	28	4	45.00	
6	Knowledge	84	51	4	46.33	
7	Creative outputs	58	42	4	34.67	

Table 2 GII's indices for Egypt, Qatar and Switzerland in 2009

Source: Authors' own work based on GII data

Table 3 GII's indices for Egypt, Qatar and Switzerland in 2010

		2010				
	Index (Xij)	Egypt	Qatar	Switzerland	Xoj	
1	Institution	61.7	83.5	92.6	79.27	
2	Human capacity	26.4	52.5	55.1	44.67	
3	Infrastructure	21.7	33.9	44.5	33.37	
4	Market sophistication	35	39.2	70.1	48.10	
5	Business sophistication	30.7	49.5	68	49.40	
6	Knowledge	17.2	50.6	62	43.27	
7	Creative outputs	29.5	36.9	54.4	40.27	

Source: Authors' own work based on GII data

# 3.2 Step 2: Forming the Standard Matrix

Since the indicators were measured by different units,  $Z_{ij}$  Matrix was formed by the following formula, to eliminate the discrepancy between the units and to convert them to unit scales:

		2011	2011		
	Index (Xij)	Egypt	Qatar	Switzerland	Xoj
1	Institution	40.4	70.2	88.0	66.20
2	Human capacity	25.9	55.7	57.9	46.50
3	Infrastructure	33.6	49.0	60.8	47.80
4	Market sophistication	30.5	35.3	69.8	45.20
5	Business sophistication	31.9	60.3	63.5	51.90
6	Knowledge	22.6	25.2	72.0	39.93
7	Creative outputs	24.0	48.6	65.0	45.87

Table 4 GII's indices for Egypt, Qatar and Switzerland in 2011

Table 5 GII's indices for Egypt, Qatar and Switzerland in 2012

		2012				
	Index (Xij)	Egypt	Qatar	Switzerland	Xoj	
1	Institution	43.9	73.80	87.30	68.33	
2	Human capacity	28.3	31.90	55.40	38.53	
3	Infrastructure	33.7	46.00	57.00	45.57	
4	Market sophistication	35.8	47.40	77.50	53.57	
5	Business sophistication	27.4	40.10	55.30	40.93	
6	Knowledge	18	19.90	61.50	33.13	
7	Creative outputs	28.2	48.50	71.80	49.50	

Source: Authors' own work based on GII data

Table 6 GII's indices for Egypt, Qatar and Switzerland in 2013

		2013				
	Index(Xij)	Egypt	Qatar	Switzerland	Xoj	
1	Institution	42.1	75.5	87.60	68.40	
2	Human capacity	27.8	33.6	56.70	39.37	
3	Infrastructure	36.1	53.1	59.00	49.40	
4	Market sophistication	35.4	46.3	74.70	52.13	
5	Business sophistication	28.9	43.4	54.20	42.17	
6	Knowledge	25.4	20.4	60.90	35.57	
7	Creative outputs	26.6	40.1	65.30	44.00	

Source: Authors' own work based on GII data

$$Sj = \sqrt{\sum_{i=1}^{n} \left( Xij - \overline{Xj} \right)^2 / n}$$
<sup>(2)</sup>

$$Z_{ij} = (X_{ij} - X_{oj})/S_j$$
(3)

'Xij' is a *Data Matrix*, 'Xoj' is an *Average Matrix* (Eq. 1) and 'Sj' is a *Standard Deviation* for 'j' indicators, which are derived from the GII' reports from 2008 to 2016. Therefore, in this paper 'i' represents the countries (Egypt, Qatar and Switzerland) in the time span 2008–2016. The *Standard Matrices* of them were

		2014	2014		
	Index (Xij)	Egypt	Qatar	Switzerland	Xoj
1	Institution	39.5	77.70	89.60	68.93
2	Human capacity	27.9	35.30	59.20	40.80
3	Infrastructure	37.2	55.50	58.60	50.43
4	Market sophistication	35.9	45.90	72.30	51.37
5	Business sophistication	31.6	27.70	60.00	39.77
6	Knowledge	21.7	24.50	72.40	39.53
7	Creative outputs	25.1	34.70	64.80	41.53

Table 7 GII's indices for Egypt, Qatar and Switzerland in 2014

Table 8 GII's indices for Egypt, Qatar and Switzerland in 2015

		2015				
	Index (Xij)	Egypt	Qatar	Switzerland	Xoj	
1	Institution	39	75.00	90.30	68.10	
2	Human capacity	27.3	32.60	63.30	41.07	
3	Infrastructure	38.3	60.50	61.00	53.27	
4	Market sophistication	34.2	42.80	69.80	48.93	
5	Business sophistication	20	29.30	57.60	35.63	
6	Knowledge	18.5	20.00	67.00	35.17	
7	Creative outputs	21.8	33.80	61.40	39.00	

Source: Authors' own work based on GII data

Table 9 GII's indices for Egypt, Qatar and Switzerland in 2016

		2016	2016				
	Index (Xij)	Egypt	Qatar	Switzerland	Xoj		
1	Institution	40.4	72.80	89.50	67.57		
2	Human capacity	26.9	33.30	63.60	41.27		
3	Infrastructure	38.4	58.10	65.10	53.87		
4	Market sophistication	36.7	42.60	67.50	48.93		
5	Business sophistication	21	28.00	62.60	37.20		
6	Knowledge	17	23.10	69.10	36.40		
7	Creative outputs	21.6	34.50	62.50	39.53		

Source: Authors' own work based on GII data

calculated and shown in the tables that follow (Tables 10, 11, 12, 13, 14, 15, 16, 17 and 18). Moreover, by converting the scales of the indices to the scales of the unit in the average = 0 and *Standard Deviation* = 1 in the *Z Matrix*, we could control '*Z*' *Matrix* acceptability.

		2008 "Z M	2008 "Z Matrix"			
	Index	Egypt	Qatar	Switzerland	Z <sub>oj</sub>	s <sub>zoj</sub>
1	Institution	1.326	-0.238	-1.088	0.00	1.00
2	Human capacity	1.262	-0.079	-1.183	0.00	1.00
3	Infrastructure	1.265	-0.085	-1.180	0.00	1.00
4	Market sophistication	1.646	-0.539	-1.107	0.00	1.00
5	Business sophistication	1.334	-0.260	-1.074	0.00	1.00
6	Knowledge	1.283	-0.126	-1.157	0.00	1.00
7	Competitiveness	1.283	-0.127	-1.156	0.00	1.00

Table 10Standard matrix of 2008

Table 11	Standard	matrix	of 2009
----------	----------	--------	---------

		2009 "Z Matrix"				
	Index	Egypt	Qatar	Switzerland	Z <sub>oj</sub>	s <sub>zoj</sub>
1	Institution	1.366	-0.365	-1.001	0.00	1.00
2	Human capacity	1.392	-0.479	-0.913	0.00	1.00
3	Infrastructure	1.710	-0.182	-1.527	0.00	1.00
4	Market sophistication	0.614	1.442	-2.056	0.00	1.00
5	Business sophistication	1.658	-0.486	-1.172	0.00	1.00
6	Knowledge	1.709	0.212	-1.921	0.00	1.00
7	Creative outputs	1.631	0.513	-2.143	0.00	1.00

Source: Authors' own work based on GII data

		2010 "Z matrix"				
	Index	Egypt	Qatar	Switzerland	Z <sub>oj</sub>	s <sub>zoj</sub>
1	Institution	-1.355	0.327	1.028	0.00	1.00
2	Human capacity	-1.409	0.604	0.805	0.00	1.00
3	Infrastructure	-1.252	0.057	1.195	0.00	1.00
4	Market sophistication	-0.837	-0.569	1.406	0.00	1.00
5	Business sophistication	-1.228	0.007	1.221	0.00	1.00
6	Knowledge	-1.371	0.386	0.985	0.00	1.00
7	Creative outputs	-1.031	-0.322	1.354	0.00	1.00

#### Table 12Standard matrix of 2010

Source: Authors' own work based on GII data

# 3.3 Step 3: Calculation of Compound Distance Among the Countries

In this step, Eq. (4) helped us to measure the *Compound Distance* between the three countries:

		2011 "Z matrix"				
	Index	Egypt	Qatar	Switzerland	Z <sub>oj</sub>	s <sub>zoj</sub>
1	Institution	-1.314	0.204	1.110	0.00	1.00
2	Human capacity	-1.412	0.630	0.781	0.00	1.00
3	Infrastructure	-1.275	0.108	1.167	0.00	1.00
4	Market sophistication	-0.840	-0.566	1.405	0.00	1.00
5	Business sophistication	-1.408	0.591	0.817	0.00	1.00
6	Knowledge	-0.764	-0.649	1.413	0.00	1.00
7	Creative outputs	-0.552	0.069	0.483	0.00	1.00

Table 13 Standard matrix of 2011

Table 14	Standard	matrix	of	2012
----------	----------	--------	----	------

		2012 "Z matrix"				
	Index	Egypt	Qatar	Switzerland	Z <sub>oj</sub>	s <sub>zoj</sub>
1	Institution	-1.347	0.301	1.046	0.00	1.00
2	Human capacity	-0.852	-0.552	1.404	0.00	1.00
3	Infrastructure	-1.247	0.046	1.201	0.00	1.00
4	Market sophistication	-1.011	-0.351	1.362	0.00	1.00
5	Business sophistication	-1.187	-0.073	1.260	0.00	1.00
6	Knowledge	-0.754	-0.659	1.413	0.00	1.00
7	Creative outputs	-1.196	-0.056	1.252	0.00	1.00

Source: Authors' own work based on GII data

		2013 "Z matrix"				
	Index	Egypt	Qatar	Switzerland	Z <sub>oj</sub>	s <sub>zoj</sub>
1	Institution	-1.367	0.369	0.998	0.00	1.00
2	Human capacity	-0.927	-0.462	1.389	0.00	1.00
3	Infrastructure	-1.370	0.381	0.989	0.00	1.00
4	Market sophistication	-1.010	-0.352	1.362	0.00	1.00
5	Business sophistication	-1.280	0.119	1.161	0.00	1.00
6	Knowledge	-0.564	-0.841	1.405	0.00	1.00
7	Creative outputs	-0.445	-0.100	0.545	0.00	1.00

#### Table 15 Standard matrix of 2013

Source: Authors' own work based on GII data

$$Dab = \sqrt{\sum_{i=1}^{n} \left(Zaj - Zbj\right)^2} \tag{4}$$

 $D_{ab}\xspace$  is a distance between two 'a' and 'b' countries.

Therefore:  $D_{aa} = 0$   $D_{bb} = 0$  $D_{ab} = D_{ba}$ 

		2014 "Z matrix"				
	Index	Egypt	Qatar	Switzerland	Z <sub>oj</sub>	s <sub>zoj</sub>
1	Institution	-1.377	0.410	0.967	0.00	1.00
2	Human capacity	-0.966	-0.412	1.378	0.00	1.00
3	Infrastructure	-1.401	0.537	0.865	0.00	1.00
4	Market sophistication	-1.007	-0.356	1.363	0.00	1.00
5	Business sophistication	-0.567	-0.838	1.406	0.00	1.00
6	Knowledge	-0.766	-0.646	1.413	0.00	1.00
7	Creative outputs	-0.972	-0.404	1.376	0.00	1.00

 Table 16
 Standard matrix of 2014

		2015 "Z Matrix"				
	Index	Egypt	Qatar	Switzerland	Z <sub>oj</sub>	s <sub>zoj</sub>
1	Institution	-1.353	0.321	1.032	0.00	1.00
2	Human capacity	-0.867	-0.534	1.401	0.00	1.00
3	Infrastructure	-1.414	0.683	0.731	0.00	1.00
4	Market sophistication	-0.971	-0.404	1.376	0.00	1.00
5	Business sophistication	-0.978	-0.396	1.374	0.00	1.00
6	Knowledge	-0.740	-0.674	1.414	0.00	1.00
7	Creative outputs	-1.037	-0.314	1.351	0.00	1.00

**Table 17**Standard matrix of 2015

Source: Authors' own work based on GII data

		2016 "Z Ma	trix"			
	Index	Egypt	Qatar	Switzerland	Z <sub>oj</sub>	s <sub>zoj</sub>
1	Institution	-1.333	0.257	1.076	0.00	1.00
2	Human capacity	-0.898	-0.498	1.395	0.00	1.00
3	Infrastructure	-1.368	0.375	0.994	0.00	1.00
4	Market sophistication	-0.917	-0.474	1.391	0.00	1.00
5	Business sophistication	-0.891	-0.506	1.397	0.00	1.00
6	Knowledge	-0.834	-0.572	1.406	0.00	1.00
7	Creative outputs	-1.050	-0.295	1.345	0.00	1.00

#### Table 18 Standard matrix of 2016

Source: Authors' own work based on GII data

Therefore, as shown in the tables that follow, the *Compound Distance Matrices* 'D' for the three countries (Egypt, Qatar and Switzerland) were symmetric and their diameters were equal to zero. As seen in the right-most column D, the names D12, D13 and D23 or D32, show the distances between 'Egypt and Qatar,' 'Egypt and Switzerland,' and 'Qatar and Switzerland,' respectively (Tables 19, 20, 21, 22, 23, 24, 25, 26 and 27).

Country	Egypt '1'	Qatar '2'	Switzerland '3'	D Matrix (2008)
Egypt '1'	0	3.997	6.393	D12 = 3.997
Qatar '2'	3.997	0	2.481	D23 = 2.481
Switzerland '3'	6.393	2.481	0	D32 = 2.481

Table 19 Compound distances for Egypt, Qatar and Switzerland in 2008

Table 20 Compound distances for Egypt, Qatar and Switzerland in 2009

Country	Egypt '1'	Qatar '2'	Switzerland '3'	D Matrix (2009)
Egypt '1'	0	4.342	7.997	D12 = 4.342
Qatar '2'	4.342	0	5.169	D21 = 4.342
Switzerland '3'	7.997	5.169	0	D32 = 5.159

Source: Authors' own work based on GII data

 Table 21
 Compound distances for Egypt, Qatar and Switzerland in 2010

Country	Egypt '1'	Qatar '2'	Switzerland '3'	D Matrix (2010)
Egypt '1'	0	3.713	5.688	D12 = 3.713
Qatar '2'	3.713	0	3.22	D23 = 3.22
Switzerland '3'	5.688	3.22	0	D32 = 3.22

Source: Authors' own work based on GII data

Table 22 Compound distances for Egypt, Qatar and Switzerland in 2011

Country	Egypt '1'	Qatar '2'	Switzerland '3'	D Matrix (2011)
Egypt '1'	0	3.586	5.688	D12 = 3.586
Qatar '2'	3.586	0	3.213	D23 = 3.213
Switzerland '3'	5.688	3.213	0	D32 = 3.213

Source: Authors' own work based on GII data

 Table 23
 Compound distances for Egypt, Qatar and Switzerland in 2012

Country	Egypt '1'	Qatar '2'	Switzerland '3'	D Matrix (2012)
Egypt '1'	0	2.732	5.688	D12 = 2.732
Qatar '2'	2.732	0	4.053	D21 = 2.732
Switzerland '3'	5.688	4.053	0	D32 = 4.053

Source: Authors' own work based on GII data

Table 24 Compound distances for Egypt, Qatar and Switzerland in 2013

Country	Egypt '1'	Qatar '2'	Switzerland '3'	D Matrix (2013)
Egypt '1'	0	2.98	5.688	D12 = 2.98
Qatar '2'	2.98	0	3.698	D21 = 2.98
Switzerland '3'	5.688	3.698	0	D32 = 3.698

Source: Authors' own work based on GII data

Country	Egypt '1'	Qatar '2'	Switzerland '3'	D Matrix (2014)
Egypt '1'	0	2.845	5.688	D12 = 2.845
Qatar '2'	2.845	0	4.361	D21 = 2.845
Switzerland '3'	5.688	4.361	0	D32 = 4.361

Table 25 Compound distances for Egypt, Qatar and Switzerland in 2014

Table 26 Compound distances for Egypt, Qatar and Switzerland in 2015

Country	Egypt '1'	Qatar '2'	Switzerland '3'	D Matrix (2015)
Egypt '1'	0	2.916	5.688	D12 = 2.916
Qatar '2'	2.916	0	4.205	D21 = 2.916
Switzerland '3'	5.688	4.205	0	D32 = 4.205

Source: Authors' own work based on GII data

 Table 27 Compound distances for Egypt, Qatar and Switzerland in 2016

Country	Egypt '1'	Qatar '2'	Switzerland '3'	D Matrix (2016)
Egypt '1'	0	2.59	5.688	D12 = 2.59
Qatar '2'	2.59	0	4.282	D21 = 2.59
Switzerland '3'	5.688	4.282	0	D32 = 4.282

Source: Authors' own work based on GII data

#### 3.4 Step 4: Assignment of the Shortest Distances

In this step of the methodology every cell demonstrates the distances between the countries. Each matrix 'D' line defines the gaps between the countries, for example there is the most approximation among two countries if 'a' and 'b' have the shortest distance, i.e. country 'b' is a model for country 'a' and country 'a' is named a shade.

#### 3.5 Step 5: Optimum Chart Drawing

The countries which had the most commonalities were connected together by a vector towards the country which is assumed as a model and the vector length equal to the shortest distance between the countries. For determining homogeneous countries, at first upper-line distance  $d_{(+)}$  and lower-limit distance  $d_{(-)}$  were calculated with the following Eqs. (5) and (6), (d is the average of the shortest distances and  $S_d$  is the standard deviation):

$$\mathbf{d}_{(+)} = \mathbf{d} + 2\mathbf{S}_{\mathbf{d}} \tag{5}$$

$$\mathbf{d}_{(-)} = \mathbf{d} - 2\mathbf{S}_{\mathbf{d}} \tag{6}$$

Furthermore, after measuring  $d_{(+)}$  and  $d_{(-)}$  for the three countries (Egypt, Qatar and Switzerland) in 2016 from the Eqs. (4) and (5), it became evident that the distances among the countries are not out of upper  $d_{(+)}$  and lower  $d_{(-)}$  limits range for the year 2016, therefore the three countries could be compared with one another.

# 3.6 Step 6: Ranking of the Countries in Terms of Improvement and Development

According to step 5, if the countries or places are not located in homogeneous groups then *Data Matrix* could be formed for homogenous group of countries and again *Standard Matrix*-calculated. In the *Standard Matrix*, we can find the biggest value in each column which is named the '*Ideal Amount*'. In this paper all of the three reviewed countries are in an equally seamlessly space, so they can be compared with one another.

#### 3.7 Step 7: Calculation of the Countries' Improvement

For finding improvement degrees for the countries, Co (the upper limit of the development pattern) should be measured and then put up in the relation:  $f_i = (C_{io}/C_o)$  that  $C_{io}$  is development pattern over the upper limit of the development pattern, then  $C_o$  obtains from the Eq. (7):

$$Co = \overline{Cio} + 2Sio \tag{7}$$

Development degree is between '0' and '1', i.e. when ' $f_i$ ' value gets near to '0', the country is more developed than the case ' $f_i$ ' approaches to '1'; in other words, the country gets close to undeveloped characteristics. After measuring  $C_{io}$  and  $f_i$  the countries were sorted based on the development degrees.

#### 4 Conclusion

By considering the least distances between Qatar and the benchmark country (Switzerland) in the years 2008–2016 (Tables 19–27), the years 2008, 2010 and 2011 with the distances equal to D23 = 2.481, D23 = 3.22 and D23 = 3.213 respectively, had been the most innovative years of Qatar. In 2011 the absolute value for Business Sophistication (60.3 for Qatar, 63.5 for Switzerland) presented in Table 4, while in 2010 and 2011 the absolute values for Human Capacity of Qatar (52.5 and 55.7, respectively) presented in Tables 3 and 4, had been the most effective



Fig. 3 The line graph of taxonomic distances between study countries. Source: Authors' own work based on the taxonomic study results

scores in shortening the distance between Qatar and the Human Capacity scores of Switzerland, which were 55.1 and 57.9, for 2010 and 2011, respectively.

Therefore, it could be concluded that Business Sophistication and Human Capacity indices are the potential competitive advantages of Qatar for having better innovative scores; in other words, Qatar can generate more innovation by concentrating on its market dynamics and especially on its human capital. Likewise, the taxonomic results for the time span between 2008 through 2016, presented in Tables 19–27, reinforce the fact that Innovation-driven economies perform better than those that are Efficiency-driven; Qatar should be expected to perform better than Egypt. What is noteworthy is Qatar has shown that performing as an Innovation-driven economy is not the preserve of older, more well-established, often Western, nations. Qatar's key capability is the development and encouragement of more Innovation. As our taxonomic results in Compound Distance Matrices (Tables 19–27) show the least distance between Egypt and Qatar was reached in 2016 (D12 = 2.59) presented in Table 27. Hopefully Egypt will be able to maintain this momentum.

The taxonomic results of this paper compare the Innovation distances between all three countries from 2008 to 2016 (Fig. 3).

Figure 3 shows the Innovation distances between Egypt and Qatar (blue), Egypt and Switzerland (red), and Qatar and Switzerland (green). Furthermore, the nearer the graph is to the lower horizontal axis (i.e. the base in the figure), the shorter the distance to the benchmark country's score; thus, the more innovative the country is. As the figure shows, in 2008, Qatar reached its closest point to meeting the innovation level of the paper's benchmark (Switzerland (D23 = 2.481)). The innovation distance between the two countries in 2009 (D23 = 5.159) was the most experienced distance in the span 2008–2016. After 2013, Qatar had an

approximately continuous distance with the benchmark (2014: 4.361; 2015: 4.205; and 2016: 4.282).

Based on Fig. 3, Egypt in the interval between 2008 through 2016 always lagged behind the Innovation distance with Qatar (blue) i.e. a distance consistently greater than 2.50. The results of the Compound Distance Matrices of the paper summarized in Tables 19-27, also reveal that the least distance between Qatar and Egypt is related to 2016 (D12 = 2.59) and the most distance occurred in 2009 (D12 = 4.342). The decreasing effect on the distance between the two countries in 2016 is due to both Egypt's Institution index (40.4) as well as the country's Infrastructure index (38.4). The two highest scores of Egypt among all the scores of the country in the 2016 report are presented in Table 9. The good news for the innovation of Egypt is its decreasing distance in most years from Qatar. For example, the 'D12' scores of Egypt in the years 2008–2016 were 3.997 in 2008, 4.342 in 2009, 3.713 in 2010, 3.586 in 2011, 2.732 in 2012, 2.98 in 2013, 2.845 in 2014, 2.916 in 2015 and recently 2.59 in 2016. The year 2013 is also the sonly year that Egypt's innovation distance from Qatar is the same as its distance with Switzerland.

In *Towards a Measurement Agenda for Innovation*, the OECD sets out five key action areas to make measurement and tracking of Innovation statistics easier and more accurate: (1) "develop innovation metrics that can be linked to aggregate measures of economic performance; (2) invest in a high-quality and comprehensive statistical infrastructure to analyse innovation at the firm-level; (3) promote metrics of innovation in the public sector and for public policy evaluation; (4) find new and interdisciplinary approaches to capture knowledge creation and flows; (5) promote the measurement of innovation for social goals and of social impacts of innovation" (OECD 2009). The authors hope that this paper helps to contribute to these worthwhile attempts to measure Innovation.

**Acknowledgement** The authorization granted to use the data and material originally provided by WIPO (the World Intellectual Property Organization) is gratefully acknowledged. The secretariat of WIPO assumes no responsibility or liability with regard to the transformation of this data.

#### References

- Arnold RD, Wade JP (2015) A definition of systems thinking: a systems approach. Procedia Comput Sci 44:669–678. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.procs.2015.03.050
- BBC (2018) China offers 10-year visas to 'high end talent'. 5 Jan 2018, London. Available via the World Wide Web. http://www.bbc.com/news/business-42575436. Accessed 30 Jan 2018
- Faghih N, Bavandpour M, Forouharfar A (2016) Biological metaphor and analogy upon organizational management research within the development of clinical organizational pathology. QSci Connect 2016(2):4. https://doi.org/10.5339/connect.2016.4. Accessed 2 Dec 2017

Global Innovation Index (2017) Innovation feeding the world, Cornell University, INSEAD, and WIPO: Ithaca, Fontainebleau, and Geneva. https://www.globalinnovationindex.org/about-gii#reports. Accessed 16 Dec 2017

Global Innovation Indices (2008–2017) http://www.wipo.int/publications/en/details.jsp?id=4064. Accessed 1 Dec 2017

ILO (2017a) http://www.ilo.org/wesodata/?chart

- ILO (2017b) https://issuu.com/stuhyouth/docs/wcms\_598669
- Nabli MK, Keller J, Nassif C, Silva-Jáuregui C (2006) The political economy of industrial policy in the Middle East and North Africa. World Bank, Washington, DC. https://openknowledge. worldbank.org/handle/10986/28426
- Nambisan S, Sawhney M (2007) The innovation Bazaar. Harv Bus Rev. https://hbr.org/2007/06/abuyers-guide-to-the-innovation-bazaar. Accessed 20 Jan 2018
- OECD (2009) Innovation and growth: rational for an innovation strategy. OECD, Paris. https:// www.oecd.org/sti/inno/39374789.pdf. Accessed 23 Feb 2018
- OECD and Eurostat (2005) Oslo manual: guidelines for collecting and interpreting innovation data, 3rd edn. http://www.oecd-ilibrary.org/science-and-technology/oslo-manual\_9789264013100en. Accessed 20 Jan 2018
- Salehi Esfahani H (2006) Are examination of the political economy of growth in the MENA countries. In: Nugent JB, Hashem Pesaran M (eds) Explaining growth in the Middle East, Contributions to economic analysis, vol 278. Emerald Group, Bingley, pp 61–102
- Switzerland Global Enterprise (2016) https://www.s-ge.com/en/article/news/global-innovationindex-switzerland-remains-undisputed-number-one
- World Bank (2017) Unemployment, youth total (% of total labor force ages 15–24). World Bank Group, Washington, DC. https://data.worldbank.org/indicator/SL.UEM.1524.ZS. Accessed 18 Dec 2017
- World Economic Forum (2018) Global competitiveness report 2017–2018. World Economic Forum, Geneva. http://www3.weforum.org/docs/GCR2017–2018/05FullReport/TheGlobalCompetitive nessReport2017–2018.pdf

# **Entrepreneurship in the Middle East and North Africa: A Bibliometric Analysis**



Jasmina Berbegal-Mirabent, Inés Alegre, and Domingo Ribeiro-Soriano

**Abstract** Bibliometrics is an important field of information science that enables bibliographic material to be studied quantitatively. Using bibliometric techniques, this chapter offers an overview of entrepreneurship research in the Middle East and North Africa. Using the Web of Science and Scopus databases, we identify the most relevant research in this field, classified by the most influential authors and the top papers, journals and countries. The sample includes 657 articles published from 1963 to 2016, from 387 different sources. The findings show that studies addressing this topic have been published mainly in non-*JCR*-indexed journals. In contrast, it is important to note that the top papers (in terms of citations) appear to be published in well-known journals such as the *Journal of Business Venturing, Organization Studies* and *Technovation*. The most significant countries are those in the region being studied (such as Israel) but also the United States. The chapter ends with some recommendations for further research.

**Keywords** Bibliometric analysis  $\cdot$  Entrepreneurship  $\cdot$  Middle East  $\cdot$  North Africa  $\cdot$  Web of science  $\cdot$  Scopus

I. Alegre Department of Managerial Decision Sciences, IESE Business School – Universidad de Navarra, Barcelona, Spain e-mail: ialegre@iese.edu

D. Ribeiro-Soriano IUDESCOOP, University of Valencia, Valencia, Spain e-mail: domingo.ribeiro@uv.es

© Springer International Publishing AG, part of Springer Nature 2018 N. Faghih, M. R. Zali (eds.), *Entrepreneurship Education and Research in the Middle East and North Africa (MENA)*, Contributions to Management Science, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-90394-1\_15

J. Berbegal-Mirabent (⊠) Faculty of Economy and Social Sciences, Universitat Internacional de Catalunya, Barcelona, Spain e-mail: jberbegal@uic.es

# 1 Introduction

The seminal paper of Shane and Venkataraman (2000) established entrepreneurship as a new field of research. Entrepreneurship involves the recognition, assessment and development of opportunities (Gartner 1990) and research shows that it cannot be associated with a particular age, gender or other characteristics of an entrepreneur (Gartner 2002; Marlow and McAdam 2013). In contrast, it is highly dependent on environmental factors such as legal regulations and networks (Hitt et al. 2001). Exploring these context-specific factors shows there is a set of papers focusing on entrepreneurial activity according to country (McDougall and Oviatt 2000; Busenitz et al. 2000). Academic research has been criticized for being biased toward studies carried out in the United States of America and Western Europe and the entrepreneurship field is no different. In the present chapter, the objective is to focus on entrepreneurship in the Middle East and North Africa (MENA). We perform a bibliometric analysis to offer an overview of all the entrepreneurship research conducted for this region. Contrary to what might have been expected, we find a large corpus of papers dealing with entrepreneurship in MENA and, although most of the papers have not been published in mainstream journals, they offer a rich and interesting set of knowledge.

The fast development of computers, the rise of the Internet and a hyperconnected society have hugely facilitated access to and the processing of information. However, research results have also increased exponentially, making it difficult for scholars and policymakers to be constantly and instantaneously aware of updates and new developments in their research fields. In this context, bibliometric analysis has become very popular as a technique to assess the-state-of-the-art scientific discipline. By studying and classifying bibliographic material quantitatively, this method allows a general picture to be obtained of a particular area of knowledge, which is very useful for identifying the most influential research and mapping the leading trends over time (Merigó and Yang 2015).

Bibliometric analysis has been shown to be paramount in the evaluation of social science research performance (Nederhof et al. 2000). Bibliometric studies have been conducted in a wide variety of disciplines (e.g., accounting, economics, innovation, operations management, marketing, and financial research), and recent studies have shown that modern bibliometric techniques can provide a lot of information about a research discipline (Wagstaff and Culyer 2012). Entrepreneurship research has been no exception. Bibliometric analyses include the works of Dos Santos et al. (2011) and Landström et al. (2012). While the former authors studied the most influential journals in this discipline, Landström and his colleagues, provided a complete bibliometric overview.

The purpose of this paper is thus to classify the bibliographic material in the field of entrepreneurship, but with a special focus on the MENA region. The rationale underlying the analysis relies on the need to identify the current status of entrepreneurship research in this region, a geographical area that is still underrepresented in the field of entrepreneurship. Although bibliometric studies have multiple uses, they are particularly suitable for providing a general summary of a research field and for identifying leading researchers, journals and institutions (Bjork et al. 2014). Therefore, this chapter aims to provide a complete overview of the main publications and trends in entrepreneurship research in MENA by using a bibliometric software package.

To do so, we perform both meso-level and macro-level bibliometric analyses. We start by providing a summary of the database. Next, the macro-level analysis yields a general assessment in terms of country productivity and which are the target journals for publishing research about entrepreneurship in MENA. We then narrow down the analysis (meso-level) by examining which authors are the most prolific on this topic, how scholars cite the work of others, and other additional indicators that allow us to complement the analysis (e.g., bibliographic coupling and co-citation networks).

The remainder of the paper is organized as follows: we first justify the importance of entrepreneurship as a research field. The next section provides an overview of bibliometrics as a performance measurement tool for research evaluation. After this, we describe the methodological approach used. The results are reported in the following section. A discussion of the findings and concluding remarks will appear in the final section.

#### 2 Importance of Entrepreneurship in MENA

Shane and Venkataraman (2000) defined entrepreneurship as the scholarly examination of how opportunities to create future goods and services are discovered, evaluated and exploited, by whom and with what effects. For there to be entrepreneurship, two factors need to interact: the entrepreneur and the opportunity. Opportunities are those occasions where a good, a service or a process can be sold at a higher price than its development costs. People who are able either to create or to recognize those opportunities are called entrepreneurs. However, entrepreneurs not only recognize opportunities they are also able to evaluate the potential of opportunities and put them into practice, thus invigorating the economy, creating jobs and offering value to consumers. In the past few decades, entrepreneurship has gained legitimacy as a field of study and research has shown that entrepreneurship is a critical factor for job creation and economic development. In addition, studies have shown that entrepreneurial firms produce an important spillover that goes beyond the entrepreneurial firm and positively affect other companies in the region and sector (van Praag and Versloot 2007).

In that sense, entrepreneurship in underdeveloped regions becomes critical. It is important to understand what contextual factors enhance entrepreneurship and which ones hinder it. The MENA region has undergone many significant changes in recent years. Even so, except for some specific cases, the region has higher unemployment rates and lower economic development than its neighbor Europe. Therefore, stimulating entrepreneurship in MENA is a way to encourage stability, prosperity and job creation (Naqvi 2012). As a Kauffman Foundation study explicitly stated: "Startups are not everything when it comes to job creation. They are the only thing." (Kane 2010).

#### **3** Bibliometric Assessment of Research

The statistical analysis of scientific literature began with the works of Alfred J. Lotka (1926) and Gross and Gross (1927)—a pioneering study on the frequency distribution of scientific productivity and a citation-based study, respectively. However, it was not until the 1960s that the foundation of modern research evaluation techniques was established. The book *Little Science, Big Science* (Price 1963) by Derek de Solla Price was the first systematic approach to the structure of modern science applied to science as a whole, and in 1969 the word "bibliometrics" was used for the first time. Pritchard (1969) defined it as the application of mathematical and statistical methods to books and other media of communication. Because data collection was still done manually, basic models for scientific communication were developed. The first models included essential indicators such as growth and aging of information. In the 1980s, bibliometrics evolved into a distinct scientific discipline with a specific research profile thanks to the fast development of computer science and technology that allowed the creation of large bibliographic databases that could be processed automatically.

The technological advances in information and communication sciences of the past few decades have led to the creation of specific tools and software that enable bibliometric analysis to be undertaken, creating complex systems that are gradually introducing more accurate metrics. Now, bibliometric methods include components from mathematics, engineering, social and natural sciences. These are usually complemented by econometrics, social network analysis and other quantitative approaches.

Bibliometric research is aimed at three main target groups: bibliometricians (for the improvement of the method itself), researchers in different scientific disciplines (as an extension of science information by metric means), and policymakers (for a comparison of national, regional, and institutional structures of science). This chapter focuses on the second approach, where bibliometrics is used as an interdisciplinary field with the objective of providing entrepreneurship researchers interested in the MENA region with a complete, structured and clear picture of what has been published on this topic in the past century.

Basic units of analysis for bibliometric purposes range from measures of simple counts—such as publication counts, the number of coauthors, references or the number of citations received by a publication—to more complex measures that can be obtained as statistical functions defined in sets of bibliometric elements and units (van Raan 2003), such as bibliographic coupling. Scientific articles can also be assigned to the journals in which they appeared, information about the corporate addresses of their authors can be linked to institutions or countries, and key data on subject category and keywords can be used.

#### 4 Methodology

To find all articles published so far on entrepreneurship in the Middle East and North Africa we searched in two databases: Thomson Reuters Web of Science (WOS) and Scopus. We believe these databases contain all the relevant publications in the area of business, management and entrepreneurship, which are the focus areas of our research. To be exhaustive, we searched for the term *entrepreneur\** together with a word related to the location. By searching for *entrepreneur\** we were able to identify all papers with the words *entrepreneurship, entrepreneurial, entrepreneurialism* and *entrepreneur*. For the location, we included the terms *Middle East* and *North Africa,* as well as the individual countries of the region: *Algeria, Bahrain, Egypt, Iran, Iraq, Israel, Jordan, Kuwait, Lebanon, Libya, Morocco, Oman, Palestine, Qatar, Saudi Arabia, Sudan, Syria, Tunisia, United Arab Emirates and Yemen.* 

This search yielded 173 papers in WOS and 632 papers in Scopus. We merged both databases and eliminated duplicates, achieving a final database of 657 articles in the area of entrepreneurship in the Middle East and North Africa. This final database constituted the starting point of our analysis. The data analysis was done using the bibliometrix R package (Aria and Cuccurullo 2016). A summary of the articles found is shown in Table 1.

The search was conducted in January 2017, so the information for the year 2016 is complete. The database contains papers from 1974 to 2016 from 387 different journals, books or conference proceedings. Figure 1 shows the evolution of the number of papers published annually.

The first article published on entrepreneurship in the Middle East and North Africa was a review by Hoselitz (1963) of the Yusif A. Sayigh book *Entrepreneurs of Lebanon*. After this initial work, nothing more is identified until 1977, when papers start to be published continuously with an average annual percentage growth rate of 1.79%. Publications have been particularly extensive in the past 4 years, with 80 publications for the period that covers from 2013 to 2015. Papers have been written by a total of 1468 authors, with an average of 1.92 authors per article. The average number of citations per article in the Scopus database is 5.62.

Articles	657
Sources (journals, books, etc.)	387
Keywords	985
Period	1964–2016
Average Scopus citations per article	5.62
Authors	1468
Authors of single-authored papers	218
Authors of multiauthored papers	1045
Average articles per author	0.52
Average authors per article	1.92
Average coauthors per article	2.23

 Table 1
 Summary of the database



Fig. 1 Number of articles per publication year

#### 5 Results

To be sound, bibliometric analyses need to employ significant measures to represent the bibliographic material. The following subsections set out the main results, starting with the analysis of the most productive countries, followed by the leading journals, top papers and most influential authors. The analysis ends by examining some mapping methods, such as bibliographic coupling and co-citation networks. A final section summarizes the main themes covered by these publications.

# 5.1 Most Productive Countries

The most prolific country, recorded as the country of affiliation of the first author, is by far the United States, followed by Israel and Iran. Figure 2 lists the most productive countries in terms of the number of papers as well as the number of citations received per country. It is important to note that the focus is on publications signed under the name of the institution or a team inside the country and not on the researcher's nationality. As shown in this figure, only four out of the ten countries included in the top ten list are countries from the MENA region, indicating that, despite this particular region being the focus of the research, authors from institutions worldwide have devoted attention to this topic. While it is quite common for the countries with the highest number of publications to be those with the highest number of citations, the United States and Israel in Fig. 2, this is not always the case. It is interesting to observe the situation of Iran—although this country has published prolifically, its studies have not been cited very much.


Fig. 2 Number of papers and total citations received by country



Fig. 3 Countries' collaboration network

Another issue that deserves attention when analyzing how productive countries are in a specific area is the analysis of the collaboration network. Figure 3 graphically illustrates the ties between each of the countries. The network has been built up by considering citations among papers—that is, the number of citations of papers from another country that a paper from a particular country contains. Echoing the results in Fig. 2, the United States, Iran, Israel and the United Kingdom have larger circles than other countries do, indicating that they are more productive in this particular research area. Figure 3 also shows that US papers tend to cite manuscripts from countries such as Israel, Canada and the United Kingdom. The arrows also suggest the existence of strong ties between authors from the United Kingdom and scholars worldwide. Other than the United Kingdom, European countries are somewhat underrepresented. (Only Denmark, France, Germany, Italy and the Netherlands appear in Fig. 3.)

#### 5.2 Top Authors by Number of Publications

Table 2 summarizes the ten most productive authors in entrepreneurship research in MENA. As shown, Syed Zamberi Ahmad leads the ranking with 11 papers, followed by Sibylle Heilbrunn (9) and Miri Lerner (9).

To provide a more complete view, several additional columns have been added, providing information about the author's affiliation and h-index. The h-index is a measure of the number of highly impactful papers a scientist has published. The larger the number of important papers, the higher the h-index, regardless of where the work was published.

Ahmad is the author with the most papers published in the collection of papers being studied. He publishes in the area of tourism and hospitality management (Ahmad 2015; Ahmad and Saber 2015) as well as on female entrepreneurs (Ahmad 2011a; Ahmad and Xavier 2011), and has written about different countries

			No. of	
Author	Affiliation	Country	papers	H-index
Ahmad, Syed	Abu Dhabi University	United	11	3
Zamberi		Arab Emirates		
Heilbrunn,	Kinneret College on the Sea	Israel	9	4
Sibylle	of Galilee			
Lerner, Miri	Tel Aviv University	Israel	9	7
Schnell, Izhak	Tel Aviv University	Israel	8	3
Yemini, Miri	Tel Aviv University	Israel	6	2
Razin, Eran	Hebrew University of	Israel	4	4
	Jerusalem			
Felsenstein,	Hebrew University of	Israel	4	4
Daniel	Jerusalem			
Meydani, Assaf	Academic College of Tel	Israel	4	1
	Aviv-Yaffo			
Schøtt, Thomas	University of Southern	Denmark	3	4
	Denmark			
Abbey, Augustus	Morgan State University	USA	3	1

 Table 2
 Most productive authors and affiliation

in MENA such as Saudi Arabia (Ahmad 2011b) and Yemen (Ahmad 2012). The second most productive author is Heilbrunn—from Israel, like the majority on this list of authors. Heilbrunn has published mostly about immigrant entrepreneurs (Heilbrunn and Kushnirovich 2008a, b; Kushnirovich and Heilbrunn 2008) and gender issues (Heilbrunn et al. 2014; Heilbrunn and Davidovitch 2011). Third on the list we find Lerner, with papers discussing the role of government and government policies such as compulsory military service on entrepreneurship (Avrahami and Lerner 2003; Lerner et al. 2005) and papers on the entrepreneurial aspirations of immigrants (Lerner and Hendeles 1993) and women (Lerner et al. 1997). Next, Izhak Schnell focuses on Arab entrepreneurs in Israel (Schnell and Sofer 2003; Slutsky et al. 2016; Sofer and Schnell 2000). Miri Yemini has had most of her papers on entrepreneurship in the MENA region published in journals dedicated to entrepreneurial education, reflecting on the school curriculum as well as other factors such as the country of origin and the discipline of study (Yemini and Bronshtein 2016; Yemini and Haddad 2010). Eran Razin, Daniel Felsenstein and Assaf Meydani have each had four papers published on entrepreneurship in MENA, covering a wide array of perspectives such as differences among ethnic groups (Razin 1989), rural compared to urban entrepreneurs (Bar-El and Felsenstein 1990) and political entrepreneurs (Meydani 2008). Finally, Thomas Schøtt has had several papers published on international comparisons of entrepreneurial behavior and Augustus Abbey papers on entrepreneurial education (Addae et al. 2015; Dobratz et al. 2015).

#### 5.3 Top Manuscripts by Citations

Citation counts reflect how useful an article is to the academic community (Abramo et al. 2008). Yet, like other metrics, this indicator is not free of controversy (van Raan 2005). Its appropriateness as a measurement of research output is questionable because this variable does not reflect the type of citation and can be influenced by self-citation and friend-citation practices (Toutkoushian et al. 2003). Despite these flaws, the total number of citations is widely accepted as an indicator of an article's quality.

The manuscripts that have received more than 100 citations in Google Scholar are listed in Table 3.

Values of the total number of citations have been taken from three different sources: WOS, Scopus and Google Scholar. Because citations are not only tied to high quality but are also a matter of time, in the table we also report the average number of citations received per year since each article was published (in brackets).

As we can observe, the most influential articles were not published in a specific decade but cover the period from 1994 to 2007. The paper that received the highest number of citations appeared in 2006 in the *Journal of World Business*.

It should be noted that frequently cited papers are those published in top journals in the business and management fields. According to *Journal Citation Reports*, the *Journal of Business Venturing* is ranked sixth in a list of 120 journals in the area of

References	TC WOS	TC Scopus	TC Google scholar
Sharir and Lerner (2006)	106 (9.64)	126 (11.45)	468 (42.55)
Lerner et al. (1997)	88 (4.40)	136 (6.80)	440 (22.00)
McCormick and Wahba (2001)	77 (4.81)	94 (5.88)	301 (18.81)
Felsenstein (1994)	60 (2.61)	92 (4.00)	263 (11.43)
Zilber (2007)	70 (7.00)	85 (8.50)	183 (18.30)

Table 3 Top manuscripts by citations

Numbers in brackets indicate the average number of citations per year *TC* total citations, *WOS* web of science

Table 4 Top ten journals

	Tetal	Journal citation	 	SCImag journal	go
D-hl'setter	I otal	IE		I	0
Publication	production	IF	Q	IF	Q
Journal of Entrepreneurship Education	37	-	-	0.322	Q2
International Journal of Entrepreneurship and Small	18	-	-	0.294	Q2
Business					
International Journal of Entrepreneurship	13	-	-	0.167	Q3
International Journal of Business and Globalisation	11	-	-	0.210	Q2
Journal of Developmental Entrepreneurship	11	-	-	0.271	Q2
Education, Business and Society: Contemporary Middle Eastern Issues	10	-	-	0.141	Q3
Journal of the International Academy for Case	8	-	-	0.101	Q4
Studies					
Entrepreneurial Executive	7	-	-	0.112	Q4
African Journal of Business Management <sup>a</sup>	6	1.105	Q3	-	-
International Journal of Middle East Studies	5	1.055	Q1	0.501	Q1

IF impact factor, Q quartile

<sup>a</sup>The Journal Citation Reports stopped including this journal in 2010. The impact factor reported refers to the year 2009. The base year for the remaining impact factors is 2015

business (impact factor: 4.204, quartile: 1). Similarly, *Organization Studies* and *Technovation* are both included in the first quartile in their respective areas, with impact factors higher than 2 (2.798 and 2.243 respectively).

# 5.4 Most Relevant Sources

To rank journals, we used the number of articles published (total production). Table 4 lists the top ten journals. We also include two additional columns with extra information—specifically, whether each journal is indexed in *Journal Citation Reports* and/or in the SCImago Journal Rank. Where the journal is indexed, we also provide the impact factor and quartile.

Surprisingly, most of the papers being studied have been published in journals that are not indexed in *Journal Citation Reports* but in second-order journals included in the second or third quartile in their respective areas in the SCImago Journal Rank. The sole exception is the *International Journal of Middle East Studies*, which clearly stands out as a top journal in the field of management and is also a target journal for studies reporting insightful research from the MENA region. As for the remaining journals, they are targeted at a wider audience, mainly in the field of entrepreneurship and small business.

# 5.5 Bibliographic Coupling Networks and Co-citation Analysis

The notion of bibliographic coupling was proposed in a Kessler 1963 paper by M.M. Kessler of the Massachusetts Institute of Technology (MIT). Bibliographic coupling occurs when two works reference a common third work in their bibliographies. That is, bibliographic coupling uses citation analysis in order to establish a similarity between documents. This measure indicates a probability that the two works treat a related subject matter. We say that two authors are bibliographically coupled if the cumulative reference lists of their respective works each contain a reference to a common document. The more citations there are to other common documents, the stronger the coupling will be. This method has been proved to offer a valuable alternative to other mapping techniques.

Figure 4 shows the results of the bibliographic coupling of the top 20 authors by Jaccard similarity coefficient. As shown in the figure, the bibliographic coupling of the top 20 authors shows three clearly differentiated clusters. First, there is a cluster made up of authors including Schnell, Smith, Scully and Erez. All of their publications are about entrepreneurship in Israel. There is a second cluster that includes authors such as Kundu, Wahiduzzaman and Mandal. All these authors discuss the pharmaceutical industry in Bangladesh. Finally, the third cluster involves authors such as Neamatzadeh and Dehghanzadeh, who focus on entrepreneurship in hospitals, particularly on nurses and doctors. By sharing a common theme, these articles tend to cite the same type of literature and papers.

Bibliographic coupling is often confused with co-citation analysis. While the former deals with papers that cite shared items in their reference lists, the latter—first set out by Small (1973) and Marshakova (1973)—analyzes reference pairs. Both techniques form clusters that include related research topics or authors. Nevertheless, compared to co-citation clustering, bibliographic coupling offers several advantages. According to Glänzel (2003), bibliographic coupling is immediately available and applicable after publication of a body of literature that does not contain only cited documents. Furthermore, it can be applied to practically all publications, with no need to restrict the analysis to frequently cited papers (as in co-citation analysis).



Fig. 4 Bibliographic coupling of the top 20 authors

# 5.6 Themes

The articles that constitute the basis of this bibliometric analysis are diverse and cover a wide range of aspects of entrepreneurship research as well as a wide range of geographical regions within the Middle East and North Africa. Still, we are able to outline three general trends and themes that group these studies. We hope this analysis will provide interesting insights and serve as a guide for future research.

First, many of the studies selected address entrepreneurial topics, comparing several aspects of entrepreneurship across different regions or cultures. This is the case, for example, of the well-cited paper of Mair and Schoen (2007). These authors do a case comparison between social enterprises in Egypt, Bangladesh and Spain. Similarly, Baum et al. (1993) explore differences in entrepreneurial motivations between US and Israeli entrepreneurs. Other papers study entrepreneurial perceptions (Malach-Pines et al. 2005), entrepreneurial career intentions (Moriano et al. 2012) or the impact of culture on quality (Mosadegh Rad 2006). In this group of papers, the Middle East and Africa are just used as a setting for comparison because of this area's cultural differences compared to the United States or Europe. These studies tend to be qualitative and include cross-country comparisons (one of them being from the MENA region). Other studies adopt a more quantitative approach and rely on data gathered through questionnaires, for example, sent to entrepreneurs in the United States as well as to entrepreneurs in the MENA region. The main purpose

of this first group of articles is to explore the relationship of cultural factors on different entrepreneurial antecedents, processes or outcomes.

Second, other studies that fulfilled the criteria of addressing entrepreneurial issues in the MENA region are those that explore entrepreneurship among minority groups. Minorities can be either by gender or by origin. In this group, we find studies about the performance of Israeli female entrepreneurs (Lerner et al. 1997) and about the entrepreneurial motivations and status of female entrepreneurs in the United Arab Emirates (Naser et al. 2009; Itani et al. 2011). Other studies included in this group are those about migrant entrepreneurs, either individuals from the MENA region becoming entrepreneurs in other countries such as the United States (Raijman and Tienda 2000) or France (Al Ariss 2010), or individuals who, after having been emigrants, are returning to their home country in MENA. The work of McCormick and Wahba (2001) illustrates this latter case and explores the link between overseas employment and savings on entrepreneurial activity by migrants on their return to Egypt.

Finally, there is a set of papers that develop new theories and insights on entrepreneurship with an empirical setting from the MENA region. That is the case of the highly cited paper of Sharir and Lerner (2006), one of the seminal papers on social entrepreneurship. Their findings and conclusions are based on a field study of 33 social ventures in Israel. Similarly, the study of Zilber (2007), published in *Organization Studies*, examines the role and use of stories in the creation of institutional entrepreneurship. The empirical setting from which the findings are drawn is located in Israel. In this last group, we also include those studies that explore other entrepreneurial aspects such as innovation (Felsenstein 1994) and quality-related issues (Reichel et al. 2000).

The overreaching conclusions from the first two groups of papers outlined above is that entrepreneurship in MENA is interesting just because it provides enough cultural and political diversity to serve as a good basis for comparison with the United States or Europe. Although it is true that the role of culture and cultural, political and geographical diversity is an interesting topic that deserves attention, the MENA region is considered as merely a region for comparative studies but not one that is interesting and valid on its own. That is why we would like to underline the importance of the last group of papers. In this last group, entrepreneurs in MENA constitute the empirical setting per se, whereas in many other top entrepreneurship papers the empirical setting is entrepreneurs in the United States. As Zahra (2011) points out, the Middle East (and we would include North Africa here also), offers great opportunities for management scholars.

#### 6 Conclusions

Over the years, many authors have provided a wide range of overviews of the field of entrepreneurship. Nevertheless, few of them have focused on bibliometric analysis. Nowadays, bibliometrics offers a wide range of methods, measures and software tools to evaluate scholarly productivity. The aim of this chapter has been to present a general bibliometric analysis of entrepreneurship research in a particular region, the Middle East and North Africa. Specifically, we have been able to summarize the main trends while identifying the leading researchers, countries and journals in this area. Two main databases have been used as primary sources for gathering articles, the Web of Science and Scopus. After applying the appropriate filters, 657 papers have been scrutinized.

The most relevant findings are summarized as follows. First, the results show that research into this topic started in the mid-1960s but it was not until 2008 that a growing pattern could be observed. Since then, the number of publications has increased significantly, with an important peak in 2014. Second, the United States is the most productive country but countries in the region being studied, such as Israel and Iran, are trying to catch up. The productivity of these countries corresponds with the most prolific authors. Of the ten most influential authors, seven are affiliated to universities in Israel, specifically to Tel Aviv University or the Hebrew University of Jerusalem. The top cited papers also confirm the leading role of Israeli authors. Both Miri Lerner (from Tel Aviv University) and Daniel Felsenstein (from the Hebrew University of Jerusalem) are among the authors with the highest number of quoted papers. Third, researchers investigating entrepreneurship in MENA publish their work in journals that focus on international business issues or that cover entrepreneurship in a broad sense.

A key finding is that these journals appear to be indexed in the SCImago Journal Rank, instead of *Journal Citation Reports*. There are two possible interpretations of this result. One relates to the interest of *JCR*-indexed journals in reporting studies comparing countries or regions. This result is quite logical because leading journals are very selective about the articles they publish as they are interested only in articles with a strong potential of being cited. That is, top journals seek papers that can reach a wide audience. The second explanation has to do with the promotion system of academics. Because scholars from the MENA region are those who publish more about this topic (considering the different countries in the area as a whole), the high number of research outlets in SCImago Journal Rank journals seems to indicate that the promotion system in the MENA region is not as highly dependent on *JCR*-indexed publications as it is in European countries (e.g., France, Germany, Italy and Spain). Nevertheless, highly cited papers have been published in leading management journals (e.g., *Organization Studies* and *Technovation*).

Although we believe that this study provides useful insights to the study of entrepreneurship in MENA, it is important to note that we identified some limitations, which in turn represent future research lines. Probably the main limitation relates to the selection of the articles. Despite WOS and Scopus being regarded as two of the most influential databases in academic research and enjoying a sound reputation, we are being limited by failing to include studies from other, second-order sources. Some relevant material might not be indexed in the two databases used and therefore it has been omitted. Also, note that the data was collected in January 2017. The picture we provide here takes into account the materials published up to that month. However,

every week new articles continue to be published. Further studies might consider updating the information we summarize here.

Concerning the bibliometric analysis, we are reporting the results displayed by bibliometrix. Although the metrics used by this software package are reliable and relevant, we need to ask whether there might be other indicators that could help illustrate better the current literature on entrepreneurship in the MENA region. Further investigations could also explore certain aspects of the geographic dimension of cooperation between countries and institutions, and determine trends in the regional flow and spillover of knowledge generated by such collaborations.

#### References

- Abramo G, D'Angelo CA, Pugini F (2008) The measurement of Italian universities' research productivity by a non parametric-bibliometric methodology. Scientometrics 76(2):225–244
- Addae IY, Singh RP, Abbey A (2015) Cultivating black technology entrepreneurs through HBCU engineering & business programs. J Enterp Educ 18(1):12–30
- Ahmad SZ (2011a) Evidence of the characteristics of women entrepreneurs in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia: an empirical investigation. Int J Gend Entrep 3(2):123–143
- Ahmad SZ (2011b) Businesswomen in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia: characteristic, growth patterns and progression in a regional context. Equal Divers Incl 30(7):610–614
- Ahmad SZ (2012) Microfinance for women micro and small-scale entrepreneurs in Yemen: achievements and challenges. Int J Entrep Small Bus 16(1):102–120
- Ahmad SZ (2015) Entrepreneurship education in tourism and hospitality programs. J Hosp Tour Educ 27(1):20–29
- Ahmad SZ, Saber H (2015) Understanding marketing strategies with particular reference to smalland medium-sized hotel businesses in the United Arab Emirates. Tour Hosp Res 15(2):115–129
- Ahmad SZ, Xavier SR (2011) Preliminary investigation of Yemeni women entrepreneurs: some challenges for development and barriers to success. Int J Entrep Small Bus 13(4):518–534
- Al Ariss A (2010) Modes of engagement: migration, self-initiated expatriation, and career development. Career Dev Int 15(4):338–358
- Aria M, Cuccurullo C (2016) Bibliometrix: a R tool for comprehensive bibliometric analysis of scientific literature. http://www.bibliometrix.org
- Avrahami Y, Lerner M (2003) The effect of combat service and military rank on entrepreneurial careers: the case of Israeli MBA graduates. J Pol Mil Sociol 31(1):97–118
- Bar-El R, Felsenstein D (1990) Entrepreneurship and rural industrialization: comparing urban and rural patterns of locational choice in Israel. World Dev 18(2):257–267
- Baum JR, Olian JD, Erez M, Schnell ER, Smith KG, Sims HP, Scully JS, Smith KA (1993) Nationality and work role interactions: a cultural contrast of Israeli and US entrepreneurs' versus managers' needs. J Bus Ventur 8(6):499–512
- Bjork S, Offer A, Söderberg G (2014) Time series citation data: the Nobel prize in economics. Scientometrics 98(1):185–196
- Busenitz LW, Gómez C, Spencer JW (2000) Country institutional profiles: unlocking entrepreneurial phenomena. Acad Manag J 43(5):994–1003
- Dobratz CL, Singh RP, Abbey A (2015) Using formal internships to improve entrepreneurship education programs. J Entrep Educ 18(1):62–76
- Dos Santos BL, Holsapple CW, Ye Q (2011) The intellectual influence of entrepreneurship journals: a network analysis. Entrep Theory Pract 35(4):735–754
- Felsenstein D (1994) University-related science parks 'seedbeds' or 'enclaves' of innovation? Technovation 14(2):93–110

- Gartner WB (1990) What are we talking about when we talk about entrepreneurship? J Bus Ventur 5(1):15–28
- Gartner WB (2002) "Who is an entrepreneur?" is the wrong question. In: Krueger NF (ed) Entrepreneurship: critical perspectives on business and management, vol II. Routledge, London, pp 153–177
- Glänzel W (2003) Bibliometrics as a research field: a course on theory and application of bibliometric indicators. Course handout. http://nsdl.niscair.res.in/jspui/bitstream/123456789/ 968/1/Bib\_Module\_KUL.pdf. Accessed 29 Jan 2017
- Gross PLK, Gross EM (1927) College libraries and chemical education. Science 66(1713):385-389
- Heilbrunn S, Davidovitch L (2011) Juggling family and business: work-family conflict of women entrepreneurs in Israel. J Entrep 20(1):127–141
- Heilbrunn S, Kushnirovich N (2008a) Impact of ethnicity on financing of immigrant businesses. Int J Bus Glob 2(2):146–159
- Heilbrunn S, Kushnirovich N (2008b) The impact of policy on immigrant entrepreneurship and businesses practice in Israel. Int J Public Sect Manag 21(7):693–703
- Heilbrunn S, Abu-Asbeh K, Nasra MA (2014) Difficulties facing women entrepreneurs in Israel: a social stratification approach. Int J Gend Entrep 6(2):142–162
- Hitt MA, Ireland RD, Camp SM, Sexton DL (2001) Strategic entrepreneurship: entrepreneurial strategies for wealth creation. Strateg Manag J 22(6–7):479–491
- Hoselitz BF (1963) Review of entrepreneurs of Lebanon: the role of the business leader in a developing economy by Yusif A. Sayigh. Bus Hist Rev 37(3):299–300
- Itani H, Sidani YM, Baalbaki I (2011) United Arab Emirates female entrepreneurs: motivations and frustrations. Equal Divers Incl Int J 30(5):409–424
- Kane TJ (2010) The importance of startups in job creation and job destruction. Kauffman foundation research series: firm formation and economic growth. https://doi.org/10.2139/ssrn. 1646934. Accessed 29 Jan 2017
- Kessler MM (1963) Bibliographic coupling between scientific papers. J Assoc Inf Sci Technol 14(1):10–25
- Kushnirovich N, Heilbrunn S (2008) Financial funding of immigrant businesses. J Dev Entrep 13(2):167–184
- Landström H, Harirchi G, Åström F (2012) Entrepreneurship: exploring the knowledge base. Res Policy 41(7):1154–1181
- Lerner M, Hendeles Y (1993) New entrepreneurs and entrepreneurial aspirations among immigrants from the former USSR in Israel. In: Churchill NC, Birley S, Doutriaux J, Gatewood EJ, Hoy FS, Wetzel WE Jr (eds) Frontiers of entrepreneurship research, vol 36. Elsevier, New York, pp 562–575
- Lerner M, Brush C, Hisrich R (1997) Israeli women entrepreneurs: an examination of factors affecting performance. J Bus Ventur 12(4):315–339
- Lerner M, Menahem G, Hisrich RD (2005) Does government matter?: the impact of occupational retraining, gender and ethnicity on immigrants' incorporation. J Small Bus Enterp Dev 12(2):192–210
- Lotka AJ (1926) The frequency distribution of scientific productivity. J Wash Acad Sci 16(12):317–323
- Mair J, Schoen O (2007) Successful social entrepreneurial business models in the context of developing economies: an explorative study. Int J Emerg Mark 2(1):54–68
- Malach-Pines A, Levy H, Utasi Á, Hill TL (2005) Entrepreneurs as cultural heroes: a cross-cultural, interdisciplinary perspective. J Manag Psychol 20(6):541–555
- Marlow S, McAdam M (2013) Gender and entrepreneurship: advancing debate and challenging myths; exploring the mystery of the under-performing female entrepreneur. Int J Entrep Behav Res 19(1):114–124

- Магshakova IV (Маршакова ИВ) (1973) Система связей между документами, построенная на основе ссылок (по указателю «Science Citation Index») [System of connections between documents based on references (as the Science Citation Index)]. Nauchno-Tekhnicheskaya Informatsiya (Научно-техническая информация [Scientific and Technical Information]) 2(6):3–8
- McCormick B, Wahba J (2001) Overseas work experience, savings and entrepreneurship amongst return migrants to LDCs. Scott J Polit Econ 48(2):164–178
- McDougall PP, Oviatt BM (2000) International entrepreneurship: the intersection of two research paths. Acad Manag J 43(5):902–906
- Merigó JM, Yang J-B (2015) Accounting research: a bibliometric analysis. Aust Account Rev 27:71. https://doi.org/10.1111/auar.12109
- Meydani A (2008) Political entrepreneurs and electoral capital: the case of the Israeli state economy arrangement law. Constit Polit Econ 19(4):301–312
- Moriano JA, Gorgievski M, Laguna M, Stephan U, Zarafshani K (2012) A cross-cultural approach to understanding entrepreneurial intention. J Career Dev 39(2):162–185
- Mosadegh Rad AM (2006) The impact of organizational culture on the successful implementation of total quality management. TQM Mag 18(6):606–625
- Naqvi O (2012) Entrepreneurship in the Middle East and North Africa: opening the floodgates. Innovations 7(2):11–17
- Naser K, Mohammed WR, Nuseibeh R (2009) Factors that affect women entrepreneurs: evidence from an emerging economy. Int J Organ Anal 17(3):225–247
- Nederhof AJ, Meijer RF, Moed HF, van Raan AFJ (2000) Research performance indicators for university departments: a study of an agricultural university. Scientometrics 27(2):157–178
- Price DJS (1963) Little science, big science. Columbia University Press, New York
- Pritchard A (1969) Statistical bibliography or bibliometrics? J Doc 25(4):348-349
- Raijman R, Tienda M (2000) Immigrants' pathways to business ownership: a comparative ethnic perspective. Int Migr Rev 34(3):682–706
- Razin E (1989) Relating theories of entrepreneurship among ethnic groups and entrepreneurship in space – the case of the Jewish population in Israel. Geogr Ann Ser B Hum Geogr 71(3):167–181
- Reichel A, Lowengart O, Milman A (2000) Rural tourism in Israel: service quality and orientation. Tour Manag 21(5):451–459
- Schnell I, Sofer M (2003) Embedding entrepreneurship in social structure: Israeli-Arab entrepreneurship. Int J Urban Reg Res 27(2):300–318
- Shane S, Venkataraman S (2000) The promise of entrepreneurship as a field of research. Acad Manag Rev 25(1):217–226
- Sharir M, Lerner M (2006) Gauging the success of social ventures initiated by individual social entrepreneurs. J World Bus 41(1):6–20
- Slutsky A, Shamai S, Arnon S, Schnell I, Greenberg Z (2016) Comparison of very small businesses of Arabs and Jews in the North Israel periphery. Int J Entrep Small Bus 28(1):117–137
- Small H (1973) Co-citation in the scientific literature: a new measure of the relationship between two documents. J Am Soc Inf Sci 24(4):265–269
- Sofer M, Schnell I (2000) The restructuring stages of Israeli Arab industrial entrepreneurship. Environ Plan A 32(12):2231–2250
- Toutkoushian RK, Porter SR, Danielson C, Hollis PR (2003) Using publications counts to measure an institution's research productivity. Res High Educ 44(2):121–148
- van Praag CM, Versloot PH (2007) What is the value of entrepreneurship? A review of recent research. Small Bus Econ 29(4):351–382
- van Raan AFJ (2003) The use of bibliometric analysis in research performance assessment and monitoring of interdisciplinary scientific developments. Technikfolgenabschätzung Theorie und Praxis 1(12):20–29
- van Raan AFJ (2005) Fatal attraction: conceptual and methodological problems in the ranking of universities by bibliometric methods. Scientometrics 62(1):133–143

- Wagstaff A, Culyer AJ (2012) Four decades of health economics through a bibliometric lens. J Health Econ 31(2):406–439
- Yemini M, Bronshtein Y (2016) The global-local negotiation: between the official and the implemented history curriculum in Israeli classrooms. Glob Soc Educ 14(3):345–357
- Yemini M, Haddad J (2010) Engineer-entrepreneur: combining technical knowledge with entrepreneurship education – the Israeli case study. Int J Eng Educ 26(5):1220–1229
- Zahra SA (2011) Doing research in the (new) Middle East: sailing with the wind. Acad Manag Perspect 25(4):6–21
- Zilber TB (2007) Stories and the discursive dynamics of institutional entrepreneurship: the case of Israeli high-tech after the bubble. Organ Stud 28(7):1035–1054

# **Entrepreneurship Research in Iran: Current Trends and Future Agendas**



Afsaneh Bagheri, Morteza Akbari, Atefeh Zolfaghari, and Samira Razi

**Abstract** This chapter examines the current trends and future research agendas for entrepreneurship in Iran. Using the systematic literature review method, the papers published in the field were organized and the chronological evolution of the papers was examined. Some 208 articles published in between 2000 and 2012 were identified in 38 academic journals. The findings revealed that entrepreneurship paper publication has witnessed several variations where the number and quality of published articles constantly increased from 2000 to 2007, critically improved from 2008 to 2011 and then declined in 2012. Furthermore, the majority of these papers focus on fragmented topics, are mostly at the exploratory stage and descriptive and have little contribution to theory building.

Keywords Entrepreneurship research · Systematic literature review · Iran

# 1 Introduction

Entrepreneurship has recently attracted the increased attention of policy makers, researchers, educators and practitioners throughout the world. This is because of the prominent effects of entrepreneurship and entrepreneurial activities in organizational, economic and social development of both developed and developing countries (Gibb 2002; Matlay 2006). Particularly for developing countries including Iran, entrepreneurship has been considered as an effective solution to the economic and

A. Zolfaghari

A. Bagheri (🖂) · M. Akbari · S. Razi

Faculty of Entrepreneurship, University of Tehran, Tehran, Iran e-mail: af.bagheri@ut.ac.ir; mortezaakbari@ut.ac.ir

Accounting and Management Faculty, Entrepreneurship Department, Qazvin Azad Islamic University, Qazvin, Iran

ITBM Research Group of ICT Institute of ACECR, Tehran, Iran e-mail: A\_zolfaghari@ut.ac.ir

<sup>©</sup> Springer International Publishing AG, part of Springer Nature 2018 N. Faghih, M. R. Zali (eds.), *Entrepreneurship Education and Research in the Middle East and North Africa (MENA)*, Contributions to Management Science, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-90394-1\_16

social crises and challenges that the country is grappling with and may encounter in the future (Ahmadpour Daryani et al. 2009a; Cheng et al. 2009). Consequently, researchers have made tremendous attempts to provide better insights into various aspects of the entrepreneurship phenomenon, develop the body of knowledge on the phenomenon and establish entrepreneurship as a specific domain of research and practice (Aldrich 2012; Grégoire et al. 2006; Mitchell 2011). Scholars accentuated that contextual factors such as cultural, social and economic environments highly influence entrepreneurship and research in the field (Zahra 2007) and business environment differs across countries (Cardon and Kirk 2013).

Much of our knowledge about entrepreneurship also came from the U.S and Europe having mature economies and highly encouraging and supportive environment for entrepreneurship (Jing et al. 2014). Furthermore, there is little information on the main focal areas and interests of entrepreneurship researchers in different countries (Bruton et al. 2008) and our knowledge about "how entrepreneurship research developed in different regions" is limited (Jing et al. 2014, p. 1).

Specifically in Iran, few studies have systematically examined the literature and entrepreneurship research development (Arasti and Valinejad 2011). In general, previous studies mostly included few numbers of published articles on a specific area of entrepreneurship. To narrow the gap, this study aims to examine the current trend and future research agendas for entrepreneurship in Iran. Using the systematic literature review (SLR) method, it organizes the papers published in the field and examines the chronological evolution of the research on entrepreneurship. This chapter also presents the research themes emerging in the research period. Doing this, the gap in the empirical research findings is identified and the direction for future research is suggested. The findings of the current study make several contributions to entrepreneurship literature. Firstly, it makes contributions to map out the research program on entrepreneurship, particularly in Iran. It also provides contribution to entrepreneurship literature in languages other than English. Secondly, this study improves the number of papers included in the analysis by previous researchers. In most prior studies, less than 200 papers on entrepreneurship were analyzed (George et al. 2016; Jing et al. 2014).

Furthermore, this study is one of the first contributions to entrepreneurship research literature in Iran using the SLR. Specifically, this chapter provides better insights into contextualized entrepreneurship studies in Iran and how the theories originally developed in more developed countries addressed the specific context of entrepreneurship in Iran. By including the papers in academic journals, this study also reflects a better picture of the related research works on entrepreneurship in top ranking Iranian journals (Ahmadpour Daryani et al. 2009b). It also implies Iranian scholars' research interests and themes in more than the last decade.

This chapter is organized in four main sections. After the introduction, we explain the research method and represent the process through which the SLR was conducted. Then, we present our findings related to the six key research themes emerging from this study including entrepreneurship education and training, SMEs, entrepreneurs and entrepreneurship process, organizational and corporate entrepreneurship, social entrepreneurship and family businesses and entrepreneurship development in national and international levels. Finally, we discuss the findings and conclude with highlighting the future agendas for research on the emerging themes.

#### 2 Method

To examine the current status and future agendas of entrepreneurship research in Iran, we utilized the systematic literature review (SLR) method. In the SLR, the findings of available studies on a specific topic or research question such as entrepreneurship are summarized and interpreted using an extensive search of relevant peer-reviewed articles and a set of specific criteria for choosing articles to review is specified (Cook et al. 1995). Indeed, the SLR assists researchers in identifying the gaps in the current research and suggests new research activities and helps policy makers, managers and practitioners "develop a reliable knowledge base by accumulating knowledge from a range of studies" (Tranfield et al. 2003, p. 220). Therefore, the researchers require to document and describe all the procedures undertaken in details in order to reduce biases and ensure transparency of their findings (Denyer and Neely 2004). The SLR has been extensively adopted in the studies on various aspects of entrepreneurship including entrepreneurial ventures (Thorpe et al. 2005), entrepreneurial opportunity recognition (George et al. 2016), social entrepreneurship (Lehner and Kansikas 2013), entrepreneurship education (Pittaway et al. 2004), and innovation (Pittaway et al. 2004).

We focused on the entrepreneurship papers published in Iranian academic journals rather than the utility and citation of the publications because citation partially manifests the impact and importance of the research and is biased against specific popular authors (Ratnatunga and Romano 1997). This study differs from traditional literature review of entrepreneurship research in that it sought to use a clear scientific process that can be repeated by other researchers as well as a thorough bibliographical search of published entrepreneurship studies in Iran (Cook et al. 1997; Tranfield et al. 2003). Although one can find a robust body of literature on entrepreneurship all over the world, in this study we concentrated only on papers published in Iran based on the assumption that cultural, social and economic factors that affect entrepreneurship and entrepreneurship research vary in different countries (Jing et al. 2014). Furthermore, we aimed to provide a precise picture of the current trends and future research agendas for entrepreneurship research and practice in Iran and explore the gaps in the empirical entrepreneurship research (Tranfield et al. 2003).

Drawing on previous SLRs on entrepreneurship, we also included only peerreviewed papers in academic journals excluding conference proceedings, books, book chapters, book reviews, tutorials, technical reports, working papers, Masters theses and PhD dissertations in order to reduce bias in our findings. Furthermore, papers published in top academic journals present influential and approved knowledge on entrepreneurship (George et al. 2016). Building on the two steps for the SLR proposed by Moustaghfir (2008), we adopted the following phases in this study. First, we established the criteria to identify the top-rank journals published in Iran under the classification of Academic-Research journals (which is the highest scientific journal ranking in Iran). These criteria assisted us in selecting the high quality articles from the key journals that have published the findings of entrepreneurship empirical studies.

We used the website of the journals to retrieve the related articles. We limited our analysis to the entrepreneurship articles published between 2000 and 2012 (the year of data analysis for this study). We started the analysis of the articles published from 2000 because we could not find any studies on entrepreneurship in academic journals before the year 2000 in Iran. Then, we specified a series of keywords related to entrepreneurship such as entrepreneur(s), entrepreneurial, entrepreneurship, business, venture, innovation and opportunity. These keywords were deliberately selected broad in order to include a wide range of studies on entrepreneurship (George et al. 2016). We used the keywords to search within the title, keywords, abstract and full text of each article. The initial search yielded 221 articles selected from 38 Academic-Research journals published in the Persian language. Of the articles, 13 were eliminated from the analysis because they were review papers. Therefore, the analysis was performed on 208 papers. The journals were organized based on the number of the articles relevant to entrepreneurship. Table 1 presents the name of selected journals and frequency of the published articles in each journal. As the table shows, entrepreneurship articles have been published in a wide range of journals in different areas such as economics, social science, psychology, arts and humanities, educational science (educational administration, school psychology and educational innovations), sports science, agriculture, business, management, information technology and women studies. Most of these journals are not specific entrepreneurship journals but expanded their scope to include entrepreneurship research findings. Furthermore, the majority of the entrepreneurship research findings in Iran are published in the Journal of Entrepreneurship Development (142, 64.8%) since its first publication in 2008.

In the second step of the SLR, one of the authors read the title, abstract, keywords and full text of the retrieved articles to determine their relevance to entrepreneurship in Iran. Then, the selected articles and the retrieved information were checked in depth by other authors regarding the title, year of publication, area of study and characteristics of research method (type of research method, research instrument, data analysis method and sample) in order to minimize bias against the researcher and improve reliability of the findings (Tranfield et al. 2003). Following Pittaway and Cope (2007), we further coded the articles based on their main themes and sub-themes in order to provide a general comprehensive map of entrepreneurship research in Iran and identify the interconnections between the themes and gaps in the research areas.

Category	1995–2000	2001	2002	2003	2004	2005	2006	2007	2008	2009	2010	2011	2012	Total
EE & TR	1		2		5	3	2	4	2	14	ю	=	34	83
SMEs	1	1	1	I	1	I	I	I	4	6	11	13	13	53
OR & CE	1	I	I	I	I	I	I	3	5	10	11	×	4	41
EN & EP	1	I	I	I	I	2	2	I	I	8	9	6	10	38
ED	1	I	I	I	I	I	I	1	2	I	1	4	4	12
SE & FB	1	I	I	I	I	I	I	I	1	1	4	2	1	6
Total	1	2	3	1	6	5	3	8	14	42	36	47	66	236
Note: EE & Th	R entrepreneursh	ip educati	on and trai	ning, SMI	Es small ar	nd mediur	n size ente	rprises, El	V & EP en	trepreneu	r and entre	epreneursh	up process	, <i>OR</i> &

categories
by
articles
Entrepreneurship
Table 1

CE organizational and corporate entrepreneurship, SE & FB social entrepreneurship and family business, ED entrepreneurship development

# 3 Results

This section presents the results of the SLR, answering the research questions individually based on the data from the 208 articles extracted from 38 Academic-Research journals over a publication period of 12 years (2000–2012). Figure 1 shows the number of studies published in the period. The figure indicates the number of published articles on entrepreneurship consistently increased from 2000 to 2007, dramatically improved from 2008 to 2011 and then declined in 2012. Regarding the research subject areas, we identified six areas including humanities, social and behavioral sciences (187, 85.4%), agricultural science (22, 10.1%), technical science (8, 3.7%) and medicine (2, .9%).

Furthermore, most of the studies have examined entrepreneurship in Tehran, the capital city of Iran (101, 48.5%) covering also provinces other than Tehran (59, 28.5%), national (45, 21.6%) and international levels (3, 1.4%). Regarding research methods (survey vs. experimental), a majority of the studies were conducted using a survey research design (105, 47.9%) and through a quantitative method (152, 69%) followed by mixed method (38, 17.4%) and qualitative method (28, 12.8%). Notably, none of the studies used an experimental or quasi-experimental research method. The analysis also indicated that researchers have mostly analyzed the data obtained by a questionnaire (151, 71.2%), interview protocol (26, 12.2%) and a combination of the two instruments (35, 16.5%). Six main themes emerged from the thematic analysis of the articles including entrepreneurship education and training, SMEs, entrepreneurs and entrepreneurship process, organizational and corporate entrepreneurship, social entrepreneurship and family businesses and entrepreneurship development at national and international levels. These themes and the related sub-themes are presented in the following sections.



Fig. 1 The number of published studies from 2000 to 2012

#### 3.1 Entrepreneurship Education

Entrepreneurship education has been constantly a core focus of entrepreneurship research in Iran (Table 2). Studies on this theme examined the entrepreneurial characteristics and the organizational factors that facilitate the development of entrepreneurial capabilities. Interestingly, in accordance with research findings in other MENA countries (Ooi and Ahmad 2012) the first entrepreneurship study published in a scientific journal found a significant positive relationship between university students' personal characteristics (creativity, achievement motivation and self-esteem) and their motivation to pursue entrepreneurship as their future career path (Shekarshekan et al. 2002). The only entrepreneurship paper published in 2003 was also dedicated to entrepreneurship education and examined graduates' entrepreneurial characteristics. Of the three published papers in 2004, two contributed to exploring the entrepreneurial characteristics of university graduates (Kalantari et al. 2004) and developing an organizational structure model for entrepreneurship in higher education institutions (Kordnaeej et al. 2005). From 2005 to 2008, several studies examined entrepreneurial characteristics (self-effectiveness and tolerance of uncertainty) and attitudes of university students (Bromandnasab and Shekarshekan 2007; Jafarimoghadam and Etemadi 2008; Salimifar and Mortazavi 2005), factors affecting entrepreneurial performance of graduates (Eskandari et al. 2006) and the impact of school organizational environment on students' entrepreneurial spirit (Samadi and Shirzadi Esfehani 2007). Research on entrepreneurship education in 2009 focused on entrepreneurial propensity of university students (Arabiun et al. 2009; Barani et al. 2009), the relationship between gender and students' entrepreneurial characteristics (Feiz 2009) and the impact of entrepreneurship education programs (e.g., creative teaching methods, entrepreneurship extra-curriculum activities, appropriate textbooks, students' interest-based programs) on developing students' entrepreneurial characteristics (Hosseini et al. 2009).

Several research findings have also been published on the entrepreneurship process in universities (Sadeghi and Ghanadan 2009), curriculum objectives and development (Liaghatdar et al. 2009; Yadollahi Farsi and Mirarab Razi 2009) and the factors affecting entrepreneurial universities (F. Sharifzadeh et al. 2009a). While scant research has been conducted on entrepreneurial traits of university students between 2010 and 2011 (Farajollahi et al. 2011; Ghasemi and Asadi 2010), exploring such characteristics among students again emerged as a buzz topic in 2012 (Abbasi et al. 2002; Ahmadi et al. 2012; Alipour et al. 2012; Amini et al. 2012; Khanifar et al. 2012; Rezaei Zadeh et al. 2012). Research has also investigated the factors that shape university students' entrepreneurial intentions (Akbari et al. 2012; Karimi et al. 2012; Rahmanian Koushkaki et al. 2012) and their needs of entrepreneurship education (Rezaei et al. 2012). Between 2010 and 2012, a growing body of research has evaluated the impact of university administration (Talebi et al. 2011), organizational structure (Yadolahi Farsi et al. 2011) and model (Kavoosi and Rahmati Zanjantalab 2010) and entrepreneurial characteristics (Kordnaeej et al.

Themes	Sub-themes	Papers
Personal variables	Achievement need and achieve- ment motivation	Kalantari et al. (2004); Feyz (2009); Moradi and Shabanali Fami (2010); Talebi et al. (2010); Ahmadi et al. (2012); Alipour et al. (2012); Amini et al. (2012); Khanifar et al. (2012)
	Creativity	Hezarjaribi (2003); Shekarshekan et al. (2002); Kalantari et al. (2004); Ahmadi et al. (2012); Amini et al. (2012); Khanifar et al. (2012)
	Risk taking	Hezarjaribi (2003); Kalantari et al. (2004); Feyz (2009); Alipour et al. (2012); Amini et al. (2012); Khanifar et al. (2012)
	Entrepreneurial skills and pro- pensity to act	Hezarjaribi (2003); Kalantari et al. (2004); Barani et al. (2009); Arabiun et al. (2009); Feyz (2009)
	Tolerance of ambiguity, emo- tional intelligence, uncertainty and failure	Salimifar and Mortazavi (2005); Borumand Nasab and Shekarshekan (2007); Feyz (2009); Khanifar et al. (2012)
	Self-esteem, self-efficacy and self-confidence	Shekarshekan et al. (2002); Borumand Nasab and Shekarshekan (2007); Khanifar et al. (2012); Rezaeezade et al. (2012)
	Internal locus of control	Feyz (2009); Amini et al. (2012); Khanifar et al. (2012)
	Need for independence	Ahmadi et al. (2012); Amini et al. (2012); Khanifar et al. (2012)
	Proactiveness, imagination and challenging	Feyz (2009); Khanifar et al. (2012)
	Entrepreneurial spirit	Salimifar and Mortazavi (2005); Samadi and Shirzadi Esfehani (2007); Ghasemi and Asadi (2010); Farajolahi et al. (2011)
	Entrepreneurial intentions	Akbari et al. (2012); Karimi et al. (2012); Rahmanian Koushkaki et al. (2012)
	Entrepreneurial attitudes	Jafarimoghadam and Etemadi (2008)
	Entrepreneurial performance	Eskandari et al. (2006)
	Needs of education	Rezaee et al. (2012)
	Perceived obstacles to univer- sity entrepreneurship	
Organizational variables	Structure and environment	Kordnaeej et al. (2005); Samadi and Esfahani (2007); Yadollahi Farsi et al. (2011)
	Administration, leadership and managerial systems	Sharifzade et al. (2009a); Gahramani et al. (2011); Talebi et al. (2011)
	Commercialization of university research findings	Pourezat et al. (2010); Meigounpoory and Ahmadi (2012)

 Table 2
 Themes and sub-themes of the articles on entrepreneurship education

(continued)

Themes	Sub-themes	Papers
	Lecturers' entrepreneurial skills, teaching methods	Mohammadi Elyasi et al. (2012); Arasti et al. (2012a)
	Effectiveness of entrepreneur- ship education	Baghersad et al. (2012)
	Curriculum objectives, devel- opment and	Leyaghatdar et al. (2009); Yadollahi Farsi and Mirrab Razi (2009)
	Entrepreneurial characteristics	Kordnaeej et al. (2012)
	Entrepreneurship process	Sadeghi and Ghanadan (2009)

Table 2 (continued)

 Table 3
 Themes and sub-themes of the articles on entrepreneurship training

Themes	Sub-themes	Papers
Entrepreneurship and professional training	Entrepreneurial behavior and skills of staff	Shekary and Arani (2011)
	Women entrepreneurship empowerment and entrepre- neurial tendency	Tabatabaie and Hosseineyan (2005)
	Women's employment activities	Salehi Najafabadi et al. (2006)
	Group self-efficacy of disabled women	

2012) and students' perceived obstacles to (Hosseini et al. 2009) university entrepreneurship. Research in these years has also investigated the factors influencing commercialization of university research findings (Pourezat et al. 2010), university leadership (Ghahramani et al. 2011) and managerial systems (Talebi et al. 2011), entrepreneurial skills of entrepreneurship lecturers (Mohammadi Elyasi et al. 2012) and effectiveness of university entrepreneurship e-learning programs (Baghersad et al. 2012).

Following the previous research, we grouped the articles on entrepreneurship training under entrepreneurship education (Table 3). Unlike entrepreneurship education, we could only find few researches on entrepreneurship training. Research on entrepreneurship training started in 2005 and provided empirical evidence for the significant relationship between professional and entrepreneurship training and women's entrepreneurial tendency (Tabatabaie and Hosseineyan 2005). From then, researchers have explored the influential impact of such training on employment activities of women (Salehi Najafabadi et al. 2006), entrepreneurial behavior of staff (Mehrabad and Mohtadi 2011), group self-efficacy of disabled women (Moradi and Shabanali Fami 2010) and entrepreneurial skills of employees from insurance companies (Shekarey and Heidarzadeh Arany 2011).

# 3.2 Small and Medium Sized Enterprises (SMEs)

This research stream started in 2004. We organized the articles on this stream around four main sub-themes including SMEs' environment, performance, success, growth and development, internationalization and the effect of SMEs on employment change (Table 4). Research on the appropriate environment for SMEs explored the supportive (Mortazavi and Maharati 2004; A. Sharifzadeh et al. 2010) and economic factors that facilitate and/or obstruct SMEs' creation (Alvani and Rahmati 2008; Amiri et al. 2009; Maleki et al. 2009; Zivdar 2011; Zivdar and Ghasemi 2011) and development (Ahmadpour Daryani et al. 2009a). These studies have also

Themes	Sub-themes	Papers
Environment	Facilitators and impediments	Mortazavi and Maharati (2004); Alvani and Rahmati (2008); Ahmadpour Daryani et al. (2009b); Amiri et al. (2009); Maleki et al. (2009); Sharifzadeh et al. (2010); Zivdar (2011); Zivdar and Ghasemi (2011); Talebi et al. (2011, 2012)
Performance	Strategic resource planning, mar- keting and distribution system	Alem Tabriz et al. (2010); Khodadad Hosseini and Kolabi (2012); Rezvani and Fanaeei (2012)
	Information technology, e-trading, outsourcing and social network	Talebi et al. (2009); Sohrabi and Khanlari (2010); Teymori and Ashori (2010); Mehdivand and Zali (2011); Zali et al. (2011)
	Innovation capacity and competitiveness	Fakour and Ansari (2009); Rezaeian et al. (2010); Zafarian et al. (2012)
	Personal traits and skills, ethics and social responsibility	Doroudian et al. (2012); Zare Ahmadabadi et al. (2012)
	Entrepreneurship indicators	Arabiun et al. (2010)
Success	Personal characteristics	Mohammadi and Asgari (2011); Azar et al. (2012)
	Banks' financial supports, financial indicators, and national policies and rules	Azar et al. (2012); Khoshnodifar et al. (2010)
	Knowledge management	Seyed Javadin et al. (2011)
Growth and development	National	Khanifar and Vakili (2008); Moghimi and Ahmadpour Dariani (2008); Sharifzadeh et al. (2009b); Kermanshah and Samei (2010); Vafaei and Shafei (2010); Alimirzaei et al. (2011); Talebi et al. (2011, 2012)
	Internationalization	Rezvani et al. (2009); Faghihi et al. (2010); Talebi et al. (2010)
	Employment change	Feizpour et al. (2011)

Table 4 Themes and sub-themes of the articles on SMEs

emphasized the role that science and technology parks play in SMEs' growth (Talebi et al. 2011). Studies mostly focused on examining the strategies on organization resource planning (Alem Tabriz et al. 2010) and competitiveness (Rezaeian et al. 2010), personal traits and skills (Doroudian et al. 2012), thinking capital and social networks (Mehdivand and Zali 2011; Zali et al. 2011), information technology and e-trading (Sohrabi and Khanlari 2010; Teymori and Ashori 2010), marketing and distribution system (Khodadad Hosseini and Kolabi 2012; Rezvani and Fanaeei 2012), innovation capacity (Fakour and Ansari 2009; Zaefarian et al. 2012), nature and type of outsourcing (Talebi et al. 2009), and ethics (Zare Ahmadabadi et al. 2012). Research has also specified indicators for SMEs' level of entrepreneurship (Arabiun et al. 2010). The variety of research focuses implies that researchers identified different factors that affect SMEs in Iran and did not intensely concentrate on a particular area to provide deep insights into the area.

Among the factors that influence SMEs' success in Iran. studies have explored the significant impact of banks' financial supports (Khoshnodifar et al. 2010), personal characteristics of the entrepreneur (Azar et al. 2012; M. Mohammadi et al. 2011), knowledge management (Seyed Javadin et al. 2011) and national policies and rules (Azar et al. 2012). Researchers have also looked at SMEs' growth and development from environmental, organizational and integrative perspectives. In the environmental perspective, studies examined the impact of obstacles and constraints (Alimirzaei et al. 2011) and education (Moghimi and Ahmadpour Dariani 2008) on SMEs' development. In the organizational perspective, researchers highlighted the significant relationship between organizational factors (Khanifar and Vakili 2008; Vafaei and Shafei 2010), science and technology parks (Talebi et al. 2011), competitive and growth strategies (Kermanshah and Samei 2010; Talebi et al. 2012) and SMEs' growth. Through an integrative perspective, Sharifzadeh et al. (2009b) suggested a combination of personal characteristics (e.g., personal capabilities and competencies and economic motivation), business dimensions (e.g., production resource management and marketing management), a supportive environment (e.g., family and institutions), business learning and business infrastructures as the influential factors on the development of agricultural SMEs. This SLR also revealed emerging research themes on exploring the factors that affect internationalization of SMEs in Iran (Faghihi et al. 2010; Rezvani et al. 2009; Talebi et al. 2010). Researchers have also provided empirical evidence for the significant impact of SEMs on changes in the employment (Feizpour et al. 2011).

# 3.3 Entrepreneur and the Entrepreneurship Process

Studies on entrepreneurs have focused on six sub-themes including role of gender, entrepreneurial characteristics, success and failure factors, decision making and entrepreneurial behavior (Table 5). Overall, research on this stream provides a

Category	Themes	Sub-themes	Papers
Entrepreneur	Personal variables	Success and failure	Abolghasemi et al. (2009); Razghandi and Dorani (2009); Arasti and Gholami (2010); Mohammadi Elyasi and Notash (2011)
		Achievements, deci- sion making and entrepreneurial behavior	Keshavarzfard and Arabiun (2012); Mobaraki et al. (2012); Khodayaryfard et al. (2012); Neghabi et al. (2012)
		Internal locus of con- trol, need for achieve- ment, values and intuition cognition	Ahmadpour Daryani et al. (2009a); Rezaei Toroghi et al. (2010)
		Motivation	Ahmadpour Daryani et al. (2009b); Arasti and Valinejad (2011)
	Demographic variables	Women's perceived obstacles, cultural and social stereotypes, women's family financial problems	Arasti (2006); Golrod (2009); Sharifi and Adeli (2010)
		Women's particular needs and success	Shaemi et al. (2011)
		Women's networking communication	Arasti and Akbari Jokar (2006)
		Women's employ- ment rate	
		Immigration	
Entrepreneurship process	Entrepreneurial opportunity	Personal and social variables	Saremi and Alizade Sani (2009); Gholipour et al. (2009b); Kordnaeej et al. (2010); Jafarnjd et al. (2011); Kourani and Ahmadpour Dariani (2011); Meigounpoory et al. (2011); Mohammadi Elyasi et al. (2011); Azizi et al. (2012)
	Environmental variables		Imanipour and Kanani (2009); Amini Nejad et al. (2010); Jafarnjd et al. (2011); Khanifar et al. (2011)

 Table 5
 Themes and sub-themes of the articles on entrepreneur and entrepreneurship process

fragmented picture of the impact of gender on entrepreneurship and there are still many critical unaddressed questions on the relationship between the two variables. Studies on this vein started with investigating the impact of women entrepreneurs' networking communication practices on their business start-up (Arasti and Akbari Jokar 2006) and the cultural and social factors that affect their business (Arasti 2006). Then, the findings of Golrod's (2009) study highlighted the critical role that family and specifically financial problems of family, having parents as an entrepreneur and family emotional and financial supports play in driving women to become an entrepreneur. Research also attempted to explore the obstacles that women entrepreneurs perceive in the process of a new venture creation (Sharifi and Adeli 2010). Studies have also systematically classified women entrepreneurs' motivation to become an entrepreneur (Arasti and Valinejad 2011) and their specific needs (Shaemi et al. 2011).

Only few studies looked at entrepreneurs from a psychological perspective and explored the particular characteristics such as intuition cognition (Rezaei Toroghi et al. 2010) and achievement motivation (Ahmadpour Daryani et al. 2009a) that differentiate entrepreneurs from non-entrepreneurs. Researchers have also investigated the reasons behind entrepreneurs' success and failure. They first attempted to distinguish entrepreneurial managers' success or failure in promoting organizational entrepreneurship by examining their entrepreneurial traits such as internal locus of control, tolerance of ambiguity, innovativeness, self-actualization, self-efficacy and self-esteem (Abolghasemi et al. 2009). Then, studies examined the impact of personal and environmental factors on entrepreneurs' success (Razghandi and Dorani 2009) and failure (Arasti and Gholami 2010; Mohammadi Elyasi et al. 2011). Identifying the factors that affect entrepreneurs' decision making (Keshavarzfard and Arabiun 2012; Mobaraki et al. 2012), achievements (Khodayaryfard et al. 2012) and entrepreneurial behavior (Neghabi et al. 2012) has recently emerged in the studies on entrepreneurs.

In addition to the entrepreneur, researchers have also investigated the process of entrepreneurship through different perspectives. First, researchers developed a communication model for the process of entrepreneurship (Farhangi and Safarzadeh 2005). Then, studies focused on the influence of social capital on novice entrepreneurs' financing (Amini Nejad et al. 2010) and their financial needs from the design to development phase (Khanifar et al. 2011). Regarding entrepreneurial financing, one article examined the factors that affect entrepreneurial investors' decision to exit (Imanipour and Kanani 2009).

Furthermore, studies examined the personal, environmental, behavioral and job-related factors affecting the process of entrepreneurship (Jafarnjd et al. 2011).

Of the critical phases in the process of entrepreneurship, entrepreneurial opportunity has mostly attracted the attention of researchers. Research has consistently explored the personal (creativity, self-efficacy, entrepreneurial characteristics and awareness and previous knowledge) and social (links and networks) factors that influence entrepreneurial opportunity recognition among successful entrepreneurs and in different organizations (Azizi et al. 2012; R. Gholipour et al. 2009b; Kordnaeej et al. 2010; Mohammadi Elyasi et al. 2011; Saremi and Alizade Sani 2009). Several articles have also explored entrepreneurial opportunities in transportation systems (Fartook Zadeh and Rajabi Nohouji 2009) and companies (Kordnaeej et al. 2010), airlines (Kourani and Ahmadpour Dariani 2011) and food counseling services (Meigounpoory et al. 2011).

# 3.4 Organizational and Corporate Entrepreneurship

A robust body of literature investigated different aspects of organizational and corporate entrepreneurship (Table 6). We organized these articles around three general sub-themes including staffs' and managers' entrepreneurial characteristics and behavior, factors affecting organizational entrepreneurship creation and development and measuring organizational entrepreneurship. Exploring entrepreneurial

Themes	Sub-themes	Papers
Entrepreneurial characteris- tics, skills and behavior	Managers	Kazemi and Maharati (2007); Kordnaeej et al. (2007); Jahangir and Kalantari (2008); Pardakhtchi et al. (2008); Abolghasemi et al. (2009); Gholipour et al. (2009a); Yadollahi Farsi et al. (2009); Marzban et al. (2010); Mehrabad and Mohtadi (2011); Naeiji and Abbasalizadeh (2011); Divandari and Bagheri (2012)
	Staffs	Zare et al. (2007); Abdolmalki et al. (2008); Hadizadeh Moghadam et al. (2009); Beygi Neya et al. (2010); Hezarjaribi and Ebrahimi (2010); Mohammadi et al. (2011); Nikraftar (2011); Fani et al. (2012)
Organizational entrepre- neurship creation and development	Organizational variables	Imanipour and Zivdar (2008); Alambeygi and Malek Mohammadi (2009); Mahmoudi and Beiryaie (2009); Manian et al. (2009); Yadollahi Farsi et al. (2009); Arabi and Abedi (2010); Danaeefard et al. (2010); Hosseinzadeh Shahri (2010); Ghahremani et al. (2010); Ghanati et al. (2010); Arabi and Mostafavi (2011); Madhoshi and Sadati (2011); Talaei (2011); Ghasemiyeh and Abdollahi (2012); Mobini Dehkordi et al. (2012)
	Environmental variables	Rezaee et al. (2011); Saeidi et al. (2010); Seyyed Naghavi and Abdolahpour (2010)

 Table 6
 Themes and sub-themes of the articles on organizational and corporate entrepreneurship

characteristics and behavior of staff and managers has been consistently a hot topic for research. Researchers have investigated the relationship between psychological empowerment (Zare et al. 2007), entrepreneurial skills (Abdolmalki et al. 2008), emotional intelligence (Hadizadeh Moghadam et al. 2009) and entrepreneurial characteristics (Beygi Neya et al. 2010; Fani et al. 2012; H. R. Mohammadi et al. 2011; Nikraftar 2011) with staffs' entrepreneurial tendency, intentions and job satisfaction in different organizations.

Managers have also been a subject of organizational entrepreneurship research. Studies examined managers' entrepreneurial behavior (Kazemi and Maharati 2007), characteristics (Abolghasemi et al. 2009; Jahangir and Kalantari 2008; Naeiji and Abbasalizadeh 2011), motivation (Gholipour et al. 2009a) and innovation (Divandari and Bagheri 2012). Research has also examined the effectiveness of management in preparing an appropriate environment for organizational entrepreneurship development (Pardakhtchi et al. 2008). Furthermore, studies contributed to the significant impact of entrepreneurial climate in the organization (Marzban et al. 2010) and organizational structure (Yadolahi Farsi et al. 2009) on managers' entrepreneurial behavior. Researchers have also highlighted organizational culture, control style, short and long term profits, organizational award system and leadership style as the obstacles to organizational entrepreneurship behavior (Kordnaeej et al. 2007; Mehrabad and Mohtadi 2011).

More specifically, Rezaee et al. (2011) classified the obstacles to corporate entrepreneurship in business counseling corporates into four main groups which are: structural, environmental, personal (psychological) and educational. Several articles explored the environmental variables such as social capital and innovation (Saeidi et al. 2010; Seyyed Naghavi and Abdolahpour 2010) and ICT (Alambeygi and Malek Mohammadi 2009; Vafaei and Moghimi 2010) as to be influential on organizational entrepreneurship creation and development. Two papers have also contributed to conceptual models for organizational entrepreneurship (Jahangiri and Mobaraki 2009; Rezvani et al. 2008). Of the organizational structure factors affecting organizational entrepreneurship, studies highlighted the degree of formalization, complexity and centralization (Hosseinzadeh Shahri 2010; Yadolahi Farsi et al. 2009) and information systems (Mahmoudi and Beiryaie 2009). Studies have also examined organizational culture (Ghahremani et al. 2010; Ghanati et al. 2010; Mobini Dehkordi et al. 2012), an encouraging and supportive organizational environment (Danaeefard et al. 2010) and knowledge management process (Madhoshi and Sadati 2011) as the significant factors influencing organizational entrepreneurship. In addition, organizational entrepreneurship and entrepreneurial activities have been studied as an independent variable influencing performance of different organizations and corporates (Arabi and Abedi 2010; Arabi and Mostafavi 2011; Ghasemiyeh and Abdollahi 2012; Imanipour and Zivdar 2008; Manian et al. 2009). We found only one paper on measuring organizational entrepreneurship using internal corporate indicators (Talaei 2011).

Category	Themes	Sub-themes	Papers
Social entrepreneurship	Personal and envi- ronmental variables		Moghimi et al. (2008); Ansari et al. (2010); Omrani et al. (2010)
	Organizational variables	Model and performance	Asadi et al. (2011); Arasti et al. (2012a, b); Yadegar et al. (2011)
Family	Capital structure		Seyed Amiri et al. (2009)
businesses	Personal variables		Khanifar et al. (2010)

Table 7 Themes and sub-themes of the articles on social entrepreneurship and family businesses

#### 3.5 Social Entrepreneurship and Family Businesses

Only few articles concentrated on social entrepreneurship and family businesses (Table 7). Despite the extensive studies on social entrepreneurship in other countries (Lehner and Kansikas 2013), research on social entrepreneurship started in 2007 and examined the impact of social entrepreneurship components (entrepreneurial culture, entrepreneurial plans and activities and entrepreneurial success factors) on the performance of private organizations (Moghimi et al. 2008). Then, Sedgheyani et al. studied the behavioral characteristics (creativity, innovativeness, entrepreneurial beliefs, searching for social capital and entrepreneurial opportunity recognition and exploitation) of social entrepreneurs. Omrani et al. (2010) found individuals, mission, contextual factors, capital and entrepreneurial opportunities as the significant factors affecting social entrepreneurship as perceived by social entrepreneurs. Ansari et al. (2010) identified social capital and social responsibility as the particular characteristics of social entrepreneurs. In 2011, Asadi et al. developed a model for social entrepreneurship in non-profit organizations (a street children organization) and Yadegar et al. (2011) investigated how social entrepreneurs start social entrepreneurship initiations. Finally, Arasti et al. (2012a) specified the institutional factors affecting the emergence of social entrepreneurship activities.

Of the articles in this stream, only two studies contributed to family and home entrepreneurship. Research on the topics started in 2009 and examined the structure of family business capital in 88 textile and oil family corporations (Seyed Amiri et al. 2009). The second article presented the significant relationship between demographic variables (gender and marital status) and motivation (entrepreneurial motivation, joblessness, financial problems and beliefs) and individuals' decision to establish a home business (Khanifar et al. 2010).

# 3.6 Entrepreneurship Development at National and International Levels

As Table 8 indicates, of the few studies on national entrepreneurship development, one examined the obstacles and constraints of entrepreneurship development in sports (Yadolahi Farsi et al. 2011) and one attempted to develop a strategic plan

	Sub-	
Themes	themes	Papers
Rural development	Influential factors	Rezvani and Najarzadeh (2008); Ghambarali and Zarafshani (2008); Alimirzaei et al. (2011); Heydari Sareban (2012)
Facilitators, obstacles and constraints		Kordenaeej et al. (2007); Alambeygi et al. (2011); Aghajani and Talebnejad (2011)
Policy making and strategic plan		Yadollahi Farsi et al. (2011); Arasti et al. (2012a)
Globalization and international trading		Tayebi and Fakhri (2010)

 Table 8
 Themes and sub-themes of the articles on entrepreneurship development at rural, national and international levels

for religious entrepreneurship (Arasti et al. 2012a). Alambeygi et al. (2011) looked at the role played by entrepreneurship research and development in the success of IT transmission in agriculture. Researchers have also examined different aspects of rural entrepreneurship development. While Rezvani and Najarzadeh (2008) studied entrepreneurial awareness and skills of rural people, Ghambarali and Zarafshani (2008) explored the indicators for rural entrepreneurs' success. Research has also specified the obstacles and constraints that rural entrepreneurs face in developing their business ventures (Alimirzaei et al. 2011). Furthermore, study focused on identifying the factors that influence agricultural entrepreneurship development in rural areas (Heydari Sareban 2012). Kordnaeej et al. (2007) and Aghajani and Talebnejad (2011) emphasized the role of entrepreneurship centers in entrepreneurship development. At the international level, only one article looked at the impact of globalization and international trading on entrepreneurship development among different countries (Talebi et al. 2010).

#### 4 Discussion

This chapter was an attempt to provide a precise map of the research on entrepreneurship in Iran in a 12-year period (2000–2012). Furthermore, it synthesized the entrepreneurship research findings to identify the areas of interest and future trends for research through a systematically review of 208 articles published in the top academic journals. The findings indicate that entrepreneurship research in Iran started almost a decade later than other countries such as the U. S, Europe and China and the literature is recent and unsubstantial (Jing et al. 2014). Most of the studies were conducted at provincial levels and specifically in Tehran and few of the papers were based on a national research. This research scarcity may face policy makers, researchers and educators with serious challenges in providing the appropriate environment for entrepreneurship development. We also found out that very few studies presented the findings of an international research and no research was conducted in collaboration with international researchers representing the data across countries. Furthermore, despite the critical importance of journals specifically devoted to publishing entrepreneurship research findings, only one journal (*Journal of Entrepreneurship Development*) has recently published in entrepreneurship. Though, from its first publication, this journal played a critical role in improving the number and quality of the entrepreneurship articles.

In general, paper publication on entrepreneurship varies in different periods where the number of published articles constantly increased from 2000 to 2007, drastically improved from 2008 to 2011 and then declined in 2012. These papers focused on six subject areas including humanities, social and behavioral sciences, agricultural science, technical science and medicine. The majority of these studies used a survey research design and was conducted through a quantitative research method. We found no research using an experimental or quasi-experimental research method. Regarding research instrument, the researchers mostly employed a questionnaire and a mix of a questionnaire and an interview protocol.

The thematic analysis also implied six key themes of the articles which are: entrepreneurship education and training, SMEs, entrepreneurs and entrepreneurship process, organizational and corporate entrepreneurship, social entrepreneurship and family businesses and entrepreneurship development at national and international levels. Articles on entrepreneurship published in a scientific journal started with examining entrepreneurship education. This indicates the critical importance of entrepreneurship education for the researchers, educators and policy makers in Iran. This trend protects high interests of researchers in entrepreneurship education at international level (Pittaway and Cope 2007). As illustrated in the research findings in the MENA countries (Lope Pihie and Bagheri 2013), research in this stream has constantly explored entrepreneurial characteristics, attitudes and motivation of university students and graduates. Though, these papers explored different characteristics and reported only few common entrepreneurial characteristics (e.g., self-efficacy and tolerance of uncertainty) in students.

Between 2010 and 2011, less research was conducted on entrepreneurial traits of university students and studies examined their intentions to new venture creation. In 2012, exploring such characteristics among students again emerged as a buzz research topic. This is in contrast to the huge number of studies that examined entrepreneurship education and training in other countries (Sirelkhatim and Gangi 2015). Few studies have also examined the effective organizational structure for entrepreneurship education both at higher education institutions and schools. From 2009, the focus of the research shifted from exploring students' entrepreneurial characteristics to the factors (e.g., gender) that affect these characteristics and their propensity to become an entrepreneur. The significant impact of different components of entrepreneurship education programs such as curricular and extra-curricular activities, university management and leadership, creative teaching methods, entrepreneurial skills of entrepreneurship lecturers, textbooks and needs for education on

developing students' entrepreneurial capabilities has also been emphasized. Researchers have also questioned the effectiveness of university entrepreneurship e-learning programs. Although these studies have extensively examined the organizational factors affecting entrepreneurship education, they do not provide a comprehensive picture of the future directions of such education in Iran as other MENA countries (Mastura and Abdul Rashid 2008).

Another emergent research topic was the process and factors affecting (e.g., university administration, organizational model, entrepreneurial university characteristics and students' perceived obstacles) entrepreneurship in universities. Researchers have also recognized the importance of and factors influencing commercialization of university research findings. Despite the robust body of literature on entrepreneurship education, this analysis included only few articles on entrepreneurship training. This steam of research started in 2005 and found a significant relationship between entrepreneurship training and entrepreneurial tendency among women, entrepreneurial behavior and skills of staff and group self-efficacy of disabled women.

The second major theme emerged from the SLR was SMEs. This theme included four key sub-themes which are: SMEs' environment, performance, success, growth and development as well as internationalization of SMEs and the impact of SMEs on employment changes. First, research on the appropriate environment for SMEs explored the supportive and economic factors that facilitate and/or obstruct SMEs' creation and development as well as the role played by science and technology parks in their growth. Second, studies highlighted strategies on organizational resource planning and competitiveness, personal traits and skills of the entrepreneurs, thinking capital and social networks, information technology and e-trading, marketing and distribution system, innovation capacity, nature and type of outsourcing and ethics as to be influential on SMEs' performance. While research in other countries specified social capital, entrepreneurial orientation and organizational resources as the influential factors affecting entrepreneurial performance of new ventures (Chen 2007). Research has also developed the indicators for measuring the level of entrepreneurship in SMEs. Third, studies have identified banks' financial supports, personal characteristics of the entrepreneur, knowledge management and national policies and rules as to be influential on SMEs' success in Iran. Fourth, SMEs' growth and development were investigated through environmental, organizational and integrative perspectives. In the environmental perspective, studies examined the impact of obstacles and constraints and education on SMEs' development. In the organizational perspective, studies highlighted the significant relationship between organizational factors, science and technology parks, competitive and growth strategies and SMEs' growth. Finally, in the integrative perspective researchers suggested a combination of personal characteristics, business dimensions, a supportive environment, business learning and business infrastructures as the influential factors on SMEs' development. Emergent research topics on SMEs investigated the factors that affect SMEs' internationalization and the significant impact of SEMs on the employment changes.

The third key theme which emerged from our study was the entrepreneur and the entrepreneurship process. Overall, studies provide a fragmented and underdeveloped picture of the entrepreneur, the process of entrepreneurship and the interplay between the two key factors in venture creation. Studying the role of the entrepreneur, researchers mostly investigated the environmental factors that drive women to become an entrepreneur and successfully run a new venture (e.g., networking communication practices, culture and society and family). In contrast to the intersection between gender and entrepreneurship in other countries which explored the socially constructed stereotypes (Gupta et al. 2008), only few studies looked at women entrepreneurship through a psychological perspective exploring their perceived obstacles in the process of entrepreneurship, entrepreneurial motivation and particular needs. We could find no research that compares entrepreneurial characteristics, motivation and behavior of females and males. This implies the lack of research on different aspects of gender and entrepreneurship and insignificant contribution to theory development on the intersections between gender and entrepreneurship (Harrison et al. 2015). In addition to the role of gender, research on entrepreneurs explored the psychological characteristics that differentiate entrepreneurs from non-entrepreneurs and the influence of entrepreneurial managers' success on improving organizational entrepreneurship. This emphasizes that exploring entrepreneurial characteristics of staff and managers has been constantly a hot topic for research in Iran as in other countries (Tan 2001). Studies have also identified the personal and environmental factors that influence entrepreneurs' success, failure, decision making, achievements and entrepreneurial behavior. In contrast to research in other countries (Chen et al. 1998), we found no study that compared entrepreneurial characteristics, motivation and behavior among entrepreneurs and non-entrepreneurs. Research on the process of entrepreneurship in Iran was conducted in three main directions. First, a communication model for the process of entrepreneurship was developed. Second, the social capital and financial needs required by entrepreneurs as well as the factors that affect entrepreneurial investors' decision to exit were specified. In general and unlike the broad focus of research on entrepreneurial finance in other developing countries (Eddleston et al. 2014), there is a high scarcity of research on this area in Iran. Third, the personal, environmental, behavioral and job-related factors influencing the process of entrepreneurship were identified. Furthermore, research has consistently explored the personal and social (links and networks) factors that influence entrepreneurial opportunity recognition among successful entrepreneurs and in different organizations and companies. Despite the importance of research on other aspects of entrepreneurial opportunity such as opportunity creation and exploitation (George et al. 2016), we could find no research on these topics among the papers that we studied. More specifically, our understanding on the appropriate socioeconomic environment and rules and regulations that encourage and support entrepreneurial opportunity creation, evaluation and exploitation is insufficient.

The fourth key theme emerging from this study was organizational and corporate entrepreneurship. Our findings revealed three general sub-themes related to this theme. First, researchers investigated the impact of entrepreneurial characteristics and behavior of both staff and managers on their performance and job satisfaction in different organizations. For staff, the impact of entrepreneurial characteristics, entrepreneurial skills, psychological empowerment and emotional intelligence were suggested as the significant factors influencing their entrepreneurial tendency and intention as well as their job satisfaction. While for managers, studies focused on examining their entrepreneurial behavior, characteristics and motivation and the impact of entrepreneurial climate in the organization and organizational structure on their entrepreneurial behavior. The studies also investigated managers' effectiveness in providing an appropriate environment for the development of organizational entrepreneurship. Therefore, there is a wide gap in our knowledge on the effect of managers' entrepreneurial characteristics and behavior on improving their job performance and satisfaction.

There is also no information on the impact of managers' entrepreneurial characteristics and behavior on their staff entrepreneurial behavior, performance and job satisfaction. Second, studies identified the personal, organizational, environmental and educational obstacles that hinder entrepreneurial behavior in different organizations and corporates. Researchers have also explored the environmental and organizational structure variables that affect organizational entrepreneurship creation and development. Based on these studies, two conceptual models for organizational entrepreneurship were developed. Finally, the effects of organizational entrepreneurship and entrepreneurial activities as independent variables on the performance of organizations and corporates have been investigated. Internal corporate indicators have also been used to measure the degree of corporate entrepreneurship. Yet, the mediating and moderating factors that affect different aspects of organizational and corporate entrepreneurship have not been examined.

In contrast to researchers' great interests in social entrepreneurship (e.g., Lehner and Kansikas 2013) and family businesses (Goel and Jones 2016) all over the world, only few researchers have recently contributed to this theme. The majority of these researchers focused on exploring the personal and social characteristics of social entrepreneurs and their perceptions toward the factors that affect social entrepreneurship. The process of how social entrepreneurs start social entrepreneurship initiatives has also been investigated. In addition, social entrepreneurship has been examined as an independent variable where its significant impact has been suggested on performance of private organizations. It has also been considered as a dependent variable where the institutional factors that affect the emergence of social entrepreneurship were highlighted. Of the articles under this theme, only two were dedicated to family business. One article examined the structure of capital in family businesses and the other found a significant relationship between demographic variables (gender and marital status) and motivation with individuals' decision to establish a home business. These findings imply a huge gap in our contextualized knowledge on family businesses in Iran that encounters researchers and practitioners with serious challenges in conducting research and facing the difficulties of running a family business in Iran.

Finally, studies on entrepreneurship development at national and international levels have been conducted in four main directions. First, researchers explored the

obstacles and constraints of entrepreneurship development both in sports and rural areas. Second, several studies examined the facilitators and impediments of rural entrepreneurship success and development. Third, researchers attempted to develop a strategic plan particularly for religious entrepreneurship and examined the role that entrepreneurship centers play in developing entrepreneurship at the national level. Contrary to the extensive literature on international entrepreneurship in other countries (Jones et al. 2011), only one article investigated the impact of globalization and international trading on entrepreneurship development across different countries. Therefore, there is a wide gap in our knowledge on entrepreneurship development both at national and international levels.

# 5 Conclusion

Based on the SLR and in accordance with previous research (Jing et al. 2014), we can conclude that entrepreneurship research in Iran is highly fragmented and underdeveloped, mostly exploratory and descriptive and greatly drawn on the theories and research methodologies developed in western countries. The literature, therefore, has little contribution to the global body of knowledge on entrepreneurship (Meyer 2006). Furthermore, all through the development process and in contrast to other countries (e.g., the U.S, Europe and China) "internal forces" were the main drivers of entrepreneurship research. Therefore, huge investments are needed in the development of entrepreneurship research in Iran. Establishing specific centers for entrepreneurship research can greatly help to develop strategic plans for entrepreneurship research at national level. These centers can also conduct international entrepreneurship research projects where researchers from other countries collaborate in conducting research and present a more holistic picture of entrepreneurship across countries. Particularly, collaboration in research works with Asian countries can highly contribute to the development of entrepreneurship in MENA region (Jing et al. 2014). These centers can also publish journals that particularly dedicated to the findings of entrepreneurship studies and improve the number and quality of entrepreneurship contributions. Holding national and international conferences on entrepreneurship can also provide researchers with the opportunities to share their theoretical and methodological development. All of the articles in this study were empirical and no paper was devoted to theory building. The scarcity of research on theory building and the importance of stabilizing entrepreneurship field by theory building studies have been emphasized by researchers in other countries (George et al. 2016; Jing et al. 2014). Validating the theories developed in western countries and exploring the political, cultural, social and economic particularities and differences of other nations including Iran can highly help the development of indigenous theories on entrepreneurship (Hindle and Moroz 2010; Jing et al. 2014). Furthermore, high concentration of researchers on doing studies in Tehran highlights the importance of undertaking entrepreneurship related studies in other provinces and specifically at national level in order to provide a comprehensive map of entrepreneurship in Iran. Due to the critical role played by the *Journal of Entrepreneurship Development* as the only scientific journal dedicated to entrepreneurship, more such journals should be established in order to publish high quality articles on entrepreneurship.

#### 6 Limitations and Future Research Agendas

As with other SLRs, this study has several limitations. First, it includes the articles published in the Academic-Research journals excluding books, book chapters, conference proceedings and research reports. Although the journals represent validated knowledge that has great effects on the research field, future research should include other sources of entrepreneurship research. Using the research streams and themes emerging from this study, future meta-analysis can also provide a holistic understanding of entrepreneurship research in Iran. Second, this study does not analyze the citations of the papers and calls for further investigations. Finally, we only concentrated on the papers published in Persian language. Future research can include the papers on entrepreneurship in Iran in other languages.

This study suggested important agendas for future research on entrepreneurship in Iran. First, exploring the reasons behind the critical increment of articles from 2008 to 2011 and decrement of the papers in 2012 has a great potential for future research. In respect to research methodology, future studies should concentrate on longitudinal and experimental research designs in order to provide more precise insights into different aspects of entrepreneurship. Although entrepreneurship research in Iran started with studies on entrepreneurship education, there are still many unanswered questions related to the most effective teaching methods and the impact of these methods on developing students' entrepreneurial mindset as well as entrepreneurial competencies. In general, these studies have been conducted in isolation from other research areas such as higher education governance and policy making, entrepreneurial learning and business environment. Furthermore, the national policies and programs for entrepreneurship education, the role of government and other related organizations and institutions in promoting such education, effectiveness of the budgeting and funding systems and assessment methods for achieved objectives and outcomes can also be subjected to future research. Scarcity of research in these aspects of entrepreneurship education has been emphasized by previous researchers. Further research is also required to examine if entrepreneurship graduates launch a real new venture and whether they are more successful in leading their ventures than other graduates. Further research is also recommended to investigate if entrepreneurship graduates have a higher chance for employment and whether there is a higher demand in the job market for graduates with entrepreneurship education and if these graduates are more innovatively perform their job tasks than other graduate students. Another area of research is the general business and enterprise environment and the role that environment can play in encouraging and supporting graduates to establish new ventures, specifically in knowledge-based and high technology businesses. It is also recommended that future researches develop indigenous models for the relationships between entrepreneurship education, government, industries and entrepreneurial businesses as well as how to commercialize university research findings and translate the knowledge created in universities into entrepreneurial ventures. Future studies can also pay more attention to the development of the curricular and extra-curricular activities that can better improve students' entrepreneurial learning, attitudes and competencies (Pittaway et al. 2010).

Research on how to provide the opportunities to experience the real entrepreneurial business environment can highly help educators in developing entrepreneurial competencies in students. Another research area that should be given more attention is to explore if current university lecturers and professors have the required qualifications to teach entrepreneurship, if they are provided with the requisite infrastructures to teach entrepreneurship and whether their education backgrounds, entrepreneurship experiences and teaching skills affect students' entrepreneurial learning and entrepreneurial competencies development. Comparative studies on existing entrepreneurship teaching methods at different education levels and across universities and their effects on students' entrepreneurial motivation, mindset and competencies will also provide educators with valuable information on entrepreneurship education promotion.

In addition, this study revealed a wide gap in the literature on entrepreneurship training and its influence on fostering various aspects of organizational performance and growth. Further studies should include both males and females and examine the effect of entrepreneurship training on developing entrepreneurial competencies in both staffs and managers. An emergent topic of research was the impact of entrepreneurship training on disabled women. Future research should examine if the current training for disabled people and specifically disabled women is effective in developing entrepreneurial capabilities in them, whether they are successful in leading their new ventures and if not what the reasons behind their failure are. Developing the entrepreneurship training programs and activities for disabled people has also a great potential for further investigations. These studies will help to promote entrepreneurship among people with disabilities.

Despite the robust body of research on SMEs in Iran, our knowledge on the appropriate business environment for SMEs' growth and development is limited. First, we found no article on the national economic policies and rules that facilitate SMEs' creation, growth and development. Second, no research investigated the infrastructures required by SMEs to improve their international performance and success. Third, there was no comparative study exploring the entrepreneurial characteristics, motivation and behavior between males and females and how gender differences affect a new venture performance and success. Fourth, there was no contribution to the differences of entrepreneurial competencies among nascent, novice and serial entrepreneurs in different phases of a new venture creation and growth. No research has also examined the interactive effects of the entrepreneur and the entrepreneur and entrepreneurship process. While research has constantly explored entrepreneurial opportunity recognition, we found no research on entrepreneurial opportunity creation, evaluation and exploitation.
This confirms the lack of a holistic approach to and scarcity of empirical evidence on different phases of entrepreneurial opportunity (George et al. 2016).

This SLR has also opened several new directions for future research on organizational and corporate entrepreneurship. First, a key direction for future research is to examine the influence of managers' entrepreneurial characteristics and behavior on improving their job performance and satisfaction. The impact of managers' entrepreneurial characteristics and behavior on their staff entrepreneurial behavior, performance and job satisfaction also need further investigations. Second, huge research efforts are needed in examining the association between organizational leaders' entrepreneurial leadership behavior and their success in facing current organizations' challenges. Research can also be undertaken to explore the impact of entrepreneurial leadership on staff entrepreneurial behavior and performance as well as success of organizations. The third critical direction of future research is to suggest the effective organizational structure and environment that foster entrepreneurial behavior in both managers and staff. Furthermore, developing the indicators for measuring organizational entrepreneurship and exploring the mediating and moderating factors that affect organizational entrepreneurship have great potentials for further research.

Future research should also address many questions in relation to social entrepreneurship and family business. Some of these questions are: which personal, environmental and organizational factors motivate and enable individuals to become a social entrepreneur? Are there gender differences in individuals' intention toward social entrepreneurship? What are the facilitators and impediments to social entrepreneurship in Iran? and how networking affects social entrepreneurship development? Due to the scarcity of articles on family business, future studies are needed in different aspects of the topic. First, the factors that motivate and enable individuals to establish a family business should be identified in order to improve the number of family businesses. Second, gender differences in family business management should be explored. Third, the most effective family business governance and financing structure and factors leading to a family business failure should be recognized in order to enhance the probability of family business success. Furthermore, comparative studies should investigate the differences in the crisis readiness and management in family and non-family businesses. Finally, future studies should investigate the effects of business policies on family business development.

In general, entrepreneurship literature in Iran requires huge efforts in doing empirical studies on entrepreneurship development and research at national and international levels. At national level, researchers should concentrate on exploring the factors that foster entrepreneurship development in different provinces and across the country. In addition, further studies should be done on the appropriate policies and infrastructures for the development of entrepreneurship all over the country. At international level, there is an urgent need for further research into internationalization of new ventures in order to open new trading windows to the growth of entrepreneurial ventures in Iran. To do so, researchers should explore the factors that improve new ventures' competitiveness in the global business environment. They can also examine the motives that drive entrepreneurs to enter the global markets.

### References

- Abbasi E, Kalansangyani M, Balu M (2002) Evaluating entrepreneurial characteristics of female students of Science-Application Centers in Golestan Province. Women Social Psychol Stud 10 (3):163–179
- Abdolmalki J, Yousefi M, Pir Mohammadi M, Sabokro M, Mohammadi N (2008) Relationship between entrepreneurial skills and competencies with organizational entrepreneurship among middle managers at IRAN KHODRO company. J Entrep Dev 1(2):103–129
- Abolghasemi A, Abbasi M, Narimani M, Ghamari H (2009) Personal charecteristics as a pridictor for success and failure of managers. Psychol Outcome J 4(2):129–152
- Aghajani H, Talebnejad A (2011) Comparative performance evaluation of selected technology incubators in Iran. J Entrep Dev 4(13):149–166
- Ahmadi F, Shafeai R, Mafakhernia F, Faraji B (2012) Individual and environmental factors influencing student's entrepreneurial behavior in Kurdistan University. J Entrep Dev 4 (15):145–164
- Ahmadpour Daryani M, Salehi M, Khosravi Z (2009a) A comparative study of entrepreneurs' and non-entrepreneurs' need for achievement in Tehran industry. J Entrep Dev 2(6):57–72
- Ahmadpour Daryani M, Davari A, Ramezanpoor Nargesi G (2009b) Encouraging business environment: a prerequisite of entrepreneurship development in Iran. Motale-ate Modiriate Behbood va Tahavol 61:65–89
- Akbari M, Shakiba H, Zehtabi M (2012) Relationship between religious beliefs and entrepreneurship intention: the case of faculty of entrepreneurship and college of agricultural and natural resources' students. J Entrep Dev 5(18):87–105
- Alambeygi A, Malek Mohammadi I (2009) The role of information and communication technology (ICT) in entrepreneurship development (Case Studies: Iranian Agricultural Extension Organization). J Entrep Dev 2(5):139–162
- Alambeygi A, Malak Mohammadi I, Zareie B, Asadi A (2011) Entrepreneurial research and development based on knowledge translation and the success of agricultural technology transfer. J Entrep Dev 4(11):107–126
- Aldrich HE (2012) The emergence of entrepreneurship as an academic field: a personal essay on institutional entrepreneurship. Res Policy 41:1240–1248
- Alem Tabriz A, Motahari Farimani N, Yazdani HR (2010) Evaluation of implementation strategy ERP plan for small and medium enterprises. J Strat Manag Stud 1(3):15–31
- Alimirzaei E, Asadi A, Tahmasbi M (2011) Development barriers of rural entrepreneurial SMEs in Khzestan province (Case study of date complementary industries). J Entrep Dev 4(12):165–184
- Alipour A, Shaghagh F, Barghi Irani Z (2012) A differential distribution of entrepreneurial traits in left- and right-handed students. School Pschol Quart 1(3):63–81
- Alvani SM, Rahmati MH (2008) Business opportunities in the industry of decorative plants and flowers in Qom province. J Entrep Dev 1(1):11–50
- Amini Nejad R, Gholipur A, Eslami Bidgoli GR (2010) Social capital of novice entrepreneurs and informal finance. J Entrep Dev 3(10):49–70
- Amini M, Tamanaei MR, Gholami Alavi S (2012) Evaluation of entrepreneurship capabilities of girl student. Women Soc 3(4):115–138
- Amiri M, Zali MR, Majd M (2009) Limitations of emergent businesses. J Entrep Dev 2(3):81-102
- Ansari M, Ahmadpour Dariani M, Behrozazar N (2010) Individual characteristics affecting the development of social entrepreneurship in charities in the province of Tehran. J Entrep Dev 3 (8):37–64
- Arabi SM, Abedi R (2010) Relationship between coordination of business strategy, financial strategy and organization performance. J Indus Manag Stud 8(19):239–277
- Arabi SM, Mostafavi A (2011) A comprehensive model for strategies to market production and business and their impact on organization performance. Improvement Change Manag Stud 64:89–116

- Arabiun A, Abdollahzadeh G, Sharifzadeh A (2009) Factors affecting students' entrepreneurial orientation. Quart J New Econ Comm 17(18):138–157
- Arabiun A, Abdollahzadeh G, Sharifzadeh A, Mohseni A (2010) Identifying and prioritizing the components of business entrepreneurship. J Entrep Dev 3(8):65–97
- Arasti Z (2006) Iranian women entrepreneurs: sociocultural structure affecting entrepreneurial business creation. Women Dev Polit 4(1-2):93–119
- Arasti Z, Akbari Jokar MR (2006) Impact of networking on Iranian women entrepreneurs to set up businesses. Women Stud 4(3):5–22
- Arasti Z, Gholami M (2010) Causes of failures entrepreneurs in Iran. J Entrep Dev 3(8):163-184
- Arasti Z, Valinejad M (2011) Typology of Iranian women entrepreneurs' motivation. Women Dev Polit 5(3):99–125
- Arasti Z, Ghafourian FS, Kaviani M (2012a) Strategic management in religious entrepreneurship (Case Study: Pedaran Asemani Organization). J Entrep Dev 5(18):129–147
- Arasti Z, Maleki Karam Abad MM, Motavaseli M (2012b) Identifying the institutional factors affecting the emergence of social entrepreneurial activities. J Entrep Dev 5(16):185–203
- Asadi M, Razavi SM, Farasat Khah M (2011) Social entrepreneurship model for organizing street children. J Entrep Dev 4(12):65–84
- Azar A, Sadeghi A, Kordnaeij A (2012) Prioritizing the factors affecting high-tech SME's success: a Fuzzy Analytic Network Process (ANP) approach. J Entrep Dev 5(16):165–184
- Azizi S, Motameni A, Abdollahpour AR (2012) A model for individual and social factors affecting entrepreneurial opportunity recognition. J Entrep Dev 5(16):7–26
- Baghersad V, Alizadeh M, Saeidbanadaki S (2012) Identifying the key success factors of e-learning entrepreneurship in Tehran public universities. J Entrep Dev 5(17):85–104
- Barani S, Athari Z, Zarafshani K (2009) Determinants of entrepreneurial intention among technical and vocational agricultural students (Case Study: Kermanshah Province). J Entrep Dev 2 (6):73–96
- Beygi Neya AR, Safari S, Mohammadi M (2010) Impact of need type on staff propensity to organizational entrepreneurship. Manag Hum Resour Oil Indus 4:7–36
- Bromandnasab M, Shekarshekan H (2007) Simple and multiple correlation between self-efficacy, locus of control and tolerance of ambiguity and entrepreneurship. Psychol Outcome J 4 (1):27–50
- Bruton GD, Ahlstrom D, Obloj K (2008) Entrepreneurship in emerging economies: where are we today and where should the research go in the future. Entrep Theory Pract 32(1):1–14
- Cardon MS, Kirk CP (2013) Entrepreneurial passion as mediator of the self-efficacy to persistence relationship. Entrep Theory Pract 28:1–24
- Chen CN (2007) The relationship among social capital, entrepreneurial orientation, organizational resources and entrepreneurial performance for new ventures. Contemp Manag Res 3 (3):213–232
- Chen C, Greene P, Crick A (1998) Does entrepreneurial self-efficacy distinguish entrepreneurs from managers? J Bus Ventur 13:295–316
- Cheng MY, Chan WS, Mahmood A (2009) The effectiveness of entrepreneurship education in Malaysia. Educ Train 51:555–566
- Cook D, Sackett D, Spitzer W (1995) Methodological guidelines for systematic reviews of randomized control trials in health from the potsdam consultation on meta-analysis. J Clin Epidemiol 48:167–171
- Cook D, Mulrow C, Haynes R (1997) Systematic reviews: synthesis of best evidence for clinical decisions. Ann Intern Med 126:376–380
- Danaeefard H, Azar A, Didevar F (2010) A model for institutionalizing entrepreneurship in agriculture. J Entrep Dev 3(10):7–27
- Denyer D, Neely A (2004) Introduction to special issue: innovation and productivity performance in the UK. Int J Manag Rev 5–6(3–4):131–135
- Divandari A, Bagheri T (2012) Benchmarking of innovation in the Iranian banking industry and comparing it with the MENA Region. J Entrep Dev 5(17):145–164

- Doroudian AA, Mozaffari AA, Tondnevis F, Kazemnejad A (2012) The relationship between personal traits and skills with venture performance of sports entrepreneurs. J Entrep Dev 5 (16):107–124
- Eddleston KA, Ladge JJ, Mitteness C, Balachandra L (2014) Do you see what I see? Signaling effects of gender and firm characteristics on financing entrepreneurial ventures. Entrep Theory Pract 40(3):489–514
- Eskandari F, Hossaini SM, Kalantari K (2006) Factors affecting entrepreneurial performance of agriculture and natural resources' graduates of higher education. Agric Econ Dev 14 (53):107–134
- Faghihi A, Tajedin M, Tajedin M (2010) The internationalization of small and medium sized businesses in the food industry: a causal model. Iranian Manag Sci 5(17):1–24
- Fakour B, Ansari MT (2009) Barriers to and motives for innovation in the selected Iranian small enterprises. J Entrep Dev 2(4):39–65
- Fani AA, Babashahi J, Afkhami Ardakani M, Ebrahimi M (2012) Promoting entrepreneurship: analysis of the GLOBE cultural model components. J Entrep Dev 5(16):125–144
- Farajollahi M, Aghajani H, Ghanjeh-khor Z (2011) Role of Education in vocational schools' entrepreneurial spirit of students inin Mazandaran. Women Stud 9(3):111–141
- Farhangi AA, Safarzadeh H (2005) Designing and defining an organizational communication model for the entrepreneurship process (Focus on Distribution Industry). Daneshvar Raftar 12 (14):1–20
- FartookZadeh HR, RajabiNohouji M (2009) Dynamic modeling of entrepreneurial opportunity: "Inner-Urban Physical Distribution", embedded in the traffic of metropolitan areas. J Entrep Dev 2(6):97–124
- Feiz D (2009) Effect on gender students' entrepreneurial personality characteristics in Semnan university. Women Stud 2(20):25–44
- Feizpour MA, Saeeda Ardakani S, Poushdouzbashi H (2011) The life cycle of new SMEs firms and their role in job turnover: experiences of textile industry in the 1995–2005. J Entrep Dev 4 (12):67–86
- George NM, Parida V, Lahti T, Wincent J (2016) A systematic literature review of entrepreneurial opportunity recognition: insights on influencing factors. Int Entrep Manag J 12(2):309–350
- Ghahramani M, Rashid Haji Khajeh Loo S, Abuchenari A (2011) The role of transformational leadership in promoting the university to an entrepreneurial organization: case of Shahid Beheshti University. J Entrep Dev 4(14):185–204
- Ghahremani M, Pardakhtchi MH, Hosein-zade T (2010) Organizational culture and organizatioal entrepreneurship. J Public Admin Perspect 1(1):25–39
- Ghambarali R, Zarafshani K (2008) Identifying success criteria among rural entrepreneurs: using multidimensional scaling. J Entrep Dev 1(2):131–160
- Ghanati S, Kordnaieji A, Yazdani HR (2010) Assessing the level of entrepreneurial organizational culture in the University of Tehran. J Entrep Dev 3(10):115–133
- Ghasemi J, Asadi A (2010) Factors affecting entrepreneurial mentality of graduate students. J Econ Agric Dev 24(1):13–22
- Ghasemiyeh R, Abdollahi H (2012) Investigating the effects of entrepreneurial activities on organizational performance (An Empirical Research). J Entrep Dev 5(17):27–46
- Gholipour A, Khanifar H, Piran Nejad A, Khazaie A, Sabokro M (2009a) Designing a motivation system to create entrepreneurship (Case Study: Petrochemical Company). J Entrep Dev 2 (5):11–30
- Gholipour R, Aghajani HA, Keramati Karimi MA (2009b) Factors affecting opportunity recognition: IT industry. J Entrep Dev 2(3):123–158
- Gibb A (2002) In pursuit of a new 'enterprise' and 'entrepreneurship' paradigm for learning: creative destruction, new values, new ways of doing things and new combinations of knowledge. Int J Manag Rev 4(3):233–269
- Goel S, Raymond J (2016) Entrepreneurial exploration and exploitation in family business: a systematic review and future directions. Fam Bus Rev 1:94–120

- Golrod P (2009) Family and women entrepreneurship development approaches in Iran. Women Stud 7(21):131–149
- Grégoire DA, Noël MX, Déry R, Béchard J-P (2006) Is there conceptual convergence in entrepreneurship research? A co-citation analysis of frontiers of entrepreneurship research, 1981–2004. Entrep Theory Pract 30(3):333–373
- Gupta VK, Turban DB, Bhawe NM (2008) The effect of gender stereotype activation on entrepreneurial intentions. J Appl Psychol 93(5):1053–1061
- Hadizadeh Moghadam A, Raminmehr H, Hoseini SS (2009) Relationship between emotional intelligence and entrepreneurial orientation among the employees of Oil Company-Affiliated organizations. J Entrep Dev 2(4):139–162
- Harrison R, Leitch C, McAdam M (2015) Breaking glass: toward a gendered analysis of entrepreneurial leadership. J Small Bus Manag 53(3):693–713
- Heydari Sareban V (2012) Factors affecting farmers' entrepreneurship in rural regions, meshkinshar county. Geography 10(35):263–297
- Hezarjaribi J (2003) Entrepreneurship development and graduates. Higher Educ Res Plann 9 (4):159–177
- Hezarjaribi J, Ebrahimi M (2010) Relationship between entrepreneurial characteristics of organization personnels (male & female) and their job satisfaction. Appl Sociol 21(4):1–18
- Hindle K, Moroz P (2010) Indigenous entrepreneurship as a research field: developing a definitional framework from the emerging canon. Int Entrep Manag J 6(4):357–385
- Hosseini SM, Hosseini SJ, Solaymanpour MR (2009) An analysis of entrepreneurship barriers in higher agricultural education as perceived by graduate students. Iranian J Agric Econ Dev 41 (3):359–368
- Hosseinzadeh Shahri M (2010) Effect of a the organizational context of a holding company's on the corporate entrepreneurship within strategic business units. J Entrep Dev 3(10):93–114
- Imanipour N, Kanani M (2009) Identifying the effective criteria on venture capitals exit decision. J Entrep Dev 2(4):67–83
- Imanipour N, Zivdar M (2008) Relationship between entrepreneurship orientation and corporate performance in Iran insurance company agencies in Tehran. J Entrep Dev 1(2):11–34
- Jafarimoghadam S, Etemadi K (2008) A comparative study of entrepreneurial attitudes among master students entrepreneurship management and electrical engineering of the University of Tehran. J Entrep Dev 2(4):163–182
- Jafarnjd A, Kia Kojory K, Rudgar Nezhad F (2011) Exploring the factors affecting independent entrepreneurship process (Case Study: Entrepreneurs in the City Of Bandar Anzali). J Entrep Dev 4(13):69–89
- Jahangir A, Kalantari SR (2008) An assessment of entrepreneurial characteristics in telecommunication company managers. J Entrep Dev 1(1):87–110
- Jahangiri A, Mobaraki MH (2009) A conceptual framework for entrepreneurship in public sectors. J Entrep Dev 2(3):35–60
- Jing S, Qinghua Z, Landström H (2014) Entrepreneurship research in three regions-the USA, Europe and China. Int Entrep Manag J 11(4):861–890
- Jones MV, Coviello N, Tang YK (2011) International entrepreneurship research (1989–2009): a domain ontology and thematic analysis. J Bus Ventur 26:632–659
- Kalantari S, Rabani R, Hezarjeribi J (2004) Evaluation of entrepreneurship graduates in the journals and newspapers industry. J Sociol Sci Lett 11(3):171–189
- Karimi S, Biemans HJA, Chizari M, Mulder M (2012) The effects of contextual factors and cultural aspects on entrepreneurial intention of agricultural students. J Entrep Dev 5(17):105–124
- Kavoosi E, Rahmati Zanjantalab F (2010) Designing an indigenous model to improve universities' organizational entrepreneurship. Rahbord 5(9):217–241
- Kazemi M, Maharati Y (2007) Measuring entrepreneurship level of managers: a Case of Khorasan. Knowl Dev 20:167–184
- Kermanshah A, Samei H (2010) The impact of initial competitive strategy on new firm's growth: a study in Iranian software industry. J Entrep Dev 3(9):81–102

- Keshavarzfard R, Arabiun A (2012) Identifying the factors affecting location decisions of Tehran ICT entrepreneurs: a partial least squares approach. J Entrep Dev 4(15):105–124
- Khanifar H, Vakili F (2008) The relationship between type of organizational/economic structure and organizational entrepreneurship in SMEs. J Entrep Dev 1(2):35–55
- Khanifar H, Ahmadi Azarm H, Zamanifar M (2010) Home-based entrepreneurship: identifying important motivations and role of the demographic variables. J Entrep Dev 3(9):181–203
- Khanifar H, Jamshidi N, Ramshini M (2011) Financial needs of entrepreneurs: from planning to implementation (Case study: Food and Chemical Materials in Qom province). J Entrep Dev 4 (13):51–68
- Khanifar H, Hosseini Fard SM, Dehghan Ashkezary MJ, Chezani Sharahi M (2012) Relationship between entrepreneurial personality characteristics and Islamic moral components. J Entrep Dev 5(18):47–65
- Khodadad Hosseini H, Kolabi AM (2012) Verifying entrepreneurial marketing mix from islamicreligious viewpoint of the top entrepreneurs in Small and Medium Sized Enterprises. J Entrep Dev 518:107–127
- Khodayaryfard M, Ahmadpour Dariani M, Hodhodi B, Momeni L (2012) The relationship between religiosity and Iranian entrepreneur's achievements. J Entrep Dev 5(18):7–25
- Khoshnodifar Z, Sookhtanloo M, Malek-Mohammadi I (2010) The impact of agriculture bank and agricultural organization performance on the success of SMEs. Agric Econ Dev 18(72):139–162
- Kordnaeej A, Ahmadpour Dariani M, Shams S (2005) Developing an organizational structure model for higher education institutions in Iran. Humanit Modaress 9(2):119–156
- Kordnaeej A, Ahmadpour Dariani M, Delkhah J (2007) Designing the applicant qualifications for the Entrepreneurship Centers. Daneshvar Raftar 14(23):91–108
- Kordnaeej A, Zali MR, Shoraka S (2010) Recognition and prioritization of entrepreneurial opportunities (Case Study: Raja Passenger Railway Company). J Entrep Dev 3(7):117–140
- Kordnaeej A, Ahmadi P, Ghorbani Z, Niakan Lahiji N (2012) Entrepreneurial university characteristics in Tarbiat Modares University. J Entrep Dev 5(17):47–64
- Kourani M, Ahmadpour Dariani M (2011) Identifying the entrepreneurial opportunities in passenger self-services of the airline of the Islamic Republic of Iran, "HOMA". J Entrep Dev 4 (14):7–26
- Lehner OM, Kansikas J (2013) Pre-pragmatic status of social entrepreneurship research: a systematic literature review. J Social Entrep 4(2):148–219
- Liaghatdar MJ, Foroghi Abri AA, Abedi MR, Vasefian F (2009) A survey of students attitudes towards university curricula regarding entrepreneurship behavior (Case Study Isfahan Universities State and Islamic Azad Universities). J Entrep Dev 2(5):109–138
- Lope Pihie ZA, Bagheri A (2013) Self-efficacy and entrepreneurial intention: the mediation effect of self-regulation. Vocat Learn 36:385–401
- Madhoshi M, Sadati A (2011) Investigating the effect of knowledge management process on corporate entrepreneurship (Case Study: SMEs of Mazandaran East). J Entrep Dev 4(12):7–26
- Mahmoudi J, Beiryaie HS (2009) Assessment of entrepreneurial information systems in the Iranian governmental organizations (Case Study: Deputy,s Office Planning of the Ministry of Commerce). J Entrep Dev 5(6):157–181
- Maleki AH, Gholipour A, Abedi Jafari H (2009) Effects of religious beliefs on tendency towards new business venture. J Entrep Dev 2(3):11–34
- Manian A, Mousakhani M, Jam-Parvazi M (2009) The relationship between information technology and business alignment with organizational performance of ICT companies. ICT Manag 1 (3):89–106
- Marzban SM, Moghimi SM, Arabiun A (2010) The impact of organizational entrepreneurship climate on managers' entrepreneurial behavior. Quart J New Econ Comm 6(21–22):1–25
- Mastura J, Abdul Rashid AA (2008) Entrepreneurship education in developing countries: exploring its necessity in the construction program. J Eng Des Technol 6(2):178–189
- Matlay H (2006) Researching entrepreneurship and education Part 2: What is entrepreneurship education and does it matter? Educ Train 48(8/9):704–718

- Mehdivand M, Zali MR (2011) The impact of intellectual capital and entrepreneurial orientation on the performance of nano businesses. J Entrep Dev 4(14):47–67
- Mehrabad MS, Mohtadi MM (2011) Impact of entrepreneurship education on entrepreneurial behavior development. J Entrep Dev 1(2):57–73
- Meigounpoory M, Ahmadi B (2012) Factors affecting the choice of the university research commercialization strategies in Petrochemical industry. J Entrep Dev 5(16):27–46
- Meigounpoory M, Yazdani P, Rezaeian Zadeh H (2011) Analysis of supply and demand trends in the field of diabetes nutrition counseling: a basic step toward identifying the entrepreneurial opportunities for nutrition consultants. Payavard 5(5):57–66
- Meyer KE (2006) Asian management research needs more self-confidence. Asia Pac J Manag 23 (2):119–137
- Mitchell RK (2011) Increasing returns and the domain of entrepreneurship research. Entrep Theory Pract 35(4):615–629
- Mobaraki MH, Rezaeian A, Mehrabi R, Kolabi AM (2012) Conceptualization of predisposing factors in applying heuristics in superior Iranian entrepreneurs' decision making process (Focus Group). J Entrep Dev 4(15):7–24
- Mobini Dehkordi A, Rezazadeh A, Dehghan Najmabadi A, Dehghan Najmabadi M (2012) Organizational culture and entrepreneurial orientation. J Entrep Dev 5(16):47–66
- Moghimi SM, Ahmadpour Dariani M (2008) Entrepreneurship education in Iran SMEs: needs and alternatives. J Entrep Dev 1(1):207–245
- Moghimi SM, Rusta M, Heydari M (2008) Social entrepreneurship and performance effectiveness in women private organizations. Women Stud 2:1–26
- Mohammadi M, Asgari GR (2011) Relationship between entrepreneurs' characteristic and entrepreneurial success in small and medium-sized enterprises. J Entrep Dev 4(13):129–148
- Mohammadi Elyasi G, Notash H (2011) Identifying the causes for failure of habitual Iranian entrepreneurs: a narrative approach. J Entrep Dev 4(13):31–50
- Mohammadi Elyasi G, Rokni N, Tayebi SK (2011) Role of social networks in recognizing entrepreneurial opportunities. J Entrep Dev 4(11):7–26
- Mohammadi Elyasi G, Ferasatkhah M, Farrokh S (2012) Required professorial skills for developing entrepreneurship graduates in universities. J Entrep Dev 4(15):185–201
- Mohammadi HR, Ahmadi A, Amin Shayan Jahromi SH (2011) Relationship between entrepreneurship and enrepreneurial intention. Women Soc 2(1):99–119
- Moradi H, Shabanali Fami H (2010) Identifying entrepreneurial capacities of female students (Case study: Ahwaz-Ramin Agricultural & Natural Resources University). J Entrep Dev 3(8):141–161
- Mortazavi S, Maharati Y (2004) Analysis of the dimensions of supports provided to small business in metal industry through an entrepreneurial approach. J Knowl Dev 15:85–110
- Moustaghfir K (2008) The dynamics of knowledge assets and their link with firm performance. Meas Bus Excell 12:10–24
- Naeiji MJ, Abbasalizadeh M (2011) Cultural intelligence and entrepreneurial characteristics of managers in Iranian NGOs. J Entrep Dev 4(12):27–44
- Neghabi S, Zaefarian R, Yousefi M, Rezavani M (2012) Relationship between networking behavior and entrepreneurial behavior (Case Study: Companies in Science Parks). J Entrep Dev 4 (15):25–44
- Nikraftar T (2011) The impact of individual and social competences on entrepreneurial traits (Case Study: Employees of Exports Development Bank of Iran). J Entrep Dev 4(12):125–163
- Omrani Z, Haghighi Kafash M, Mazlomi N (2010) Prioritizatizing factors affecting social entrepreneurship in Iran from the viewpoint of social activists. J Entrep Dev 3(8):11–36
- Ooi YK, Ahmad S (2012) A study among university students in business start-ups in Malaysia: motivations and obstacles to become entrepreneurs. Int J Bus Soc Sci 3(19):181–192
- Pardakhtchi MH, Heydari M, Shaffizadeh H (2008) Study of the effectiveness of the management in developing and expressing entrepreneurship. Manag Perspect 7(26):71–100
- Pittaway L, Cope J (2007) Entrepreneurship education: a systematic review of the evidence. Int Small Bus J 25(5):479–510

- Pittaway L, Robertson M, Munir K, Denyer D, Neely A (2004) Networking and innovation: a systematic review of the evidence. Int J Manag Rev 5–6(3–4):137–168
- Pittaway L, Rodriguez-Falcon E, Aiyegbayo O, King A (2010) The role of entrepreneurship clubs and societies in entrepreneurial learning. Int Small Bus J 29(1):37–57
- Pourezat AA, Gholipor A, Nadirkhanlo S (2010) Prioritizatizing factors affecting knowledge commercialization at universities. J Entrep Dev 3(7):35–67
- Rahmanian Koushkaki M, Chizari M, Havasi A (2012) Factors influencing entrepreneurial intentions of the agricultural students in Azad University of Ilam. J Entrep Dev 4(15):125–144
- Ratnatunga J, Romano C (1997) A "citation classics" analysis of articles in contemporary small enterprise research. J Bus Ventur 12(3):197–212
- Razghandi N, Dorani K (2009) Recognizing the individual and environmental factors affecting the success of superior entrepreneurs in the province of Tehran: developing an educational model. J Entrep Dev 2(6):39–56
- Rezaei Toroghi S, Mirzaei M, Zali MR, Rostami R, Razavi SM (2010) Role of even contribution in intuition quality enhancement of serial entrepreneurs. J Entrep Dev 3(10):29–47
- Rezaei Zadeh M, Ansari M, Arefi M, Murphy M (2012) The scope and sequence of curriculum to promote students' entrepreneurial capabilities: using Interpretive Structural Modelling (ISM). J Entrep Dev 4(15):165–184
- Rezaei R, Gholifar E, Safa L, Kazemi Torbaghan M (2011) Identifying the barriers to corporate entrepreneurship development in agricultural consulting, technical and engineering service ventures in Zanjan province. J Entrep Dev 4(14):27–46
- Rezaei R, Karimi A, Mirikaram F, Safa L (2012) A Study of entrepreneurial education needs of agricultural Master students (Case Study: University of Zanjan). J Entrep Dev 5(17):65–84
- Rezaeian A, Mikaeili F, Tajik M, Ahmadizad A (2010) The relationship between generic strategies and E-business adoption levels in SMEs software producers. J Strat Manag Stud 1(4):107–120
- Rezvani M, Fanaeei L (2012) Improving the distribution system in Home Video Network by XTRIZ method. J Entrep Dev 5(17):185–203
- Rezvani MR, Najarzadeh M (2008) Analysis of villagers' background knowledge on entrepreneurship in the process of rural development. J Entrep Dev 1(2):161–182
- Rezvani M, Yadollahi Farsi J, Vahed Vahdatkar M (2008) A conceptual model for corporate technological entrepreneurship: the case of intelligent transportation systems in the organization of Tehran municipality. Quart J New Econ Comm 4(14):64–87
- Rezvani HR, Aghajani HA, Moghimi Daronkalaie SN (2009) Determination of native indicators for innovation survey in Iran using Fuzzy Hypothesis test (Biotechnology field). J Entrep Dev 2 (4):11–37
- Sadeghi SH, Ghanadan H (2009) Reproduction and testing of entrepreneurship process in the educational institutes of Tehran. J Entrep Dev 2(5):163–181
- Saeidi AA, Azizimehr K, Tousi N, Tamizifar R (2010) Social capital and innovation in Tondar Irankhodro car manufacturing unit. J Entrep Dev 3(9):131–155
- Salehi Najafabadi R, Abedi MR, Rabeii M (2006) The impact of entrepreneurship education on improving women's activities for employment in Sharekord. Knowl Res Psychol 30:111–122
- Salimifar M, Mortazavi S (2005) Human capital and entrepreneurship in vocational education approach. Knowl Dev 17:63–85
- Samadi P, Shirzadi Esfehani H (2007) A Study of the relation between schools' organizational atmosphere and entrepreneurial spirit of students. Quart J Educ Innov 16(5):164–187
- Saremi M, Alizade Sani MK (2009) Factors affecting the trend of opportunity recognition among top entrepreneurs. J Entrep Dev 2(3):103–122
- Seyed Amiri N, Tehrani R, Tarjoman V (2009) A model for capital structure in family-based businesses (Oil and Textile Industries). J Entrep Dev 2(3):159–190
- Seyed Javadin SR, Ahmadi A, Khajeheian D (2011) Knowledge management in entrepreneurial firms: organizational factors influencing knowledge creation and knowledge transfer in the Iranian informatics industry. J Entrep Dev 4(11):27–46

- Seyyed Naghavi M, Abdolahpour M (2010) Relationship between social capital and intrapreneurship. J Entrep Dev 3(9):103–129
- Shaemi A, Etebarian A, Kheradmand M (2011) Assessing women entrpreneurs' need in Isfahan. Women Dev Policy 9(3):51–180
- Sharifi O, Adeli M (2010) Barriers of women' farmers entrepreneurship in Kahnuj and Jiroft. J Women's Stud 5(1):112–125
- Sharifzadeh F, Razavi SM, Zahedi SS, Najari R (2009a) Factors affecting academic entrepreneurship in the University of Payam Noor: a model design and analysis. J Entrep Dev 2(6):11–38
- Sharifzadeh A, Mahboobi MR, Arabiun A (2009b) Explaining components of Agro-enterprises development in Golestan Province. J Entrep Dev 2(4):85–112
- Sharifzadeh A, Arabiun A, Abdollahzadeh G (2010) Identifying and prioritizing supportive needs of Agro-Enterprise development. J Entrep Dev 3(10):71–91
- Shekarey A, Heidarzadeh Arany S (2011) Effect of Insurance occupational training onentrepreneurial skills the performance of insurance companies' employees. J Entrep Dev 4 (13):109–129
- Shekarshekan H, Broumand Nasab M, Najareyan B, Shahni Yeylagh M (2002) Simple and multiple relationships between creativity, motivation to achievement and self-esteem with students' entrepreneurship. J Educ Stud Psychol 3(3/4):1–24
- Sirelkhatim F, Gangi Y (2015) Entrepreneurship education: a systematic literature review of curricula contents and teaching methods. Cogent Bus Manag 2:1–11
- Sohrabi B, Khanlari A (2010) Factors affecting e-commerce adoption in Iranian SMEs. J Entrep Dev 3(7):11–34
- Tabatabaie YAS, Hosseineyan S (2005) Women empowerment and entrepreneurship through group counseling. Fam Res 5(9):217–241
- Talaei G (2011) A measurement model for corporate entrepreneurship based on inter-organizational factors and its impact on entrepreneurship. J Entrep Dev 4(12):185–203
- Talebi K, Zali MR, Peyrovian B (2009) Outsourcing in SMEs. J Entrep Dev 2(5):81-107
- Talebi K, Tajeddin M, Samizade M (2010) A study of environmental factors and internationalization of Small and Medium-sized enterprises. J Entrep Dev 3(9):55–79
- Talebi K, Sanaee Pour H, Heidari N (2011) Role of science and technology parks in the growth of the new technology-based firms. J Entrep Dev 4(11):147–166
- Talebi K, Imanipour N, Abbasi Beni S (2012) Identification and prioritization of growth strategies for SMEs in "Gaz-e-Boldaji" industrial cluster. J Entrep Dev 5(17):165–184
- Tan J (2001) Innovation and risk-taking in a transitional economy: a comparative study of Chinese managers and entrepreneurs. J Bus Ventur 16(4):359–376
- Tayebi SK, Fakhri M (2010) Impact of globalization and international trade on entrepreneurship development: the case of OECD countries. J Entrep Dev 3(9):37–45
- Teymori M, Ashori M (2010) Causes of entrepreneurs' failure in Iran. J Entrep Dev 3(9):157-179
- Thorpe R, Holt R, Macpherson A, Pittaway L (2005) Knowledge within small and medium sized firms: a systematic review of the evidence. Int J Manag Rev 7(4):257–281
- Tranfield D, Denyer D, Smart P (2003) Towards a methodology for developing evidence-informed management knowledge by means of systematic review. Br J Manag 14:207–222
- Vafaei F, Moghimi SM (2010) Efficiency of electronic system in administrative processes and organizational entrepreneurship in the University of Tehran. Quart J New Econ Comm 6 (21–22):99–122
- Vafaei F, Shafei R (2010) The role of organizational factors in enhancing entrepreneurship in small industrial enterprises. Manag Res Iran 14(4):233–257
- Yadegar N, Bazargan A, Faghih N (2011) The process of social entrepreneurial ventures formation: a grounded theory approach. J Entrep Dev 4(13):7–30
- Yadolahi Farsi J, Azizi Ziarat O, Khastar H (2009) Relationship between organizational structure and corporate entrepreneurship (Case Study: Banks in the City of Tehran). J Entrep Dev 2 (5):55–80

- Yadolahi Farsi J, Gholami N, Amiri M, Kanani A (2011) Barriers to entrepreneurship in the country's sports sector. J Entrep Dev 4(12):105–124
- Yadollahi Farsi J, Mirarab Razi R (2009) A survey of entrepreneurship curriculum development. J Entrep Dev 2(3):61–80
- Zaefarian R, Mohammadi Elyasi G, Farokhmanesh T, Movaheddipour N (2012) The impact of network capital on a firm's innovation capability. J Entrep Dev 5(17):7–26
- Zahra SA (2007) Contextualizing theory building in entrepreneurship research. J Bus Ventur 22 (3):443–452
- Zali MR, Shot T, Kordnaeeij A, Najafian M (2011) Impact of social networking on business performance: moderation of role models and entrepreneurial motivation. Manag Res Iran 16 (2):91–111
- Zare Ahmadabadi H, Jalili P, Zare Banadkooki MR (2012) SMEs: entrepreneurship and forcing to illegal/unethical behaviors. Ethics Sci Technol 1:1–14
- Zare GH, Hamidi M, Sajadi SN (2007) The relationship between psychological charecteristics of employees' and organizational entrepreneurship in Sport organizations. Mov Sport Sci 5 (1):71–81
- Zivdar M (2011) Prioritizing the factors facilitating starting SMEs using a Fuzzy Method. J Entrep Dev 11:167–186
- Zivdar M, Ghasemi AM (2011) Prioritization of SMEs' establishment facilitating factors: using the synthetic value of Fuzzy Judgments. J Entrep Dev 4(11):167–186

# A Review of the Status of Social Entrepreneurship Research and Education in Iran



Zahra Arasti and Aidin Salamzadeh

**Abstract** Despite its long history, social entrepreneurship research and education are not old topics in Iran. In fact, the history mainly goes back to the establishment of the Faculty of Entrepreneurship in the University of Tehran. On the one hand, more generally, the roadmap of research on social entrepreneurship still remains controversial, and fragmented efforts are made and continued to investigate this topic in Iran. On the other hand, social entrepreneurship education was mostly developed based on the topics covered by the curriculum which was designed by the faculty members of the Faculty of Entrepreneurship. Incremental improvements, however, are considered. Thus, the present chapter tried to shed light on social entrepreneurship research and education in Iran. To do so, the main Persian databases for papers (Magiran, SID, and Noormags) and theses (IranDoc, and the Library of the University of Tehran) were selected and searched accordingly. In addition to this, research works indexed in Google scholar, Thomson Reuters and Scopus databases were added. Then, the research works were categorized based on their publication date. Finally, the trend and a classified view of the status quo were presented. Secondly, in order to elaborate on the status of social entrepreneurship education in the country, the evidence from those research works was added to the national reports, and thus an integrated view was offered. In conclusion, the chapter concluded with some remarks on the improvement of the research roadmap and education on social entrepreneurship in Iran, as well as some directions for future research.

Keywords Social entrepreneurship  $\cdot$  Social entrepreneurship research  $\cdot$  Social entrepreneurship education  $\cdot$  Iran

Z. Arasti (🖂) · A. Salamzadeh

Faculty of Entrepreneurship, University of Tehran, Tehran, Iran e-mail: Arasti@ut.ac.ir; salamzadeh@ut.ac.ir

<sup>©</sup> Springer International Publishing AG, part of Springer Nature 2018 N. Faghih, M. R. Zali (eds.), *Entrepreneurship Education and Research in the Middle East and North Africa (MENA)*, Contributions to Management Science, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-90394-1\_17

## 1 Introduction

When it comes to social entrepreneurship and enterprise, several definitions and concepts might come into one's mind. Although the topic seems to be clear, there are still many controversial issues to be considered in this domain, such as: What might be called "social" entrepreneurship? What is the difference between a typical social or commercial entrepreneurial activity?, and the like. The topic is still drawing the attention of scholars, and each year a number of events are held to clarify this topic (Carraher et al. 2016). Since the authors are not going to deal with this challenging issue, in this chapter, social entrepreneurs are defined as *"those who adopt a social mission for their work"* (Pitt-Catsouphes et al. 2017). Besides, contextual elements are of paramount importance in defining and dealing with any social entrepreneurial activities. As Mulyaningsih and Ramadani (2017) argue, one of the main contextual elements is religion, which is mostly neglected in the literature. Thus, to investigate the concept the authors will point out the relevant elements.

It is crystal clear that without offering relevant educational courses/programs, the topic remains vague and may be tricky for those who are/will be engaged in such a social entrepreneurial process or even those individuals who want to do research on this topic. As Bridge (2015) argues, the enterprise education was started in the 1930s; however, the focus on social entrepreneurial activities is a recent trend, which has been initiated in the last three decades (Radovic Markovic and Salamzadeh 2012; Choi and Majumdar 2014). Brock et al. (2009), also highlight the importance of social entrepreneurship education and its dimensions. However, their study mostly deals with reviewing the concept, as well as the main aspects of social entrepreneurship education, such as course materials, pedagogic principles, as well as the role of practitioners. Nevertheless, in many countries the idea of studying social entrepreneurship education is a challenge. In Iran also these two—i.e. social entrepreneurship education and research—are inadequately discussed (Daryani et al. 2011; Salamzadeh et al. 2013).

Therefore, on the one hand, the concept is new and sensitive to many elements, and on the other hand, investigating this phenomenon in an emerging economy, i.e. Iran, needs more concentration. Thus, in the present chapter, after a brief review of the literature, the research method is discussed. Then, social entrepreneurship research and education will be elaborated respectively. Based on the findings of the research, the main upcoming trends will be mentioned accordingly. In the last part, the chapter concludes with some remarks on the improvement of the research roadmap and education on social entrepreneurship in Iran.

## 2 Social Entrepreneurship Research and Education: A Necessity or a Fashion?

Social entrepreneurship research and education are prerequisites of social change in different societies (El Ebrashi 2013). The higher the rate and pace of doing social research in a society, the higher the probability of experiencing a social impact would be. Educating social entrepreneurs is also another factor that would affect social change (Desa and Koch 2014). In fact, scaling of social impact is one of the key dependent variables in assessing social entrepreneurial activities (Bacq et al. 2015). Thus, in order to increase social impact and to create social value, entrepreneurship education and research have been vastly included in policies. Policy makers try to create social value through devising appropriate social policies and instruments in support of social entrepreneurship, and this is not possible without doing research and offering educational courses/programs (Acs et al. 2013).

Different waives of social entrepreneurship education that are created based on a variety of axioms and presumptions, go through a continuum which starts from those scholars who do not believe in social entrepreneurship education to those who consider it a *must* for social entrepreneurs to succeed (Smith et al. 2008). The first group of scholars considers it a fashion, while the second group feels the necessity and shows interest in how social entrepreneurship education is taught in business school worldwide (Wu et al. 2013). They deal with identifying distinctive skills for social entrepreneurs and discussing how some identified skills can be taught in experiential learning formats/modules (Mueller et al. 2015). Thus, demand for social entrepreneurship education has grown significantly, resulting in increased course offerings in higher education institutions (HEIs) as well as (graduate) business schools worldwide. Meanwhile, little is known about how to offer such courses/ programs (Miller et al. 2012).

Moreover, regarding social entrepreneurship research, much is done to clarify the subject and its dimensions, while just 10 years ago the concept used to be so confusing or even vague to many scholars (Choi and Majumdar 2014). Hopefully, after some years of confusion, a series of generally accepted definitions, measures, and conceptualizations have emerged (Hoogendoorn 2016); however as Spais and Beheshti (2016) argue, still there are controversial issues to be solved and considered by scholars. One of the main issues is the interdisciplinary nature of the field which misleads some scholars. For instance, Dzombak et al. (2016) believe that "despite its great potential, the literature on social entrepreneurship education is essentially non-existent"! Second, using different approaches in educating (potential) social entrepreneurs could be misunderstood. Since, there are several approaches which are inherently distinguished by their axioms and presumptions. Third, most of such educational programs are initiated in urban areas, and not in universities. Thus, the topic is still new in universities and higher education institutions (Hazenberg et al. 2016).

In a nutshell, it is evident that social entrepreneurship research and education is a necessity, and not just a fashion. Without putting effort into these issues, then

waiting for a social change could be just a *dream*. Therefore, to make social change happen, it is highly recommended to educate (potential) candidates to become social entrepreneurs, and also to do research on the topic (Kirby and Ibrahim 2011; Salamzadeh et al. 2013). That is why the authors attempt to elaborate on these two pillars in an emerging country, such as Iran. Indeed, doing such research in other countries, or even between countries, would be interesting.

### **3** Research Method

The main aim of this chapter is to present a big picture of social entrepreneurship education and research in Iran. Therefore, first, the main Persian databases for papers (Magiran, SID, and Noormags) and theses (IranDoc, and the Library of the University of Tehran) were considered as the basis for investigating the research done in this domain. In addition to this, research works indexed in Google scholar, Thomson Reuters and Scopus databases were added. Then, the research works were categorized based on their publication date. Finally, the trend and a classified view of the status quo were presented. Accordingly, 112 research works, including 59 Persian manuscripts (2003–2016), 40 Persian theses (2006–2016), and only 13 English papers (2011–2016), were identified which dealt with social entrepreneurship in Iran. Since Magiran, SID, and Noormags are the most official databases for research papers, these sources were used. It should be noted that these databases cover the most prominent journals of the country. By the way, IranDoc is also the most prominent database for theses and dissertations (Khosrowjerdi and Alidousti 2010). Moreover, evidence from the Library of University of Tehran is added to cover more social entrepreneurship theses. In addition to these databases, Google scholar, Thomson Reuters and Scopus were used to find the works which were published in English.

#### 4 Social Entrepreneurship Research in Iran

Social entrepreneurship research is important in order to facilitate scholars, academics, and social entrepreneurs, gain insights on this concept and propose future research opportunities in any context (Sengupta and Sahay 2017). According to Mair and Marti (2006), challenging, questioning, and rethinking the concepts and assumptions from different points of view could be beneficial. Indeed, it creates an exceptional opportunity in order to assimilate and challenge traditional entrepreneurship assumptions in an effort to develop a convincing and uniting paradigm (Griffiths et al. 2013). Yet, in the literature, social entrepreneurship research has been presented as "a field of action in a pre-paradigmatic state, a field that lacks an established epistemology" (Lehner and Kansikas 2013). As a result, this field is still in an embryonic state and an integrated definition is still missing (Pless 2012). This is the case in an emerging economy like Iran.

Consequently, the importance of this neglected topic is evident, and therefore, it is inevitable to investigate this domain in order to make a clear and integrated view of the whole filed (Gras et al. 2014). Especially, in Iran, there is a fragmented body of knowledge regarding the topic and general awareness is low (Daryani et al. 2011; Salamzadeh et al. 2013; Salamzadeh and Kawamorita 2017). On the one hand, there is such a need to clarify the subject, and on the other hand, most of the current research is published in the Persian language, which makes this significant part of the story missing for international researchers (e.g. see Keyhani and Jafari Moghadam 2008). Therefore, Persian manuscripts and theses in the field of social entrepreneurship are classified and reviewed in this chapter in order to shed light on the existing roadmap as well as the trend.

The following tables show the manuscripts published in different journals and the theses released by various universities based on the year of publication (Tables 1, 2 and 3).

As it is shown in the table, the process journal publications emerged in 2003, by a series of basic manuscripts that were published to clarify the concept of social entrepreneurship. After some years, almost in 2010, more specific research works appeared as the concept was generally introduced to the researchers of the field. The following table shows the trend. It must be noted that the databases are not normally updated; then there is almost a 2/3-year lag in indexing the theses. That is why the figure shows a decrease in the last 3 years (Fig. 1).

According to our research, 61 Persian manuscripts (2003–2016), 49 Persian theses (2006–2016), and only 13 English papers (2011–2016) were dedicated to social entrepreneurship in Iran. Moreover, most of the research is published in Persian journals. The following figures show the frequency of publications in different journals/institutions. As it is shown in the following figure, most of the Persian manuscripts (46%) were published in six journals, i.e. Journal of Entrepreneurship Development (10), Tavan Yab (4), Karafarin e Naab (4), Work and Society (4), Gozideh Modiriat (3), and Mohandesi Modiriat Magazine (3). It shows that the subject is poorly recognized as a coherent research area for national journals, other than the Journal of Entrepreneurship Development which is published quarterly by the Faculty of Entrepreneurship (University of Tehran) (Fig. 2).

Moreover, the frequency of the published theses and dissertations by their institutions is shown in the following figure. It should be noted that due to the central role of the Faculty of Entrepreneurship in this field, and since its data is not indexed in IranDoc, the authors searched the Library of the University of Tehran to add the relevant theses. Almost 76% of the theses are published in University of Tehran (61%) and Allameh Tabatabaei University (14%). It goes without saying that these two universities have entrepreneurship programs, and most of the current research is done by these two universities (Fig. 3).

The trend shows that most of the first publications were dealing with elaborating the concepts of social entrepreneur and social entrepreneurship (e.g. literature reviews, comparisons with commercial entrepreneurship, reviewing the models,

Code	Year	Author(s)	Title	Journal
M1	2016	MohamadReza Taghizade, & MohamadReza Gholizadeh	Social entrepreneurship vision	Journal of Management
M2		Majid VagharMousavi, Anousha Ghods Alavi, & Mosaib Abbasi	The role of social entrepre- neurship in development of social justice	Journal of Entre- preneurship in Agriculture
М3		Atefeh Movagharzadeh, Vahid Zakeriafshar, Ayoub Sheykhi, & Mojtaba Nasrollahpour	The impact of social entre- preneurship on organiza- tional performance through transactional leadership style of managers in the city of Kerman NGOs	Urban Management
M4		Fatemeh Pahlevani	The role of social marketing in development of social entrepreneurship: A sus- tainable development approach	Behineh Pardaz Engineering Quarterly
M5	2015	Mahdi Kermani, Mohammad Mazloum Khorasani, Hossein Behravan, & Mohsen Noghani Dokht Bahmani	Empowerment based on social entrepreneurship: presenting a grounded the- ory (a case study of the headquarters for empowering female house- holders at Tehran municipality)	Quarterly Journal of Social Sciences
Мб		Rasol Maleki	An investigation into the features of social entrepre- neurship in governmental organizations: a case study of the organization for nomadic peoples' affairs, Kohgiluyeh & Boyer- Ahmad province	Social Development & Welfare Planning
M7		Hojatolah Moradi, Setareh Sadeghi, & Yaser Bayati	The impact of social intelli- gence on social entrepre- neurship of the managers of Charmahal va Bakhtiari province	Basij Strategic Management Quarterly
<u>M8</u>		Mehnoush Sharifi, & Ahmadreza Pishbin	Fostering rural develop- ment through social entre- preneurship: lessons Learned of the Grameen bank	Journal of Entrepreneurship in Agriculture
M9		Sedigheh Javan, & S.J. FarajolahHosseini	Empowerment of rural women through social entrepreneurship	Moravej

 Table 1
 Manuscripts published in Persian journals

Code	Year	Author(s)	Title	Journal
<u>M10</u>		Mohammad Reza Ardalan, & Vahid Soltanzadeh	Affected social entrepre- neurship of intelligent lead- ership with the role of mediator organizational learning	Journal of Entrepreneurship Development
M11		Seyed Ahmad Firouzabadi, & Hamideh Dabaghi	The role of social entrepre- neurship in community development	Journal of Community Development
M12		Maryam SharifiyanSani	Two essentials of sustain- able social entrepreneurship	Gozideh Modiriat
M13		Ali Mobini Dehkordi, & Mehran Keshtkar Haranki	Social innovation: an exploration of conceptuali- zation based on content analysis of definitions	Journal of Innovation Management
M14		Editorial	The report of the social entrepreneurship conference	Tavan Yab
M15		Nabiolah Hosseini	Social entrepreneurship	Jahan Gostar
M16	2014	Atousa Ravesh	Three sides of the triangle of social entrepreneurship	Tavan Yab
M17		Zahra Arasti, Fatemeh Sadat Ghafourian, & Mohammad Kaviani	Strategic management in religious entrepreneurship: case study—Pedaran Asemani organization	Journal of Entrepreneurship Development
M18		Editorial	The 1st national conference of social entrepreneurship for disabled individuals: a report	Tavan Yab
M19		Farnoush Elami, & Hamid Rahimian	Educational strategies and social entrepreneurship in Iran	Quarterly Journal of Training & Development of Human Resources
M20		Taimoor Marjani, & Seyed Sadreddin Sadri	Development of social entrepreneurship: problems, effective factors, and solutions	Organizational Culture Management
M21		Shaghayegh Mohammadi, & Ayatollah Momayez	Identifying critical success factors in social technopreneurship for Delivering Municipal Ser- vices to Disabled People	Journal of Science & Technology Policy
M22		Zahra Arasti, & Mohamad Mehdi Maleki	Formal and informal insti- tutional factors affecting social entrepreneurial activ- ities of women	Quarterly Journal of Women's Stud- ies Sociological and Psychological
M23	2013	Zinab Sadat Sajjadi, & Hamid Reza Ghasemi Banabari	Key success factors on social entrepreneurship in Iran—Experts' perspective	Quarterly Journal of Human Resources Studies

Table 1 (continued)

Code	Year	Author(s)	Title	Journal
M24		Alireza Nashri, & Ali Kafaei MohammadNejad	Analyzing the state of social entrepreneurship	Karafarin e Naab
M25		Hasan Boudlaei, Mohammad Khanbashi, & Ghazaleh Farahani	Phenomenological study about competencies of social entrepreneurs	Journal of Public Administration Perspective
M26		Zahra Arasti, Hadi Zarei, & Fatemeh Didehvar	Review of regulatory poli- cies for development of social entrepreneurship with a comparative approach	Journal of Entrepreneurship Development
M27		Hossein Pahlevanian	The impact of social entre- preneurship on enabling not-for-profit institutions	Mohandesi Modiriat Magazine
M28		Fahimeh Babalhavaeji, & Nastran Zamani Rad	A survey on the relationship between social capital and social entrepreneurship in the academic libraries: A case study of the central libraries of Ministry of Sci- ence, Research and Tech- nology in Tehran	Journal of Information Systems and Services
M29		Hamid Rahimian, Mahmood Ahmadpour Dariani, Abbas Abbaspour, & Farnoosh A'lami	Identifying causal factors of forming social entrepre- neurship behavior in Iran	Journal of Entrepreneurship Development
M30	2012	Ebrahim Hamidi	The social entrepreneurship process	Mohandesi Modiriat Magazine
M31		Zahra Arasti, Farinaz Fathi, & Arian Gholipour	Personal characteristics affecting social entrepre- neurship intention of eco- nomic entrepreneurs	Quarterly Journal of New Economy and Commerce
M32		Zohreh Dehdashti Shahrokh, & Hamed AbdolAli	Social entrepreneurship from a strategic marketing approach	Work and Society
M33		Zohreh Dehdashti Shahrokh, & Hamed AbdolAli	The relationship between organizational atmosphere and social entrepreneurship in organization	Work and Society
M34		Zahra Arasti, Mohammad Mehdi Maleki Karam Abad, & Mahmoud Motavaseli	Identifying the institutional factors affecting the emer- gence of social entrepre- neurial activity	Journal of Entrepreneurship Development
M35		Hamed AbdolAli	Social entrepreneurship in a competitive world	Karafarin e Naab
M36		Asadolah Divsalar, & MohamadReza Naghavi	Investigating the effective factors in success of rural entrepreneurs from a social view	Planning of Space Quarterly Journal

Table 1 (continued)

Code	Year	Author(s)	Title	Journal
M37		Hossein Pahlevanian	Achieving social entrepreneurship	Mohandesi Modiriat Magazine
M38		Nader Seyyed Amiri	Investigating the aspects of social entrepreneurship	Karafarin e Naab
M39	2011	Nader Seyyed Amiri	Investigating the aspects of social entrepreneurship	Karafarin e Naab
M40		Nasim Yadgar, Abbas Bazargan, & Nezamoddin Faghih	The process of forming social entrepreneurial ven- tures: application of grounded theory	Journal of Entrepreneurship Development
M41		Mehri Asadi, Seied Mostafa Razavi, & Maghsood Farasat Khah	Social entrepreneurship model for organizing street children	Journal of Entrepreneurship Development
M42		Ali Asghar Mirakzadeh, & Majid Bahrami	Necessity of social entre- preneurship as a sustainable platform in rural communities	Work and Society
M43		Habibolah Salarzehi	Vaghf as a sustainable social entrepreneurship model in islam	Neday e Eslam Quarterly
M44		Babak Sepas Moghadam	Faithless social entrepreneur	Gozideh Modiriat
M45	2010	Editorial	Social entrepreneurship	Tavan Yab
M46		Manochehr Ansari, Mahmood Ahmadpour, & Zahra Behrozazar	Individual characteristics affecting the development of social Entrepreneurship in charities in the province of Tehran	Journal of Entrepreneurship Development
M47		Zahra Omrani, Mahdi Haghighi Kafash, & Nader Mazlomi	Prioritization of factors affecting social entrepre- neurship in Iran from the viewpoint of social activists	Journal of Entrepreneurship Development
M48		Jamshid Salehi Sedghiani	A social entrepreneurship model based on behavioral approach	Journal of Entrepreneurship Development
M49		Editorial	Commercial entrepreneur- ship and social entrepre- neurship: An interview with Mrs. Daneshvar	Gozideh Modiriat
<u>M50</u>	2009	Seyed Hussein Abtahi, Fattah Shareefzadeh, & Habib Ebrahimpour	A survey of social entre- preneurship concepts, theo- ries and models and designing conceptual model	Organizational Culture Management
M51		Editorial	Characteristics of entrepre- neur and social entrepreneur	Work and Society
M52		Maryam Rousta, & Mohamad Mehdi Heidari	Social entrepreneur beyond commercial entrepreneur	Industry and Entrepreneurship

Table 1 (continued)

Code	Year	Author(s)	Title	Journal
M53	2008	Maryam Rousta, & Mohamad Mehdi Heidari	Social entrepreneurship: Renaissance, definitions and models	Journal of Management
M54		Maryam Rousta, & Mohamad Mehdi Heidari	Social entrepreneur beyond commercial entrepreneur	Tadbir
M55		Editorial	Social entrepreneurship	Sepideh Danaei
M56	2007	Seyed Mohamad Moghimi, Maryam Rousta, & Mohamad Mehdi Heidari	Investigating the relation- ship between social entrepreneurship and performance effectiveness in NGOs of females	Women Studies
M57		Editorial	Social entrepreneurship: from birth to death	Sepideh Danaei
M58	-	Saeed Shahbaz Moradi	A review of social entrepreneurship	Organizational Knowledge Management
M59		Editorial	Social entrepreneurship and NGOs	Peyk e Shoura
M60	2006	Mostafa AliMiri	Social entrepreneurship: A review of social and political contexts	Journal of Management Knowledge
M61	2003	Seyed Mohamad Moghimi	Social entrepreneurship	Rahyaft Journal

Table 1 (continued)

Source: Magiran, SID, and Noormags

etc.), while after some years, from 2010, a new generation of studies emerged. This new generation's aim seemed to be to examine the effect of other factors on social entrepreneurship, or vice versa. Moreover, most of the theses (90%) were published in this generation.

Another approach to categorize the extant literature is to classify the works by their main focus, i.e. individual, process, organizational, or environmental. The following table shows an overview of the existing literature. A considerable part of research (37%) is done at organizational level, while individual and environmental level research includes 51% of the existing research, and process is rarely studied (see Table 4).

As illustrated in Fig. 4, process is overlooked in social entrepreneurship research in Iran; while, most of the literature deals with organizational issues. This might be due to the preliminary focus on the concept of social entrepreneur and the organization he/she establishes. Moreover, organizational issues such as form and nature of the created venture were highly stressed in the existing literature. Context or environment was also another concern, which mostly dealt with policy making dilemmas or moderating variables. In fact, social entrepreneurship is defined as *"individuals or organizations engaged in entrepreneurial activities"* (Hoogendoorn 2016), and such a definition might have been the basis for many research works, while the process views are marginalized (Diochon et al. 2016).

Code	Year	Author	Title	Institution
T1	2015	Mahnaz Ebrahimian Dehaghani	Social entrepreneurship and Its role in development of eco-tourism: Case of Khoor and Biabanak	Mazandaran University
<i>T</i> 2		Farhad Ebrahimi	Investigating the impact of organizational intelligence on aspects of social entrepreneurship	Islamic Azad University
T3	2014	Mohamad Hossein Jafari	Investigating the relationship between social capital and social entrepreneurship in not-for-profit HEIs in Babol	Mazandaran University
T4		Elham Rezagholizadeh	Explaining the crowdfunding process in social entrepreneur organizations	University of Tehran
<i>T5</i>		Mahnaz Behrad	Investigating the effects of virtual social networks on entrepreneurial marketing	University of Tehran
<i>T6</i>		Pooya Hedayat	Exploring social entrepreneurship develop- ment through business clusters' development	Raazi University
Τ7		Mohamad Farid Ghoba	How to implement corporate social respon- sibility within SMEs: A strategic approach	University of Tehran
<i>T</i> 8		Akram Kamankesh	Factors affecting social entrepreneurship in sports organizations of Markazi province	Arak University
<i>T</i> 9	2013	Mehri Asadi	Designing a social entrepreneurship model for organizing street children	University of Tehran
<i>T10</i>		Zahra Abedini	Identifying and ranking the effective factors in recognition of social entrepreneurial opportunities	University of Tehran
T11		Narges Laleh	Identification of effectiveness criteria of stakeholders in social entrepreneur institutions	University of Tehran
<i>T12</i>		Rezvan Saber	Identification of learning resources and methods of entrepreneurs in the process of social entrepreneurial opportunity recognition	University of Tehran
T13		Hossein Shakeri	The relationship between personal charac- teristics and social entrepreneurship devel- opment in NGOs of Kordestan province	Allameh Tabatabaei University
T14		Elaheh Adel Rastkhiz	Designing a social business model with health approach	University of Tehran
<i>T15</i>		Elaheh Alizadeh	Influence of social capital on (social) entre- preneurial opportunities recognition	University of Tehran
T16		Zahra Maleki	Investigating social entrepreneurship in students of agriculture: emphasizing on social capital	Raazi University
<i>T17</i>		Arezu Abbaspour Fard	Identifying and ranking of social entrepre- neurship development strategies to enable women under the coverage of IKIC	Siastan and Balouchestan University
T18		Sahar Esfandiyari	Function of social entrepreneurship in enabling and improving informal shelters	Allameh Tabatabaei University

Table 2
 Persian theses

Code	Year	Author	Title	Institution
T19	2012	Farnoush Alami	Designing a model for training social entrepreneurs in Iran	Allameh Tabatabaei University
T20		Zeinab Avaiedi	Identification of performance evaluation measures in social entrepreneur organiza- tions with BSC	University of Tehran
T21		Fatemeh Mousavi	Designing an appropriate model for sup- portive organizations in achieving women's social entrepreneurship	University of Tehran
T22		Hadi Zarei	Identification of regulatory policies of social entrepreneurship development in Iran based on grounded theory	University of Tehran
T23		Behrad Seyed Zare	Identification of performance measures in social entrepreneur organizations: Case of UNESCO Iran	University of Tehran
T24		Javad Abdi	Studying the determinants of donors' intention toward social entrepreneurship in philanthropic activities in Zahedan	Siastan and Balouchestan University
T25		Mohamad Mehdi Maleki	Identifying the institutional factors affecting the creation and implementation of social entrepreneurial activities in Iran	University of Tehran
T26		Fatemeh Sadat Ghafourian	Identification of a strategic planning frame- work for social entrepreneur organizations	University of Tehran
T27		Mahmoud Mehregan	The effect of social capital on performance of educational firms: Case of the higher education center of water and power tech- nology of Iranian power ministry	University of Tehran
T28	-	Mehdi Kermani	Investigating the enabling process of female-headed households focusing on social entrepreneurship approach	Ferdowsi University
T29		Majid Sajasi	Exploring the impact of social entrepre- neurship on quality of life	Allameh Tabatabaei University
<i>T30</i>	2011	Abbas Arab	The role of transformative leadership style of managers in predicting social entrepre- neurial activities of employees	Ferdowsi University
T31		Fatemeh Bazyar	Identification of a social entrepreneurship development model in charity institutions of Tehran	University of Tehran
<i>T32</i>		Zahra Rahmanifar	Designing a social entrepreneurship model for female-headed households in Tehran	University of Tehran
<i>T33</i>	]	Fatemeh Karami	Investigating the impact of social capital on social entrepreneurship development	University of Tehran
T34		Farinaz Fathi	Identification and explanation of individual factors that reinforce social entrepreneurial intention	University of Tehran
<i>T35</i>			Identification of the key factors affecting entrepreneurship in arts	University of Tehran

Table 2 (continued)

Code	Year	Author	Title	Institution
<i>T36</i>		Masoumeh Shahverdi	Identification of nano-tech based social entrepreneurial opportunities in purifying water	University of Tehran
<i>T37</i>		Golnaz Arefi	Identification of it-based social entrepre- neurial idea for female-headed households under the supervision of Tehran municipality	University of Tehran
T38		Hassan Jond	Impact of new generation networks on cor- porate social entrepreneurship in MNCs: case of Irancell	University of Tehran
<i>T39</i>		Mehdi Moravej Yazdi	Presenting a model for social entrepreneur- ship development in Tehran	University of Tehran
T40		Maryam Asadi	Identification of the impact of social capital on success of social entrepreneurship: cases of Mahak, Ra'ad, and Mehrafarin	University of Tehran
T41		Majid Bahrami	Exploring the principles of sustainable development in entrepreneurial activities in Kermanshah with emphasis on social entrepreneurship	Raazi University
T42	2010	Majid Darestani	Identification of environmental barriers of social entrepreneurship in charity institu- tions of Tehran	University of Tehran
T43	-	Yadollah Karami	Identification of the factors affecting the success of self-employment plans in IKIC: a social entrepreneurial approach	University of Tehran
T44		Nasim Yadegar	Exploring the process of creating social entrepreneur institutions: grounded theory	University of Tehran
T45	2009	Laleh Izadyar	Investigating the relationship between social entrepreneurship and social capital in the ministry of health and environment organization	Tarbiat Modarres University
T46		Hamed Abdolali	The relationship between elements of orga- nizational atmosphere and social entrepre- neurship in organization: case of Iran khodro co.	Allameh Tabatabaei University
T47	-	Zahra Omrani	Ranking the determinants of social entre- preneurship in Iran from the standpoint of social activists	Allameh Tabatabaei University
T48	2008	Nafiseh Sadat Hashemi	The relationship between social capital, emotional intelligence and social entrepre- neurship in Tose'e saderat bank	Allameh Tabatabaei University
T49	2006	Maryam Rousta	Investigating the relationship between social entrepreneurship and performance effectiveness in women NGOs	University of Tehran

Table 2 (continued)

IranDoc, and the Library of the University of Tehran

Code	Year	Author	Title	Institution/Journal
El	2016	Amir Rahdari, Sahar Sepasi, & Mohammad Morad	Achieving sustainability through Schumpeterian social entrepreneurship: the role of social enterprises	Journal of Cleaner Production
E2		Ali Asghar Mardani, Kiumars Ahmadi, & Ataallah Mohamadi	On the investigation of staff's empowerment and increased level of social entrepreneurship opportunities (case study: gen- eral bureau of cooperation, labor, and social welfare, prov- ince of Kurdistan)	World Scientific News
E3	2015	Zahra Arasti, Hadi Zarei, & Fatemeh Didehvar	Identifying the evaluative indi- cators of regulatory policies for the development of social entrepreneurship	Public Organization Review
<i>E4</i>		Amir Forouharfar, Aligholi Rowshan, & Habibollah Salarzehi	Making a comprehensive model for the measurement of social entrepreneurship efficiency	Asian Journal of Research in Social Sciences and Humanities
E5		Ehsan Dogani, & Abbas Talebbeydokhti	Examining the role of develop- ing strategies to expand insur- ance on social entrepreneurship	Journal of Scientific Research and Development
<i>E6</i>	2014	Tahereh Miremadi	The role of discourse of techno- nationalism and social entre- preneurship in the process of development of new technol- ogy: a case study of stem cell research and therapy in Iran	Iranian Studies
<i>E7</i>		Aligholi Rowshan, & Amir Forouharfar	Customized social entrepre- neurship theory & customized social entrepreneurship strategy as a theory conceptualization & practice towards sustainable development in Iran	Asian Journal of Research in Social Sciences and Humanities
E8		Morad Mirzadeh, Mahbobe Rashidi, & Vahide Gorgij	Study of the relationship between social capital and social entrepreneurship in sup- portive organizations: Emdad committee, welfare organiza- tion and social security organi- zation in Jiroft city	Asian Journal of Research in Business Economics and Management
E9		Rahim Moein	Studying the effect of compo- nents of social entrepreneurship on tourism industry development.	Academic Journal of Research in Economics and Management

 Table 3
 English manuscripts/theses

Code	Year	Author	Title	Institution/Journal
E10		Rahim Moein	Investigation and prioritization of social entrepreneurship components based on tourism industry development approach using TOPSIS technique	International Journal of Scientific Man- agement and Development
E11	2013	Aidin Salamzadeh, Ali Azimi, & David A Kirby	Social entrepreneurship educa- tion in higher education: insights from a developing country	International Journal of Entrepreneurship and Small Business
E12	2012	Mohammad Hassan Mobaraki, Alireza Mohageri, & Yadollah Karami	Identifying the factors that affect the success of self- efficiency and self-employment plans among the clients of IKIC through the lens of social entrepreneurship	International Journal of Business and Management
E13	2011	Aidin Salamzadeh, Yashar Salamzadeh, & Mehran Nejati	Social entrepreneurship: ana- lyzing literature and proposing a comprehensive model	USM

Table 3 (continued)

B: Thesis (in Persian) 

A+B: Total (in Persian)

A+B+C: Total (in Persian or English)



Fig. 1 Total number of published works (2003–2016)

In a nutshell, one could conclude that the area of social entrepreneurship research is overlooked by Iranian authors and thus, there is a growing need to present more findings on this subject. Based on the existing facts and figures, University of Tehran and Allameh Tabatabaei University are the leaders in social entrepreneurship research; however their leadership is questionable, since the number of research works is limited, and their contribution would be affected by others' potential to move forward in this arena.



Fig. 2 Number of Persian manuscripts published in Persian journals



Fig. 3 Number of published Persian theses

## 5 Social Entrepreneurship Education in Iran

Given the fact that most of researchers believe in entrepreneurship education as a means to promote entrepreneurial activity today—while a considerable number of them did not believe so (Karimi et al. 2010)—the topic has turned to a series of

		Individual	Process	Organization	Environment
Persian manuscripts	#	15	7	21	18
	%	24.5	11.5	34.5	29.5
Persian theses	#	13	6	19	11
	%	26.5	12	39	22.5
English manuscripts/theses	#	3	2	5	3
	%	23	16	38	23
Total	#	31	15	45	32
	%	25	12	37	26

Table 4 An overview of social entrepreneurship research in Iran



Fig. 4 An overview of social entrepreneurship research in Iran

"*How*?" instead of "*Why*?" questions (Guerrero et al. 2014, 2015). Entrepreneurship education makes individuals more able to overcome entrepreneurial challenges, to take more risks, to tolerate uncertainty, to get ready to move forward, to innovate, and in a nutshell, to become more like an entrepreneur. Then, on the one hand, entrepreneurship education has become a necessity for interested individuals. On the other hand, such an education must be extensively and inclusively coupled with any educational system (Douglas 2015).

Social entrepreneurship education is also an integral part of this issue, since social entrepreneurs are a considerable part of entrepreneurs. Furthermore, much attention is paid to this domain over the last decade, especially when the problem of combining business and social values raised (Zhu et al. 2016). For instance, Pache and

Chowdhury (2012) named "social entrepreneurs as institutionally embedded entrepreneurs", and presented a social entrepreneurship education model. Other researchers, such as Wu et al. (2013), Mueller et al. (2015), and Karatas-Ozkan et al. (2016) raised this issue and tried to present a creative solution for realizing social entrepreneurship education.

The topic is, then, extensively studied in several contexts; however, it is neglected in most of emerging economies (Kirby and Ibrahim 2011). For instance, in Iran, Salamzadeh et al. (2013) made the first attempt to focus on this topic by conducting a survey among students at the University of Tehran. Hopefully, most of the respondents were aware of social entrepreneurship; however, a large number of them did not know the pioneer social entrepreneurs of the country and their institutions. This study highlights the importance of social entrepreneurship education in Iran. Unfortunately, despite the great number of social entrepreneurs working in the ecosystem, less attention has been paid to this area (See Tables 1–3).

Regardless of the existing shortcomings in this domain, some steps have been taken by different stakeholders. For instance, as soon as it was established, the Faculty of Entrepreneurship designed a course, which was approved by the Ministry of Science, Research and Technology. After expansion of the entrepreneurship program in different universities, the mentioned course is also taught as a part of the program. Moreover, some courses have been designed for deprived populations, such as female-headed households, by the Ministry of Labour, Cooperatives and Social Welfare.

In addition to these efforts, some other entities started working on this area. For instance, among private/non-governmental institutes, Parto School provided some packages in order to support social entrepreneurial activities, through social entrepreneurship education, capacity building and empowerment, team work, and social learning. Other supporters of this concept are indeed NGOs and philanthropic Institutions, such as Raad. Moreover, administrative organizations, such as Imam Khomeini Relief Committee and Municipalities, have held several workshops to teach social entrepreneurship, especially in deprived areas. Furthermore, online platforms have tried to play an important role in promoting social entrepreneurship education. For example, Hamamooz.ir, Karafarini.ir, Socialedu.ir, and the like, have allocated a significant part of their resources, activities and content to social entrepreneurship education.

In sum, informal social entrepreneurship education and learning platforms are growing, while formal channels still need more attention. Lack of unity of command in making required policies, low number of social entrepreneurship educators, and lack of clear understanding among policy makers and practitioners are among the main reasons for the present state of social entrepreneurship education in Iran.

### 6 Conclusion

Social entrepreneurship research and education are mutually exclusive fields, which are entangled (Nicolopoulou 2014). That is to say that without doing research in this domain, the concepts would remain vague (Oham et al. 2016). Even, if the research conducted, without educating the research findings, no progress is possible (Carraher et al. 2016). Moreover, one should note that this area of research is so unique, since it deals with evolutionary needs and problems of people in a variety of societies. The need for improving the knowledge of communities, and inviting them to engage in such activities is another dilemma in a country like Iran. However, based on our historical background, several mechanisms are already invented to promote social entrepreneurial activities, such as Golrizan and Vaqf (Salamzadeh et al. 2013). Yet, still considerable gaps exist in this domain. Since, there is a lack of integrity and the knowledge of scholars is still fragmented.

Thus, the chapter tries to provide a review of the state of social entrepreneurship research and education in Iran. Based on the findings of this research, in a 14 years period (2003–2016), only 123 research works were published in this regard—Most of which were published after 2010—i.e. in less than a decade. First, most of the research was dedicated to the concept of social entrepreneur(ship) itself, and not its nature and dimensions. Second, even the latest works were dealing with previously solved issues such as the effect of social capital on social entrepreneurship. Third, most of the works were published by authors of two institutions—i.e. University of Tehran and Allameh Tabatabaei University. It shows that the concept is not extensively investigated by national scholars. Fourth, investigating the balance between formal and informal social entrepreneurship education facilities and programs, revealed that formal education does not meet the minimum requirements, and still needs more efforts. While, informal education is growing, especially through online media.

It is crystal clear that, without further investigation, it is not possible to propose appropriate propositions. Then, future researchers might put more focus on the reasons why such social problems exist in an emerging economy like Iran. They might conduct content analyses to investigate the social entrepreneurship research and education in Iran; However, different understandings of the concept, its novelty, and lack of consensus among scholars, might be a challenge in such efforts. Moreover, scrutinizing the curricula is a challenging effort that would be an interesting topic to study. Since formal social entrepreneurship education is limited in the country, designing such a course/program is a *must* to improve the social entrepreneurship ecosystem in Iran. Finally, designing a roadmap to integrate the efforts could pave the way for future researchers, and also it could highlight the existing gaps in the literature. The following table shows the main issues to be considered by future researchers (Table 5).

	Degree of importance	
	Less important	Most important
Social Entrepre- neurship Research	<ul> <li>Identifying the social problems</li> <li>Investigating the process/individual views</li> <li>Content analysis</li> <li>Investigating the role of community-led social ventures/ NGOs</li> <li>Marketing practices for social entrepreneur organizations</li> <li>Investigating human resource management issues in social entrepreneurship</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Defining a roadmap</li> <li>Research prioritization</li> <li>Defining the social entrepreneurship ecosystem and its elements</li> <li>Investigating the role of potential key players in the ecosystem</li> <li>Case studies of failed and successful social ventures</li> </ul>
Social Entrepre- neurship Education	<ul> <li>Identifying the (potential) target groups</li> <li>Designing some unofficial courses</li> <li>Provide course materials (biographies or written case studies,)</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Identifying the key players in social entrepreneurship education and defin- ing their roles</li> <li>Promoting the key players as Role Models</li> <li>Designing some academic courses/ programs</li> </ul>

 Table 5
 Directions for future research

### References

- Acs ZJ, Boardman MC, McNeely CL (2013) The social value of productive entrepreneurship. Small Bus Econ 40(3):785–796
- Arasti Z, Zarei H, Didehvar F (2015) Identifying the evaluative indicators of regulatory policies for the development of social entrepreneurship. Publ Org Rev 15(3):453–474
- Bacq S, Ofstein LF, Kickul JR, Gundry LK (2015) Bricolage in social entrepreneurship how creative resource mobilization fosters greater social impact. Int J Entrep Innov 16(4):283–289
- Bridge S (2015) Is enterprise education relevant to social enterprise? Educ Train 57 (8/9):1009-1019
- Brock DD, Steiner S, Kim M (2009) Social entrepreneurship education: is it achieving the desired aims? Available at SSRN 1344419
- Carraher SM, Welsh DH, Svilokos A (2016) Validation of a measure of social entrepreneurship. Eur J Int Manag 10(4):386–402
- Choi N, Majumdar S (2014) Social entrepreneurship as an essentially contested concept: opening a new avenue for systematic future research. J Bus Ventur 29(3):363–376
- Daryani MA, Salamzadeh Y, Salamzadeh A, Sharafi F (2011) An analysis of the current gaps in social entrepreneurship in Iran: shackled feet. 1st International Conference on Management, Innovation and Entrepreneurship, Shiraz, Iran
- Desa G, Koch JL (2014) Scaling social impact: building sustainable social ventures at the base-ofthe-pyramid. J Social Entrep 5(2):146–174
- Diochon M, Diochon M, Ghore Y, Ghore Y (2016) Contextualizing a social enterprise opportunity process in an emerging market. Social Enterprise J 12(2):107–130
- Dogani E, Talebbeydokhti A (2015) Examine the role of developing strategies to expand insurance on social entrepreneurship. J Scientif Res Dev 2(1):116–121
- Douglas H (2015) Designing social entrepreneurship education. Int J Social Entrep Innov 3 (5):362-373

- Dzombak R, Mouakkad S, Mehta K (2016) Motivations of women participating in a technologybased social entrepreneurship program. Adv Eng Educ 5(1):1–28
- El Ebrashi R (2013) Social entrepreneurship theory and sustainable social impact. Social Responsibility J 9(2):188–209
- Forouharfar A, Rowshan A, Salarzehi H (2015) Making a comprehensive model for the measurement of social entrepreneurship efficiency. Asian J Res Social Sci Humanit 5(1):160–169
- Gras D, Moss TW, Lumpkin GT (2014) The use of secondary data in social entrepreneurship research: assessing the field and identifying future opportunities. In: Social entrepreneurship and research methods. Emerald Group, Bingley, pp 49–75
- Griffiths MD, Gundry LK, Kickul JR (2013) The socio-political, economic, and cultural determinants of social entrepreneurship activity: an empirical examination. J Small Bus Enterprise Dev 20(2):341–357
- Guerrero M, Urbano D, Salamzadeh A (2014) Evolving entrepreneurial universities: experiences and challenges in the Middle Eastern context. In: Fayolle A, Redford DT (eds) Handbook of research in entrepreneurship education: Entrepreneurial University Handbook, vol 4. Edward Elgar Publishing, Cambridge
- Guerrero M, Urbano D, Salamzadeh A (2015) Entrepreneurial transformation in the Middle East: experiences from Tehran universities. Technol Educ Manag 10(4):533–537
- Hazenberg R, Bajwa-Patel M, Mazzei M, Roy MJ, Baglioni S (2016) The role of institutional and stakeholder networks in shaping social enterprise ecosystems in Europe. Social Enterprise J 12 (3):302–321
- Hoogendoorn B (2016) The prevalence and determinants of social entrepreneurship at the macro level. J Small Bus Manag 54(1):278–296
- Karatas-Ozkan M, Nicolopoulou K, Ibrahim S, Fayolle A, Tatli A, Manville G (2016) Social entrepreneurship education: a reflexive approach through the prism of capitals. In: Academy of management proceedings, vol 2016, No 1, p 17627
- Karimi S, Chizari M, Biemans HJ, Mulder M (2010) Entrepreneurship education in Iranian higher education: the current state and challenges. Eur J Sci Res 48(1):35–50
- Keyhani M, Jafari Moghadam S (2008) Language barriers to meme contagion: the case of entrepreneurship as a concept in Iran. International Conference on Entrepreneurship, Langkawi, Malaysia. Available at SSRN 1145647
- Khosrowjerdi M, Alidousti S (2010) Scientific information transfer: a conceptual model for scientific communication in IranDoc. Electron Libr 28(6):818–828
- Kirby DA, Ibrahim N (2011) The case for (social) entrepreneurship education in Egyptian universities. Educ Train 53(5):403–415
- Lehner OM, Kansikas J (2013) Pre-paradigmatic status of social entrepreneurship research: a systematic literature review. J Social Entrep 4(2):198–219
- Mair J, Marti I (2006) Social entrepreneurship research: a source of explanation, prediction, and delight. J World Bus 41(1):36–44
- Mardani AA, Ahmadi K, Mohamadi A (2016) On the investigation of staffs' empowerment and increased level of social entrepreneurship opportunities (Case study: General bureau of Cooperation, Labor, and Social Welfare, Province of Kurdistan). World Scientif News 47(2):217–227
- Miller TL, Wesley CL, Williams DE (2012) Educating the minds of caring hearts: comparing the views of practitioners and educators on the importance of social entrepreneurship competencies. Acad Manag Learn Educ 11(3):349–370
- Miremadi T (2014) The role of discourse of techno-nationalism and social entrepreneurship in the process of development of new technology: a case study of stem cell research and therapy in Iran. Iran Stud 47(1):1–20
- Mirzadeh M, Rashidi M, Gorgij V (2014) Study of the relationship between social capital and social entrepreneurship in supportive organizations: Emdad Committee, Welfare organization and Social Security organization in Jiroft city. Asian J Res Bus Econ Manag 4(12):370–381

- Mobaraki MH, Mohageri A, Karami Y (2012) Identifying the factors that affect the success of selfefficiency and self-employment plans among the clients of Imam Khomeini's Relief Committee through the Lens of Social Entrepreneurship. Int J Bus Manag 7(11):43–57
- Moein R (2014a) Investigation and prioritization of social entrepreneurship components based on tourism industry development approach using TOPSIS technique. Int J Scientif Manag Dev 2 (11):602–613
- Moein R (2014b) Studying the effect of components of social entrepreneurship on tourism industry development. Acad J Res Econ Manag 2(9):58–66
- Mueller S, Brahm T, Neck H (2015) Service learning in social entrepreneurship education: why students want to become social entrepreneurs and how to address their motives. J Enterprising Cult 23(3):357–380
- Mulyaningsih HD, Ramadani V (2017) Social entrepreneurship in an Islamic context. In: Entrepreneurship and management in an Islamic context. Springer, Cham, pp 143–158
- Nicolopoulou K (2014) Social entrepreneurship between cross-currents: toward a framework for theoretical restructuring of the field. J Small Bus Manag 52(4):678–702
- Oham CA, Pestano C, Allen J (2016) Social enterprise and the wider community: one possible model. Int J Social Entrep Innov 4(2):172–181
- Pache AC, Chowdhury I (2012) Social entrepreneurs as institutionally embedded entrepreneurs: toward a new model of social entrepreneurship education. Acad Manag Learn Educ 11 (3):494–510
- Pitt-Catsouphes M, McNamara T, James J, Halvorsen C (2017) Innovative pathways to meaningful work: older adults as volunteers and self-employed entrepreneurs. In: The Palgrave handbook of age diversity and work. Palgrave Macmillan UK, pp 195–224
- Pless NM (2012) Social entrepreneurship in theory and practice—an introduction. J Bus Ethics 111 (3):317–320
- Radovic Markovic M, Salamzadeh A (2012) The nature of entrepreneurship: entrepreneurs and entrepreneurial activities. LAMBERT Academic Publishing (LAP), Saarbrücken. ISBN: 978-3-659-14311-3
- Rahdari A, Sepasi S, Moradi M (2016) Achieving sustainability through Schumpeterian social entrepreneurship: the role of social enterprises. J Clean Prod 137:347–360
- Rowshan A, Forouharfar A (2014) Customized social entrepreneurship theory & customized social entrepreneurship strategy as a theory conceptualization & practice towards sustainable development in Iran. Asian J Res Social Sci Humanit 4(8):367–385
- Salamzadeh A, Kawamorita H (2017) The enterprising communities and startup ecosystem in Iran. J Enterprising Comm 11(4):456–479
- Salamzadeh A, Salamzadeh Y, Nejati M (2011) Social entrepreneurship: analyzing literature and proposing a comprehensive model. The 9th Asian Academy of Management International Conference, Penang, Malaysia, October
- Salamzadeh A, Azimi MA, Kirby DA (2013) Social entrepreneurship education in higher education: insights from a developing country. Int J Entrep Small Bus 20(1):17–34
- Sengupta S, Sahay A (2017) Social entrepreneurship research in Asia-Pacific: perspectives and opportunities. Social Enterprise J 13(1):17–37
- Smith BR, Barr TF, Barbosa SD, Kickul JR (2008) Social entrepreneurship: a grounded learning approach to social value creation. J Enterprising Cult 16(04):339–362
- Spais GS, Beheshti HM (2016) The evolution of social marketing and social entrepreneurship education in business and management schools: conceptions, misconceptions and trends. Eur J Int Manag 10(4):422–454
- Wu YCJ, Kuo T, Shen JP (2013) Exploring social entrepreneurship education from a Web-based pedagogical perspective. Comput Hum Behav 29(2):329–334
- Zhu Y, Rooney D, Phillips N (2016) Practice-based wisdom theory for integrating institutional logics: a new model for social entrepreneurship learning and education. Acad Manag Learn Educ 15(3):607–625

# **Challenges of Entrepreneurial Finance: A Systematic Analysis of Empirical Researches**



Afsaneh Bagheri and Hasti Chitsazan

**Abstract** Raising the capital has long been highlighted as the key factor that not only influences venture creation and survival, but it also affects its success and growth. Yet, few studies examined entrepreneurial finance and specifically entrepreneurial finance challenges. This study aims to extend our understanding of the challenges of financing ventures by systematically analyzing the empirical researches focusing on entrepreneurial finance. Some 93 papers on entrepreneurial finance were examined and 24 were selected for this analysis. The results explored three main challenges of financing new ventures including conflicts between the entrepreneur and investor, the constraints and policies they face while the implications of the findings for entrepreneurial finance research and practice are discussed as well.

**Keywords** Entrepreneurial finance  $\cdot$  Challenges  $\cdot$  Conflicts between entrepreneur and investor  $\cdot$  Entrepreneurial finance constraints  $\cdot$  Policies  $\cdot$  Access to finance  $\cdot$  MENA countries

## 1 Introduction

Recent studies revealed the influence of fundraising on the creation of a venture as well as its survival, success and growth (Davila et al. 2003; Brinckmann et al. 2011). Entrepreneurs around the world have long been struggling with various challenges in raising capital to create their venture and maintain and improve its performance regardless of the nature (Marcus et al. 2013), size and stage (Polzin et al. 2018) of the business or whether it is located in a developed or developing country (e.g., Denis 2004 in the U.S.; Marlow and Patton 2005, in the U.K.; Naidu and Chand 2012, in Fiji and Tonga; Politis et al. 2012, in Sweden; Siemens 2007, in Canada). As the

A. Bagheri · H. Chitsazan (⊠)

Faculty of Entrepreneurship, University of Tehran, Tehran, Iran e-mail: af.bagheri@ut.ac.ir; chitsazan@ut.ac.ir

<sup>©</sup> Springer International Publishing AG, part of Springer Nature 2018 N. Faghih, M. R. Zali (eds.), *Entrepreneurship Education and Research in the Middle East and North Africa (MENA)*, Contributions to Management Science, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-90394-1\_18

Global Entrepreneurship Monitoring (GEM) report and Global Competitiveness Report suggest access to financial resources is a critical challenge for entrepreneurs around the world and is the fourth main challenge for doing business in developed countries and the top challenge in developing countries (Daniels et al. 2016). In addition to entrepreneurs, financing entrepreneurial ventures is challenging for the investors because of the differences in the perceptions of the investor and entrepreneur (Polzin et al. 2018) and huge uncertainties and risks that investors need to face to invest in an entrepreneurial business (Rasmussen and Sørheim 2012). Specifically, in the Middle East and North Africa (MENA) Region which is one of the most strategic areas in the world that have a great rate of unemployment and low economic growth rates (Lagoarde-Segot and Lucey 2010), entrepreneurs and investors should overcome more severe challenges than their counterparts in developed countries (Jabbouri 2016).

According to the World Bank report on Early Stage Innovation Financing (ESIF) facility (2012), unemployment rate in MENA is about 10% and the rate is increasing to 23% for youths and women. In addition, the report suggests that despite their strong culture of entrepreneurship and investment and a high number of angel investors in the MENA Region, the countries have one of the lowest start-up rates in the world and entrepreneurs establish only 6.3 businesses for every 100 people each year which is very low compared with the rate of business creation in the developed countries (42 for every 100 people). The costs of new venture creation are also high in the MENA Region (38.0% of per-capita income) compared with the developed countries having high incomes (5.3% of per-capita income). Although MENA countries have attempted to facilitate the business start-up process by offering new technologies since 2008, there is still a huge need to improve the process using various e-services. In couple with the high costs of business start-ups, entrepreneurs in these countries encounter different challenges and constraints to access financial resources other than those offered by the banks. According to the Africa and Middle East alternative finance benchmarking report (2017), peoples' perceptions toward failure is another challenge that entrepreneurs should encounter in their endeavors to start their venture.

These challenges mainly originate from deficiencies in the managerial models (Lagoarde-Segot 2013) and a high dependence on foreign direct investments and international capital markets in the MENA countries (Jabbouri 2016) and only few entrepreneurs in the region succeed to obtain foreign financial resources (Africa and Middle East alternative finance benchmarking report 2017). In addition to the challenges at the international markets, entrepreneurs in the region should face the imperfections in the financial markets of their own country (Bekaert and Harvey 2000). Specifically, MENA countries lack stable business environments, effective legal frameworks (such as ownership restrictions and bankruptcy laws) and tax incentives that inspire investors and particularly angels to invest in entrepreneurial ventures (Africa and Middle East alternative finance benchmarking report 2017).

Despite the previous research works to highlight the challenges that entrepreneurs face in financing their business, there is still a wide gap in our empirical knowledge and understanding of these challenging factors (Rasmussen and Sørheim 2012),

particularly in the MENA Region (Jabbouri 2016). This chapter aims to highlight the challenges of entrepreneurial finance using a systematic analysis of the published empirical researches and provide the foundations for the future development in the field. We have classified the challenges into three main categories including the personal and interpersonal factors, environmental and social factors and business related factors. This study highly contribute to the few systematic literature reviews on entrepreneurial finance (Denis 2004; Paré et al. 2009; Block et al. 2017) and different forms of financing new ventures such as entrepreneurial equity financing (Drover et al. 2017) and crowdfunding (Short et al. 2017). This chapter has been organized in four main sections. In the first section, we describe the methodology employed in this systematic review. The second section highlights the key challenges emerging from our study. Then, we discuss the implications of our findings for the development of research and practice in entrepreneurial finance. Finally, we conclude by suggesting the future research agendas in financing new ventures.

#### 2 Methodology

We adopted the systematic literature review (SLR) method to examine the challenges of entrepreneurial finance and identify the gaps in empirical studies for several reasons. First, the method allowed us to investigate various aspects of new venture financing integrating both entrepreneurship and finance perspectives (Wright et al. 2007). Second, the method enabled us to provide policy makers and practitioners with a consistent knowledge on entrepreneurial finance created by analyzing validated empirical research findings (Tranfield et al. 2003). Furthermore, using the precise and detailed research objectives and procedures undertaken in this analysis, other researchers can replicate and synthesize our findings (Cook et al. 1997; Denyer and Neely 2004). This method has also been used by previous researchers to examine entrepreneurial finance (Denis 2004; Paré et al. 2009; Block et al. 2017).

This analysis focused on the peer-reviewed papers published in established journals because these articles provide validated and impactful knowledge in the field (George et al. 2016; Ordanini et al. 2008). To avoid biases in our analysis and findings, we also excluded conference proceedings, books, book chapters, book reviews, tutorials, technical reports, working papers and PhD theses because of inconsistency in their peer review process (Liñán and Fayolle 2015). In addition, we did not examine the utility and citation of the papers based on the assumption that citation partially manifests the impact and importance of the articles and is biased against specific popular authors (Ratnatunga and Romano 1997). To identify the appropriate papers, we searched the Scopus database because compared with other databases for scientific papers, this database has the most comprehensive coverage (George et al. 2016; Liñán and Fayolle 2015). Unlike previous literature reviews on entrepreneurial finance (Drover et al. 2017) and in order to include a wide range of papers on entrepreneurial finance, we did not limited our analysis to the finance

journals. Therefore, we examined papers on a wide range of journals published articles on both entrepreneurship and finance and avoided the biases of focusing on specific journals and deleting the relevant papers in other journals (López-Fernandez et al. 2016).

We used a series of related keywords to entrepreneurial finance (e.g., entrepreneurial finance, fund raising, start-up financing, early stage financing, venture capital, business angel, angle investor, informal finance, venture capital, private equity, financial challenge and financial constraints) to search within the title, keywords, abstract and full text of the papers. These keywords were used as the criteria to select the papers and ensured the inclusion of a wide range of articles related to different aspects of venture financing (George et al. 2016). We did not limit time to a particular period so that the analysis incorporated the published papers up to September 2017, the time of data collection for this analysis. This stage assisted us in selecting the top quality scientific articles from key journals that have published relevant papers to entrepreneurial finance (Tranfield et al. 2003). Through this process, we selected 93 articles from 37 journals. Table 1 demonstrates the list of journal titles and the number of relevant articles published in each journal. As the table presents, the majority of the papers were published in Venture Capital: An International Journal of Entrepreneurial Finance and Journal of Business Venturing, Entrepreneurship Theory and Practice followed by Journal of Corporate Finance, Small Business Economics and Frontiers of Entrepreneurship Research. Although the main focus of other journals (such as Asia Pacific Journal of Management, Journal of Management and Technological Forecasting and Social *Change*) was not entrepreneurship and finance, they expanded their scope to include papers related to financing entrepreneurial ventures.

In the next step, we read the titles, abstracts and keywords of the papers and organized them in three groups (Thorpe et al. 2005). Group "A" included the papers that were recognized relevant to entrepreneurial finance. Group "B" represented the articles that required further investigation to ensure their relevance and group "C" included the papers that were not relevant to new venture financing. Of the papers, 24 were empirical studies related to entrepreneurial finance challenges and 69 were literature review papers or did not focus on challenges of entrepreneurial finance and were eliminated from the analysis. The empirical studies mostly used the quantitative methods (19) followed by qualitative (3), one experimental and one mixed method to explore entrepreneurial finance challenges. Regarding the geographical contexts, the majority of the studies were conducted in European countries (12 articles), the U.S. (3 articles), Africa (3 articles), and cross-countries (3 articles), Canada (1 article), Australia (1 article) and India (1 article).

In line with Denis (2004), we organized the selected papers based on the sources of venture financing challenges into three themes including conflicts between entrepreneur and investor, financial constraints and public policies (Table 2). Then, the researchers ended the analysis by reading, re-reading and discussing each paper and coding them carefully based on their main research area, themes and sub-themes (Jones et al. 2011). Some examples of the initial codes emerging from this study are: entrepreneur's perception toward investor value, entrepreneur's decision-making
Journal title	Number of papers	%
Venture Capital: An International Journal of Entrepreneurial Finance	21	22.5
Journal of Business Venturing	19	20.4
Entrepreneurship Theory and Practice	6	6.4
Journal of Corporate Finance	4	4.3
Small Business Economics	4	4.3
Frontiers of Entrepreneurship Research	3	3.2
Asia Pacific Journal of Management	2	2.1
Journal of Management	2	2.1
Technological Forecasting and Social Change	2	2.1
Journal of African Business	2	2.1
Journal of Small Business and Entrepreneurship	2	2.1
Financial Markets and Portfolio Management	1	1
Social Science Research	1	1
International Entrepreneurship and Management Journal	1	1
Journal of Economic Interaction and Coordination	1	1
Research Policy	1	1
Pacific-Basin Finance Journal	1	1
Journal of Small Business Strategy	1	1
Journal of Banking and Finance	1	1
Journal of Small Business and Enterprise Development	1	1
International Journal of Business	1	1
Asian Social Science	1	1
World Development	1	1
Journal of Contemporary Asia	1	1
Technology Analysis and Strategic Management	1	1
Commonwealth and Comparative Politics	1	1
International Journal of Gender and Entrepreneurship	1	1
International Journal of Entrepreneurial Behavior and Research	1	1
Entrepreneurship and Regional Development: An International Journal	1	1
The Journal of Entrepreneurship	1	1
Journal of Contemporary European Studies	1	1
International Tax and Public Finance	1	1
International Small Business Journal		1
Annals of Finance	1	1
Journal of Financial Economics	1	1
Applied Economics Letters	1	1
The Journal of Technology Transfer	1	1

 Table 1
 List of journals and published articles

Themes	Sub-themes	Authors
Conflicts between the entrepreneur and investor	Effects of conflict	Brettel et al. (2013); Zacharakis et al. (2010); Collewaert (2008); Collewaert and Sapienza (2016)
	Factors shaping conflict (antecedents)	Collewaert and Fassin (2013); Forbes et al. (2010); Appelhoff et al. (2015); Polzin et al. (2018)
Financial constraints	Factors affecting access to finance	Aterido et al. (2013); Hulten (2012); Kwong et al. (2012); Demirel and Parris (2015); Kasseeah and Thoplan (2012); Lee and Drever (2014); Sengupta (2011); Colombo et al. (2014); Takalo and Tanayama (2010)
Public policies	Facilitating policies and deregulation	Egeln et al. (1997); Satta (2007); Magri (2009); Chatterji and Seamans (2012); Carpentier and Suret (2010)
	Factors reducing effectiveness of policies	Romaní et al. (2009); Coelho et al. (2004)

Table 2 Themes and sub-themes of entrepreneurial finance challenges

style, perceived unethical behavior, and financing decisions. The following sections represent the main findings of this study.

### **3** Conflicts Between the Entrepreneur and Investor

This study identified two lines of fragmented studies on conflict and venture financing. The first line focused on the effects of conflict on the entrepreneur as well as the venture. Brettel et al. (2013) and Zacharakis et al. (2010) explored how entrepreneurs' perceptions toward conflict affect their relationships with investors. Specifically, perceived task conflict significantly improves the value that entrepreneurs give to venture capital firms. Furthermore, entrepreneurs' perceptions toward conflict in their relationships with investors deteriorate the value of venture capital firms for the entrepreneurs and consequently influence the quality of their collaboration and the success of their joint cooperation. Jehn et al. (1999) defined task conflicts as work-group members' disagreements about their task goals, duties and mission and relationship conflict as the discrepancies in their interpersonal relationships and interactions and personal favors. However, task conflict is not always favorable for entrepreneurs and venture capitalists and decreases entrepreneurs' confidence in investors' cooperation. In addition to the effects of conflict on the relationship between the entrepreneur and investor, task conflict between entrepreneurial teams and business angels significantly reduces innovativeness of portfolio companies and this effect highly depends on the interdependency of the tasks, task management style as well as characteristics and trust of both entrepreneurs and investors and the extent to which they achieve their goals (Collewaert 2008). Importantly, the negative impact of conflicts between entrepreneurs and angel investors on portfolio companies' innovativeness is stronger on the condition that there is a low agreement on priorities between the two parties, that the members of entrepreneurial teams have less various experiences and that the communications among the team members are more common (Collewaert and Sapienza 2016).

The second line of research on conflict and raising finance for new ventures focused on the factors that create conflicts. These studies highlighted the nature and style of decision making and perceived unethical behaviors as the antecedents of conflict between entrepreneurs and investors. Highlighting the dysfunctional effect of relationship conflict compared with task conflict, Forbes et al. (2010) argued that entrepreneurial teams experience higher relationship conflicts specifically when their financing decisions less involve the venture. Polzin et al. (2018) examined the mismatches between entrepreneurs' and investors' perceptions toward the evaluation criteria, risk and risk management as sources of their relationship challenges. In addition to the perception of risk and evaluation criteria, the authors highlighted the perceived importance of risk and the channels that entrepreneurs and investors employ to find their partners as the factors that create the mismatch between them and consequently stimulate challenges in their relationships. Using a sample of 141 German ventures, Appelhoff et al. (2015) examined how entrepreneurs' decision making style (causal versus effectual styles) affects the level of conflict they experience in their relationship between investors. Their findings indicate that using the causal decision making style lessens the perceived conflicts between founding teams and investors. Collewaert and Fassin (2013) examined how entrepreneurs' and investors' perceptions toward unethical behavior influence the process of conflict that they experience. Analyzing 11 conflict cases, the authors argued that perceptions of unethical behavior by both entrepreneurs and investors improves the fault attribution or blaming behaviors and thereby stimulates conflicts between them. In addition, perceived unethical behavior improves the probability of growth in their conflict, influences the strategies that they use to manage their conflict and enhances the chance of the venture failure.

### 4 Financial Constraints

Studies on the financial constraints of venture creation mostly explored the factors that hinder access to financial resources. Gender has been highlighted as one of the critical challenges of entrepreneurial financing, specifically in developing countries. Focusing on eight Sub-Saharan countries (Angola, Benin, Botswana, Burkina Faso, Burundi, Cabo Verde, Cameroon and Central African Republic), Aterido et al. (2013) argued that women's less tendency and access to formal financial services such as bank debate prevent women entrepreneurs to actively participate in external financial markets. Specifically, unemployed women and those with lower education experienced higher level of barriers to gain finance for their venture. However, controlling for personal and enterprise-related variables such as size, industry sector,

ownership type and age of the enterprise, the authors found no significant relationship between gender and use of external financing services. The authors also concluded that researchers should also consider the business factors rather than differences between female and male entrepreneurs to provide a better picture of the influence of gender on venture financing. Using the GEM data for the UK, Kwong et al. (2012) examined potential women entrepreneurs' perceptions toward the financial constraints they may face in creating their own venture and how gender interacts with other factors such as personal and economic characteristics to construct women's perceptions of the constraints in financing a new venture. The findings of this study also confirmed that females perceive more difficulties than males in accessing finance and consequently they are less confident in obtaining external finance to launch their business.

Furthermore, interaction between gender and personal characteristics significantly influences the relationship between the variables. Gender and the desire as well as request for finance to grow a business have also been examined in Australia (Hulten 2012) where gender differences are found to be influential in aspiration to grow. Yet, the authors failed to find a significant difference between females and males on their demand for business growth finance and the constraints they face in gaining finance. Importantly, when the firm, owner and risk characteristics were controlled, there was no difference between females and males in their demand for business growth finance and the constraints they face in gaining finance. Overall, the findings of these studies are contrasting and inconclusive. This highlights the importance of further investigating the association between gender and entrepreneurial finance and examining other factors than gender when investigating entrepreneurial venture financing.

In addition to gender, our analysis explored several studies examining constraints of access to finance for entrepreneurial firms. In the UK, for example, Demirel and Parris (2015) looked at the constraints that environmental SMEs face in gaining external financial resources including VCs, bank loans and government funds for their innovation activities. The findings of this study revealed that focus on innovation activities hinders such businesses' access to bank loans which is much easier compared with other sources of finance while R&D and patenting activities of such enterprises improve the probability of their access to UK government and VC fundings. Takalo and Tanayama (2010) argued that government can decrease the constraints of financing innovation for technology-based entrepreneurial firms by subsidizing R&D activities and developing policies that monitor innovative projects to be subsidized. The acceptance of informal risk capital was also suggested as a factor that reduced the financial constraints of high-technology entrepreneurial firms in Italy (Colombo et al. 2014). Studies have also explored the firm related factors that imped or facilitate access to business finance. More specifically, Kasseeah and Thoplan (2012) classified four firm-related characteristics that affect SMEs' ability to get access to finance in Mauritius, one of the sub-Saharan nations in Africa. These compelling characteristics are size and age of the firm as well as the working capital and constraints imposed on the firm by its external environment. Lee and Drever (2014) investigated if geographical discrepancy influences entrepreneurs' perceived constraints to finance. Interestingly, this study found no significant relationship between geographical differences and access to finance for most of the firms in the UK when the firm characteristics such as firm growth, credit scores and selection effects were controlled. Another firm characteristic that found to be influential in entrepreneurial financing was the nature of strategies that firms develop for networking. Examining Indian entrepreneurs in Information and Communication Technology industry, Sengupta (2011) highlighted the facilitating impact of networking on entrepreneurs' access to finance by creating and developing trust between entrepreneurs and investors.

#### 5 Public Policies

Studies have mostly explored the role of government policies in facilitating access to finance. Egeln et al. (1997) highlighted the importance of developing foundations of firms through intervening policies that reduce the liquidity constraints for SMEs and start-ups in Germany. Examining small businesses' access to finance in Tanzania as a developing country, Satta (2007) developed an integrated approach to policies including three interdependent policy choices that facilitate small business' access to required finance. The core characteristics of these policy options is the establishment of bank schemes based on current rural and commercial banks. Magri (2009) examined the role of deregulation and innovation in credit markets in facilitating access to finance for very small businesses in Italy. More recently, Chatterji and Seamans (2012) also found that deregulation of credit cards enhances the chance of specifically black entrepreneurs to launch their own business. The findings of this study suggested that the differences between entrepreneurs in Northern and Southern division of Italy are gradually disappearing. However, credit is still allocated to small businesses based on their geographical location in Italy. Carpentier and Suret (2010) also suggested the significant impact of the regulations developed for the protection of investors on preventing entrepreneurial ventures in Canada to enter the stock market and grow. The authors argued that relaxation in the regulation can reduce the constraints that micro businesses experience in financing the business.

Using the GEM data for financing entrepreneurial businesses, Romaní et al. (2009) contested that despite the adequate sources of public financing in Chile, there is a huge gap in the distribution of the finance to different groups of entrepreneurs. The authors also highlighted three critical factors (lack of competitive high-tech clusters, informal investment and private financing, specific training for entrepreneurs) that reduce the effectiveness of public policies in providing financial resources for entrepreneurs. Coelho et al. (2004) questioned the promising policies that encourage entrepreneurship and direct entrepreneurs' perceptions toward their entry and success. The authors suggested the importance and necessity of developing public interventions that offer entrepreneurs with true information on entrepreneural activities and guide them through the process of creating their own venture.

### 6 Discussion

Numerous studies on entrepreneurial finance and superficially the challenges of gaining finance for entrepreneurial firms in recent years highlight the need to examine the scholarly arguments and themes of these studies. This systematic review set out to explore the financial challenges of entrepreneurial finance. Overall, our study found only few studies on entrepreneurial finance challenges. These studies are mainly fragmented and do not provide a comprehensive picture of the difficulties that entrepreneurs should overcome in the process of financing their venture. Our findings revealed three key challenges that venture creators in different countries have to encounter financing their business. The first source of entrepreneurial finance challenges is the conflicts that occur between the entrepreneurs and investors and influence the quality and success of both gaining and investing in entrepreneurial ventures. Studies in this stream investigated the effects and origins of the conflicts. This analysis found researches that examined task and relationship conflicts and their consequences for entrepreneurial finance. Findings of these studies suggested that entrepreneurs' perceived conflicts regarding their tasks enhance the value of venture capitals for them (Brettel et al. 2013). While for entrepreneurial teams, task conflicts decrease the innovativeness of portfolio companies (Collewaert 2008), entrepreneurs' perceived conflicts toward their relationship with investors also decrease the value of venture capital firms for them (Zacharakis et al. 2010).

Of the factors that create conflicts between entrepreneurs and investors, the nature and style of decision making and perceived unethical behaviors attracted the most attention of researchers. The findings of these studies suggested that entrepreneurs experience higher degree of conflicts in their relationship with the investors when they use the effectual decision making style (Appelhoff et al. 2015) and less engage their venture in their entrepreneurial finance decisions (Forbes et al. 2010). Perceived unethical behavior also creates and increases conflicts between entrepreneurs and investors and is destructive for their relationships as it influences their conflict management strategies and fault attribution and blaming behaviors.

This systematic review also found financial constraints as the second main source of entrepreneurial finance challenges. The majority of studies on financial constraints examined the challenges of access to finance. This finding confirmed the GEM findings that access to fund is a critical challenge for entrepreneurs around the world (Daniels et al. 2016). Our finding highlighted gender as the main obstacle in the process of obtaining finance for entrepreneurial ventures. Specifically in developing countries, women encounter various finance difficulties, have less access to formal financial services such as banks (Aterido et al. 2013) and consequently are less confident in obtaining finance to start their own venture than men (Kwong et al. 2012). Women's entrepreneurial finance challenges are not limited to new venture creation. Despite their high demand to grow their business, women also lack the inspiration to strive and gain finance for their business growth (Hulten 2012). These findings confirm the previous research in the MENA countries that highlight gender

as one of the key obstacles to engage in new venture creation (The World Bank report 2012) and obtain finance for entrepreneurial ventures (El Hamidi 2017).

In addition to entrepreneurs, entrepreneurial firms should also overcome different financial constraints for their entrepreneurial activities. While innovation activities hinder entrepreneurial firms' access to bank loans, R&D and patenting improve their chance to obtain government and VC funding (Demirel and Parris 2015). However, capital risk acceptance (Colombo et al. 2014) and developing policies to monitor and allocate budget to R&D activities and innovative projects by the government reduce the financial constraints, specifically for high-technology entrepreneurial firms (Takalo and Tanayama 2010). Firm-related factors such as firm size, age, working capital (Kasseeah and Thoplan 2012) and nature of networking strategies (Sengupta 2011) also affect access to financial resources.

Finally, our analysis demonstrated that studies on public policies and regulations investigated the changes in the policies that facilitate access to finance for SME owners and entrepreneurs. Several studies suggested developing intervening policies to reduce liquidity constraints (Egeln et al. 1997), provide entrepreneurs with precise information that guide them through the process of venture creation (Coelho et al. 2004) and facilitate the establishment of bank schemes (Satta 2007). While others highlighted the need for deregulations of innovation, credit cards and credit markets (Chatterji and Seamans 2012; Magri 2009) as well as developing effective protecting regulations, specifically for investors (Carpentier and Suret 2010).

# 6.1 Implications of the Findings

Our findings have several implications for research and practice. First, this study found a huge gap in empirical research on entrepreneurial finance in general and challenges of entrepreneurial finance in particular. The majority of the studies examined, had been conducted in European countries. This suggests that researchers require to fill the gaps by exploring the challenges of entrepreneurial finance in different countries and specifically in the MENA Region (Jabbouri 2016). Second, the findings of this study provide better understanding of the difficulties that entrepreneurs require to overcome in order to improve their chance of success in gaining capital for their venture. Finally, policy makers can use the findings of this study to explore the entrepreneurial finance challenges created by policies and regulations and develop more effective and purposeful policies that reduce these challenges and offer entrepreneurs with the encouraging and appropriate business environment.

## 6.2 Limitations and Future Research Agendas

This study is an attempt to systematically review the empirical studies on challenges of entrepreneurial finance. The findings provide a deeper understanding of the empirical published research on the difficulties of raising fund for venture creation and growth. However, our study has several limitations that open new directions for future research. First, our analysis is limited to the published papers up to September 2017. Therefore, it does not include papers that are in the process of publication and will be published until the time of this study publication. Second, this study included the articles published in academic journals to represent validated knowledge that has influential effects on the research field (George et al. 2016). To provide a comprehensive knowledge on the challenges of entrepreneurial finance, future research should examine books, book chapters, conference proceedings and research reports. This study also did not analyze the citation of the papers because co-citation analysis partially presents the influence and importance of the research and is biased against specific authors (Ratnatunga and Romano 1997). Future research using co-citation methods offers deeper systematic explanation of studies on entrepreneurial finance challenges.

Importantly, our analysis revealed that the majority of studies on entrepreneurial finance challenges employed the quantitative methods of inquiry. Therefore, future researches using qualitative, experimental and longitudinal research methods are highly encouraged in order to provide deeper knowledge on entrepreneurial finance challenges. Additionally, the challenges emerging from this study highlight the need to examine other sources of entrepreneurial finance challenges. Researchers can also examine the personal characteristics of entrepreneurs and investors that stimulate their perceptions of conflicts. Additionally, future studies should explore the communications and interactions that improve or reduce the conflicts between entrepreneurs and investors. Future research should also explore other sources of conflicts between entrepreneurs and investors. Due to the contrasting of research findings on the relationship between gender and entrepreneurial finance, further research need to be undertaken to examine the relationship between the two variables in the economic context of different countries. As suggested by Aterido et al. (2013), these studies should examine personal and enterprise related characteristics (e.g., size, industry sector, ownership type and age of the enterprise) when exploring the relationship between gender and entrepreneurial finance. Future research should also explore the facilitating or impeding roles that public policies, rules and regulations play in the process of raising finance for entrepreneurial ventures and the ways to improve their effectiveness.

### References

- Appelhoff D, Mauer R, Collewaert V, Brettel M (2015) The conflict potential of the entrepreneur's decision-making style in the entrepreneur-investor relationship. Int Entrep Manag J 12(2): 601–623
- Aterido R, Beck T, Iacovone L (2013) Access to finance in Sub-Saharan Africa: is there a gender gap? World Dev 47:102–120
- Bekaert G, Harvey CR (2000) Foreign speculators and emerging equity markets. J Financ 55: 565–614
- Block JH, Colombo MG, Cumming DJ, Vismara S (2017) New players in entrepreneurial finance and why they are there. Small Bus Econ 50:239–250
- Brettel M, Mauer R, Appelhoff D (2013) The entrepreneur's perception in the entrepreneur–VCF relationship: the impact of conflict types on investor value. Ventur Cap 15(3):173–197
- Brinckmann J, Salomo S, Gemuenden HG (2011) Financial management competence of founding teams and growth of new technology-based firms. Entrep Theory Pract 35(2):217–243
- Carpentier C, Suret J-M (2010) Entrepreneurial equity financing and securities regulation: an empirical analysis. Int Small Bus J 30(1):41–64
- Chatterji AK, Seamans RC (2012) Entrepreneurial finance, credit cards, and race. J Financ Econ 106(1):182–195
- Coelho M, De Meza D, Reyniers D (2004) Irrational exuberance, entrepreneurial finance and public policy. Int Tax Publ Financ 11:391–417
- Collewaert V (2008) When is conflict (not) good for business: the case of business angels and entrepreneurial teams. Front Entrep Res 28(2), Article 2. http://digitalknowledge.babson.edu/ fer/vol28/iss2/2
- Collewaert V, Fassin Y (2013) Conflicts between entrepreneurs and investors: the impact of perceived unethical behavior. Small Bus Econ 40(3):635–649
- Collewaert V, Sapienza HJ (2016) How does angel investor–entrepreneur conflict affect venture innovation? It depends. Entrep Theory Pract 40(3):573–597
- Colombo MG, Croce A, Guerini M (2014) Does informal risk capital relax the financial constraints of high-tech entrepreneurial ventures? Appl Econ Lett 21(5):335–339
- Cook D, Mulrow C, Haynes R (1997) Systematic reviews: synthesis of best evidence for clinical decisions. Ann Intern Med 126:376–380
- Daniels C, Herrington M, Kew P (2016) Global Entrepreneurship Monitor 2015/2016: Special report on entrepreneurial finance. Global Entrepreneurship Research Association. www. gemconsortium.org
- Davila A, Foster G, Gupta M (2003) Venture capital financing and the growth of startup firms. J Bus Ventur 18(6):689–708
- Demirel P, Parris S (2015) Access to finance for innovators in the UK's environmental sector. Tech Anal Strat Manag 27(7):782–808
- Denis M (2004) Entrepreneurial finance: an overview of the issues and evidence. J Corp Finan 10:301–326
- Denyer D, Neely A (2004) Introduction to special issue: innovation and productivity performance in the UK. Int J Manag Rev 5-6:131–135
- Drover W, Busenitz L, Sharon Matusik S, Townsend D, Aaron Anglin A, Dushnitsky G (2017) A review and road map of entrepreneurial equity financing research: Venture Capital, Corporate Venture Capital, Angel Investment, Crowdfunding, and Accelerators. J Manag 43(6): 1820–1853
- Egeln J, Licht G, Steil F (1997) Firm foundations and the role of financial constraints. Small Bus Econ 9:137–150
- El Hamidi F (2017) Women entrepreneurs in the MENA region: opportunities or a mirage? https:// papers.ssrn.com/sol3/papers.cfm?abstract\_id=3060881
- Forbes DP, Korsgaard MA, Sapienza HJ (2010) Financing decisions as a source of conflict in venture boards. J Bus Ventur 25:579–592

- George NM, Parida V, Lahti T, Wincent J (2016) A systematic literature review of entrepreneurial opportunity recognition: insights on influencing factors. Int Entrep Manag J 12(2):309–350
- Hulten AV (2012) Women's access to SME finance in Australia. Int J Gender Entrep 4(3):266-288
- Jabbouri E (2016) Determinants of corporate dividend policy in emerging markets: evidence from MENA stock markets. Res Int Bus Financ 37:283–298
- Jehn KA, Northcraft GB, Neale MA (1999) Why differences make a difference: a field study of diversity, conflict and performance in workgroups. Adm Sci Q 44(4):741–763
- Jones MV, Coviello N, Tang YK (2011) International entrepreneurship research (1989–2009): a domain ontology and thematic analysis. J Bus Ventur 26(6):632–659
- Kasseeah H, Thoplan R (2012) Access to financing in a small island economy: evidence from Mauritius. J Afr Bus 13(3):221–231
- Kwong C, Jones-Evans D, Thompson P (2012) Differences in perceptions of access to finance between potential male and female entrepreneurs: evidence from the UK. Int J Entrep Behav Res 18(1):75–97
- Lagoarde-Segot T (2013) Firms and markets behaviours in emerging markets. Int Bus Financ 27: 145–146
- Lagoarde-Segot T, Lucey B (2010) Shift contagion vulnerability in the MENA stock markets. World Econ 32(10):1478–1497
- Lee N, Drever E (2014) Do SMEs in deprived areas find it harder to access finance? Evidence from the UK Small Business Survey. Entrep Reg Dev 26(3–4):337–356
- Liñán F, Fayolle A (2015) A systematic literature review on entrepreneurial intentions: citation, thematic analyses, and research agenda. Int Entrep Manag J 11(4):907–933
- López-Fernández MC, Serrano-Bedia AM, Pérez-Pérez M (2016) Entrepreneurship and family firm research: a bibliometric analysis of an emerging field. J Small Bus Manag 54(2):622–639
- Magri S (2009) The financing of small entrepreneurs in Italy. Ann Finance 5:397-419
- Marcus A, Malen J, Ellis S (2013) The promise and pitfalls of venture capital as an asset class for clean energy investment: research questions for organization and natural environment scholars. Org Environ 26(1):31–60
- Marlow S, Patton D (2005) All credit to men? Entrepreneurship, finance, and gender. J Entrep Theory Pract 29(6):717–735
- Naidu S, Chand A (2012) A comparative study of the financial problems faced by micro, small and medium enterprises in the manufacturing sector of Fiji and Tonga. Int J Emerg Mark 7(3): 245–262
- Ordanini A, Rubera G, DeFillippi R (2008) The many moods of inter-organizational imitation: a critical review. Int J Manag Rev 10(4):375–398
- Paré JL, Rédis J, Sahut JM (2009) The development of entrepreneurial finance research. Int J Bus 14(4):283
- Politis D, Gabrielsson J, Shveykina O (2012) Early-stage finance and the role of external entrepreneurs in the commercialization of university-generated knowledge. Ventur Cap 14(2-3): 175–198
- Polzin F, Sanders M, Stavlöt U (2018) Do investors and entrepreneurs match? Evidence from The Netherlands and Sweden. Technol Forecast Soc Chang 127:112–126
- Rasmussen E, Sørheim R (2012) Obtaining early-stage financing for technology entrepreneurship: reassessing the demand-side perspective. Ventur Cap 14(2-3):77–89
- Ratnatunga J, Romano C (1997) A "citation classics" analysis of articles in contemporary small enterprise research. J Bus Ventur 12(3):197–212
- Romaní G, Atienza M, Amoro JE (2009) Financing entrepreneurial activity in Chile: scale and scope of public support programs. Ventur Cap 11(1):55–70
- Satta TA (2007) Scaling up small firms' access to finance in developing economies: evidence from Tanzania. J Small Bus Entrep 20(4):427–438
- Sengupta A (2011) Network strategy and access to business finance: Indian entrepreneurs in the information and communication technology industry. J Entrep 20(1):103–126

- Short JC, Ketchen DJ, McKenny AF, Allison TH, Ireland RD (2017) Research on Crowdfunding: reviewing the (very recent) past and celebrating the present. Entrep Theory Pract 41(2):149–160
- Siemens L (2007) Challenges faced by rural/remote tourism businesses on Vancouver Island: an exploratory study. J Enterprising Comm People Places Glob Econ 1(4):308–320
- Takalo T, Tanayama T (2010) Adverse selection and financing of innovation: is there a need for R&D subsidies? J Technol Transf 35(1):16–41
- The Africa and Middle East alternative finance benchmarking report (2017) Cambridge Center for Alternative Finance. http://www.whitelabelcrowd.fund/wp-content/uploads/2017/02/2017africa-middle-east-alternative-finance-report.pdf
- The World Bank report, Early Stage Innovation Financing (ESIF) Facility (2012) http://www. infodev.org/infodev-files/resource/InfodevDocuments\_1203.pdf
- Thorpe R, Holt R, Macpherson A, Pittaway L (2005) Using knowledge within small and mediumsized firms: a systematic review of the evidence. Int J Manag Rev 7(4):257–281
- Tranfield D, Denyer D, Smart P (2003) Towards a methodology for developing evidence-informed management knowledge by means of systematic review. Br J Manag 14(3):207–222
- Wright RW, Brand RA, Dunn W, Spindler KP (2007) How to write a systematic review. Clin Orthop Relat Res 455:23–29
- Zacharakis A, Erikson T, George B (2010) Conflict between the VC and entrepreneur: the entrepreneur's perspective. Ventur Cap 12(2):109–126